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YOUTH VIOLENCE: A COMMUNITY RESPONSE 

TUESDAY, JUNE 1, 1993 

U.S. SENATE, 
SUBCOMMITTEE ON JUVENILE JUSTICE, 

COMMITTEE ON THE JUDICIARY, 
Phoenix, AZ. 

The subcommittee met, pursuant to notice, at 9:05 a.m., at Phoe
nix College, 1202 W. Thomas Road, Phoenix, AZ, the Honorable 
Dennis DeConcini presiding. 

Senator DECONCINI. This hearing this morning is sponsored by 
the Senate Judiciary Committee's Subcommittee on Juvenile Jus
tice, and I am very pleased and thank you all for being here. I will 
go into an opening statement in just a moment, out I wanted to let 
the press ask some questions, if they want to, and if they do not, 
fine. 

The purpose of this hearing is to solicit not only what the prob
lem is, which many of us know, but to also raise the awareness of 
the problem of gangs and violence and use of firearms by young 
people in our own communities, and also to listen to what works 
and perhaps what has not worked, and to attempt to see what can 
be done not only on the local level, but what could be translated 
into Washington, DC, as to assistance. 

This is an epidemic, in my judgment. One out of five high school 
students now carries either a firearm, a club or a knife to school, 
and we have 3 million crimes of violence occurring in schools 
today, and that is one every 8 seconds, somebody has calculated. 
No longer are our schools a safe haven; they are a dangerous place 
for our children to attend. The big question is, why has this moved 
to our schools and what can the communities do about them? 

We have some excellent programs here which we are going to 
talk about today, and one of them is right here at Phoenix College, 
the Genesis, which I plan to visit this afternoon. I welcome the 
press, if they want to come to that, and I am sure they would set 
up interviews and tours any other time, if you cannot make it 
today. 

It is an outstanding program, and there are many more. Plus the 
community support here of Mothers Against Gangs and other orga
nizations who have come forward to attempt to cleanse their neigh
borhood of this awful tragedy that is occurring, is of interest to us 
in Washington, DC, because this is the heart of what is going on. 
The solution I do not think is in Washington, DC. I think it is right 
here, and that is what I anticipate uncovering this morning, as we 
go through these hearings. 

(1) 
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I am not here to talk a lot. I am here to listen, and I am not 
going to Jay back when it is over, if there are things that Washing
ton can be involved in to encourage these programs. So I hope to be 
able to translate-we have got some violence right here. Are you 
all right? [Laughter.] 

I am sure this college is well insured. With that, I will just open 
it up to the press, if they have any questions, and then we will take 
just a minute or 2 break and start with our panels. 

QUESTION. Senator, is the condition in Phoenix as serious as in 
other cities, or is it about the same level, considering we have got a 
million people in the city? What i~ the comparison of Phoenix's 
crime problem with other major citit)s on the juvenile level? 

Senator DECONCINI. I do not kn,ow the answer to that, quite 
frankly. From what I have heard, talking to our law enforcement 
officials, it ranks very high. How high that is, I cannot tell you it is 
10th or 11th or what have you, but it ranks very high, but I do not 
have that. I know the use of drugs in Arizona is one of the highest. 
The abuse of drugs and the use of firearms is also high, but I 
cannot give you that. I would be glad to find that out, and we may 
find it out today. 

QUESTION. Can I do a followup with you? 
Senator DECONCINI. Of course. 
QUESTION. Is that because Arizona is a border State and preva

lent to drug trafficking? Is that one of the reasons? 
Senator DECONCINI. A lot of it has to do with that. We have a 

tremendous amount of drugs coming through our borders, mostly 
on the ground now, and the confiscations are up over 400 percent 
just by the Border Patrol over 2 years ago. The drugs are still 
coming in. Mexico is becoming more of a problem, because the Co
lombia cartel has truly moved into that country and set up busi
nesses and warehouses. We are working with that government, and 
I must encourage that government and will on the floor of the 
Senate later next week, to do more about it. It is really getting out 
of hand. 

Anybody else? Yes? 
QUESTION. Can there be with the NRA-
Senator DECONCINI. Are you with the press? 
QUESTION. Yes. With NRA and school education, could they join 

together to teach the students about guns and why they are a 
harm? 

Senator DECONCINI. Well, I sure hope so, and that is one of their 
national programs and we will hear from the president of that or
ganization today. We have some differences of opinion on the ban
ning of some assault weapons that are showing up in our schools 
and being used. But I think you will hear from the NRA that one 
of their positive approaches is education and they are promoting 
that not just in schools, but in the general public, and they do 
spend some resources and some effort to do that. 

Anybody else? Yes? 
QUESTION. Senator, one of the questions I would like to ask, are 

they going to do anything in the area where there are gangs in the 
area where they have no activity and no recreation? 

Senator DECONCINI. Of course, I think we will hear from wit
nesses today that will indicate that is the problem, one of the prob-
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lems. Having been in South Phoenix a number of times, in my 
home town of South Tucson, there are a limited number of areas 
for recreation. As a matter of fact, the job stimulus program that 
was defeated would have built a large swimming pool in South 
Tucson, right in the heart of where the biggest gang problem is, 
and it was termed a pork barrel project and the whole thing was 
defeated. That would have been open this August. I cannot think of 
any better investment than to have those kinds of facilities avail
able, so young people can go some place other than pal around 
with their gangs and f;ovet territory and also destroy property and 
people. 

QUESTION. Are you holding these hearings in other cities? 
Senator DECONCINI. Yes, we will be holding a hearing tomorrow 

at Tucson, the same subject matter, and we will have a roundtable 
discussion tonight with community leaders in Tucson. 

QUESTION. Do you support local curfews for juveniles? 
Senator DECONCINI. No, I do not think that is necessary, al

though I would be certainly open to that. In my judglnent, that 
ought to be a local decision and certainly not a national decision to 
impose that on communities. I would welcome hearing from our 
mayors that are here today and other public officials as to whether 
or not that is a realistic alternative. 

Anybody else in the press? Yes, sir? 
QUESTION. Good morning, Senator. How are you? Good to see 

you, first off. There are some people who might say that the prob
lem of youth violence may be cyclical, from the standpoint that 
they come from an environment where their parents do not have a 
grip on putting together a proper household. What would you say 
to someone who would propose programs that would help families 
with parenting skills and help them out of impoverished situations 
and help them get back into school? Would you be agreeable to--

Senator DECONCINI. Of course we would, and there are some pro
grams. As a matter of fact, Head Start has a part of that program 
that deals with the parents, as well as taking the children off the 
streets after school and preschool. Those are the kinds of programs 
that the Federal Government can and should be involved in. 

There may be programs like the Genesis program here that the 
Federal Government ought to be involved in, if we can find the re
sources. I think I can find the resources, without a big problem, be
cause I know where some of the waste and where the excess ex
penditures are, but that has not come about yet. I hope it will. 

QUESTION. A case in point being that the very problems you have 
with children having children, which led me to bring that point up, 
you have a lot of teens out there having babies and really not 
having the tools to teach their own kids. 

Senator DECONCINI. I am glad you raised that, because I plan to 
hold some roundtable discussions that I am going to hear in Phoe
nix, as I get around the valley, and I am going to do so in Tucson 
tonight, to listen to community leaders and neighborhood parents 
who want to talk about what the problems are and what could be 
helpful, without hundreds of millions of dollars of assistance, and 
what can work. And I think your suggestion about parenting and 
helping the people who have to deal with this on a day-to-day basis 
is very appropriate. 
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Thank you very much, everyone. 

OPENING STATEMENT OF HON. DENNIS DeCONCINI, A U.S. 
SENATOR FROM THE STATE OF ARIZONA 

Senator DECONCINI. The hearing is officially coming to order. 
The Juvenile Justice subcommittee of the Senate JUdiciary Com
mittee is here to gather information in Phoenix, to fmd and hear 
about solutions to one of the most disturbing issues in this country, 
and that is youth vivlevl!e. Our children are growing up in an envi
ronment dominated by violence which pervades their lives. It is in 
their homes, their schools and their playgrounds. There seems to 
be no escape. Look at what you are watching on TV tonight, except 
prior or after the game. 

By the time the average child graduates from elementary school, 
he or she will have witnessed 8,000 murders and more than 100,000 
other assorted acts of violence on television. The schools are no 
better. As I pointed out, one out of every five high school students 
now carry a firearm, knife or club to school on a regular basis, and 
nearly 3 million crimes occur on or near school campuses. 

We have reached a point where metal detectors are standard in 
many schools. The streets are even worse. The violence that is glo
rified on TV is now day-to-day re81ity. Just read the papers-gangs, 
drugs and random murders have become the staple of our chil
dren's lives. Every major city in this country is facing a deadly 
gang problem. It is the subculture that has kidnapped our chil
dren's generation. Dispute resolutions involve guns today, and 
drive-by shootings with teenagers brandishing assault weapons are 
all too common an occurrence. 

We can no longer accept the violence. Kids are afraid, teachers 
are afraid, parents are afraid. I think everybody is afraid. It is time 
to get to the root of the problem. We have a very serious problem 
that does not have one single solution. 

But to go forward with a plan of action, we have to ask ques
tions, as a society, some very funda.mental question.s. For example, 
how did we get here, what are we doing now, and what works and 
what does not work, and where do we go from here. I hope to have 
some answers to these questions today. This is a complex issue, 
with no quick easy solution. It is a pr.')blem that deserves the 
utmost attention and the greatest dedication, and we each have a 
role in this effort--law enforcement, legislators, courts, community 
leaders, local government and, most importailtly, the parents. 

I look forward to hearing today's testimony. We have a wide 
array of witnesses from aU over. I want to thank them in a\.~vance 
for being here. I came here to listen, and when we finish, I idend 
to hopefully take some of this back to Washington to see what can 
be done from the Federal Government to assist. 

[The prepared statement of Senator DeConcini follows:] 

• 
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STATEMENT OF SENATOR DENNIS DeCONCINI 

THE HEARING WILL COME TO ORDER. THE JUVENILE JUSTICE 
SUBCOMMITTEE HAS COME TO PHOENIX TO GATHER INFORMATION AND HEAR 
SOLUTIONS TO ONE OF THE MOST DISTURBING ISSUES IN THIS COUNTRY 
TODAY -- YOUTH VIOLENCE. 

OUR CHILDREN ARE GROWING UP IN AN ENVIRONMENT DOMINATED BY 
VIOLENCE. IT PERVADES THEIR LIVES IT'S IN THEIR HOMES, THEIR 
SCHOOLS, AND THEIR PLAYGROUNDS. 

THERE IS NO ESCAPING IT. LOOK WHAT 'I'HEY ARE WATCHING ON 

BY THE TIME THE AVERAGE CHILD GRADUATES FROM ELEMENTARY 
SCHOOL, SHE OR HE WILL HAVE WITNESSED 8,000 MURDERS AND MORE THAN 
100,000 OTHER ASSORTED ACTS OF VIOLENCE ON TELEVISION. 

THE SCHOOLS ARE NO BETTER . 

ABOUT ONE OUT OF EVERY 5 HIGH SCHOOL STUDENTS NOW CARRIES A 
FIREARM, KNIFE OR CLUB TO SCHOOL ON A REGULAR BASIS. AND THE 
RESULT? -- NEARLY 3 MILLION CRIMES OCCUR ON OR NEAR SCHOOL 
CAMPUSES EACH YEAR THAT IS ONE EVERY 6 SECONDS! 

WE HAVE REACHED A POINT WHERE METAL DETECTORS ARE STANDARD 
WARE IN OUR SCHOOLS. 

THE STREETS ARE WORSE -- THE VIOLENCE THAT IS GLORIFIED ON 
T.V. IS NOW A DAY-TO-~AY REALITY FOR CHILDREN. 

JUST READ THE PAPER EVERY MORNING. 

GANGS, ·DRUGS AND RANDOM HURDERS HAVE BECOME THE STAPLES OF 
OUR CHILDREN'S LIVES. EVERY MAJOR CITY IN THIS COUNTRY IS FACING 
A DEADLY GANG PROBLEM. IT IS A SUBCULTURE THAT .HAS KIDNAPPED OUR 
CHILDREN'S GENERATION. DISPUTE RESOLUTION INVOLVES A GUN. AND 
DRIVE-BY SHOOTINGS, WITH TEENAGERS BRANDISHING ASSAULT WEAPONS, 
ARE AN ALL-TOO-COl1MON OCCURRENCE. 

WE CAN NO LONGER ACCEPT THIS VIOLENCE AS PART OF OUR 
CULTURE. 
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KIDS ARE AFRAID. TEACHERS ARE AFRAID. PARENTS ARE AFRAID. 

IT IS TIME TO GET AT THE ROOT OF THIS DEADLY VIOLENCE. 

WE HAVE A VERY SERIOUS PROBLEM THAT DOES NOT HAVE ONLY ONE 
SOLUTION. BUT TO GO FORWARD WITH A PLAN-OF-ACTION, WE HAVE TO 
ASK OURSELVES, AS A SOCIETY, SOME VERY FUNDAMENTAL QUESTIONS. 
FOR EXAMPLE: 

HOW DID WE GET HERE? 

WHAT ARE WE DOING NOW'? 

WHAT WORKS AND WHAT DOESN'T? 

WHERE DO WE GO FROM HERE? 

I HOPE TO HAVE. SOME ANSWERS TO THESE QUESTIONS, TODAY. FOR 
THIS IS A COMPLEX ISSUE -- WITH NO EASY OR QUICK SOLUTIONS. 

IT IS A PROBLEM THAT DESERVES THE UTMOST ATTENTION AND THE 
GREATEST DEDICATION. AND WE EACH HAVE A ROLE IN THIS EFFORT 
LAW ENFORCEMENT, LEGISLATORS, COURTS, COMMUNITY LEADERS, AND MOST 
IMPORTANTLY, PARENTS. 

I LOOK FORWARD TO HEARING TODAY'S TESTIMONY. WE HAVE A WIDE 
ARRAY OF WITNESSES FROM ALL WALKS OF LIFE. 

I CAME HERE TO LISTEN AND TO LEARN. BUT AFTER WE FINISH 
TODAY, I DO NOT INTEND TO SIT BACK AND WATCH. THIS PROBLEM CAN 
NOT CONTINUE TO GROW OUT-OF-CONTROL. 

• 

• 
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Our first panel is composed of Mary Rose Wilcox, who is a 
member of the board of supervisors of Maricopa County, and before 
that a city councilwoman, and a very active community leader. 

Mayor Coy Payne, mayor of Chandler. This city has been plagued 
with the problem of youth violence, and Chandler was one of the 
cities that recently passed an ordinance to prohibit juveniles from 
carrying guns. My congratulations, Mayor Payne. 

Mayor Harry Mitchell, the mayor of Tempe, has also passed an 
ordinance prohibiting juveniles from carrying handguns. Mayor 
Mitchell also provided a different perspective, in that he is also a 
former high school teacher with first-hand knowledge. 

Chief Justice Stanley Feldman is the chief justice of the Supreme 
• Court of Arizona. One of the reasons we asked Chief Justice Feld

man to testify today is because he has recently empaneled an advi
sory committee known as the Commission on Juvenile Justice in 
Arizona. The committee will evaluate the juvenile justice system, 

• assess the problems confronting it, and recommend improvements. 
And County Attorney Richard Romley, of Maricopa County, as 

the County Attorney, has been very active on the issues of juvenile 
justice. 

We welcome you all. We have some time constraints here and I 
am going to ask that Chief Justice Feldman go first. 

Judge Feldman? 

PANEL CONSISTING OF THE HONORABLE STANLEY G. FELDMAN, 
CHIEF JUSTICE, ARIZONA SUPREME COURT; COY C. PAYNE, 
MAYOR, CHANDLER, AZ; MARY ROSE WILCOX, SUPERVISOR, 
MARICOPA COUNTY, AZ; RICHARD ROMLEY, COUNTY ATTOR
NEY, MARICOPA COUNTY, AZ; AND HARRY E. MITCHELL, 
MAYOR, TEMPE, AZ 

STATEMENT OF HON. STANLEY G. FELDMAN 

Justice FELDMAN. Thank you, Senator. 
I did not come to make a speech, so I will not. I do have a few 

remarks on a preliminary basis, if I may. I am not an expert on the 
causes of juvenile crime, nor is it within my field of supervision, so 
to speak. I am charged under the Arizona Constitution with admin
istrative supervision over all courts of the State, and that, of 
course, includes juvenile courts, and the juvenile courts or juvenile 
justice system are an integral part of this problem and, hopefully, a 
part of solving the problem. 

From our perspective, we see three phenomena, if I may use the 
term, an ever-increasing number of crimes, an ever-increasing 
number of significantly serious crimes and violent crimes, and 
ever-decreasing age of those who are getting involved in the juve
nile criminal justice system, and an ever-increasing number of 
weapons being used. You have referred to all of this in your open
ing remarks, so I will not go into it any further. 

Our problem is when these children get into the juvenile justice 
system, our problem is what to do with them and how to do it. We 
have had over the years a lot of success. You know, it is easy to 
look at how bad the problem is and never realize that we have had 
a great deal of success to the extent of 80 or 85 percent of the chil-
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dren who get into the system have one or two contacts and they 
have no further contacts with the system. 

But the other 20 percent, the other 15 or 20 percent of the chil
dren who are repetitive offenders and who get into increasingly 
more violent and more significant crimes are our real problem, and 
what to do with them is part of our problem in the court system, 
especially from the standpoint of having administrative supervision 
over the courts. 

One of the things that afflicts us is finger-pointing, if I may use 
that term, and I assure you, Senator, there is enough fault and 
enough blame to go around to every segment of society. In my 
view, it is time to stop pointing fingers at each other and to sit 
down with each other and to try and find the common solution or 
the common approach to these problems. 

It is for that reason that I have today signed the order appoint
ing the Commission on Juvenile Justice of Arizona, and it is for 
that reason that, when I name the membership to that committee, 
which I plan to do either later this week or early next week, I will 
include on that membership list people form every viewpoint, 
people from all parts of the system and try and get everybody to sit 
down and see if we can find some way to better address the prob
lems. 

From my perspective and conclusion, the problems simply boil 
down to this: We have more and more kids coming into the system. 
We have on the one hand the necessity of finding a way to address 
their problems, to treat them, to hope for education, to hope for re
habilitation, to hope for intervention that will change the path 
which they have taken. 

We have, on the other hand, the problem with those for whom 
nothing seems to work. We have a large number of kids, unfortu
nately, a growing number of kids-I think Mr. Romley will attest 
to this-for whom nothing has worked. These children present seri
ous dangers and serious risks to society. Until we can fmd some 
way to stop what they are doing, we have to put them in a place 
where they no longer pose that kind of risk to society. 

When we have them out of harm's way and out of the way of 
doing harm to society, we have to find something to do with them 
other than simply warehousing them and eventually turning them 
loose, whether it be 17 -year-olds, 18-year-olds or keep them until 
they are 25, turn them loose and just go on to a bigger and better 
life of crime. We simply, on humanitarian and on economic 
grounds, cannot afford to keep them behind bars for the rest of 
their lives, not when it costs $17,000 to $20,000 a year to keep a 
person in prison. 

So, in summary, we have got to find a way to identify those for 
whom treatment and rehabilitation stand some chance and to give 
them what they need. The day of not being willing to spend $1,000 
on drug counseling and substance abuse counseling for a kid, but 
being willing to spent $17,000 a year to keep them in prison for 10 
years and then turn them loose with the same substance abuse 
problem, those days have got to stop. It makes no sense. It is just 
economically foolish and it is harmful to society. 

We also have to find a way in Arizona to stop the revolving door. 
We h£v!'! to find a way where those children whom the juvenile 
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judges have found no longer amenable to treatment and children 
who pose a risk of harm to society, because of their violent habits, 
those children have got to be put away and kept way until they 
either change or we keep them, if they will not change. 

But we have got to put them away and we have got to end the 
system that we now have of having no space for them, where
again, as I think Mr. Romley will agree-you can send the most 
dangerous person that we have in the juvenile justice system and 
there is not room for them, the Department of Youth Training and 

, Rehabilitation, and they get out. I cannot fault the administration, 
because there is no place to put them. They get out in 60 days or 90 
days. We are not doing anything for a violent child in 60 or 90 days 
at the Department of Youth Training and Rehabilitation. So we 
are going to have to spend the money, both to secure beds and for 
programs in that institution or in that system. 

So what I am saying, I think in the final analysis, Senator, is 
that nobody I think has the whole answer to this, and we have to 
stop pretending that anyone segment of this system knows all of 
the answers and has all of the answers to the problem. We have 
got to get together, the treatment people, the secure people, and 
get together and find how we can mesh these problem, and finding 
a way to do that is the reason that I have appointed this commis
sion. 

Thank you. 
Senator DECONCINI. Thank you, Judge. 
You were recently quoted as saying that we have juveniles, but 

we do not dispense the justice. I think the Arizona Republic quoted 
you on that. Is that what you are referring to, that we do not have 
programs? Is that the justice that we are lacking? 

Justice FELDMAN. Let me explain what I meant. I was not criti
cizing the judges and their handling of individual cases. They do 
the best they can. Sometimes they make mistakes, and one likes to 
think that the great, great majority of cases are adjudicated cor
rectly. -

So it is not the individual cases that I am talking about. I am 
talking about justice to society on the one hand, the taxpayers of 
this State who are threatened continually by having kids on the 
street who do not belong on the street. 

I am talking about justice to the juveniles who are in the system 
who me not many times in many places getting the kind of reha
bilitation help, training and education and recreational help that 
they m:ed. The juvenile justice system is more than just adjudicat
ing the individual case of State v. Jones. It is trying on the one 
hand to take care of children, help children, prevent them from 
getting into more serious trouble, and, on the other hand, equally 
as important, protecting society from children who are a danger to 
society. We are not doing those things . 

..., I will give you just one anecdotal example. About 8 months ago-
I will not identify the county-I was visiting on my rounds of coun
ties and I talked to a juvenile judge of one of our rural counties. He 
had almost 90 children on one type of program or another, who 
had been adjudicated as juvenile delinquents and who were either 
substance abusers or emotionally disturbed or, for the most part, 
both. I asked what he was doing with those 90 children. 
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Well, the answer was he was having one psychologist in one 
afternoon every other Friday for 90 children. I said why are you 
bothering? He said I have got to cover my tracks as best I can, that 
is all the money I have, that is all the resources I have. In the 
meantime, I said where are these kids? He said, well, we have tried 
to put them back in the families, but the families are the cause of 
the trouble lots of time. So he said, basically, they are on the 
street, stealing cars, stealing radios, doing whatever. 

We just cannot go on doing this, Senator. That is not justice to 
society. 

Senator DECONCINI. Judge, a couple of quick questions. When 
will the commission report be forthcoming? Is there a date? 

Justice FELDMAN. I am going to ask them to have their report 
done by the end ofthis year. 

Senator DECONCINI. And that will be made available outside the 
court system? 

Justice FELDMAN. Well, it is going to be made available to the 
courts, to the legislature, and to the governor's office. I hope to 
have all three branches of government cooperating and I hope to 
get, and expect to get and think I will, help from the prosecutorial 
agencies, help from all branches of the juvenile justice system. 

Senator DEC01'CINI. Judge, it may be premature, because the 
report certainly will have a lot to do with this, but you talk about 
the juveniles that have to be put away, and we know there are 
some. Is thf'Jre merit in treating some of them as adults, so that 
they can b(J put away? That is one of the big cries you hear, when 
you see a violent crime by a juvenile, treat them as an adult, and I 
know the court has the authority to do that ir~ certain cases. Do 
you have an opinion? 

Justice FELDMAN. Sure, I have an opinion. Some of them need to 
be treated as an adult, and I reviewed the statistics recently about 
the transfers from juvenile prosecutions, so to speak, to adult pros
ecutions. Surprisi.ngly-and I say surprisingly, because there has 
been a lot of speculation about it-surprisingly, I think those statis
tics will show that most of the children who need to be prosecuted 
as adults are being prosecuted as adults. There are probably some 
that we have made mistakes on, and there will be others in the 
future, no matter how many commissions I have, no question about 
that, because it is as very delicate subjective decision. 

But the problem to me is not should we treat them as adults or 
should we treat them as hoodlums. It does not make a lot of differ
ence, Senator, if you have a 14-year-old and you prosecute them in 
this courtroom which has a label on it that says juvenile court, or 
in this courtroom which has as label located on a different street in 
the same city and has a label adult court. The question is what you 
are going to do with them after you prosecute them. 

Senator DECONCINI. Of courEe, but I thought your point was that 
if they are treated as juveniles, there is no place for them. Maybe 
there is no place for them as adults, either, but there are long-term 
prisons more than there are long-term juvenile centers. 

Justice FELDMAN. We have very few, and for females we have 
none. We have very few facilities in this State for handling chil
dren 14-, 15-, 16-year-olds who have been prosecuted and sentenced 
as adults. There is literally, with girls, there is no place to put 
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them, none, no place in Arizona, unless you are going to mix them 
in the general prison population, which will present terrible prob
lems down the road when they get out. 

And as far as males, the facilities are generously described as 
very limited. So the question is, if you are going to treat them as 
adults--

Senator DECONCI:r.n. So if you treat them as adults and convict 
them, you do not go into the main population of the prison popula
tion? 

Justice FELDMAN. Senator, you have been a county attorney and 
I do not need to explain to you about putting a 14- or 15-year-old in 
with the general prison population. 

Senator DECONCINI. And that is why you cannot draw that eon
clusion, that if you treat them as adults, they are going to go to 
Florence or some adult prison. 

Justice FELDMAN. If you treat them as adults and prosecute them 
as adults, then (a) if you are going to incarcerate them, put them in 
prison afterwards, what are you going to do them when they are 
prison, (b) a lot of them will be on probation simply because there 
is really no good place to put them in prison. 

If you treat them as adults, you have all of the problems that we 
have with the adult prison population, and, God knows, we do not 
do a very good job with that. So the problem with kids is not which 
courtroom, but what you do with them when you have them, and 
that is where we are falling down. 

Senator DECONCINI. Have you expressed any view, Judge, or 
maybe you are going to wait for the commission, on drug treatment 
and counseling on demand, where anybody would be entitled to it 
certainly that is in the system? 

Justice FELDMAN. I do not have enough background in that to 
really give you an answer that I wopld feel comfortable with. 

Senator DECONCINI. It is very expensive and the Federal Govern
ment has been looking at it for a couple of years. You know, we are 
building a space station and B-2 bombers, and we cannot seem to 
deal with the drug problem by making treatment available. We 
know in this community and in our home towns, yours and mine in 
Tucson, there are some very good programs, but there's a 6 month 
or a year waiting period to get into them. 

Justice FELDMAN. Well, I think-and now I am just talking as 
any citizen who reads the newspapers and has friends who have 
had problems or had children who have had problems-I think 
there are some programs that have had some success, quite a bit of 
success. There is not only a waiting list to get into them, but, un
fortunately, many of them have closed down for lack of available 
funds to pay the bills. 

Again, we come back to it and it seems this society is willing to 
spend $15,000 to $20,000 a year to keep a substance abuser in 
prison for 5 or 10 years and then send them out as a substance 
abuser, but not willing to spend $1,000 a year to see if we can inter
vene and get him or her off of the substance that they are abusing. 
How successful those programs are, I do not know, but it sure is 
worth a chance, in my mind. 

Senator DECONCINI. Judge Feldman, thank you very much for 
taking the time. 
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Justice FELDMAN. Thank you. 
Senator DECONCINI. We look forward to your commission report, 

and we appreciate your time. I know you have to get back to the 
court. 

Mayor Payne, I understand you have another pressing engage
ment, as I am sure the other members do, too, but we will hear 
from you at this time, Mayor. 

STATEMENT OF MAYOR PAYNE 

Mayor PAYNE. Thank you, Senator. 
I am really pleased to be here this morning to testify on behalf of 

the City of Chandler. You know, we have got to a point in the City 
of Chandler where a neighborhood that I grew up in was really a 
little bit fearful when I went into that community, because of what 
was going on as far as violent crime is concerned. 

Because of that, we started to discuss what we might do as a 
body of elected officials, the mayor and city council of the city, to 
curtail some of the violent activity that was going on in the com
munity. 

One of the things that came to our attention real early in our 
discussion was an ordinance that would perhaps prohibit young 
people from carrying firearms. We also had looked at other cities 
in the area; Glendale, Scottsdale, Phoenix, Tempe, that have ordi
nances on the books that prohibited you from carrying firearms. 

We looked at those and then we decided that this would probably 
be the best method for Chandler to use, because we wanted to be in 
sync with the other communities in the metro area, as well as we 
wanted to send a message to those who were perpetrators of violent 
crime that Chandler was not going to be sitting out there alone 
and not having anything to do with what was going on and ignor
ing the possibility of crime coming to the City of Chandler. 

We as the counsel enacted an ordinance, after looking at it for a 
3-year period of time. From 1989 to 1992, the total number of juve
niles referred to juvenile court on a variety of charges increased 
from 1,355 to 1,526. This was an increase of 12 percent, and that 
was appalling as far as we were concerned. 

During the same time period, the number of juveniles arrested 
for illegal possession of firearms increased from 12 to 22, an in
crease of 87 percent. Possession of firearms was becoming more 
common, especially amongst street gang members. Now, a lot of 
these are want-to-be gang members, but at that time we were class
ing them as gang members, just the same. 

The juvenile gun ordinance was adopted to help the police seize 
these weapons, when other law enforcement could not do so or 
where other firearm ordinances did not apply. In doing this, we 
were able to say to the community that, yes, we are aware of what 
is going on in the community as far as violent crime is concerned • 
as it relates to the possession of firearms, and we created this ol:di-
nance. It is nothing more than other cities have done, but some-
thing to say or sent the message that Chandler was not going to sit 
idly by and watch the firearms proliferate in our community. 

We also had the support of our school districts, very much so, 
and like Mayor Mitchell of Tempe, I am a product of the Cooper 
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School system. I spent my professional life in education. I taught 
for 15 years and also was in administration for 15 years, and I was 
at a junior high school and my last assignment was at a junior 
high school. Being the vice principal of a junior high school, I was 
in charge of discipline, and discipline entailed dealing with young
sters who had problems as far as crime and other areas that they 
were involved in as far as being outside the law. So I have a prett.y 
good knowledge of what goes in our community as far as youth are 
concerned. 

We have some programs in our community as far as the city is 
concerned that have been really targeting the youth who fall out
side of the law. We use some of our CBDG funding moneys to 
really create programs, to help prevent youngsters from falling 
through the so-called cracks and getting involved in crime. 

One of the things that we have done is a summer school program 
that we have. It is called Kids at Risk Program, where it is a 3-way 
funded program, the private sector, public sector and the school 
district. Of course, these are all in the city, working together to 
provide funding for this program so that youngsters who are out of 
school, say, June 2nd, June 3rd, they have a place to go and they 
don't have an opportunity to regress from what they had learned 
the prior year through the summer. 

This program has worked very well for us. We have young people 
today, as a result of that program, who stay in school longer, when 
we look at the high school dropout rate that we had prior to work
ing in this kind of a program, it has diminished, so we look at it as 
a success. 

Let me say this, Senator: I believe in prevention and interven
tion-type programs. I do not like to see us wait until the youngster 
has gotten involved-and, believe you me, and I think you probably 
know and all us probably know that young people today are access
ing the court system at a younger age. They get into problems ear
lier in life, and we need to do something on a preventive basis. 

So we have tried to involve the families of the youngsters who 
are prone to get into juvenile delinquency problems. In so doing, 
we have used some community block grant funds to look at our 
housing program in the City of Chandler, and through the housing 
program, the public housing program, we have set aside some 
funds to set up centers where youngsters can be involved in the 
evenings, after school, they can also have some time in mornings or 
on the weekends. 

The Boys and Girls Club in the City of Chandler is an agency 
that is really working and doing wonders, as far as helping those 
youngsters to relate to the community in a more positive way. So 
we are continuing to do those kinds of things. 

But the gun ordinance that we have certainly is a help to us, be
cause it puts the responsibility where I think it ought to be, and 
that is on the backs of the parents. Youngsters cannot carry a gun 
in the City of Chandler without parental permission. This parental 
permission has to be a signed note indicating that the parent is 
consenting that that youngster has the weapon. It is a notarized 
signature saying that the parent is no coerced, cannot be coerced 
into signing it, so that we circumvent the youngster getting a gun 
in his hand without the knowledge of the parent. I think this is a 
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key to our ordinance, and so far I think it is working quite well 
with us. 

Violent crime as far as firearms are concerned have diminished 
somewhat since we enacted that ordinance. We have a more peace
ful and quieter community as a result of that. The areas that I de
scribed previously are much more peaceful than they were before 
the gun ordinance. I think the message is out there. We will con
tinue to do what is necessary to make sure that parents under
stand the significance of their being involved, because there is a 
penalty that they do have to pay, if they allow that youngster to 
move into the community with a firearm and they did not give him 
permission to do that. 

So we are happy today to be here to express Chandler's concerns, 
and I hope that as a result of what we do here today, we will have 
a more community awareness at the level where it will do the most 
good, and that is in the trenches down at the local level, where 
Mayor Mitchell and I serve. 

Thank you. 
Senator DECONCINI. Thank you, Mayor. 
I take it the ordinance provides a penalty for the parent, if they 

fail to give permission and know that the child has it, and then 
there is a penalty for the child? 

Mayor PAYNE. There is a penalty for the parent of the child who 
is caught with a weapon and he does not have the parent's authori
zation. 

Senator DECONCINI. And then is there a penalty for the child, as 
well? 

Mayor PAYNE. The penalty for the child is that the parent is 
then going to have to enact some measures on that child, to make 
sure that this does not happen. 

Senator DECONCINI. And confiscation of the weapon is one of the 
penalties? 

Mayor PAYNE. Yes. 
Senator DECONCINI. Have there been any imposition of the pen

alties of the ordinance? 
Mayor PAYNE. We have not had to impose any penalties on any 

parent yet. We are hoping that we do not have to. I think that 
what has happened is what is expected to happen, is that parents 
are saying, well, they have an ordinance, I do not want to be faced 
with the consequences of that ordinance, so I am going to make 
sure that Johnny does not have that weapon, I am not going to 
give permission for him to have that weapon. 

Senator DECONCINI. You have witnessed less weapons? 
Mayor PAYNE. Less weapons, yes. 
Senator DECONCINI. There is no question about that? 
Mayor PAYNE. No question about that. 
Senator DECONCINI. Mayor, recently I introduced legislation for 

the second time, which passed the Senate last year, that would pro
hibit the manufacture and sale of some 14 semi-automatic assault 
weapons. I have never said that this is a complete solution, and I 
built in it a time period to see whether or not it works. Do you 
have an opinion on whether or not the banning of assault weapons 
would be advantageous to your community? 
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Mayor PAYNE. Senator, when I hear reports of an Uzi being used 
in a neighborhood or an assault rifle or a weapon of some type 
being used in a neighborhood, I have no doubt in my mind that 
what you have done definitely is a curtailment as far as those 
kinds of weapons, and that they should be curtailed, because those 
weapons have no place in a community with small children or fam
ilies, as Chandler prides itself as being a family oriented communi
ty, and certainly we do not want those types of weapons. And we 
will take the steps, along with you and any other agencies that 
want to help curtail the use of those weapons or the bringing of 
those weapons into our communities. They are detrimental. They 
are violent. They will kill, and we do not want that happening on 
our streets. 

Senator DECONCINI. Thank you, Mayor. 
Mary Rose Wilcox, you may please proceed. 

STATEMENT OF MARY ROSE WILCOX 

Ms. WILCOX. Thank you, Senator DeConcini. 
I am glad to be here this morning, particularly with this panel 

who have been in the trenches. I want to thank you for empaneling 
us and many, many more people from the community to whom you 
will listen today. I want to thank you for listening to our ideas and, 
most importantly, for taking them back to Washington. I know 
when you do that, we will see some action. 

I would also like to digress just a minute and thank you for your 
continued interest you have shown over the years in the fight 
against drugs. This is one of the things I think that lies at the 
bottom of some of the violent crime problems, and your leadership 
and being in the forefront is well appreciated by our State. 

I would like to speak today on five topics, and what I will try to 
do, I am very familiar with this problem, as I rule the city council 
and as Maricopa County Supervisor. I have worked with many 
community groups, so I have tried to pick out five things that I 
thought I could talk about and perhaps lead toward resolution. 

First of all, the review of State and Federal legislation dealing 
with firearms, you have stated that you have introduced again a 
ban of assault rifles, and I totally support that. I feel that assault 
rifles are only there to kill people, and they have no place. But I 
feel a review of the State and Federal legislation dealing it will 
help people come to grips with this problem that we have. 

We know that there are certain factions in our society who be
lieve that the right to bear arms should be a right over all, and we 
have to come to grips with the fact that we are an urban society 
and we must look at laws and how they can adjust to that urban 
factor. I think it is very, very important, and when we see the 
amount of drive-by killings, when we see the amount of innocent 
bystanders who are being killed on the streets, we must do some
thing to address all gun laws. 

I do not want to sound like an extremist, but I truly believe that 
all urban areas are coming to the same kind of conclusion, that if 
we do not make it harder to purchase, harder to obtain weapons, 
we are going to be in for a nightmare. 
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The second issue is expansion of youth restitution program 
aimed at at-risk youth who commit violent acts. Many, many 
youth-and I think Judge Feldman addressed this-are going into 
our systems and many of them are mocking it. They do not feel 
that they will be punished for violent acts, that they can get back 
on the street in a matter of days. 

We must have certain punishment for violent acts, and we must 
combine that with a heavy restitution program. They must be 
made to pay in our society, whether it is assisting the victims' fam
ilies or whether it is assisting governmental entities carrying out 
programs. But I believe that a strong restitution part of juvenile 
justice is very much needed, and I will hopefully be working with 
Judge Feldman on that issue. 

The third is increased important preventive and educational pro
grams aimed at youth and their families, with the aim of trending 
them away from violence. Senator DeConcini, this is extremely im
portant. We have a lot of good prevention programs out there and 
education. You have named a few. 

Genesis, midnight basketball leagues, dealing with recreational 
outlets for youth-we have many, many programs which happened 
over the last 2 decades. As you well know, we have been fairly 
stripped of all funding for these programs that could stem the tide 
of violence. I believe that is part of the problem. We offer our 
youth no alternatives, except to go on the street, no jobs except to 
go on the street and get involved in the drug trade, and many, 
many of them, not all of them, but many of them turn to this. 

I think the preventive and educational programs must be funded 
and we must do it at the level that we will affect youth in our com
munities from entering any crime life or any violent activities. 

My fourth point, the implementation of a national full employ
ment program: Many youth in our society are coming from families 
that need assistance. In these economic times, there are two-parent 
families working. Many, many families only have one parent that 
are working, and youth need to assist. 

Many of them are in the drug trade, because they do not have 
any money coming into the household, and they want just the bare 
necessities that OUr youth feel they need today. They see it on TV. 
They want to purchase all of these walkmans and everything else 
they need, and I really think the implementation of a national full 
employment program dealing with summer youth and after-school 
youth would be tremendously important. 

When people go to work, especially youth, it helps them obtain 
values for later in life. It helps them get discipline. It also helps 
many, many families augment that income that they need, and it 
keeps our kids busy. I am a strong believer that you keep kids 
busy, you keep them out of trouble. 

Fifth, I would like to ask you, Senator DeConcini, to join me, as 
you did, in the Governmental Task Force for Games. When we 
formed that 3 years ago, what we did was bring together all of the 
law enforcement agencies and we attacked the enforcement ele
ment of dealing with gangs, and it was very, very successful. When 
you brought people together, we organized and we had meetings 
afterwards where all of the governmental agencies involved, i.e., 
law enforcement from DPS at the State level, to the county sheriff 

,. 
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to the cities, said this worked. What we are doing now is being able 
to put our youth, those that are committing violent acts were able 
to identify, target them and deal with it. 

What we need now is the same kind of task force dealing with 
intervention and prevention. Judge Feldman's committee is going 
to deal with what are the problems, what are some of the things 
that can help. But we need to organize ourselves so that those pro
grams are out there working. Those that are intervening and are 
causing preventive-type programs to exist are known in our com
munity. And I think we have to be very brutal in it. I think we 
have to say this works, this does not, just organize our resources. 

I know it is very easy to say let's put more money into a system, 
but maybe what we need to do is fmd out what is out there, who is 
coordinating with each other, how can we coordinate better, and 
how can we get rid of programs that are not working and use those 
that are working, such as Genesis, such as intense recreation pro
grams. County Attorney Romley has been of immense help in turn
ing some of those RICO funds into programs that have helped. 

We need this Task Force on Intervention and Prevention to orga
nize in a more coordinated manner with nonprofits and govern
mental entities as to what is working out there and what is not. So 
I would ask you to join me in that. 

In conclusion, Senator, I would only like to say we must remem
ber that the goals of social prevention and intervention in im
proved organizational programs and services within the community 
need to be addressed. They work, and if we are to solve this prob
lem and not lose our children, we must become the powerful force 
needed to rescue our children through coordinating each other. 

Thank you. 
Senator DECoNCINI. Thank you, Ms. Wilcox. 
The task force idea is very interesting. This task force would 

make an assessment of what programs do work and have worked 
and which ones ought to be prioritized for funding, is that correct? 

Ms. WILCOX. That is correct. 
Senator DECONCINI. Nobody does that now? 
Ms. WILCOX. It is being done, but not in a magnitude it should 

be. I would like to do it in Maricopa County with your assistance 
and pull together all jurisdictions from Tempe to Phoenix to Chan
dler to nonprofits. 

Senator DECONCINI. So there is no central collection now of even 
what programs are there? 

Ms. WILCOX. There is not. We have an information referral 
system, but it does not really analyze the program. Again, it is 
going to be very hard to do, because you are stepping on a lot of 
territory. But I think we have to be very brutal, if we are going to 
help our children in assessing them. 

Senator DECONCINI. I could not agree more, and I would welcome 
an opportunity to work with you on that. 

A prominent law enforcement officer in Tucson recently was 
quoted as saying that assault weapons and other guns are so avail
able in the Tucson metropolitan area, that it is almost as easy for a 
youth to get a gun, including assault weapons, as it is ice cream. In 
your experience in Maricopa County, having worked in the neigh
borhoods and the city council, do you think it is that easy, as well? 
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Ms. WILCOX. Senator, I do. I have seen many, many youth who 
are being stopped by gang squads that we have during the summer
time, you open up their trunks and you see assault rifles. How did 
they get them? It is ridiculously easy to obtain them. We have 
many, many people involved with that trade who will go ahead and 
trade these for a low amount of money to our youth, and the 
amount of gunshots you hear in our community at night, you can 
have neighbors testify throughout this hearing that those gunshots 
are not just a one-caliber single gun. They are assault rifles 
with--

Senator DECONCINI. Semi-automatic? 
Ms. WILCOX. Yes, they are. In riding with the gang squads 

throughout my tenure as a city council person, I saw so many 
young adults and youth with assault rifles, that yor ~ave to ques
tion why are these available and how are they obt jning them so 
easily. 

Senator DECONCINI. Having ridden with those assault gang 
teams myself, you hear those guns going off and, by the time you 
get there, nobody is there, or at least not the people who are perpe
trating it. 

Thank you, Ms. Wilcox, very much for your testimony. 
Ms. WILCOX. Thank you very much. 
Senator DECONCINI. Mr. Romley? 
I just want the Mayor to know I am saving the best for last. 

[Laughter.] 

STATEMENT OF RICHARD M. ROMLEY 

Mr. ROMLEY. Good morning, Senator. Thank you for this opportu
nity to speak with you today, as Maricopa County Attorney, on my 
views regarding the increased violence that we are seeing by the 
juveniles of Maricopa County. 

With your permission, I have some written oral comments that I 
have incorporated with my written comments, as well, and I am 
going to disregard those, because having heard the comments here, 
I think it would be perhaps a bit more productive to give you a per
ception and a viewpoint perhaps a little bit more full-bodied. 

Senator DECONCINI. We will be glad, Mr. Romley, to include your 
written statement in the record. 

Mr. ROMLEY. Thank you. 
As Maricopa County Attorney, I have had an opportunity to view 

the juvenile justice system for a very long period of time. Without 
a doubt, you should be commended for bringing together this com
mittee to look at this particular problem, because it is an epidemic 
that is facing all of us. 

In 1992, we had 1,425 arrests of juveniles for violent crimes in 
Maricopa County. In Maricopa, that very same year, we had a vio
lent crime occur every 6 hours and 9 minutes or every 12 days and 
14 hours a murder is committed by a juvenile. This statistic alone 
represents an increase in juvenile homicide since 1987 of 314 per
cent. 

The issue you are trying to breach today is very difficult and it is 
not simplistic, and I would like to offer a viewpoint that perhaps 
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addresses both the short-term and the long-term resolution to some 
of these issues. 

From the short-term perspective, I think that all of us, as elected 
officials, must recognize that we have a primary concern of protect
ing the public. The public safety is a paramount issue. To that, we 
must get a grasp and make a decision on what do we do with cer
tain juveniles that could be in the juvenile justice system and con
tinually come in and out of the juvenile justice system, as Justice 
Feldman said. He is absolutely correct, they view it as a revolving 
door and they believe, as Mary Rose said, that there is absolutely 
no sanctions at all. The violence, that tends to promote violence in 
and of itself, because they believe that there is absolutely no sanc
tion there. 

To that, I think the best way to approach this is perhaps a three
pronged approach to the juvenile justice system. As I indicated, the 
very first prong is to decide what to do with those individuals that 
are violent and are continually committing a tremendous amount 
of crime. 

The juvenile justice system, the philosophy behind it is rehabili
tation, that we must not give up on our youth, that we must look 
to them as our future, and with that I agree 100 percent. And I am 
not willing to give up on our children easily, nor take it lightly. 

However, I am not so idealistic as to believe that all juveniles 
belong in the juvenile justice system. We cannot make a blanket 
statement that all of them should be in there, for what happens at 
that point in time is if you continually keep the violent repetitive 
offenders in there, we spend our limited dollars on those individ
uals because of the protection of the community and so forth, thus 
not getting to the full cause of the issue. 

Therefore, I believe that we need to take a different look at the 
juvenile and violent offenders and move them into the adult court 
system. I have seen that work. Perhaps one of the most meaningful 
points that can be made is that all too often when a juvenile is 
transferred into the adult court system, they are hit very strongly, 
saying why. All of a sudden there is a meaningful accountability 
here. 

What perhaps is misguided and not understood is that the adult 
court system also has a tremendous amount of resources that can 
handle these individuals and yet protect the public, as well. Mari
copa County was recognized in Florida for perhaps being a national 
model in intermediate sanctions. We have more and more pro
grams in Maricopa County that address many of these different 
issues. Yet, if they are violent, we can take them and put them 
within a system that will protect the public. That must be our 
number one priority. 

Second, once we have perhaps, as you might call it, plans for the 
juvenile justice system, you have created a system of juveniles that 
is the most amenable for rehabilitation. Then we must look at how 
do we perform our job in the juvenile justice system and rehabili
tate. 

I believe that at this point in time we spend our money inappro
priately. We will never have enough dollars to be able to handle 
the system as all of us would like it to be handled. I think we need 
to spend it more wisely. By way of example, we tend to spend our 
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money, as I indicated earlier, at the back end of the system with 
those individuals that commit continual crimes or very violent in 
the prison setting and so forth. I believe that we need to create a 
philosophical shift, that we make a commitment to the front-tmd 
processing. 

The sooner we can have an impact upon those juveniles, the 
greater the likelihood that we are going to have a meaningful 
impact, and I would like to point out-and this is in my written 
materials-that a recent study was performed by Howard Snyder, 
with the National Center for Juvenile Justice, in 1988, and if I 
could just read the implications of his findings. 

He concludes: 
The volume of youth who enter a court restricts both the quantity and quality of 

attention that can be given. It is, therefore, essential that a court's limited resources 
be efficiently expended in that youth who need the discipline and/or the guidance 
the court can deliver be identified as quickly as possible. 

Most importantly, the finding that he used referred to: 
A court a second time before the age of 16 could with a high degree of certainty 

be considered a chronic offender implies that the court should not wait until the 
youth has returned for the fourth or fifth time before taking strong actions. Most of 
these youths will cycle through the courts with dispositional alternatives, consum
ing more and more resources. Greater expenditures in a career should concern a 
youth's law violating career, should reduce future workloads and should provide 
greater protection to the community. 

Basically, in conclusion, what he is saying there is that money 
should be spent at the very front-end of the process. I am not 
saying that we shouldn't do. it at the back-end, but the philosophy 
should be at the very front-end intervention, and I support most of 
the comments that were stated here. I believe that you need to in
volve the family, increase the court's ability to have family coun
seling for those types of individuals. 

Quite honestly, as I t-astified at the Arizona legislature, by the 
time they reach the juvenile justice system, you are on the down
ward slope. Actually, you need to be putting more resources, as 
Mary Rose has indicated, even before they come into the juvenile 
justice system, and I strongly support that. 

Third, and I think this is going to be perhaps one of the more 
difficult areas in the prong, once we have a good system to work 
within, we have a philosophy to do more at the front end, I believe 
that the third is to look at programs that currently exist within the 
juvenile justice system and the treatment of rehabilitation. 

Maricopa County, as of this date, has never had a program per
formance audit done on any of the treatment programs, and literal
ly millions and millions of dollars are expended every single year. 
We do not know what works, how well it works and where we 
should be spending our limited dollars. 

This could be very important on your part, Senator, in that per
haps some guidance from the Federal level. The question is always 
asked where is there a model, what programs work, and those 
types of things. If future funding comes our way, which I believe 
that you will perhaps help carry out through Congress, I would ask 
that you put in there a criteria for evaluations of those particular 
programs. 

.'-
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We are going to be going through that in Arizona. The courts 
have recognized that that is perhaps a shortcoming at this point in 
time. But we must spend our dollars more wisely and determine 
which programs work, which programs must work, and we must 
have the political strength to be able to say, no, you have not met 
the criteria, and get rid of those and begin spending our dollars 
more wisely. 

That concludes my comments as to how I believe the juvenile jus
tice system need this basic reform. I cannot overemphasize that 
right now we must do something on a short-term solution to ad
dress the immediate violence that we are seeing. I know that it is a 
very difficult and controversial issue that is facing all of us, but the 
community should expect no less. 

Quite honestly, I am just fed up with the violence and I think 
that the community is fed up with it. We must take a strong stand 
and say that this will not be tolerated, and I hope that with your 
committee meeting here today, that statement will go out very 
strong. 

[Mr. Romley submitted the following:] 



22 

Prepared Statement of Richard M. Romley 

Thank you very much for givi!lg me the opportunity as 

Maricopa County Attorney to present my views regarding the 

increasing incidence of violent juvenile crime plaguing our 

community and the inadequacies of the Juvenile Justice System to 

deal with this situation. 

Recently our community has been subjected to an explosion of 

violent crime. In large part these violent offenses are 

committed by juveniles who often times without remorse maim and 

kill. Sociologists and psychologists no doubt can provide us 

wi th numerous reasons explaining the root causes of criminal 

activity. While we all recognize that in many cases poverty, the 

disintegration of the family structure, the substitution of gang 

relationships for family relationships, dependency on drugs, and 

child abuse all contribute to the high incidence of juvenile 

crime. We also must realize that solutions to these problems 

while absolutely necessary are long term in nature. The reality 

is that we all face an immediate crisis which demands an 

immediate solution. Juvenile crime is epidemic. With i~creasing 

frequency, more of us have become victims of drive-by shootings, 

street gang wars, senseless killings and just plain terror by 

teenagers who have become hardened criminals. The right to feel 

safe in our homes, our work place and our streets is under 

attack. 

This trend is not unique to Arizona. The national nature of 

this problem is underscored by the fact that the United States 

Sena te is now holding these very hearings. As the chief 

prosecutor of the largest metropolitan district in Arizona, I 

welcome and applaud the efforts of your subcommittee to assist in 

finding solutions to this problem. 

We in Maricopa County have been subjected to an explosion of 

juvenile crime. Drive-by and retribution killings are becoming 
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more and more frequent. National and International attention has 

been focused on Arizona as a result of the horrible execution 

style killing of nine individuals including 6 Buddhist monks at 

the Buddhist Temple. These murders, according to one of the 

seventeen year old killers were carried out cold bloodedly so as 

to remove "all witnesses" to an attempted robbery. The Buddhist 

Temple murders while arousing International outrage, has merely 

highlightod an ever increasing wave of lawlessness by weapon 

wielding juveniles. This trend must be stopped and it will be. 

New strategies by law enforcement, government and the community 

are called for. Arizona is fed up; I'm fed up. As Maricopa 

County Attorney I intend ::_ work with the community, other law 

enforcement officials, the legislature, and the courts to fashion 

solutions to this explosion of.violent crime. 

Unfortunately, at the same time that violent juvenile crime 

is increasing our juvenile justice system is failing. We are 

nei ther providing appropriate opportunities for rehabilitation 

and education to those juveniles who would benefit nor are we 

adequately protecting the public from those repetitive offender 

juveniles, who by the age of 16 or 17 years old, have evidenced 

such anti-social behavior that they pose a threat to us all. We 

must recognize that all juvenile offenders are not the same. 

There is a significant difference between the 14 year old who 

steals a car in order to take a joy ride or joins his peers in 

relatively minor criminal activity and the repetitive offender 

who has had the benefit of all that the Juvenile Justice System 

can offer and nevertheless continues ·a life of crime culminating 

in violent activity. In 1992 there were 1,425 arrests of 

juveniles for violent crime in Maricopa County. That same year, 

a violent crime committed by a juvenile occurred every six hours 

nine minutes. Every 12 days, 14 hours a murder is committed by a 

juvenile. This statistic alone represents an increase of 

juvenile homicides since 1987 of 314 percent. 
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of us to provide rehabilitative programs and education so as to 

assist juvenile offenders. It is, clear howc>ver, that with regard 

Some say thac all that is needed is more resources and more 

~rograms. I disagree; money alone is not the answer. My 

observations of the Juvenile Justice System over many years as a 

prosecutor, and now as a County Attorney, have led me to conclude 

that, although a laudable goal, the principle claim of the 

Juvenile Justice System 

- that, given enough resources (money) and enough 
time, they can "cure" (rehabilitate) anyone, or at 
least almost anyone, 

is neither realistic nor aChievable. This attitude causes th'e 

Juvenile Justice System to always try program after program and, 

despite the expenditure of slightly over 8.7 million dollars for 

treatment in Maricopa County, the Juvenile Court asks for a blank 

checkbook to create more programs rather than facing up to the 

real issue. They should decide who truly belongs in the system. 

What is needed is a good dose of reality. The reality is 

that our limited resources are being misspent and misplaced. 

Instead of concentrating our efforts on helping those juveniles 

who can benefit from our help, we concentrate an inordinate 

amount of resources on hardened juvenile criminals who use the 

~ystem as a revolving door, going in and out over and over again. 

What is needed is a commitment to place the limited resources 

available at the front end of the system when the first time 

offender can be most helped. To continue to dissipate the 

resources available on repetitive offenders who at the age of 16 

and 17 years old commit adult crimes again and again is futile. 

I have suggested that it is time to recognize that crimes 

committed by 16 and 17 year old juveniles who have had numerous 

contacts with the juvenile justice system and who use deadly 

weapons causing horrible results should not be continued within 

the juvenile justice system but should be transferred to adult 

court and treated and punished as adults. This community 

deserves this protection. 
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As Maricopa County Attorney my primary focus must be on 

protection of th~ public. I also recognize the obligation of all 

to those juver.ile offenders who present a danger to the 

community, we must confront the issues of how best to protect the 

public. It must be recognized that we have an obliga.tion not 

only to protect ourselves, but also to protect those placed in 

our care. There can be no higher priority then that of 

government protecting its citizens. 

Recognizing that law enforcement does not have all the 

answers, it is imperative that the government and the citizenry 

at large participate along with law enforcement in this effort to 

find solutions to this serious problem. Without such solutions 

our quality of life will be compromised and we' will be failing 

not only ourselves but our children. 

Thank you again for affording me this opportunity to appear. 

I would be happy to answer any questions at this time. 
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WRITTEN STATEMENT OF RICHARD M. ROMLEY 

The rise in violence in Maricopa County is well documented (see 

Appendix A). To highlight some of these statistics, I submit the 

following based on the National crime Report criteria: 

1. arrests for juveniles (persons u~der the age 
of eighteen) committing violent crimes in 
Maricopa county rose from 704 in 1982 to 
1,425 in 1992, 

2. by the end of 1992, Juvenile Violent crime in 
Maricopa County had increased more than 74% 
sinca 1988, 

3. juvenile Violent crime had increased eight 
times faster than the growth in the county's 
population during this period of time, and 

4. the impact to my office during this period is 
that the total juvenile offenses submitted to 
review for filing had risen 30%. 

Aggravating the issue of violence is the increased presence of 

gangs in Maricopa County. Last year in Phoenix alone, gang 

rel'!ted violent incidents increased from 881 in 1991 to 918 in 

1992 (see Appendix B). The Arizona Department of Public Safety 

estimates that there are approximately 783 gangs statewide with 

about 9,000 members. Of these, the Maricopa county metropolitan 

area alone has 449 gangs with at least 50% of the documented 

members and at least 40% of those being juveniles. Just in 

Phoenix, it bas been estimated that there are approximately 130 

gangs with a documented membership of over 3,000 as compared to 

an estimate of 35 gangs with a membership of approximately 500 in 

the late 1970's. 

Using the Maricopa County Juvenile Court's statistics and their 

criteria or definition of violent offenses, which is more 

extensive than the National Crime Report, (see Appendix C), the 

following observations during the last six years are also 

indicative of an epidemic of juvenile violence: 
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1. the number of juvenile referrals to Maricopa 
county Juvenile Court rose from 24,767 in 
1987 to 27,624 in 1992, 

2. the number of violent referrals committed by 
juveniles increased from 881 in 1987 to 1,895 
in 1992, 

3. despite a significant drop in the number of 
referrals to the Maricopa county Juvenile 
court, the last two years (there were 29,031 
referrals in 1990 which dropped to 28,438 
referrals in 1991 and again dropped to 27,624 
referrals) there has been a steady increase 
in the number of violent referrals until 1991 
when a minor decrease (38 referrals) occurred 
in 1992. Yet, despite the decrease, the 
percentage of violent referrals to total 
referrals has steadily increased including 
the years of 1991 and 1992 when this minor 
drop occurred, and 

4. although statistics are not maintained for 
the number of violent petitions for 
delinquency actually filed, a conservative 
estimate would be that if 50% of the violent 
referrals were filed, it would only result in 
23% of violent JUVenile offenders in Maricopa 
County being transferred to the adult 
criminal justice system in 1992 despite the 
fact that this was the highest number 
transferred since 1987. 

Against this backdrop as well as my observations of the Juvenile 

Justice System over many years as a prosecutor, and now as a 

county Attorney, have led me to conclude that, although a 

laudable goal, the principle claim of the Juvenile Justice system 

that, given enough resources (money) and enough 
time, they can "cure" (rehabilitate) anyone, or at 
least almost anyone, 

is neither realistic nor achievable. This attitude causes the 

Juvenile Justice system to always try program after program and, 

despite the expenditure of slightly over 8.7 million dollars for 

treatment in Maricopa County, the Juvenile Court asks for a blank 

checkbook to create more programs rather than facing up to the 

real issue. They should decide who truly belongs in the system. 

It is important to note that the 1972 Wolfgang study which 

concluded that juveniles with five or more police contacts are 

chronic offenders and most likely to recidivate was refuted by 

Howard Snyder from the National center for Juvenile Justice in 

1988. He states that the implication of his findings is that, 

74-122 0 - 94 - 2 
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"First, the recidivism probabilities of many youth who 
come before the juvenile court for only the second time 
are very high - at the chronic offender level. If a 
court knows that it is likely to handle a youth again 
and again, the court should not delay in providing 
interventions and imposing sanctions. Dispositions in 
many court systems progress in severity and cost in 
small steps. However, if a court adopts the position 
early in a career that a youth is likely to continue 
the law-violating behavior and to consume much more 
court time and resources, the progression of court's 
responses could be accelerated." 

and concludes that, 

"The volume of youth who enter a court restricts both 
the quantity and quality of attention that can be 
given. It is, therefore, essential that a court's 
limited resources be efficiently expended in that youth 
who need the discipline and/or the guidance the court 
can deliver be identified as quickly as possible. 

• •• Most importantly, the finding that a youth 
referred to court for a second time before the age of 
sixteen COUld, with a high degree of certainty, be 
considered a chronic offender implies that the courts 
should not wait until the youth has returned for the 
fourth or fifth time before taking strong action. Most 
of these youth will cycle through the court's 
dispositional alternatives, consuming more and more 
resources. Greater expenditures earlier in a career 
should shorten a youth's law-violating career, should 
reduce future court workloads, and should provide 
greater protection to the community." 

Despite this research and a wealth of literature to the contrary, 

experience has shown that the Maricopa County Juvenile court and 

the Department of youth Treatment and Rehabilitation continue to 

expend the vast majority of their limited resources on the older 

juveniles who are either the most 'chronic or the most violent. 

These are the juveniles who are least likely to be amenable to 

treatment. 

This has caused the public to lose confidence with the system and 

victims do not feel protected. Like the juveniles themselves, 

they feel the system is a joke and, given the recent rise in 

violence being committed by juveniles, the taxpayers are 

outraged. 

It is common knowledge that serious juvenile offenders quickly 

learn to manipulate the system and commit offense after offense. 
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When the patience of the judge runs out and a transfer is 

ordered, the juvenile is shocked to find out that something 

"significant" will finally happen to him. Further, unlimited 

treatment opportunities fail to provide any incentive for a 

juvenile to modify his behavior. 

As the chief law enforcement officer of Maricopa County, I am 

fully aware of the prosecutor's responsibility and duty to 

provide for the public safety and firmly believe that the long 

term interest of public safety is better served through the 

treatment and rehabilitation of juveniles. 

successful, we eliminate adult crime. 

Simply stated, if 

Also critical to juvenile justice reform is the continued 

funding of the Department of Youth Treatment and Rehabilitation. 

As Johnson v. Upchurch has correctly pointed out, Arizona's youth 

corrections system was a system in neglect that offers, even 

today, little if any rehabilitative services. It is only the 

possibility that future criminal conduct might be eliminated 

through treatment and rehabilitation in the juvenile justice 

system that justifies putting the public at risk. 

It is for these reasons that, I would like. to emphasize that I 

support the underlying philosophy of the Juvenile Justice System 

as well as the necessity for the treatment and rehabilitation of 

juvenile offenders. However, limiting the number of the "bites 

of the apple" before criminal sanctions are imposed is not 

logically inconsistent with that philosophy. Establishing some 

finite number of times that the system allows a particular 

juvenile to commit a felony is paramount in providing for public 

safety. Certainly, there should be no tolerance when the 

juvenile uses a gun or commits a violent act against another 

person. Public safety demands that we must limit that risk to 

only those juveniles who are most amenable to the services of the 

juvenile justice system! 
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Because we are not dealing with an exact science but with human 

behavior, you will not find a juvenile justice professional who 

will tell you that they can predict whether any particular 

juvenile delinquent will recidivate. At best, they can only tell 

you who is potentially "at risk" to commit additional crimes. 

Not only can they not predict future criminal behavior, their 

ability to diagnose the appropriate treatment to prevent further 

criminal conduct in either a medical or behavioral modality model 

is basically still in the "stone age." It is merely a matter of 

experimentation until something either works or the juvenile has 

turned eighteen and is no longer in the system. Yet the attitude 

prevails that every juvenile is entitled to try eVerything before 

he suffers criminal consequences for his criminal conduct. 

compounding this weakness is the fact that whether it is services 

being delivered by the Juvenile Court or the Department, no one 

knows what works on what kind of delinquent kids. Despite the 

expenditure of millions of dollars, outcome analysis has not been 

required to empirically demonstrate that any type, treatment 

works. 

Effective evaluations of programs is not only necessary to 

justify their significant expenditures of public monies but to 

also validate the very premise of the juvenile justice system 

---that treatment and rehabilitation can stop criminal behavior. 

If this cannot be demonstrated, the entire system should fall. 

In hard economic times, and even in good, taxpayers do nro;. 

deserve this irresponsible use of their tax dollars. The system 

must spend the limited taxpayer dollars more wisely by being 

honest and admitting that due to this uncertainty in diagnosis, 

the only true barometer to tell whether a juvenile is either 

amenable to treatment or willing to accept treatment is that 

juvenile's own conduct. 

------------------------------------
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However well intended it may be to try to continue to find "the 

cure," the public does not deserve to be continually placed at 

risk. Simply stated, how many felonies should a citizen be 

subjected to by a particular juvenile. We must also send a 

message to violent juvenile offenders who, at least by the age of 

sixteen, can easily comprehend that their conduct is not 

acceptable and will not be tolerated in a civilized society. 

Sound public policy demands that, after reasonable efforts to 

rehabilitate have been made, the conclusion be reached that the 

juvenile has forfeited his right to receive the services and 

benefits of the juvenile system. He should be transferred and 

suffer the consequences of adult criminal sanctions. 

Therefore, the Juvenile Court and the Department of youth 

Treatment and Rehabilitation must make a philosophical shift to 

"front end spending." This would restore public confidence in 

the Juvenile Justice system by allowing them to only expend their 

limited resources on those juveniles who they can truly affect. 

Additionally, this would provide juveniles a very strong 

incentive to participate in their recovery and modify their 

behavior. 

However, rather than honestly admitting that the system keeps the 

wrong kids and keeps them too long, the system chooses to cloak 

these inherent weaknesses in 'che system and their decisions with 

confidentiality and cla~m that what is needed is not 

accountability but another level of bureaucracy, a youthful 

offender program. Not only· does this philosophically send the 

wrong message to the juvenile offender that, once again, they 

will not be held accountable for their criminal conduct, it also 

creates another "money pit" by creating a system that has already 

proven to be a failure, the California youth Authority. 

It also ignores the reality that there rarely, if ever; is a 

difference in maturity between an eighteen year old and a per~on 
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seventeen years, eleven months, thirty days, and twenty-three 

hours old. Yet, for convenience, one arbitrary hour can result 

in significant consequence in terms of criminal sanctions. If 

one hour results in inappropriate disparity, what about one day, 

one week, three months, one year, etc? 

Clearly, the same rationale upplies equally to the upper end of 

the proposed spectrum. Why arbitrarily pick the age of twenty

one? What about the person who is twenty years and one hour old? 

The same analysjs applies. 

Not only does the arbitrary age incorrectly assume that three 

years will give sufficient time for treatment to cure all cases 

which fall "within the current evil" created by the present 

system, it again ignores the need for flexibility to provide age 

appropriate treatment and sanctions regardless of an arbitrary 

and fixed age. This can be done more efficiently in the adult 

system. In fact, the adult system is not devoid of treatment 

prograffis. Arizona is probably the leader in the United states in 

terms of intermediate sanctions. Not only does probation exist, 

there is intensive probation, day reporting, day fines, and an 

array of sanctions through the community punishment act. It is 

also interesting to note that the current Juvenile Justice system 

does not have SUfficient age appropriate treatment and 

rehabilitation programs for people of this age category. 

In conclusion, I hope that this presentation begins the dialogue 

to provide meaningful 

system that will stem 

juveniles. 

reform throughout the Juvenile Justice 

the wave of violence and crime by 

, .. 
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APPENDIX A 

Juvenile Data 

Maricopa County 

Arrests Under 18 

Population Under 18 629,830 
Population 5-17 431,394 
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Juvenile Data 

Maricopa County 

Arrests Under 18 

Homicide· 17 7 10 12 14 28 2 
Forcible raDe • 34 32 26 19 48 45 4 
Robbery • 129 126 153 202 334 401 37 
Agaravated Assault· 406 445 494 613 861 934 98 
Burolary 1,957 1,733 1,863 1,889 2,140 2,259 1,97 
Larceny-theft 6,928 6,851 7,067 6,860 7,499 7,225 6,22 
~~icular theft 417 411 425 688 1,042 1,309 1,25 
AI ... ," 84 B2 93 77 136 73 5 

Clbn."rid.xmjta'~tI(H:(l:tEt\lft ~9;g72 ~_9;681ID!OOtl~n !l!I!!,1,O,*O ~12lO74 81'2.'214 ~1J1:0C 
Other Crimes 14,528 14,091 13,303 13,694 17,024 17,247 16,2E 
Total All Classes 24,500 23,778 23,434 24,054 29,098 29,521 27,22 
% Change In Index Crimes -2.9% 4.6% 2.3% 16.5% 1.7% ·10.3' 

Population Under 18 532.876 558,022 581,750 605,939 64t,111 610,243 629.8~ 
Population 5-17 359,591 376,102 391.548 402,206 437,449 414,926 431,3E 

Tht. mlliolx includu the number of Neg!1gont ~rull,)Ughter cuu In Homicide dou1fiaatlon 
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Gang Related Violent Incidents continue to rise. 
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• Statistics provided by the Phoenix Police Departmenfs: Gang Unit 
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APPENDIX C 

Maricopa County 
Juvenile Population 

Ages 8 to 17 

1999 1999 1990 

Juvenile Court Referrals 

19B9 1999 1990 1991 

• 

1991 

1992 
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Total Juvenile Offense Submittals have risen 30%. 
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VIolent Crime as defined by the Un1fORn CrIme Report consists 01 Murder. Rape, Robbery 8c Aggravted Assault. 

Juvenile Violent Grjme case submittals have increased more than 74%. 
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Juvenile Violent Crime has increased eight times faster than the 
County's population. 
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Population Juvenile Violent Crime 
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Maricopa County 
Percentage Growth 1987 to 1992 

350%~ 

Juvenile Homicides 
compared to 

Population Under 18 

300% t --!}'C;;l!)J:) 

250% I " 

150% I lSi: 

100%1 1"2 

50% 

0% I ---=====-2 ... ' . I .. ~ 
Population Under 18 

/It , 

~ 



41 

Number of Violent Referrals 

1997 1989 1999 1990 1991 1992 

Percentage of Violent Referrals to Total 
Referrals 

1987 1999 1989 1990 1991 1992 

Number of Juveniles Transferred 

1987. 1988 1989 1990 1991 1992 . \"~ 
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MARICOPA COUNTY JUVENILE COURT CENTER 

DEFINITION OF SEVERITY TYPOLOGY 

VIOLENT OFFENSES 

Homicide 
Negligent Homicide 
Murder 1 
Murder 2 
Manslaughter 
Attempted Murder 
Kidnap for Sex 
custodial Interference 
Kidnap =(kidnap + kidnap ranson + unlaw. imprison) 
Sex with Minor 
sexual Assault 
Sodomy with Minor 
Robbery General 
Purse - snatch Forcible 
Strongarm Robbery 
Armed Robbery 
Aggravated Robbery 
Endangerment 
Assault with Deadly Weapon 
Aggravated Assault 
Arson occupied 
child Molesting 
Sexual Abuse 
Child Abuse 
Set Explosives 
Hit and Run 
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MARICOPA COUNTY JUVENILE CRIME CLOCK 

1M crim. dod; ihoud bo \lie;wedwi!h c:&r1I. Baing Iho mad agQr-;ale repr.'.nla5on 
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APPENDIX E 

u.s. Department or Justice • Qeriee of Juvenile: Justice and D~lin4ucncy Prevention 

renile Justice Bulletin 

DJJDP Update 
on Research 

Verne L. Speirs, Administrator 

• 

August 1988 

Study Sheds New Light on Court Careers 
of Juvenile Offenders 

A youth's second coun appe3TaJ1ce may 
be an early warning sign of future delin· 
quenc)'. according to a new study 01) the 
CQun careers of juvenile offcnjers. This 
finding is imponant because many 
('''''Ins currently concenuate their 

'gics and limited resources on youth 
woo have appeared in coun five or sh; 
times and have been labeled chronic 
offenders. However. the study's 
findings indicate that although the 
majority of youth (59 percent) wenllO 
juvenile coun only once. juveniles who 
are referred to coun for a second time 
before age 16 arc vcry likely 10 continue 
their delillquent behavior. 

The study, Court Caretrs 0/ Ju\"enile 
Offenders, was conducted for the Office 
of Juvenile Justice and Delinquenc)' 
Prever,tion (OJJDP) by How3rd Snyder 
of the National Center for Juvenile. 
Justice. It analyzed the court c:::t.reers of 
69.504 YOlUh hom between 1962 and 
J 965 who were processed by the 
juvenile couns in Maricop3 County 
(Phoc:nix). Arizona. :md in the SI.ne of 
U13h: It ex:unines the characteristics of 
a juvenile offender frem the counts 
perspective and describes the type and 
prevalence of offenses com mined by 
youth. 

.. - .. findings from this study c::t.n help 
.:tilioneis 3nd policym:Jkers working 

-In !.his sludy, violent offenses inc:Judcd 
criminal homicide. forcible rtlpc:. robber),. 
Ol'1d :H!l!r:l\·.:!·~d :I$$:lclt. 

in the juvenile justice system to devise 
new intervention programs and 
sti.ncgics. 

According to thc reseaich: 

• Only 5 percent of thc youth referred 
to juvcnile coun were ever ch:'Jged with 
a violent offense" and less than 1 
percent had more than onc violent 
offense referral in their coun career. 

From the Administrator: 

We know from past research that a 
rel3tively small number of youths 
are responsible for a large panion 
of the offenses committed by juve· 
niles. A logic:!1 next step. then, is 10 
:!sk what couns can do to intervene 
carlyon 10 deter these youth from 
committing funhcr serious delin· 
quent acts. 

To help an!iWer lhi~ question. the 
Office of Juvenile Justice and De
linquency Prevention (OJJOP) 
funded a research sludy 10 examine 
thc delinquenl cllreers of chronic 
juvenile offenders (rom Ihe coun's 
perspective. 

The findinss from this project have 
imponant implic:!tions for the 
juvenile justice system. including 
couru. probalion, correclions. and 

• Youth most likely 10 h:we:1 sccond 
refemlto coun were those originally 
ch:lfged with burglary, truancy. motor 
vehicle theft. or robbery. 

• Youth I~os' likely to commit a 
second offense were originally charSt'd 
with unde~ge drinking. running :lW:I)'. 
or shoplifling. 

It Those referred for:l violent offense 
h:ld been or :Ire likely 10 be charged with 
a wide r.mge of delinquent behaviorS. 

other profession:lIs in the field, Ho .... ·• 
ever. because of busy schedules and a 
lack of time 10 re:!d indeplh reports. 
rese:!rch results such as these often 
don't m:lke it into the hands of 
policymakers and practitioners. To 
help remedy Ihis. we produced this 
OJJDP Research Update. which 
brien), summarizes-in :In easv·to· 
read fonnat-findine.s about the coun 
careers of juvenile offenders. 

The findinlls from this study can be 
especially helpful to juvenile justice 
dccisionmakers in developing: policy. 
We ~licve they can help jurisdic. 
tions ncross the Nation develop pro· 
grams to respond more effectively 10 

serious juvenile offender.;:. 

Verne: LSpcirs 
Administrator 

.. 



Juveniles and court 
careers 
More th:m half of:111 youth (5S ~rccnt) 
fint ~pp(~fCd in coun "cfare 3ge 16. 
The ~1.:I.tistics show IhOlI btl)'~ were more 
likely 10 rccidi\·.:I.lc th.:l.n £!irls: 46 ~rcenl 
of all m.:l.les had more Ih.:l.n one coun 
refell':ll compared to onl}" 29 ~rcent of 
the. fenu\es. 

Eighty.ane percent of OlJl youth referred 
10 coun were referred nl le.:l.'i1 once for:l 
delinquent offense. i.e.:l crimin:d law 
\'iol:ltion. The remaining youth were 
ch.:l.f~ed only with statUS offenses-Jct, 
that are oirc:nses only if commined by:l 
juvenile. such as running a ..... ay.tNJncy. 
Or underoge drinking. 

Whether:1 youlh commits an~ther crime 
was also related to the IYpe of offense 
thaI resulted in the youth's first coun 
referral. Those most m:ely 10 recidh'ate 
..... ere first referred for bUf£lary. tru:mcy. 
motor vehicle theft. or robb~r:·. 

Table 1 
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Violent offenses and 
juveniles 

The younger a juvenile \\':1); on enlerinl! 
the coun system. the gre.:l.lcr the likeli. 
hood th:U1he youlh would l;lIer h.: 
referred for;1 \'iolenl offense. F(lr 
exampl1! • .:I. youth whose first C('Iun 
refcrT.:I.I W.:l.oI.:1I :l~e 1.3 ..... .:l. .. 1wk,:ls 
Iikc:1~' a!io:t ~'outh [irst referred:ll age 16 
10 have:1 \'iolen en~ refcmJ,1. 

Although yc.uth who commit!£IClI-"""""""'"'_ 
offenses Were the least common of all 
ju\'enile offenders (S percen!). these ju
veniles were the mOlitlikelv to (Cturn to 
eun ch:lrged with a \'iole~1 ofCtnse. 

This p:ltlem was found among roth 
and girls. . 

Youth mOSIIik.:ly 10 commit a subse
quent \'iolent offense were first referred 
to coun for robbery: more th:m half of 
these youth recidi"'ated. Dnd one .. ~ighth 
were later referred 10 juvenile coun for 
anolher \'iolent offense. The second 
group of youth most likely to b< referred 
for;\ subsequent violent offens~ were 

lh('1:<~ WI\\'1~': tirsl rcfl.'rT'.11 \\':l.~ lor 
ag.~r.1\·61h:t! as!':Iuh l~r bur~lary. JU\~· 
niles wth' \\~I't! lir", r.:fcm:J 1",'Ir unJt!':. 
3~~ tJrinldn~. tru:mcy. druS I;)w "inl;]· 
lilln:;, or shllplifting were It'Il,{t lit"',\' I~' 
c(lll1mi~ a ~ub:;equ~nt vioknl (lm~:n~I!. 

Thil> :;tudy (C\und linh: c\'idcnl.:'c for :;f'!!
cialiunion. when a ,"Duth il'i referred 
:lg:1in and again (or"the same: Iype of 
offense. ~ fast youth tcnded to be 
invol\'ed in "' wide: ~nge of offense 
ly~s. 

Who are chronic 
offenders? 

Chronic ju\'enile orrender$ :Ire youth 
who are mosllikeh' 10 conlinue their 
l:!w-viol::uinc beh::i,·ior. It h:u been the 
ju\'cnilejustlce system's goal 10 identifY 
chronic offenders 35 carly in their coun 
C:1reers 35 possible :md desi,gn effeclhe 
intervention strate~ies. Most \'Duth 
ne\'er return to ju\:enllc coun 3fter their 

Percentage of youth who returned 10 jU\'enile court-breakdown by age DI referral :md 
the current number of referrals in the 1m'cnile's court career 

Age:.t l'umber of referrals All 
referr:!1 4 5 6 referrols 

10 61% 8~CJ, 96% 97% 99% 96'k 93% 94% 95% 71% 

II 60 85 91 92 98 99 99 96 100 72 

J:! 59 83 89 97 98 95 98 96 98 72 

IJ 57 82 90 93 95 97 96 98 98 73 

14 53 77 86 91 92 94 96 95 95 70 

15 45 69 80 84 89 89 91 93 92 66 

16 33 55 68 73 77 81 82 83 86 54 

17 16 27 36 41 45 4~ 50 53 51 30 

Aces 10 41 
,h;ough 17 

59 67 71 74 77 77 79 79 56 

NUle: Tu inlerprcllhe v;!lues in Ihi~ tahle it m!ly help 10 provide !I few c:xamples: Sevenl)"SI!\'c:n perccnt uf all youlh WhthC 

sccond rc:fcrr.1I10 COurt occurred al :ll,!t: I~ WCfe referred ilS:lin. Fifty·nine pefcent ofallvuuth with twu refcrT'.lIs had:l sub· 
~c:qu.:nt refcrT'JJ lu juvenlh: court. "~evcnl'y percent of all youth referred .n alle 14 were referred laler fur:t new orrc:n)e~ 



... :\1 rc(cmll; Iht' juvenile:; Wh~l ;In: 
rcfem!d to Cl)un :lgain o(l~n c(1mpik :1 

hog n~1 of offenses by their cigillct'nih 
birthd:IYs. TrJdition:llly. the coun h;\:, 
waited until ju\'c:nilc:s accumulate ti\'c: or 
si:c. ref-:m15 before: la~ling them 
chronic offenders. 

who were referred to ju,-cnilc coun for a 
second time before o.ge 16 were likely 10 

cominuc their 1:I\\··\·iolating bl:havior
indic:lIcs Iho.l ju\'cnilc:\ wilh IWO 
offenses may. in (ncl. ~ idcnlified :is 
chronic offenders. This study ~1f£UI!$ 
th:n thc!ic juveniles should be tre::lled t 
same 35 those chronic: offenders who 

Implications for the 
juvenile court 

Figure 1 
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C:I • ghcl1. It h.. therefore. c$!it'l1Ii:\1 
lal tll.'uun':: Iilllill!,1 n!suun:c:; ~ 

cflkicnlly l.'\lX'ndcd :\Ol1lh.1I YllUlh \\ 11\\ 
need Ihe CllUn'$ ~uiJ:tnce be idenlilicd 
:IS quickly :1:' ['\'~silM. 

The sludy's !inding:; $uppon Ihe: se:m:h 
for indic:ll(\r~ or fUlUf!! law·"'i~ll:lIin~ he· 
h3\·ior. :;;Ucll:.1:\ risk·s~reening in~lrU. 
menl~, If chmnic ort'c:ndc:rs :m~ idl!nli· 
lied III an earlier uIle. progrums could bt 
de\'clupe:d I~' concenlr.lIe specialized 
resour~e~ on y~uth ~lost in nee:d or 
set'\·ic~ .. e:J.r \ reers. 

o:;t impon:mtly. the findlOIllh:1I :1 

'outh rererred 10 coun for the second 
ime berore the o.ee or 16 could be 

nsidered. wilh; hi,gh degree of 
C ainl},.o. chronic orfender. implies 
th the couns should not wah untillhe 
yo 'h has returned for the founh or fifth 
tim berore I:l.king sirong. action, Most 
of th se youlh will cycle through the 
coun dispositional altemIuives. 
consu inc. more nnd more re5o~ s, 
Greater xpenditures enrlier iJ}.-d C:l.reer 
should sh en 0. ,'outh's ,(:,'iolatinc. 
C:lreer. reduc ' .. coun worklo:lds: 

:lIld prm idL' grculcr rWICClil111 hllhL' 
cUllllnunil~ . 

The dam n'f this,~audy were supplied \'Iy 
tht.! N:lljon~1 Ju\'enile:- Coun O~II;I 
Archive:. ~upponc:d by OJJOP. For m~lre 
infomlaliM aboullh~' Archh e. COIll.!':I: 

i\':uion:ll Ju,e:oilc C",urt 0:11:.1 Archhe: 
1'\:lIiooal Ce:-nler for Ju\'enilt.! Ju~lit:(: 
70 I Forbe:: A venue 
Pinsburgh: PA 1$:!19 
412-:!27-69S0 

To ord~r:l comp1im('ntary copy of th~ 
fulll'ilud)'. ~onlacllh~ Juvenile: Ju~Ii~~ 
Clearinghou!Oc. Box 6000. Rll~k\'ill~. 
MD 20R50: or c.1I SQ0-6"R-S736. 

Till' A,ui.UlllII AlwrIIr,\' GrllrrlJ/. O/fir,' 
(1[ Jllsli('1" Pmgrums, C'(1(Jrd;lIatC's tile' 
o('r;r;/irs olille foll'III'i",~ {'merlin! 
Ofjirrs olld BI/rrous: Burrol/ tif JIIS/itt' 

S/atiSlia • .\'aliollo/ blstitlllr (lfJusI;C'r, 
Bllr.~all (lj'JllstiC'r .J.S,tiSfon('r. ORkr (lj 
JIII'rllill' JlIslia and Drlillqllt,lIt'," 
Prrl'C'millll, alld O/Jkr /i" \ 'ic'tims (lj 
Crimr. 

Percenttlge of youth who returned 10 jU"cnile courl after a first referral (or Ihe1ollowing oITenses 

Burglary 58% 

Truancy 57% 

MOlDr vehicle lheft 51% 

Rob!>:ry 51'R 

Larceny-theft 491< 

Forcible rnpe 

Aggr:lV"Jlcd o.ss:.Iu1t 

Drug ofrense 

Shoplirling 

Running :twa)' 

Undcro!gc drinking 
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Senator DECONCINI. Thank you, Mr. Romley, for those three spe
cific suggestions. It is most helpful. 

Your statement about treating these violent repeaters as adults, 
do you think the law should be in changed in States where the dis
cretion is no longer with the judge, that it should be classified by 
the crime? 

Mr. ROMLEY. Yes, I think that is a direction, Senator, that is 
going to be the next movement throughout the Nation. I just re
cently attended a conference in San Diego with the large metropol
itan prosecutors to address some of the juvenile justice issues. And 
I do believe that we need to begin to become more offender orient
ed at the type of crime that the individual commits, and you will 
start seeing some legislation in this area. 

How do I explain this? It is not a very simplistic answer in and 
of itself of when do you say enough is enough. However, after the 
individual has been through the programs 4 and 5 times, when 
should we be allowing him to go back through that program again? 

My particular philosophy is that a 16- and 17-year-old has com
mitted certain types of violent crime like murder or rape, they 
should be automatically remanded into the adult court system. 
Part of the reason is because there is not enough time for the con
cept of rehabilitation, if you can rehabilitate them. But also after 
the fifth time through the juvenile justice system, they should be 
into the adult court automatically. 

Do not misunderstand. Let's say the person has been a burglar, 
done some minor assaults, and it is the fifth time into the juvenile 
justice system. if you have not been able to make a meaningful 
impact on that child at that point in time, then you have got to 
start looking at the protection of the community. And when you 
move him into the adult court system, that does not mean you are 
going to be sending him to prison. 

We have some of the most progressive innovative programs in 
Maricopa County throughout the nation, and that has been stated 
over and over again. We have the Community Punishment Act, we 
have drug counseling, we have mental health capabilities, we have 
intensive probation, bootcamp, a variety of different capacities to 
be able to do it. 

But the point of the matter is we need to send a message to the 
youth, ye shall be accountable. That is a message to other youth, as 
well, as well as we give them a different opportunity with a little 
more structure. 

Senator DECONCINI. Thank you very much. 
Mr. Romley, as I meant to ask the other witnesses, I have intro

duced legislation that would ban certain assault weapons, semi
automatic weapons. Do you think that would be worth an effort to 
seek whether or not that had any effect on violence in our neigh~ 
borhoods and schools? 

Mr. ROMLEY. Senator, I am very familiar with that particular 
legislation. And I think that the community is very concerned 
about the amount of weapons that are within the community. 
From my perspective as County Attorney, I believe that I need to 
do a better job at prosecuting those juveniles that commit the 
crimes with weapons, and that is my particular philosophy, as well 
as holding parents accountable. 
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Recently, I just indicted a young mother who continually allowed 
her 3-year-old to play with a weapon, knew it, was warned against 
it, and that 3-year-old accidentally shot his 2-year-old sister. He did 
not kill her. But I believe I also need to hold the parents more ac
countable. 

I believe that if we do a better job in that particular arena, that 
can have a meaningful impact, not to say that there are not other 
things. I believe in certain restrictions, although I am not a gun 
control advocate. I introduced legislation with the Glendale Police 
Department years ago to ban the carrying of guns on school cam
puses, and we got that through. Last year, I tried to make it a 
felony versus a misdemeanor. We were not successful, which I just 
do not understand. 

Senator DECONCINI. Do you think it would be worthwhile trying 
to ban some of these assault weapons? 

Mr. ROMLEY. I don't think any weapons should be allowed at 
schools, none at all. I am also the legal advisor for the different. 
school districts, and I will ten you that the most common concern 
that is thrown my way is the safety of the student body and the 
teachers. I am inundated on a regular basis with their concern for 
safety, and that is just not acceptable. 

Senator DECONCINI. Do you have the number of crimes with as-
sault weapons? 

Mr. ROMLEY. Particularly with weapons that you have identified? 
Senator DECONCINI. Yes, like the AK-47. 
Mr. ROMLEY. I do not believe I can break that out. I do not be

lieve I have ever kept that statistic. 
Senator DECONCINI. I wondered how much they were drug relat

ed, if that is available information. Maybe that is available. If it is, 
it would be helpful for our record to have what your office might 
have in the prosecutorial side, either the use of those types of as
sault weapons and whether or not they are drug related, if you 
have that information. 

Mr. ROMLEY. I will definitely check on it, as well as check with 
the law enforcement agencies. Senator, you have taken a leader
ship role in the drug arena, and that I truly do appreciate. I stated 
that on the record many times. 

Senator DECONCINI. I know you have. Thank you. 
Mr. ROMLEY. The drug problem that is currently facing us and 

the escalating violence due to drugs, there is a direct relationship, 
there is no question in my mind, and it cannot be tolerated. 

Senator DECONCINI. The last question, Mr. Romley: Having been 
a former prosecutor almost 20 years ago, what do you do about the 
revolving door? Do you get these people in on the adult side or the 
juvenile side, because you see them come out and you see them not 
rehabilitated and you know they are going to be back in. In fact, so 
many of them are. Is there an answer to that? 

Mr. ROMJ"EY. My proposal that I submitted to the legislature last 
year I think would address that problem. If I might take a moment 
and give you the anecdote of a case that I use in some political 
speeches, to kind of tell you the way children flaunt the juvenile 
justice system. 

Auto theft has been a national epidemic problem, as we all 
know. All too often, we see our juveniles committing 10 to 15 differ-



l 49 

ent auto thefts, to be in the system and be out that very next day. 
There is this one juvenile that I am aware of that had been basical
ly arrested 14 times for auto theft. He was driving down the street 
and law enforcement was attempting to stop him. So he slowed 
down his car, as is the normal way juveniles try to get out of this, 
to a very slow speed of 10 miles an hour, jumped out of the car and 
let the car continue on. 

Of course, generally, the officers have to chase the car for the 
protection of the community, and the juvenile gets away. This time 
there were two officers and one got out of the car and chased the 
juvenile and the other went and stopped the car. The juvenile was 
apprehended, taken in to the juvenile facility and was basically let 
out that very same day. Do you know what he did to get home? He 
stole another car. 

My proposal was basically, we call it how many bites of the apple 
do you get. In Maricopa County, we basically have four different 
types of program settings to which they can go. They can get diver
sion, they can get placement, they can get JIP's with juvenile in
tensive probation, they can get juvenile prison, which is the most 
serious sanction. 

That is why I said after the fifth time or you could never go back 
to a lesser type of a concept itself, that after that point in time
you have literally tried all the programs, and it is a definitive 
number that is said to the community and the children out there, 
there is a finite number here, everybody, we are not going to con
tinually allow you to do tIns revolving door concept. 

So my concept was that a 16- or 17-year-old, that would be auto
matic. The others, still discretionary with the court. You know, we 
need to make a very strong statement here. We need to say it is 
not going to be tolerated. 

Senator DECONCINI. Thank you, Mr. Romley. 
Mr. ROMLEY. Thank you. 
Senator DECONCINI. Mayor, thank you very much for your toler

ance here. You have led the charge on the East Valley, both on 
jobs for youth and economic development in Tempe and also a 
recent ordinance, and we welcome you here and welcome your 
statement. 

STATEMENT OF MAYOR MITCHELL 

Mr. MITCHELL. Thank you very much, Senator. 
It has been very enlightening and something I have enjoyed very 

much. I heard a story recently about a group of Boys Scouts and 
these Scouts were out on a hike. They came across an abandoned 
section of a railroad track, and each of the Scouts tried to walk the 
narrow rails of the track. After a few feet, they all fell off. 

In seeing this, two of the Scouts decided that they could-in fact, 
they bet the other Scouts that they could walk the entire length 
without falling off. The other Scouts laughed, of course, and said no 
way. Well, the two Scouts jumped on the opposite rail, reached out 
for each other's hands to balance themselves, and walked the 
entire section of the track without a problem. 
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Senator that is exactly what we need in your help. We need to 
join hands for youth, to help us fight the crime of juvenile prob
lems we have in our community, in fact, throughout this valley. 

Cities like Tempe pass ordinances to control the possession of 
firearms by juveniles. It has also initiated a number of programs to 
help youth in trouble and to combat gangs. We have a number of 
programs through our schools, whether it be the school liaison offi
cers in the high school or the adopt a school programs that are in 
our elementary schools. 

Like the Boys Scouts trying to walk the rails by themselves, we 
cannot do the job alone. There are too many guns within the reach 
of too many juveniles, there are too many drugs, gangs and violent 
offenders for cities that have too few resources, in many cases di
minishing resources, to control these problems by themselves. 

As you probably know, there is a State law that regulates posses
sion of guns by youth. I might add that this has just recently been 
enacted and supersedes all of the gun ordinances passed by cities. 
The City of Tempe also has an ordinance that prohibits weapons in 
our downtown during special events. Even though we have these 
laws, there is still a. number of juveniles who are carrying weapons 
and committing crimes. 

Last year, in Tempe's four high schools, there were 10 reported 
gun incidents and 18 assaults. This past year, through a schoolliai
son program with our school police offic.er on the school campus, a 
Tempe police officer stopped a student with a loaded .357 Magnum 
from shooting a teacher and a classmate. We believe without this 
person being on campus, we might have seen a. different result 
than we saw. 

Our police department has received requests from elementary 
schools to teach gun safety. This is from the elementary schools. 
The question is why. That is because so many elementary school 
students come from homes where guns are present or visit friends 
who have guns in their homes without any supervision. 

Last year, an 80-year-old Tempean was shot by two neighbors 
who were 13 and 15 years old. As I mentioned, we prohibit guns in 
our downtown area during public events. Yet, we have found guns 
hidden in the roofs and doors of cars, we have found gang members 
who have removed airbags from cars and used the space to hide 
their guns. The Federal Government has instituted a program that 
has helped, but we need a great deal more. 

Operation Trigger Lock, one that I think you are familiar with, 
is a Federal program to try crimes involving guns in Federal court. 
My understanding from our police officers, this is a very good pro
gram, but relatively few crimes are tried, because the Federal pros
ecutors have very limited resources, but the program, as stated by 
our police officers, iO a very good program, just a lack of resources. 

The laws that are on the book to prevent juvenile crime are 
good, but the juvenile justice system does not effectively handle 
those cases it receives. Our police department tells me that a juve
nile can go to court 10 to 15 times before jail time is served. That 
kind of collaborates what County Attorney Romley has just said 
and what Justice Feldman said earlier. 

Now, I am not an advocate to send all youth to jail for convic
tion,. but there needs to be both an adequate reform program and 
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the knowledge that breaking the law will result in some kind of 
punishment. 

If I may, I would like to put in a plug, and I think it is a pro
gram that works very well. Yesterday, I heard a report by Frank 
Kush, who is connected with the Arizona Boys Ranch. If you have 
not been out there, or if you talk to Frank Kush, the enthusiasm 
he shows for this program, I think here is a program which offers 
juvenile offenders a chance of being reformed. Increased funding 
for programs like Arizona Boys Ranch I think would give the 
courts a place to send juvenile offenders, which in many cases are 
very limited. 

I also strongly support the Senator's efforts at meaningful gun 
control. I admire your courage and determination in fighting this 
battle. I would also like to thank you for helping to initiate the 
GREAT that stands for Gang Resistance Education and Training 
Program. You helped establish the GREAT Program as a pilot pro
gram in Phoenix, Mesa, Glendale and Tempe, and reports that I 
have heard back from elementary-and I understand it was really 
designed for junior high, but we have also instituted the program 
down to the elementary schools, and it has just been receiving 
great reviews. 

Programs like this need to be funded, and I understand it is now 
nationally funded. We want to thank you for at least picking out 
areas that we mentioned, Tempe being one of them, as a pilot area. 
This program is in cities nationwide and it has helped. I always 
like not to use the words "to prevent gang activities," because I 
doubt if we can really prevent them, but we can at least resist the 
activities of gangs, and this program has been a very successful 
one. 

Senator I am not an expert on Federal programs or laws. I do 
know, however, that the help of the Federal Government is ex
tremely needed, and together we can walk steadily down the track 
that we mentioned earlier to reduce juvenile crime. 

Thank you. 
Senator DECONCINI. Let me pursue that, because your example is 

so well taken. What do you think the Federal Government can do 
to help coordinate these programs and get an assessment? I think 
it was County Attorney Romley who suggested some kind of a na
tional program audit of standards setting, you know, that you meet 
these standards, even though they are voluntary, of course, to justi
fy a program continuing. You mentioned the problem is putting 
these hands together and working together. Do you have any sug
gestions on how to do that? 

Mr. MITCHELL. No; the problem we have right now, and I am 
sure it is facing every jurisdiction that is here this morning, is in 
the area of resources, of money. Our school liaison, which I just 
mentioned, did prevent we believe a very tragic result on campus. 
We are having a look at this budget section of reducing the number 
of officers in our school liaison program in the high school. And be
cause this police officer had created a good rapport on campus, stu
dents came to this officer to tell him about how upset the student 

. was on campus and had brought the gun, and the result was able 
to curtail that. 
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I guess more than anything, programs like Trigger Lock, like the 
GREAT Program, with funds available and, if need be, an assess
ment, a voluntary assessment to show how those funds were used 
and how successful, and I believe this would be welcomed by every 
agency there is. 

Senator DECONCINI. In your city, do you assess these programs or 
do you have some ability to go back and see, or do you just wait 
until the reviews from the schools or wherever the program is? 

Mr. MITCHELL. I guess it is because of our budget problem we are 
in right now, we have received a number of letters and reports 
from counselors, from school principals, from parent groups, saying 
what an impact this had, particularly I think putting the GREAT 
Program down in the elementary schools. In the areas that we 
have instituted it, parents have come back and said how much they 
appreciate it. 

These are things that will have long-term effects. You cannot 
measure the impact of a GREAT Program on elementary school 
kids for a number of years, but we think that it is having an effect. 

Senator DECONCINI. What is your city ordinance? Is it similar to 
the one that Mayor Payne pointed out, with the penalty for the 
parents? 

Mr. MITCHELL. Yes; all of the cities I believe passed ordinances 
that were very similar, and the State came along and we believe 
enacted one that is more uniform and supersedes ours, but I think 
also it is just as tough as our own ordinances. 

But we went one step further and prohibiting the wearing of 
guns and having guns in our downtown area when there was an 
event, and we have not encountered any problems with that at all. 
In fact, we feel that it has been very good. 

One of the things that happens, and I believe this is true to a lot 
of people in their perceptions, if people feel that an area in which 
they go into, let's say in downtown Tempe, is safe and they see 
police officers, and the fact that they hear that we have an ordi
nance like this, then you are going to attract more of the kinds of 
people that you would like to have down there. 

When you do that, that lessens the chance of those kinds of 
people, maybe the gang members or those that might not be as de
sirable from being there. But if good people abandon an area, you 
know what is going to happen. It is like a vacuum, it is going to be 
filled in by those kinds of people that caused the problems that you 
are so concerned about. 

So what we try to do is just continue to go on and man it with 
security and police and the laws and the people have that safety 
then and we feel we have done very good. It is only after certain 
hours when other people go home that we have some of the bad 
problems. 

Senator DECONCINI. Mayor, thank you for your testimony. 
Mr. MITCHELL. Thank you. 
Senator DECONCINI. Thank you for your leadership and innova

tive approaches to the problem, and thank you for the support of 
the assault weapons ban. Every law enforcement group in the 
United States supports that ban, and it seems like we may finally 
some day try that and see what kind of effect it would have. 

I thank you for being with us. 

• 
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Mr. MITCHELL. Thank you very much, Senator, for your leader
ship. 

Senator DECONCINI. Our next panel can come forward, please. 
That is Dr. Victor Herbert, Rosemarie Roulhac, Sophia Lopez, 
Nancy Jordan and Lora Nye. 

Good morning. Ladies and gentlemen, thank you very much. We 
are grateful to have you. We appreciate the witnesses here. We will 
start with Dr. Victor Herbert, Superintendent of Phoenix Union 
High School District, which has over 19,000 students. It includes 
eight comprehensive schools and seven alternative schools. 

Dr. Herbert, thank you for taking the time to be with us today. 
We welcome you here. We think we know some of the problems 
you face, but we are here to listen to the problems, and also any 
suggestions you have. 

PANEL CONSISTING OF VICTOR HERBERT, SUPERINTENDENT, 
PHOENIX UNION mGH SCHOOL DISTRICT; SOPHIA LOPEZ, 
MO'l'HERS AGAINST GANGS, PHOENIX, AZ; NANCY JORDAN, 
FOUNDER, GENESIS, ACCOMPANIED BY CARLOS GOWAN; ROSE· 
MARIE ROULHAC, C.LT.Y. DADS, INC., PHOENIX, AZ, ACCOMPA· 
NIED BY KEVIN MITCHELL; AND LORA NYE, CHAIRPERSON, 
PHOENIX BLOCKWATCH COMMISSION 

STATEMENT OF VICTOR HERBERT 
Mr. HERBERT. Thank you, Senator. 
I am pleased to be h~re. I salute you for holding this hearing, 

and certainly the issue is an important one and it is one that we 
all want to participate in the struggle to find solutions. 

Not surprisingly, I am going to focus on violence in schools and I 
would like to start out by de-mythologizing what may very well be 
.a social myth, and that is that schools are violent and dangerous 
places. In fact, for many of the young people I deal with every day, 
the school is the safest places in their lives. The issue is not so 
much violence in schools, as it is violence in society. 

Whenever I talk to people who on occasion have parties of teen
agers in their home, I ask them how they feel when there are 20 or 
25 or 30 bustling, energetic, overly hormoned young people wander
ing around their homes, and almost always the response is one of 
terror and panic. Imagine what it is like in the Phoenix Union 
high schools, when nearly every day 2,000 of those people pass each 
other in the hallways, sit in the same classes, share meals together. 
The potential for violence one might hypothesize would increase 
exponentially, when the reality is not the story is not what hap
pens, it is what does not happen. 

That is not to say I do not have serious problems involving vio
lence. This year, I have had to expel 20 young people for bringing 
loaded weapons onto campus. I have had another 100 students or so 
suspended, because of some kind of violent act or another. But as 
you pointed out, there are more than 19,000 of those young people 
and the story again is not what happens, but what does not 
happen. 

In fact, I wrote a letter to Jerry Calangelo just this week to tell 
him that one of the unexpected benefits of the success of the Suns, 
I believe, is that we have had the most calm and safe school year 
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that we have had in years. There is a good feeling in the valley and 
people in schools and outside of schools are very much aware of 
what is going on, and although the Suns will never get that award, 
having prevented crime in the schools, I really believe there is a 
piece to that that is real and makes some sense. 

Why do people do anything? Psychologists tell us people do what 
they do, because they want to be happy. Now, sometimes the acts 
bewilder us. Inserting a needle loaded with poison in your arm or 
drifting to the point of nausea, driving recklessly, perhaps most 
dramatically, that moment about a year or so ago when that young 
felon running from some other members of a drug gang picked up 
a 3-year-old baby and held the baby in his arm like a shield, while 
he fired back, is so horrific, it threatens the imagination or threat
ens the conviction that we are evolving progressively toward hu
manitarians in our society. 

Yet, even that incredible Jersey Kozinsky painted bird kind of 
art is a statement about survival and a desire to be happy. Vio
lence in some twisted and frequently pathological way is merely a 
statement about wanting success. Young people go to gangs, be
cause they see family. What a paradox. Acceptance and economic 
gain, that is what we all want, family, acceptance and economic 
gain that leads to a prosperous and productive life. 

When you say to me, as you most certainly will, what are the 
solutions to this problem, I will, like Claude Rains, say to you 
gather up the usual list of suspects. There is nothing new here. It 
is about schools that are competitive, that are open day and night 
year-round, that offer quality education that is genuinely competi
tive with Asia and Europe and anywhere else in the world. 

It is about jobs, and not only jobs for young people, but jobs for 
adults in this community. One of the proudest moments in the his
tory of Israel was when they brought the Ethiopian Jews out of 
Africa to the promised land, and they discovered these people who 
have been out of contact with Judaism for centuries still practicing 
the base tenets of the mosaic law. They intended to do something 
charitable. Today, the Ethiopian family slowly but surely disinte
grates, as the patriarch is unable to find work, while the mother, 
the matriarch, is able to fmd domestic work. The structure of the 
family that kept that society together disintegrates. 

How can a youngster have pride in his parents, if the father does 
nothing all day or perhaps leaves, because he has no dignity in the 
house? And the mother has no dignity, esteem, success or economic 
recognition. It is all so simple: Good schools, good jobs, and not 
merely for young people, those kind of fast-food jobs that open the 
door but never give the key to the executive escalator, let alone ex
ecutive rest room. 

Everyone of us took one of those jobs when we started out, su
permarket, restaurant, but we knew it was the first step and that 
we would go some place else if we continued to work. Young people 
today do not believe that. In fact, they do not believe it is worth 
sitting in a class listening to someone lecture about biology or 
chemistry or algebra. It does not seem to lead any place. Why do 
it? The evidence, unfortunately, may be more on their side than it 
is on our side. 
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As I said, there is nothing complex about this. The answers are 
simple: competent, caring adults committed to educate every child, 
not only universal access to education, but universal success 
through education and jobs for families, for young people. 

As several of the speakers said before, it is the oldest of tenets, 
pay now or pay later. As Judge Feldman pointed out, the tuition 
for prison is almost double what the tuition is for Harvard. There 
is something wrong. Pay now, pay later, or perhaps pay now, pay 
now. 

Joe Cocker had that classic song in the 1960's about people 
climbing through the bathroom window. If we do not find a way to 
convince young people that school and work are part of life and 
lead to happiness, success and prosperity, then we are going to 
have those people climbing through our bathroom window for as 
long as we live. Pay now, pay later, pay now. 

Thank you. 
[The prepared statement of Mr. Herbert follows:] 
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STATEMENTS OF 

VICTOR HERBERT 

VIOLENCE IN SOCIETY AND ITS IMPACT ON SCHOOLS 

What's the matter with kids today? 
Why can't they be like we were, 
perfect in every way? Oh, what's 
the matter with kids today? 

Any fan of the American musical theater recognizes the lyric from Bye, Bye Birdie. It is 
a paraphrased refrain repeated from generation to generation, at least as far back as 
Socrates, the idealized teacher for western society. Are young people really more 
violent or vicious than those of 25, 50, 100 or 1,000 years ago? Probablv not. Are 
they in more jeopardy than their predecessors? Almost certainly. Can we do anything 
about it? Without doubt! 

As a school superintendent, I have been asked to focus on violence and the schools. 
Ironically, although many assume the two are inextricably intertwined, for many of the 
students in the Phoenix Union High School District, school is the safest place in their 
lives. On occasion, I hear complaints from the community and in particular, the private 
sector. They allege that schools are out of control, clear and present dangers for 
children. I ask them to recall their feelings the last time they had a house full of 
teenagers at a social function. By comparison, in the schools where literally 
thousands of these overly hormoned, overly zestful young people, share the same 
space, walk the same hallways and stairwells, nearly nothing ever happens. 

Clearly, it would be inaccurate to suggest there are no incidents. There are, and 
frequently they are quite serious. This year I have had to recommend 21 students for 
expUlsion caused by carrying dangerou,,; weapons, usually loaded guns, onto the 
campus. Another 100 or so were suspended for some violent act or another. 
Nevertheless, there are some 20,000 teenagers in 15 secondary schools of varying 
size. The story is not so much what happens inside schools as much as what happens 
outside. 

Violence in society is on the rise. The Sunday, May 23, Arizona Republic reported 
that once young people leave school, their exposure to random or retaliatory violence 
increases exponentially. The National Urban League was accused of hyperbole by 
declaring young African-Americans, "an endangered species"; US West used similar 
language describing the Hispanic dropout rate as a "ticking time bomb" in a film 
produced by James Olmos. If these are overstatements, they are not far from the mark. 

What to do about all this? Actually the answer is relatively simple: Present alternatives 
to gangs, violence and crime. Perhaps the two most effective are education and 
employment opportunities. 

No one wants to be unhappy. Psychologists tell us that people usually do what they 
believe will make them feel better. Sometimes the act bewilders others: sticking a 
poisoned needle into an arm; drinking vast amounts of alcohol to the point of nausea 
and unconsciousness; engaging in sexual activity with no care for the consequences 
to one's self, partner or offspring. While judged reckless by some, these are merely 
acts in pursuit of joy and momentary relief from perceived or real oppression. Even the 

/ 
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horrific spectac!e of that Brooklyn 'teenager using a three year old child as a shield In a 
blazing gun bailie, In "self, Is nothing more than a thoughtless struggle for self survival. 
As long as they believe they, do not have access to world competitive schools and the 
prospect of gainful, IIfel6ng employmrmt, urban youth will turn to street life for 
acceptance, prosperity and satisfaction. It Is a twisted and often pathological grasp at 
the American dream as they know It. .Sadly, there Is lillie evidence that urban youth 
have real access to truly world competitive schools and employment that looks beyond 
a fast food, dead end. 

Providing genuinely cOmpetitive schools at all levels and full employment for students, 
workers of tomorrow, and their parents now, would require the same single minded 
tenacity that seems to characterize the current effort to reform health care. Locally, a 
full commitment requires a process that Identifies competent and caring adults 
committed to teaching all children and a community ready '10 support their efforts. 

While It Is unlikely that renewed education and full employment will come to pass In 
the Immediate future, there are some programmatic steps that could move Arizona 
closer: 

1. Veer Round School: keep the school buildings open longer each day. 
Combine for both educational and recreational activities throughout the year. 
Three month summer vacations are crime, gang and violence breeding 
grounds. 

2. Early Intervention: fund more 'head start' Initiatives and direct additional 
resources toward grades K·4. 

3. Alternetlve Schools: direct resources toward the student unable or 
unwilling to succeed In the traditional schools. Establish programs at all levels 
for the student exhibiting violent or gang tendencies as early as possible. 

4. City and State Recreational Facilities: keep those we have open 
longer and build new places for young people to use time well. 

S. Family Dignity: develop jobs and job training efforts t6, give parents self· 
esteem and restored authority In the family group. 

The list could easily extend and none comes without some Increase in Investment. As 
noted above, these few are not nearly as glamorous nor attractive to voters as 
mandatory sentencing and prison construction. "Lock 'em all upl" gets votes; crime 
proventlon is somehow ephemeral and unappreciated. That ounce of prevention, 
worth a pound's cure rarely translates from the adage to an action agenda. 

There Is no secret to teaching children and preparing them for the future. It requires 
those competent, c:aring adults: family, friends, teachers, community and religiOUS 
leaders, coaches and elected officials united Into a community determined to help 
young people understand that hard work is part of life but that the rewards are worth 
the effort. There Is no secret to developing prosperous and productive citizens. It, 
requires good jobs for all, blind to race, ethnic background, religion, gender or age. 
Easler said than done, certainly, but no where near as herculean as somo 
hypothesize. 

Above all, political courage reqliires an understanding and acceptance of tho realities: 
It will be neither simple nor cheap. 
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Senator DECONCINI. Thank you, Dr. Herbert. I appreciate it. 
We will now go to Sophia Lopez, and I will come back with ques

tions for all of you.' 

STATEMENT OF SOPHIA LOPEZ 

Ms. LOPEZ. My name is Sophia Lopez, and I am the founder of 
Mothers Against Gangs. The program I run is to help victims of 
gang violence and also to try and find alternatives for our youth. 
Many of our mothers go into the community to take the resources 
that are out to the community to find other alternatives for our 
youth. Some of the places that we refer our youth to are like Gene
sis program, who has helped and done many good things with our 
youth. We need more of these resources to help our youth, to let 
them know there is someone out there that cares. 

Many of our youth do not have a role model, a positive role 
model. Many of them come from broken homes, and I believe and I 
feel that the women are going to make adifference, because of not 
having the fatherly role model in their homes. I can say that 
Nancy has done a lot for our youth, and I have seen successes in 
her program. 

Another thing, with the guns, I know that when guns are re
moved from our youth, if that gun has not been reported in a 
crime, it is released and given back to our youth. Our youth are 
carrying guns at very young ages. The youngest I have seen is 15 
years of age, carrying .10 and .25 caliber, MAG-lO's, semi-automat
ic .9 mm Uzis. You know, these guns are being carried by our 
youth and they are not being used for hunting. They are hunting, 
but they are hunting our children, and this needs to be taken off 
our streets. 

I think these guns, when they are removed from the kids, not be
cause they have been reported in a crime, that they should be 
melted down or gotten rid of, because if we keep distributing these 
guns imported from Europe or something, they are falling into the 
hands of our young people. When these young people get them, like 
I said, they are not for hunting. You do not hunt animals with .9 
mm or MAG-lO's. They are hunting our children, and it is really 
sad. 

Just this weekend, there were four kids who were shot, one of 
them who is not going to make it. Today, another one is going to be 
buried. These are our children and, yet, they are gang members, 
but they are our children. One way or another, maybe one of your 
children. So we need to find solutions and alternatives for our 
youth. 

I do not like seeing kids put away in jail, but when they commit 
a crime, someone has to pay for what they have done. We in the 
community do a lot, but we need your help, also. I think a lot of 
our city council and police officers need to go more deep into the 
community and find out what our needs are in the community. I 
feel at times now that I am endangering my mothers, because they 
have had to go up there, and we have gotten threatening calls. 

It is hard for me to say be careful, and we go in pairs, but what 
do we do when a l5-year-old points a gun at us? What are we sup
posed to do? We cannot hug them or tell them we care. In their 
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mind, they are saying I am going to shoot you, because you are 
against us. We are not. We are just trying to find alternatives for 
them, so that they can be saved from these incidents that have 
happened wdth our youth. Our youth are very violent and we need 
to find more alternatives for them. There needs to be more pro
grams such as Genesis and Step-Up that helps young men. We 
have the Army Star that helps young girls. 

But what happens to the kids that are under 16? I have a girl 
right now that is 13 years old and has 3 babies. That is too young 
for a child to have a baby. If the parents are not helping them, we 
need to help them. We need to find alternatives for them. This hap
pens on a daily basis. It is not a week or a month. It happens every 
single day, every single hour. Every minute, someone is being hurt 
or killed because of gang violence. There has to be more alterna
tives out there in the community, more resources for them. 

Senator DECONCINI. Ms. Lopez, can you give us just a brief back
ground on Mothers Against Gangs, how it was started, how it 
works? 

Ms. LOPEZ. Mothers Against Gangs started last year in January. 
Senator DECONCINI. You were one of the founders, is that cor

rect? 
Ms. LOPEZ. Right. I organized Mothers Against Gangs after my 

16-year-old son was shot and killed by a gang member. Finding out, 
when they say victims' rights, there are no victims' rights. I was 
very angry at the system, for the person who killed my son is still 
out on the street, a 20-year-old man killed a 16-year-old, and to me 
that is saying it is OK to kill and get away with murder. There 
needs to be more done. 

I helped many families who have gone through the same thing 
that I have. I have one of my mothers there and her son was shot 
and killed and was the first New Years killing. We help each other 
through the court system. We help to reach out to the younger 
children that are out there, the survivors, to try and diffuse the 
anger from retaliation to something positive, doing something with 
them to teach them that gangs is not where you should go, that 
there are other alternatives and that we need to help each other. 

Finding a school that will help that child is very important. And 
that is what we tell our children, education is very important, 
without education, you will never be successful in life, you are our 
future and if you continue to kill each other, there is not going to 
be a future for all of us. 

Many of our youth who have died from gang violence are leaving 
babies behind, and what is going to happen to these babies? The 
Government is going to have to support them. We need to catch 
them before the fact, not after. This is why I started helping--

Senator DECONCINI. How big an organization is it? Do you keep 
numbers or--

Ms. LOPEZ. I started by myself and now I have about eight moth
ers and we are starting a chapter in Mesa, Yuma and Chandler. 

Senator DECONCINI. And that is done all by these mothers, with
out any government support or what have you? 

Ms. LOPEZ. Right, and it come from their heart to help, because 
we know that our community, our children are hurting, they are 
crying. I know that you cannot get a group of gang members and 
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help them all together, but you can pull them one by one. Like I 
said, the gang members recruit one-by-one, and mothers can do the 
same thing, and empowering these women will help them to help 
their children, also. 

Senator DECONCINI. Thank you very much. 
Our next witness will be Nancy Jordan, who is the founder of 

Genesis, an organization that gives teenagers who have dropped 
out or have been thrown out of school a chance to turn their lives 
around. I understand it is a partnership with the City of Phoenix, 
and it has helped over 170 youngsters, mostly minority, reenter the 
educational system, by taking college-level classes at Phoenix Col
lege, and that this school has been very supportive. 

I think Nancy is accompanied by Carlos Gowan. Welcome, Mr. 
Gowan. 

Nancy, please. 

STATEMENT OF NANCY JORDAN 

Ms. JORDAN. Senator, thank you for the opportunity to speak 
with you this morning. 

I have to agree with the comments that Dr. Herbert and Sophia 
Lopez have made. I think the children in our communities are in 
great pain and need to have some positive options that they can 
look for. Unfortunately, I think that the reasons, as Dr. Herbert in
dicated, for all of the problems that we see among youth are very 
complex, and there is no single solution, nor will there ever be to 
those problems that we see. 

Students that come into our Genesis Program I think represent a 
cross-section of the kinds of things that happens to young people 
that prevent them sometimes from achieving those goals that they 
had early on. One thing that striking about them I think is their 
ability and their talent and the desire, as they say, to be somebody. 
I think every one of us always has that dream and that hope, that 
one way we will be able to achieve things for ourselves and for our 
families, and our students are just as committed as anybody else. 

The Genesis Program was started, as you indicated, two and a 
half years ago to help students who were unable to complete their 
high school education in the traditional setting. What we did was 
to start bringing them onto the Phoenix College campus, get them 
involved with college courses and simultaneously get them taking a 
GDProgram. 

We have had tremendous success with the program. We have a 
very high retention rate. It fluctuates between 75 and 80 percent, 
and the majority of our students do pursue some sort of postsecond
ary education, because, as we well know and as Sophia was reiter
ating, the economics of a family are very important. 

Many times, kids do get involved in things like gangs or illicit 
activity, because of economic gain that brings to them and to their 
family, and I think unless we have viable options that they can see 
something that, as Dr. Herbert said, is beyond the minimum wage 
job, something that will let them move into entry-level positions, 
but that have a future, and I think with some college and a high 
school diploma or a GD, you can aspire to that today. 
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But it is very important that I think we look at options that do 
also address individual needs. I think that is one of the strengths of 
our program. Each student has a very individualized program. 
Each one has their own career and professional goals and each one 
has their own plans to achieve it. 

I would like to ask Carlos to maybe comment a little bit about 
his experience in the program. 

Senator DECONCINI. Mr. Gowan, thank you very much for being 
with us. If you can tell us a little bit about your background and 
the program. 

Mr. GOWAN. Thank you, Senator. . 
I was involved in a gang for about 3 years. I grew up in a com

munity where violence and drugs is very common. I was a good stu
dent all through my junior high years, but once I reached my high 
school, I went through a big change. I started getting involved in 
the gang and really I wasted about 4 years of my life. 

Where I was left, I was expelled from high school. It would have 
been too dangerous for me to go to another high school, because of 
where I was from, so I was left in a real desperate position and I 
had no idea what I was going to do. There was really nothing there 
for me. I mean where could I go? 

Through some miracle, I think it is, I got involved with the Gene
sis Program through Sophia. I was a friend of Sophia's son who 
was killed, and Sophia and her other son Rudy were the ones who 
got me involved with the Genesis Program. Once I got to the Gene
sis Program, Nancy and the program kind of took over and they 
changed a lot of my thinking. 

To many of the kids out there, we are not violent by nature. We 
are violent because of the things that we see, because that is what 
we know, that is how we know how to deal with problems. That is 
how we know how to deal with situations. It is not anything abnor
mal to us. It might seem abnormal to other people, but it is every
day life. 

Senator DECONCINI. Are you in the gang now? . 
Mr. GOWAN. No, I have been out for over a year. I am a college 

student now. 
Senator DECONCINI. Good for you. 
Mr. GOWAN. What does that say? It can be done and lowe some

thing to Dr. Herbert, lowe very much to Sophia and lowe very 
much to Nancy. It was because of Sophia that I got involved in the 
Genesis Program, and through the Genesis Program I am now a 
college student, and through Phoenix Union High School District, 
now I will be able to go back and get my high school diploma, 
something that would have been impossible for me. 

I would just like to say that I would like to see a little bit more 
involvement with the Government in the community, because the 
people in the community, they want to do something about what is 
happening to them. It is not like they are just sitting back and 
they do not want to be involved and they are accepting all the vio
lence that is happening in their community. They want to do some
thing about it, but there is a big gap in there between the Govern
ment, the legislature and the people in the community. So there 
isn't any communication, and that is just leaving a big gap and a 
lot of things that could be done are not being done. 
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Senator DECONCINI. Excuse me for interrupting you. How do you 
think is the best way to prevent young people from joining the 
gang? Is there anything that comes to your mind as one of the top 
one or two things that could be done to prevent that? 

Mr. GOWAN. There is no one thing. I mean there is no one mira
cle action. 

Senator DECONCINI. What about a program in schools that talk 
about gangs similar to the D.A.R.E. Program, known as the 
GREAT Program, that talks about gangs and explains what the 
problems are and has former gang members come in and talk 
about it, would that be helpful? 

Mr. GOWAN. It could be helpful, but nobody knows more about 
gang life than the kids it is happening to. I mean it is no use in 
telling them what is happening to them. 

Senator DECONCINI. How can you get to them before they join 
the gangs? If there is anything that comes to your mind, what 
would be-is there anything? 

Mr. GOWAN. 'l'here is, but what it is is I would say for all the 
gang members out there, being in the gang is a lot easier for them 
and it is a lot more beneficial to them than it would be to go to 
school. I mean the big thing is-

Senator DECONCINI. You mean economically, as well as friend
ship-wise? 

Mr. GOWAN. Economically, socially, you know, right now every
thing is in the gang sense, you know, it has the power. The Govern
ment has no power over the kids, the school has no power over the 
kids. It is the gangs and the society the kids live in has the power, 
and right now it is controlling their lives. Kids are not in control of 
their lives right now. That is why they are turning to the gangs 
and they are turning to violence. 

There has to be in all our effort on everybody's part to do some
thing, to do whatever they can. It might not be as a direct result of 
a policeman going into the community and befriending some of the 
kids or a teacher. You know, it might not be the direct result. But 
if you take everything and you put it together, then it is going to 
make a difference. You have to make it easier for kids to succeed 
and for them to fail. 

Senator DECONCINI. Do you agree with Dr. Herbert that the jobs 
would be very important, if there were some jobs for these stu
dents, rather than--

Mr. GOWAN. Yes; of course, a job and money, you know, that is 
all people want is success. But too many times, there is a trap out 
there where students are expelled from school, kicked out of school 
or they just do not want to go because they think that they can 
make it with a $5 an hour job, and it becomes a trap. 

Senator DECONCINI. They get stuck there. 
Mr. GOWAN. Yes, and you are stuck there. Then what do you do? 

You cannot quite your job to go back to school, because how are 
you going to live? There are a lot of problems, but there are a lot of 
people out there that can do something about it, and I think the 
key word here is unity and effort, because it can be done. You 
know, everybody has to kind of put their own egos or whatever 
aside, because no one person is going to save all the lcids and cure 
all the gangs. It has to be a united effort. 
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Senator DECONCINI. Thank you, Carlos, very much. 
Dr. Herbert? 
Mr. HERBERT. I would just like to offer a specific, in answer to 

your question. You know, what to do, there are people like Nancy 
and Sophia all over this valley who really want to do something. 
There are people in every single school. 

If I may tell you a personal incident, my wife teaches second 
grade in a school, Lorna Linda, and somehow she has now become 
known as a gang counselor, because one young woman who was 
about to be expelled came to her and asked her for help, and they 
worked something out, and now the word is out around the school 
that if you are in trouble, you go see this teacher and she is your 
advocate. 

I would like to suggest that every school, elementary school even 
more important than high school, have a position like that, a full
time teacher, and I would call that teacher, if Nancy forgives me, a 
Genesis teacher on every campus, free to do that kind of work. Be
cause if you do not get to Carlos when he is 8 or 9, somebody on 
the street is going to get to him at 10 or 11. Just as a specific, I 
would offer that. 

Senator DECONCINI. Thank you very much. Thank you very 
much. 

Rosemarie Roulhac, President of CJ.T.Y. DADS, which provides 
support and alternatives to kids who have or are considering gang 
life. 

Thank you very much, Rosemarie, for being with us. 

STATEMENT OF ROSEMARIE ROULHAC 
Ms. ROULHAC. Thank you. We work daily with the gang mem

bers. 
Senator DECONCINI. I understand you have Kevin with you 

today. 
Ms. ROULHAC. Yes, I have Kevin Mitchell with me. 
Senator DECONCINI. Thank you, Kevin, for being with us today. 
Ms. ROULHAC. We work daily with the gang members and, first 

of all, the majority will admit, these youths, that they do not want 
this part of life. Carlos said this, that they basically do not like 
that kind of behavior, the violent behavior, that it is survival on 
the streets. They also have no hope for the future and also have no 
hope of ever getting out of the gang life. 

The majority of these youth come from homes where violence 
and substance abuse is prevalent, and a lot of them are usually 
afraid. They have not seen anything beyond their neighborhood 
and have not seen any other way of life, but violence and substance 
abuse. 

The bill proposing to outlaw assault weapons is most needed, but 
I also think it requires other services. You have to have something 
to back that up. I also believe you will never get rid of the guns. 
They are out there and I do not know how you confiscate them, so 
what you have to do is give alternatives to the gun. 

I believe there has to be prevention for smaller children and we 
have to start with them very, very young. I have seen children as 
young as 10 with guns. I think you need to start in kindergarten, 
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and Head Start. A lot of these children are not getting this infor
mation at home, a lot of times a single parent and the time is not 
there or the substance abuse or violence is in the home, and that is 
all the child knows. 

Also, intervention, that is basically what C.I.T.Y. DADS is known 
for, is intervention with the gang member. We literally go out 
there and talk to them and find out why, why the violence, why 
are you where you are at. Two of the things that we use in our 
program is peer counseling, and we are under the direction of Dr. 
Jocelyn from ASU, and we have been in 4 high schools this year 
and we are probably going to pick up another one next year. Kevin 
is one of the facilitators. 

Also, we have a mentoring program, where we are putting the 
male role model back in the community that has been missing too 
long. 

I also believe that we need mental health and substance abuse 
programs for our youth. We keep talking about this stuff, but ,,,hey 
usually, when the moneys, ever they come, it goes for the adults. I 
have had too many incidents where I have tried to get youth help 
with substance abuse, they are not 18 or older, the insurance is not 
good enough, they do not fit the qualification of low-income. 

These kids, in order to do their violent crimes, are under the in
fluence, and for us to think that they are not addicted, we are 
crazy. We are crazy. Our children are addicted to drugs, Instead, 
we take this money and we build more prisons, we make more 
laws, and we have to realize that the youth are not afraid of laws 
or jails. It is almost a haven for them. Jails is a place for them to 
sleep, it is a place to eat, it is a place to do what they were doing, 
hanging on the corner, but this is in a jail yard. 

We need to get life skills back in our schools. Our inner schools, 
we need to deal with breathing, we need to deal with anger man
agement, and we need to deal with conflict resolution. Our youth 
do not know how to do this at all. 

Also, we need to change our attitudes as adults. We need to quit 
ignoring the problem. We need to listen to these kids. We need to 
care. We need to offer the youth a future and a hope, because right 
now they do not see hope in the economy, in education or careers. 
Also, the programs must fit their needs. It is not something that 
we think here is this program and it is just way out from what 
they even dreamed about. 

One of the things we need to do is be culturally sensitive to every 
one of these kids. We need to train our youth in who they are, 
where they came from and something to be proud of. Also, we need 
to make all programs available to all ethnic groups. 

I met Kevin a year ago. He had just gotten out of jail and was 
part of the gangs and has made a tremendous turn-about. Most of 
my education has come from Kevin, and I am going to let him 
speak now. 

Senator DECONCINI. Kevin, thank you very much for being with 
us, to tell us about--

Mr. MITCHELL. Thanks, Senator. I guess I am a street kid. 
Senator DECONCINI. Tell us about your background, Kevin, and 

what you think ought to be done. 

'. 
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Mr. MITCHELL. I am kind of scared tu say my background, be
cause everybody might get up and run out. I have had some experi
ences. 

Senator DECONCINI. Well, that would be helpful. Thank you. 
Mr. MITCHELL. My name is Kevin and I was a part of West Side 

City for a long time. I banged, and I guess I can say I am that gang 
member that everybody is here speaking about. A lot of people do 
not seem to understand, they don't know what is going on in my 
neighborhood until they walk down our streets. 

There was a lot of reason for banging when I was coming up. 
You know, the violence I can speak for. It did get out of hand at 
some points, but I can't say that the gang, it offered me a lot. It 
has done a lot for me, you know. It was like a family that I never 
had, you know, somebody opening their arms and hugging me. 

My father is in prison. He has been there 23 years and he has 
still got 23 more. It wasn't like I had a brother-what I mean by a 
brother is a black male coming up to me and say, you know, what 
you're doing is wrong, you don't need to be doing that. You know, 
we didn't have nobody like that. We had a dope dealer in a Cadil
lac with $1,000 rims on it coming through, you know, and kids look 
up to stuff like that. We didn't have no Michael Jordans. 

I lived in a project all my life. It was hard, man. I cried, my mom 
cried. She used to cry when I left the door, not knowing if she 
would ever see me again. I had lost numerous friends. I just hope it 
can all stop, but in order for it to stop, we have to change. It can't 
be a group of legislators and Senators. It has to be us. You know, 
we started it and we have got to clean it up. 

That is why I am so strongly into these kids and that is how 
come I got out. I really wanted to change my life. Rose made me 
look at that. It is not like we die for nothing. You know, we die in 
the hands of our own people. You know, they make these guns and 
you know we're going to get them. We need protection in our 
neighborhood. Without the guns, violence will still occur, but there 
wouldn't be as much killings. 

I think we need a gun law. Like they say, I don't see why they 
should make a parent sign a paper for their kids to carry a gun. 
That is uncalled for. You know, even if they had a paper or if they 
didn't, the kid is going to carry a gun anyway. Especially in my 
neighborhood, you have to have some type of protection, because 
you are not always safe. You know, take me, for instance--

Senator DECONCINI. So you think there should be a law banning 
guns? 

Mr. MITCHELL. Right, especially-
Senator DECONCINI. And enforcing it? 
Mr. MITCHELL. Right, especially the Uzi. 
Senator DECONCINI. The assault weapons. 
Mr. MITCHELL. That is right, because--
Senator DECONCINI. Do a lot of gang members have those guns? 
Mr. MITCHELL. Yes. 
Senator DECONCINI. Did some Of your gang members? Did you 

have one? 
Mr. MITCHELL. I will put it like this, at 11 years old, I packed a .9 

mm and I moved on up to serious guns as I got older. I had an AK, 
I had a an attack-you know, I had guns. I had plenty of them. 
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Senator DECONCINI. There are plenty of them. 
Mr. MITCHELL. I had plenty of them. 
Senator DECONCINI. And they were used to kill people? 
Mr. MITCHELL. Life is so bad, you know, I could see if they put a 

park on every corner in my neighborhood, but they don't. They put 
a liquor store. If they don't put a liquor store, they put a gun shop. 
The system was meant to get us down. 

Senator DECONCINI. To get you to buy guns? 
Mr. MITCHELL. That's right, because if it wasn't like that, they 

wouldn't be in my neighborhood where it is. 
Senator DECONCINI. Let me ask you this: The reason they had 

these guns was to protect their neighborhoods from other gangs 
and what have you, or nongang members or what? 

Mr. MITCHELL. Not really. If you take a kid in society and this 
kid is just stuck like me-

Senator DECONCINI. Explain that to me. Your gang would get 
guns. What would you protect, your project from people who would 
come in and burglarize it or--

Mr. MITCHELL. Right. See, what it was was a lot of drive-bys 
happen in my neighborhood, a lot of people got hurt. 

Senator DECONCINI. I see, other gangs and what have you? 
Mr. MITCHELL. So what we did was everybody needed protection. 

With a guy coming up with a gun on him and you haven't got one, 
you're dead. It is just like taking a knife to a gun fight. You have 
to have some type of protection over there in my neighborhood. It 
is rough. I don't know if everybody knows Buckeye Road. It is prob
ably one of the toughest neighborhoods around. It is still where 
kids are out there at 11, 12, 13 years old, don't go to school, don't 
have no goals in life. Their parents are over here, they don't have a 
father, but the mother is over there smoked out on crack, got his 
little brother and she is pregnant, looking bad. . 

You ask him why are you not in school? All they have got to do 
is point. What do I need to go to school for? I don't have no clothes, 
every dollar my mama gets, she smokes it up. Look at my little 
brother. They look at me. I am out here, I have to survive. That is 
all I know how to do, is survive on the streets. I have to wait 20 
years going through schooling in order to get money, in order for 
the payments to start coming in. But I could stand out here at 11 
years old and sell dope and make just as much money. That is how 
kids are thinking, man. It is not like a brother my age, 20, 21 or 22 
on up, saying, look, man, you've got to cut that out. 

There are no male role models in my neighborhood. We were 
raised by strong black women, and when the male has left our 
lives, that is when the problems really started occurring. We did 
not have anybody telling us right from wrong from a male point of 
view. I mean a woman can raise her son, but a woman cannot raise 
her son to be a man. You know, you learn to be a man from a man, 
and that is something we didn't have, so we had to struggle and 
fight to really find out what a man was. I didn't fmd it out through 
banging, but at least I had comfort from my friends. 

Senator DECONCINI. Kevin, thank you. What you are saying is 
some of the solutions, like Rosemarie said, involve getting rid of 
these guns all over the place, and developing programs that put 
some role models into the community. 

'. 
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Mr. MITCHELL. That is right. 
Senator DECONCINI. And you are one of those role models, right? 
Mr. MITCHELL. Yes, I am. 
Senator DECONCINI. And how are you received by those gangs 

that you used to be part of? Do they talk to you? 
Mr. MITCHELL. They respect me, because I am a bigger man to 

walk out of a gang, to get jumped out of a gang. It is not like they 
beat me up and said you're not in it no more. I walked out and I 
changed a whole bunch of lives. You know, that means a lot 
coming from them, because everybody in life wants something to 
look forward to and wants something to do. But when you are in a 
gang, you don't want to express that, because you want to be 
macho like the rest of your friends. 

Senator DECONCINI. What happens when you and Carlos leave 
the gang? Do they ridicule you? Do they tease you? Do they threat
en you? 

Mr. MITCHELL. It is more like they are cheering me on, because if 
I can make it, that just goes to show them one of them can make 
it. 

Senator DECONCINI. Carlos? 
Mr. GOWAN. What I want to say is when they see people like us 

that make it out of the gang and that are succeeding in life, I think 
it makes a big difference in them, because they realize, they say, 
hey, you know, he can do it and he was like this, you know, he 
went from here to here, I can do that. They said they could do it, 
too. 

The big thing in the Genesis Program is that almost all of us 
have brought a friend into the program or were brought in by a 
friend. I mean that is making a difference right there. We are 
taking the people from our communities and making them some
thing. Weare giving them hope. You Know, people like me and 
Kevin, we give our friends, you know, people that--

Senator DECONCINI. Former gang members are friends? 
Mr. GOWAN. Yes, former gang members, we give them hope. You 

know, we show them they can do it, because we can do it. We are 
leading by example. 

Senator DECONCINI. When you get out of that gang like you are 
now, you can go back to those gang meetings and talk to them or 
go talk to these--

Mr. MITCHELL. I have gone in my neighborhood. I just left gang 
bang. I never left the gang. I still love them. You know, I still 
would do anything for them as far as trying to help them out-

Senator DECONCINI. And they respect that. 
Mr. MITCHELL [continuing]. The same as I would do for any other 

gang, not just my gang. When I say gang, I work with gang mem
bers, regardless of what color, what race. It don't matter. You are 
involved, you need help, I am there for you. 

Senator DECONCINI. How long have you been doing that, Kevin? 
Mr. MITCHELL. About a year. 
Senator DECONCINI. About a year. 
Mr. MITCHELL. About a year. 
Senator. DECONCINI. How old are you? 
Mr. MITCHELL. 21. 
Senator DECONCINI. How old are you, Carlos? 



----~------ ---------------

68 

Mr. GOWAN. I am 18. 
Senator DECONCINI. Thank you very much. It is helpful, your tes

timony. 
I could talk with you a long, long time and learn a lot, and I take 

what you say very seriously. 
Ms. Lora Nye, our next witness, is Chairperson of the Phoenix 

Blockwatch, which is an organization that has promoted communi
ty responses to crime. 

Thank you, Lora, for being with us. We are knowledgeable of the 
great work that your organization has done. 

STATEMENT OF LORA NYE 

Ms. NYE. Thank you, and I would like to add something to your 
statement. Blockwatch is much more than crime prevention. We 
are not just the eyes and ears. We are the heart of our community, 
and we are expending a lot more energy and time in being the 
heart. 

It seems to always fall to me to be controversial, so I am not 
going to be any different today. I am sitting here listening. I am 
very emotional from what these fme young men have shared with 
us. Those of the press that are still here, please don't consider this 
an indictment, but what is happening here today is very indicative 
of what is wrong with our society. 

You notice how much press there was here early on. You notice 
how all the chairs early on were filled. People cannot tough it out, 
and that is what is wrong out there. That is what is wrong. The 
adults in this community are not toughing it out. They are not 
even following through on the solutions that we already have in 
our community. 

The press comes for little sound bites for the most part, and then 
they disappear. The most powerful thing that is happening in this 
room today, and I agree that will happen, just happened. But how 
well documented is it? How far out of this room will that powerful 
statement get? 

These gentlemen just knocked down several myths, the myth 
that you have to be dumped out of a gang. He knocked that down. 
Is that going to be heard out there? Is that going to get reported 
and repeated? I doubt it. There are not enough people here willing 
to go that extra mile. 

Now, much of what I wanted to say has already been said, so I 
will try not to repeat much of it. I want to say we must start 
younger, very, very young with our children. We have got to listen 
to our youth, listen to our youth. I have been a strong supporter of 
our curfew ordinance, and I held myself up to national ridicule by 
being interviewed by the national media on the juvenile gun ordi
nance. 

I still support it. I still know what a difference it made in neigh
borhoods. The combination of juvenile guns and violence have 
become a modern way of life that is destroying not only lives, but it 
is dE};;]troying families and it is destroying neighborhoods. Of course, 
it is making tragic headlines all over the Nation. 

It has become painfully obvious that many juveniles have no 
regard for life, not even their own. And it has been pointed out 

'". 
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today, and I need to say this again, that children no longer feel 
safe in schools. The root cause all too often is within the home. Our 
society has experienced a breakdown of family values to such an 
extent that juveniles are searching in all the wrong places for sup
port, acceptance and self-esteem. That leads them to gangs, drugs, 
alcohol and guns. 

We should all be caring for and about our children. The entire 
neighborhood should be helping to raise and care for our children. 
Our Forefathers would be appalled and outraged at what we have 
done with the second amendment. How could they "h",ve ever envi
sioned Uzis and other automatic and semi-automit~i.~ weapons in 
the hands of children and teens? The second ament:ment should 
not be a sacred cow. 

Our Forefathers had just cause to insure our right to bear arms, 
and I support that right. However, children and teens in the time 
of our Forefathers were bearing muskets and shooting targets, not 
each other. I can't help but wonder if our juveniles were shooting 
and killing adults, instead of each other, what difference in atti
tudes we might have. 

There are many victims of shootings and violence, both obvious 
and hidden. My own neighborhood has experienced murders and 
drive-bys. It took the peace of an entire neighborhood away. They 
armed themselves. They were sleeping in cars and backyards and 
on patios, with guns. It was a terrible time. 

That is when I knew I had to stand up and I had to take a stand 
and I had to decide the future of my neighborhood, because I chose 
not to move. Like Sophia, I chose to stand and fight. I have sat in 
emergency rooms and in homes with families who became victims 
of many kinds of violence, including guns. How do you comfort a 
family, when there is no sense to be made of their loss? 

Our streets and emergency rooms are covered with the blood of 
our hopeless youth. How much longer are we going to allow this 
blood to flow? When are we adults going to take responsibility and 
stop hiding behind the second amendment? As responsible and 
caring citizens, it is time to take a stand. Juveniles and guns equal 
violence. So we must create new laws and enforce existing ones, to 
curtail violence by guns. 

Most of all, adults must act out of abiding love and a depth of 
concern to find a way to break the unending rein of violence. There 
are solutions. We have heard them over and over in this room. We 
must act on what already exists. We must find new ways to deal 
with this terror and this unbelievable loss of talent, and we must 
do it with great courage, and we must stop the violence by acting 
now. 

Senator DECONCINI. Thank you very much. 
This Senator is listening, believe me, and learning a great deal. 

Let me ask you all this question, if you will respond, including 
Carlos and Kevin. The American Psychological Association Task 
Force on Television-and we were talking about the press or the 
media-noted that by the time the average child graduates from el
ementary school, she or he will witness 8,000 murders and 100,000 
assorted acts of violence. 
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In your opinion, particularly the gang members', but also those 
of you who work with children, all of you, does the TV violence 
really bring up more aggression than if there was-

Mr. GOWAN. I was just involved with something like that at 
Channel 3, where I met with many members of representatives 
from different stations and I talked about that. Violence on TV 
does have an effect, but more of it is the violence that we see in 
our own communities, in our own homes and our own streets. None 
of us asked to be born into the life we are born into. If we had our 
way, I would have rather lived in Scottsdale. I would have rather 
come up in a nonviolent neighborhood and lived a good life and 
gone to college and done everything the right way and not had to 
learn the hard way. 

I didn't ask for there to be drugs in my neighborhood. I didn't 
ask for there to be guns and violence. I was born into that, and it 
has been there for such a long time, and as long as it stays in the 
community and as long as it affects for the most part minorities, 
noting is going to get done about it, because we are not represented 
in the Government, and because the violence is not affecting the 
people that have the ability to do something about it, nothing is 
going to get done. 

I am sorry, but one of these days, if nothing is done about it, one 
of these days some of these people in this room who don't know 
anything about it might be in my neighborhood and they could get 
killed for the change that they have in their pocket. 

Senator DECONCINI. Thank you, Carlos. 
. I don't mean to dismiss what you said about the neighborhood. 
What I was trying to focus on is your opinion as to whether or not 
there should be some curb on the media presentation of violence, 
whether or not-and that is a constitutional question that is very 
sensitive, you know, because we don't want to stop free speech, 
first amendment and all this stuff. Just like the second amend
ment, those who advocate strict compliance with that, they don't 
want anybody to even look at a gun and consider it dangerous, that 
everybody should be able to do it. The same thing with the first 
amendment, people don't want anybody to infringe on that. 

My question really was whether you thought that this TV vio
lence did affect the neighborhoods. I appreciate your other answer, 
because it is a very good answer. I guess you said yes, but it is not 
nearly as significant as the problems which are in your neighbor
hood. 

Kevin? 
Mr. MITCHELL. TV violence, it don't really affect us over in my 

neighborhood, because the TV violence that they put on TV, we 
make it. The media makes that, every drive-by, every shooting, ev
erything we do is publicized on TV. That is the first thing a child 
thinks, I'm going to make the news tonight. Do you know how 
many youngsters I have heard to say that, I'm going to make the 
news tonight? So it really don't affect us, because we see it every 
day. 

Senator DECoNCINI. What about the TV programs? 
Mr. MITCHELL. Well, the programs, Magnum PI, shoot-em-up, 

bang-bang--
Senator DECONCINI. Do those raise aggression? 
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Mr. MITCHELL. Well, we get off on watching that, because of the 
guns. 

Ms. NYE. That is the point. 
Senator DECONCINI. Please, Lora? 
Ms. NYE. I don't usually bring my work in, but I worked for a 

psychiatric hospital for the last 15 years and a great deal of our 
patients are coming in with major depression and suicidal and 
homicidal, and that has changed drastically in the last 5 years. 
When we do the initial assessment and evaluations, the informa
tion that we are gathering is that their lives are being impacted. 
The media is frightening some of these people into major depres
sion, because they are impressionable and they are not able to un
derstand that that is an inanimate, not real--

Senator DECONCINI. Entertainment. 
Ms. NYE [continuing]. Entertainment. OK. We get that point 

made with him, we are working in therapy and we are helping him 
understand that. But then what these young men shared with us, 
then they have to watch on the news what is real, what can 
happen on their street, and then we lose them, we can't save them. 
They spend many, many nonproductive hours dealing with this de
pression as a direct result of being bombarded by information of vi
olence acts. So please let me say strongly, yes, it has a documented 
impact. 

Senator DECONCINI. There is an effort in Congress to require the 
electronic media to rate their programs, which would be a minor 
step, in my judgment, but at least a step in the right direction. I 
don't know that it would do any good, but it certainly would bring 
at least the distinction that this is entertainment and not real life. 
Does anyone else care to comment? Sophia? 

Ms. LOPEZ. I had the honor to go to Kansas City to the Peace 
Summit that they had with the gangs, and while we were there, 
the media was ready to come in and publicize what was happening 
in this summit. And one of the things that a lot of the gang mem
bers-and these are not these little want-to-be gang members, 
these were hard-core gang members from allover the country--one 
of the things that one of them said is, you know, yes, we are la
beled to be bad and murderers and doing all the bad things that 
the media says we do and who have also done these things. 

But they said, you know, what they need to publicize also is like 
these two young men that are out of the gangs and are doing some
thing good, that needs to be publicized. That way, a little gang 
member will say, well, I am going to follow Kevin, I am going to 
follow Carlos, and if they could do it, I can, too. These things need 
to be shown and publicized. 

An article that was in the paper a couple of weeks ago on gangs, 
it was so misquoted. Naming the names of the gangs is one of the 

'I biggest problems. Right now, LCN, West Side Power and South 
Side Posse are saying, well, I made headlines. You know, what does 
that tell-

Senator DECONCINI. So that is damaging. 
Ms. LOPEZ. Right, and that needs to stop. 
Senator DECONCINI. Nancy? 
Ms. JORDAN. I think that the repeated exposure to visual images 

of violence does have an effect. I think it tends to desensitize both 
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adults and children to the actual effects and consequences of vio
lent acts. 

I think, as children, we all remember the first time we saw a 
movie or saw television when we weren't sure exactly what was 
real, and I think as children are exposed at very early ages and 
spend so much time watching television, that that does have a way 
of making those kinds of solutions, violent solutions, as Kevin was 
saying, more acceptable. I think they lend a legitimacy to resolving 
things in a way that you can take things into your own hands, and 
as long as the solution seems to be the one you desire, and some
how in between how you got there, whether you used a gun or your 
fists or whatever doesn't seem as important. 

In talking with a lot of the students, I think sometimes there is a . 
sort of nebulous realization of what is real and what is not in 
terms of consequences. Because I think what is important to re
member is that they may be 17 or 18 years old, 15 or 16, but that is 
not really a very old individual. In many ways, they are still chil
dren and they have seen more violence on television and in their 
own communities than we can comprehend. 

Senator DECONCINI. Rosemarie? 
Ms. ROULHAC. I was just going to say that I agree with Sophia. 

Kevin and I attended the Law and Media Seminar here in Phoenix 
not too long ago, and through that we met a lot of media and I 
challenged them, because I feel that one of the things they have 
created is an epidemic, and it is the same thing. You hear the sto
ries over and over, they are on the street corner, they are getting 
drunk, loaded, whatever, and then they say let's go do a drive-by, 
let's go back news. 

Well, everybody follows this. The media is in front of the house, 
you can see the address, so you have created another drive-by. You 
see them in front of hospitals. We had one situation where a young 
man was shot while he was on the operating table. A rival gang 
called and said we don't know why you are operating, he is dead 
meat, because this was on the news at the hospital. My challenge 
to the media was give me 52 stories, one a week of these guys. 

Senator DECONCINI. You don't see them. 
Ms. ROULHAC. And so they create a hero of the week, but it is the 

adults, it is not Kevin, it is not Carlos. These are the guys. This is 
the answer. Sophia, Nancy and I, we can get the resources, but we 
are not going to make the changes. These guys are going to do it. 
They are going to pull it out. Kevin gets one, that gets one, Carlos 
gets one. It is a multiple effect, and the media can help these guys 
with their job, instead of them being put down. 

I get all the time, "Are they for real? Are they really out? They 
make so much money selling drugs"--

Senator DECONCINI. I know, I can tell they are for real. But you 
know what is interesting? I don't know if you know-and we are 
running out of time. I could go on for a long time, and I did want 
to ask you a question about conflict resolutions, but I may have to 
put it off. How many Kevins and Carloses are there? 

Ms. ROULHAC. There are a lot of them. 
Ms. NYE. A lot. 
Senator DECONCINI. Are there hundreds or what? 
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Ms. NYE. At Bostrom Mallone, we do peer counseling at Bostrom, 
which has just ended and we are hoping to bring it here to Phoenix 
College, so the kids can continue to meet, we have 15 girls and 17 
guys all want out, want resolutions to this, want resources. 

Senator DECONCINI. How many are out? 
Ms. NYE. Lots. 
Senator DECONCINI. Nancy, you have got 178. How many of those 

are-you know I am going to see the program, so you don't need to 
go into it all this afternoon-but how many are out there helping 
others and making it, most of them? 

Ms. JORDAN. A lot of them are. 
Senator DECONCINI. You have a followup, I suspect to try to
Ms. JORDAN. Yes. What has happened is that a lot of the stu-

dents have started their own, like Kevin goes out into the commu
nity and speaks to young people in junior high and elementary 
school. Just to give you an indication of the level of need and the 
desire to change, we take about 40 to 50 students every 3 or 4 
months. We had over 250 calls on those 50 slots. 

Senator DECONCINI. And you had to say no to a lot of those, most 
ofthem? 

Ms. JORDAN. A lot of them, because there is no place for them to 
go. 

Senator DECONCINI. Yes, Lora? 
Ms. NYE. One strong final thing I would like to say is we need to 

form new partnership in our communities. On Thursday, I went 
with some other people and we met with the line editors and we 
talked about the things you just talked about. 

Blockwatch has formed a partnership with the police depart
ment, the city council and the mayor's office. That is pretty unique 
in itself. And I went asking the newspaper to join us as a partner
ship, that we can't publicize just the negative all the time. For in
stance, the prostitutes could get full-page front cover the other 
night, but a dynamite program that we had going out in the neigh
borhood had to be way back ~nside. I didn't even ask them to do 
good news/bad news. I just asked them to give us an occasional 
shot of successes, instead of all negatives. 

Senator DECONCINI. I am not going to ask you what they said. I 
have been down, there, too. [Laughter.] 

Ms. NYE. Actually, they asked me to feed them a story, so I am 
going to get this story to them today. 

Senator DECONCINI. Thank you very much. I wish I had more 
time. This is very, very helpful and I may call on you. And Dennis 
Burke, my counsel here may call on you also. I think there are 
some things that the Federal Government could be involved in. 

Ms. NYE. Thank you. 
Senator DECONCINI. We are going to take a 5-minute break, and 

then our next panel can come up and sit. [Recess.] 
Senator DECONCINI. We will continue. 
Our next panel includes Sheriff Joe Arpaio, Maricopa County 

Sheriff, with a long career in drug enforcement, agent in charge, 
among other things, right here in Phoenix for a number of years. 
Robert Corbin, former Attorney General, State of Arizona, Presi
dent of the National Rifle Association. And Gerald Richard is a 
Special Assistant to the Chief of Police for the City of Phoenix. He 
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works extensively on youth issues and has become a true expert on 
gangs in Phoenix. 

We appreciate all of your testimony. Mr. Richards is known and 
respected for his work on gangs in this community and outside the 
community. 

We will start first with Sheriff Arpaio. Sheriff, thank you for 
being here and taking the time. I know you have got your hands 
full looking for people and enforcing all the laws here, and you are 
doing a marvelous job. Notwithstanding any criticism, I think you 
are one of the great sheriffs of this State. 

PANEL CONSISTING OF JOSEPH M. ARPAIO, SHERIFF, MARICOPA 
COUNTY, AZ; ROBERT K. CORBIN, PRESIDENT, NATIONAL RII<'LE 
ASSOCIATION; AND GERALD P. RICHARD II, SPECIAL ASSIST
ANT TO THE POLICE CHIEF, CITY OF PHOENIX 

STATEMENT OF JOSEPH M. ARPAIO 
Mr. ARPAIO. Thank you, sir. 
I am honored to testify at this field hearing on juvenile justice. It 

is great to be back in law enforcement. You and I fought the drug 
battles many years ago. Fortunately, you are still fighting the drug 
battles from Washington and in the State, and I feel confident that 
we are going to reduce that vicious problem. 

As Sheriff of Maricopa County, I am responsible for law enforce
ment in an area larger than my own Commonwealth of Massachu
setts, with a population of over 2.5 million people. I am concerned 
about youth violence. More concerned still are the sheriffs deputies 
and police officers who routinely risk their lives in dealing with 
children, savagely violent children. 

You are familiar with the Duty case. He is on trial for the 1991 
murders of Buddhists in a temple west of Phoenix. Duty was 17 
years old at the time of the killings. The prosecution's primary wit
ness in the trial that is going on now, Elesandro Garcia, who was 
15 when the 9 victims died from .22-caliber bullets fired into their 
heads. 

Garcia said in his confession that Duty had systematically killed 
9 during an armed robbery, so there would be no witnesses. In con
fessing his part in the temple murders, Garcia also admitted to en
couraging his girlfriend to shoot a woman who was camping in a 
county park. The girlfriend, Michelle Hoover, was 14. She says she 
pulled the trigger, because of her love for Garcia. 

Meanwhile, another case investigated by my office, the Tomoso
mie sisters, 11 and 12 years old, accused of mu.rdering their mother 
with a .357 Magnum pistol, then taking money from her purse for 
a shopping spree. 

Those are not all the cases of violence by youth pending in Mari
copa County. They are merely the worst. In all, 1,896 juveniles 
were charged with violent crimes, murder, rape, robbery and as
sault during 1992. Why such a massive change in youth since 1942? 
That year, a survey identified the worst problem in the Nation's 
schools was gum-chewing in the classroom. When the survey was 
repeated in 1982, rape was declared the worst problem. I suspect 
that an identical survey today would turn up homicide as the lead
ing problem in schools. 
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I will not attempt to deal with all the causes of increasing youth 
violence, child abuse, single parents, role models, ineffective 
schools or shortage of recreation opportunity, and so on. However, 
before law enforcement can do anything really effective against 
youth violence, we must overhaul the juvenile justice system that 
was established in another era to deal not so much with violent 
crime, as with youthful mischief, truancy, petty theft and other of
fenses so minor that they scarcely qualify as crimes in the 1990's. 

The juvenile system is not a revolving door, as it is so often de
scribed. The system has no doors, nor any walls. It is a tattered 
shed. The typical juvenile offender comes and goes, usually commit
ting more serious offenses after each departure. The process contin
ues through a long series of crimes, until the youngster is at least 
sent to a youth correctional facility. Usually, the stay is measured 
in weeks. For many young criminals, the brief incarceration pro
vides an adventure to brag about. As long cs that system continues, 
law enforcement is seriously limited in what can be done about 
youth violence. 

Criminologists tell us that swift and certain punishment is the 
only deterrent to crime. The juvenile system must be overhauled to 
provide that deterrent before crime develops into a career. I do not 
propose a Devil's Island for children. Juvenile Justice must offer a 
menu of opportunities for rehabilitation. But children must know 
that crime will be punished. 

I realize that there is a lot of sympathy for gun control meas
ures, specifically directed at juveniles. I see no damage to the 
second amendment by a law that would prohibit children from car
rying guns willy-nilly. After all, the right to bear arms is linked by 
the Constitution to the citizen's obligation to militia. In Arizona, 
the minimum age for militia is 18. Of course, any control should 
provide exemptions for youngsters who engage in hobby shooting, a 
wholesome activity that doubtless keeps them out of trouble with 
the law. 

Perhaps it is significant that America's problem with gun crime 
increased as this ceased to be a nation of veterans trained by the 
military in the use of firearms. I recall that the training included 
harsh lessons in the careless handling of firearms and the lethal 
potential of bullets. I wonder if our streets might become safer, if 
today's youth receive similar training offered perhaps by the Na
tional Guard. There is encouraging precedent. Arizona has practi
caUy eliminated hunting accidents through gun safety courses of
fered to youngsters by the Arizona Game and Fish Commission. 

I am troubled, however, by notions that a gun control law will 
put an end to crimes committed by armed juveniles or either sig
nificantly reduce such crimes. Juvenile violence decries such sim
plistic approaches. That worst gun law might encourage some 
youthful criminals to carry and use guns as the ultimate sign of 
defiance of social order. At best, a sensible gun law would provide 
police with one more useful tool. 

Automobiles may be more troublesome than firearms, when it 
comes to juvenile crime. The automobile provides youthful offend
ers with the mobility to commit crimes far from home and wit
nesses who might recognize them. The automobile also makes for 
quick get-aways. Perhaps it only states the obvious that the auto-
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mobile is as essential as a firearm to the drive-by shootings that 
worry us all so much. In a search for answers, maybe we should 
consider car control, say a curfew for teenage drivers. The State 
might inspire a lot of the youngsters, by demanding good grades 
and good behavior as conditions for issuance of a driver's license. 

Mr. Chairman, I can go on and on about the television and Holly
wood and so on, but I knew we are short of time, and I will be glad 
to answer any questions. 

[Summary of statement by Joseph M. Arpaio follows:] 

.. 
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SUMlVIARY OF STATEMENT 
" PRESENTED TO 

SENATOR DENNIS DeCONCINI'S 
JUDICIARY SUBCOMMITfEE ON JUVENILE JUSTICE 

By 
JOSEPH M. ARPAIO 

MARICOPA COUNTY SHERIFF 

Five juveniles--the youngest an 11 year old girl--are accused in 11 murder cases 

pending in Maricopa County, And those are only the worst cases of violent crime involving 

1,896 juveniles. 

Law enforcement is impeded in its efforts to cope with juvenile crime by an 

antiquated juvenile justice system that fails to impose swift and certain punishment on 

juvenile offenders. 

New law that is fully in compliance with the Second Amendment would not put an 

end to crimes committed by armed juver.iles, but it would provide police with a useful tool. 

Training in firearms safety and limits on juveniles' use of automobiles might also prove 

helpful in reducing youth violence. 

The gratuitous depiction of violence on television and movie screens encourages 

violence among juveniles. Voluntary restraints by the entertainment industry are the answer. 

Testimony 

Mr. Chairman, Senator DeConcini, I am honored to testify at this field hearing of the 

Senate Judiciary Subcommittee on Juvenile Justice. 

As Sheriff of Maricopa County, I am responsible for law enforcement in an area slightly 

larger than Massachusetts, with a population of more than 2.5 million people. I am deeply 

concerned about youth violence. More concerned still are the sheriffs deputies and police 

officers who must routinely risk their lives in dealing with children -- savagely violent children. 

Sad to say, in Maricopa County, Huck Finn has been replaced by the likes of Jonathan 

Doody. 

In case Jonathan Doody is not a familiar name to the subcommittee, he is ?n trial here 

for the 1991 murders of nine Buddhists in a temple west of Phoenix. Doody was 17-years-old 

at the time of the killings. 
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The prosecution's primary witness is Doody's accomplice, Alessandro Garcia, who was 

15 when the nine victims died from .22 caliber bullets fired into their heads. Garcia says in his 

confession that Doody systematically killed the nine during an armed robbery so there would be 

.. no witnesses." 

In confessing his part in the temple murders, Garcia also admitted to coaxing his girl 

friend to shoot an unsuspecting woman who was camping at a county park. The girl friend, 

Michelle Hoover, was 14 then. She said she pulled the trigger to prove her love for Garcia 

Meanwhile, another case investigated by the Maricopa County Sheriffs office involves 

the Tomassoni sisters, 11 and 12, accused of murdering their mother with a .357 magnum pistol, 

then taking money from her purse for a shopping spree. 

Those are not all the cases of youth violence pending in Maricopa County. Those are 

merely the worst. In all, 1,896 juveniles were charged with violent crimes--murder, 

rape, robbery, and aggravated assault--during 1992. 

What has wrought such a massive change in youth since 19427 That year, a national 

survey identified the worst problem in the nation's schools as gum chewing in the classroom. 

When the survey was repeated in 1982, rape was declared the worst problem. I suspect that an 

identical, survey today would tum up homicide as the leading problem in schools. 

I won't attempt to deal with all the \~';, .Ies of increasing youth violence--child abuse, 

single parents, the lack of role models, ineffective schools, a shortage of recreation opPortunity, 

problems with self-esteem, racial and ethnic discrimination. I will limit my remarks to the 

perspective of a cop on a few contemporary topics. 

Before law enforcement can do anything really effective against youth violence, we must 

thoroughly overhaul a juvenile justice system that was established in another era ~o deal not so 

much with violent crime as with youthful mischief--truancy, petty thefts and other offenses so 

minor that they scarcely qualify as crimes in the 19905. 

The juvenile justice system is not a revolving door, as it is so often described. The 

system has no door, nor any walls. It is a tattered shed. The typical juvenile offender comes 

and goes, usulily committing more serious offenses after each departure. The process continues 

through a long series of crimes until the youngster is at last sent to a youth correctional facility. 
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Usually, the stay is measured in weeks. For many young criminals, the brief incarceration 

provides an adventure to boast about. 

As long as that futile system continues, law enforcement is seriously limited in what it 

can do about youth violence. The criminologists tell us that swift and certain punishment is the 

only deterrent to crime. The juvenile justice system must be overhauled to provide that deterrent 

before crime develops into a career. 

I do not propose a Devil's Island for children. Juvenile justice must offer a menu of 

opportunities for rehabilitation. But children must know that crime will be punished. 

I realize that there is a lot of sympathy for !sun control measures specifically directed 

at juveniles. I see no damage to the Second Amendment in law that would prohibit children 

from carrying guns, willy-nilly. After all, the right to bear arms is linked by the Constitution 

to the citizen's obligation to militia. In Arizona, the minimum age for militia is 18. Of course, 

any control should provide exemptions for youngsters who engage in hobby shooting, a 

wholesome activity that doubtless keeps some out of trouble with the law. 

Perhaps it is significant that America's problems with gun crime increased as this ceased 

to be a nation of veterans, trained by the military in the use of firearms. r vividly recall that 

the training included harsh lessons in the careless handling of firearms and in the lethal potential 

of bullets. I wonder if our streets might become safer if today's youths received similar 

training, offered perhaps by the National Guard. There is encouraging precedent. Arizona has 

practically eliminated hunting accidents through gun safety courses offered to youngsters by the 

Arizona Game and Fish Commission. 

I am troubled, however. by notions that a gun control law will put an end to crimes 

committed by armed juveniles, or even significantly reduce such crimes. Juvenile violence 

defies such simplistic approaches. At worst, gun law might encourage some youthful criminals 

to carry and use guns--as the ultimate sign of their defiance of social order. At best, sensible 

gun law would provide police with one more useful tool. 

Automobiles may be more troublesome than firearms when it comes to juvenile crime. 

The automobile provides youthful offenders with the mobility to commit crimes far from home 

and witnesses who might recognize them. The automobile also makes for quick getaways. 
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Perhaps it only states the obvious that the automobile is as essential as the flrearm to the drive

by shootings that worry us all so much. In our search for answers, maybe we should consider 

car control--say a curfew for teen-age drivers. The state might inspire a lot of youngsters by 

demanding good grades and good behavior as conditions for an initial driver's license. 

Since network executives already confess to broadcasting excessive violence as 

entertainment and pledge to change their ways, I am hopeful that the movie industry will 

volunteer similar restraints. I don't propose to forbid screen versions of "Hamlet" because of 

the body count in the last act. Art and free expression might actually blossom if Hollywood gets 

by on fewer explosions, less automatic weapons flre and fewer bare-hand executions. 

Most of us recall Saturday afternoons spent in the darkness of a movie theater, enjoying 

the thrills of cowboy shoot-outs or cops and robbers brawls--good guys versus bad guys. Those 

scenes do not bother me. I worry, though, about entertainment delivering frequent messages 

that violence is the best response to virtually any challenge. In one recent action film, the iead 

actor, the chairman of the President's Council on Physical Fitness, stands in a moment of 

triumph waving severed human arms with each of his powerful hands. Surely, images like that 

do not improve minds--young or old. 

Mr. Chairman, Senator DeConcini, I appreciate the opportunity to offer these views for 

the Senate Judiciary Subcommittee on Juvenile Justice. I'll try to answer any questions. 
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Senator DECONCINI. Thank you, Sheriff. We appreciate that. We 
will have some questions. 

Mr. Corbin? 

STATEMENT OF ROBERT K. CORBIN 

Mr. CORBIN. Thank you, Senator. 
Most of the things have been said here, other than my position 

here as President of the National Association, to protect the law
abiding citizen's right to keep and bear arms. 

I personally believe that television has a lot to do with the crimi
nal problem we have in this country today. You can turn on Satur
day morning's programs for kids, these cartoons, and you see them 
beating each other with clubs and you see them doing all of these 
things. Kids today who get a lot of their education through televi
sion are seeing these, from 3, 4, 5, 6 years old. Violence is a way of 
life out here. 

I know that the first amendment says freedom of the press, but 
like all of the ru.nendments to the Constitution, there could be rea
sonable regulations on them. So I commend the Senate for having 
the hearings on the television violence that we see today on televi
sion. I think it is a great step. 

I know you are going to hear, just like the media wants to take 
away our second amendment, but everybody screams about the 
first amendment, that is wrong, you are not supposed to do that. 
But all of our amendments can be reasonably regulated. 

Now, we talked about the bill here just passed by our legislature. 
It was NRA who drafted that bill and introduced it and lobbied it. 
It did not come through the way we proposed it. First, we wanted 
kids to be able to have parental permission to be able to possess a 
weapon. That was stricken. They may have them without parental 
permission, if they are going hunting or if they are going to target 
practice. Other than that, they cannot have one to do that. 

In addition to that, we had in that bill that you should treat, 
with certain exceptions, kids 16 and 17 years old as adults. You 
know, Senator, I am not going to tell you anything from Arizona, 
but when our Constitution was adopted back in 1912 and we said 
that the juvenile age limit was 18, kids at that time were 16 and 17 
years old were 16 and 17 years old in that day. 

Today they are not. A 16- and 17 -year-old today is equivalent to a 
20- or 21-year-old, but yet we do not want to deal with them. They 
want to commit adult crimes, robbery, rape, murder, shootings, ev
erything like that, but we have a revolving criminal justice system 
in this country today. 

You know, Joe said that the purpose of law enforcement-and 
you were county attorney and I was county attorney and attorney 
general-justice, to be effect, but be sure and swift, and it is not 
today. When it takes 12 to 14 years to execute somebody for first
degree murder, when it is a revolving door that they serve such 
little bit of time on robbery and rape-70 percent of our crime in 
this country are committed by recidivists out here. We are doing 
nothing to deal with the criminal justice system, and I think it 
needs to be fixed. If it is not fixed and it is not fixed sooner, we are 
going to have more problem. 
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You know, the people who buying most of the guns in this coun
try are women today. They are the ones who are buying the guns 
for protection, to protect them from predators out here who are 
raping them, who are murdering them and who are robbing them. 
They are not buying them because they want guns. They are 
buying them for protection. 

I am not blaming law enforcement. They cannot be everywhere 
at all times, but they cannot protect us today. And if anybody is 
honest in law enforcement, and I was for most of my professional 
career, we cannot protect the law-abiding citizen out here. 

Now, I know about talking about getting budget cuts. All over 
this country, budgets are being cut for law enforcement. Yet, I hear 
this great hue and cry, let's take away the guns from the law-abid
ing people, so that only criminals have them. 

Senator you heard them talk about guns in schools. Five years 
ago, I think it was, Congress passed a law making it a Federal 
felony to bring a gun into a school. Has it been enforced? No. have 
you heard of anybody prosecuting somebody for bringing a gun in a 
school through the Federal felony law? No, I have not. 

We have it in the State where you can't bring a gun on school 
grounds within 1,000 feet of the school grounds. Have there been 
any prosecutions on it? No; Senator, there are over 20,000 guns 
laws in this country right now. Have they done any good to take 
the guns away from the criminal out here? The only people who 
obey the law are the law-abiding. You know, there are 65 to 70 mil
lion gun owners in this country, and 99.7 percent of those people do 
not misuse the guns. It is less than 0.3 percent of the people who 
do. 

Senator I thought in this country we punish those who violate 
the law, not the law-abiding people. We have to protect ourselves 
today. You heard the gang member testify. He had to get a gun to 
protect himself. That is true. We are not dealing with the criminal, 
the one who misuses the gun. 

I heard you say, Senator-and I hate to criticize or correct a Sen
ator-you talked about the assault weapon. The assault weapons is 
a fully-automatic weapon. As you well know, it has been regulated 
since 1934. You know that since 1934 there has been over 230,000 
permits issued by BATF', and not one single person of those law
abiding people have misused that automatic weapons. That is the 
truth. That is your own figures. 

The semi-automatic weapon, which you call an assault weapon, it 
is not an assault weapon today. It is a semi-automatic weapon, that 
is what it is. They have been manufactured for 100 years, they '" 
have been on the market. All of a sudden, they make them look 
military and they are evil out here. 

Now, I have seen FBI statistics that show that less than 1 per
cent of the guns confiscated in this country from criminals are the 
so-called assault weapons. Most of your police chiefs, if they are 
honest, will say they are not a problem in this country. I do not see 
kids carrying an AR-15 to school or anything like that. What they 
are carrying are handguns. That is what they are. 

I guess the best example I can give to you, Senator, I don't know 
if you saw Nightline after the riots over in L.A. They had this 
black police officer and he was head of the black police officers 
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union. C. Everett Koop was the other one on the other side, and he 
was saying that there were medical problems, health problems, we 
have to do away with the guns here. 

When they turned to this black police officer, Ted Koppel said 
what do you think about this? He said this man doesn't know what 
he is talking about. He said the criminal will always get the 
weapon. He said they don't have driver's licenses. They steal their 
cars. What makes you think that the criminal will give up his 
weapon? 

Senator we cannot take the drugs out of the hands of the crimi
nals. Do you think you are going to take the guns out of the hands 
of the criminals? They don't obey any law now. They are not going 
to obey any law that you pass or anything like that, taking away 
the guns from the law-abiding people who today have to have them 
to protect ourselves. 

I heard somebody say that an assault weapon has no purpose 
except to kill people. They don't know what they are talking about. 
We had the 100th anniversary shoot out at Black Canyon about 2 
months ago. There were 85 teams, 4 members to a team, about 90 
percent of them were kids under the age of 18 were shooting, and 
they were all shooting so-called assault weapons, the military-style 
semi-automatic rifle. They were all shooting them in the matches 
out there. 

We made the remark we wished some of these people who are 
opposed to it, you yourself, Senator, would come out here and see 
these kids shooting these so-called assault weapons out here. I 
mean they have other purposes. 

The MC program, which is a Federal program which you all 
fund, assault weapons, that is what they shoot, the R-15, you 
know, all of these, the M-14's and everything else, that is what 
they shoot out here. So there are a lot of other purposes rather 
than what people say to kill other people. They don't know what 
they are talking about. 

Consequently. I really believe that the problem you have got to 
deal with, Senator, is to get tough with the criminal out here. I 
have lived it. I have seen it, and so have you, and you were county 
attorney. We have got to get tough with the criminal and make it 
mean something when we send them to prison out here, that it 
means something. 

I personally believe three strikes and you are out, as we are sup
porting up in the State of Washington. Arizona used to have that 
law. You commit three felonies and you are locked up for the rest 
of your life. 

I heard Judge Feldman say here this morning it is too costly. 
Take a look at 1986, the Bureau of Justice Statistics study. They 
did a study on the cost of incarceration versus nonincarceration. 
That study said that it costs $430,000 a year not to incarcerate a 
person versus $20,000 to incarcerate them, that you saved about 
187 felonies by locking them up, rather than putting them back on 
the street through probation. 

I can give you-and I did in the written part of the testimony 
here-that in the juvenile court system, crime after crime after 
crime being committed, being put back on the street to commit 
other crimes. We have got to get tough with the criminals, Senator, 
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and until we do get tough with them, then we are going to contin
ue having this problem that we have today. 

Three strikes and you are out, I suggest that. I think that reduc
ing the juvenile age limit to age 16 and 17 years old and treating 
them as adults, if they commit adult-type crimes, so we can get off 
the streets. Build facilities. 

You know, we had a phone conversation a couple of months ago 
about using the military bases that are being closed down for mini
mum-security prisons, and you were kind enough to send me the 
study that was made. Senator, I hope you have read it. It turned 
my stomach, to be honest with you. The study to me was why not 
to use them for things. 

Senator DECONCINI. I was not impressed with the study. 
Mr. CORBIN. I was not impressed by it at all. When they stop and 

say in that study that there is hazardous waste on these bases and 
you can't lock up these criminals, it is OK for a military to be 
there, but we can't lock up these criminals? I got so mad, I just 
tore it up and threw it in the wastebasket. But I thank you for 
sending it to me. 

You know, we can use these bases. Williams Air Force Base, it 
has got mess facilities, it has got barracks. We can't lock up the 
hard-core in there, because they can get away. But we can take 
them out of the regular prisons at Florence and the other prisons 
around the country and put them in these military bases here. You 
know, the check-kiters and the drug users and people like that that 
get sent to prison, they don't need to be locked up behind bars. 
Let's use some of these military bases. My gosh, the taxpayers have 
got millions and billions invested in them. Let's just them, instead 
of just shutting them own and forgetting about them. 

But we have got to get~he criminal off the street and make the 
streets safe for law-abiding people. That is what government's pri
mary function is, is to make the streets and homes for the law
abiding citizens safe, and they are not. 

I have said it, the criminals run the streets. It is us the law-abid
ing who are living in our homes behind barred windows and bur
glar alarms and everything else. So the problem is the criminal. It 
is not guns. It is easy to blame guns. Just like nobody blames the 
car when a drunk-driver runs a red light and kills somebody. We 
blame the drunk-driver, not the car. It is not the guns, it is an in
animate object. It cannot function without the individual. 

If this government and this country does not get back to accept 
personal responsibility on people, then we will never solve this 
problem. I did not make them commit murder. You did not. They 
did it themselves. Now we ne(,d to help them. We need to catch 
them early. 

I love this bit about it's a first-time offender. No, it is the first 
time they have been caught. They have probably committed 50 or 
60 crimes before they got caught. They are not first-time offenders, 
most of them are not. We need to get to them. 

I would love to see you appropriate money down to these women 
here, neighborhood watches and things like that, not through gov
ernment, but to the people individually, so they will get it them
selv(~s to be able to expand these programs, because they do work. 
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We need to build more prisons, because it is a lot cheaper, ac
cording to Bureau of Justice Statistics, to do that. I am just tired of 
blaming the guns. Blame the individual who is misuing them. 

[The prepared statement of Mr. Corbin follows:] 
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TESTIMONY OF ROBERT K CORBIN 

Good morning Mr. Chairman and Senator DeConcini. My name Is Bob Corbin. 

From 1979 through 1990 I served as the Attorney General for the State of Arizona 

and now I serve as the Prasldent of the National Rifle Associatlon. On behalf of the 

NRA, please accept my thanks for your Invitation to testify before the subcommittee 

on the Important subject of youth violence and the Juvenile justice system response. 

Let's examine two strategies to counter youth violence - community action to 

prevent violence and crIminal Justice reform to punIsh and deter crimInal violence. 

FIrst, let's discuss violence prevention. Last year, Professors Joseph Sheley, 

Z1na McGee and James Wright published 'Gun-Related Violence In and Around Inner

City Schools' - the results of a cross-sectional survey of ten Inner-city high schools In 

several states. Noting that 'nearly everything that leads to gun-related violence 

among youths Is already against the law,' the researchers' prescription was neither 

more gun restrictions, metal detectors nor shake-downs of students, but "a concerted 

effort to rebuild the social structure of Inner cities." 

Sheley, M~ee and Wright found that violence In our schodls does 110t spring 

from the classroom floor: 'Rather, Violence spills into the school Ii from the world 

outside .... Structurally, we are experiencing the development of en Inner-city 

underclass unlike any in our past. In a shrinking Industrial economy, we are 

witnessing the disintegration of the traditional family, increasing ~'overty and 

homelessness, diminishing health, and deteriorating educational ·Instltutlons.· 

In a related work, Wright and Sheley echo the theme of a crumbling social 
.. 

structure that leads our nation's youth to violence: 'Isolation, hopelessness, and 

fatalism, coupled with the 81eady deterioration of stabilizing social Institutions In the 

Inner city ... have fostered an environment where 'success' implies predation and 

survival depends on one's ability to defend against It.' 

Only by planting a sense of community can we weed out IsolatIon. Only by 

grafting hope Into youth at risk aln we root out hopelessness and fetal ism. Only by 
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changing people's minds and lives can we foster an environment where success no 

longer implies criminal predation. 

One wlr/ to begin Is to counter the influence of violence on television. 

When television subjects youth to thousands of hours of terrorism, brutality 

and violence, the result Is more than a mere tendency among young people to act 

out In violent ways. Antisocial lV programming unleashed in a culture of Isolatlon, 

hopelessness and fatalism fosters a;subculture of violence in which values are 

upended and brute force rules. We"are witnessing Lord of the Flies, circa 1993. 

University of Weshlngton epidemiologist Brandon Centerwall, Ph.D., has found 

'a positive relationship ~etween exposure (to television violence) 'and physical 

aggression.' Canterwall goes further to say that 'if, hypothetically, television 

technology had never begn developed, there would be 10,000 fewer homicides each 

year In the United States, 70,000 fewer rapes and 700,000 fewer Injurious assaults. 

Violent crime would be half what It Is.' 

The NRA recently submitted testimony to Congress regarding the connection 

between television violence and Increased violent behavior among our youth. Noting 

Increasing public support for a violence-rating system and other !~erventlons, NRA 

has recommended citizen activism as a key element In turning back the tide of 

electronic mayhem that pours Into American hom as night and day. 

Besides community activism to combat violence In television programming, 

what else can communltias do? 

NelghbortJood PatrolS. '. 
laW-abiding residents are banding together and walking ttielr streets to expose 

drug ~ and force drug dealers away. In Washington, D.C. Citizens armed only 

with orange caps and special lighting provided by authOrities, these people shoulder 

gangs and drlJg dealers away from decent neighborhoods. 

$ave Youth at Risk. 

When polled, the vast majority of Americans express the b~lief that a 

deterioration of values Is what's behind the problem of youth and: violence. In an as

yet unpublished proposal to reduce violence in downtown New Orleans, Sheley and 
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WrIght note that Inner-city violence springs from the 'erosion of tredllional, Informal 

social control mechanisms within the community. 

'Tha waning influence of the elderly, for example, has produced the loss of 

both a social network able to identify problems In the nelghborhdod and the ability of 

respected citizens to Intervene effectively in emerging disputes .... 

Among the types of persons most likely to be Involved In shootlng incidenlS, by 

neighborhood residenlS' accounts, are young men who have a h!story of disruptive 

behavior with the community ... [L]e'aders of the community argue persuasively as . 

well that most of these youth could have benefitted from early communlty-basad (as 
i" + 

opposed to criminal-Justice) Interven.tion before 'careers' of disruption progressed.' 

This same sentiment was shl¥ed by three NRA members Ih Houston, Texas. 

The three African-Americans decided to form an association to counsel youth, 

monitor school performance and attendance, and form an Informf!l network of youth 

members who would encourage ne~ youth members to adhere to a high standard of 

moral behavior. On weekends, the leaders would take the innel'oC!ty youth out of 

town for experiences in the wilderness. When it began, the group consisteel 01 3 

adults and 30 young people. Today, the Royal Bushmen Assocl~tion Is 60 adults 

and 300 young people. This home-grown, community-based act1Vlsm is saving youth 

at risk. 

Now, 1M'S examine what we feel Is the appropriate prov/nc~ of government: an 

effective juvenile Justice system to punish and deter criminal vlolehce. 

The NRA recently Initiated a riew division caJl~id CrimeStrfke as a means of 

developing a response to the probl~ms of violent Clime our natioh Is facing. In a 

word Crfmestrfke Is about reform. . 

The simple truth Is the NRA I~ committed to this Issue, because we do not 

believe that law-abIding Amerfcans ban, or should have to walt ariy longer. Even as 
~. 

we have In the past relied on the grassroots strength of our organization to help 

preserve our essential liberties, so now, do we turn our attention towards marshalling 

the collective human resources towards ending the scourge of crime In our nallon. It 
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Is our belief that by marshalling the resources and talents of the more 

than 3.1 million NRA members aM thousands of CrimeStrike volunteers across 
.~ 

America we can make a difference. And we are already underway. 

Our goal 19 to orchestrate a concerted campaign of reform"to help correct the 

deficiencies and Inconsistencies In our countiY's failing criminal Justice system which 

must Inetude referrn of our juvenile justice system, in order to reduce crime, protect 

the law-abIding, and restore Justice •. 

Right now CrlmeSltlke Is actively engaged In reform efforts'around the country, 

and has already had a significant role as evldenced by our efforts during the last 

election. 

In 1992 Crimes!tlke mounted comprehensive grassroots efforts In support of 

state constitutional am&ndments for victims' rights in illinoiS, Missouri, Kansas, 

Colorado, and New Mexico. By informing our members through mailings and other 

means, and aiding in state based get-out-the-vote efforts, we helped assure the 

passage of each of these proposed amendments. It should be Instructive to 

members of this committee and the public to note that every ond..·of these 

amendments was passed by a substantial margin with an average vote of nearly 

80%. 

this year, In Arizona, we contributed substaniialfy to the pSssage of Governor 

Symington's Truth-ln-Sentenclng legiSlation which abolishes parole and other early 

release programs, requires every Inmate to serva no less that ss<\b of the sentence 

Imposed, and Increases the length of time violent and repeat offenders must serve 

behind bars, 

In the stete of Texas the Stat~ Sanate, just last week pass&! a bUi to which 

NRA CrimeStrlke has devoted considerable effort. Under this measure, serious 

offenders will lace double the length of time served, and Texas lriearceration capacity 

will grow by up to 40,000 beds. 

In the elate of Washington we are in the second year of a major effort to 

support a citizen's Initiative to put a tough "Three Strlkes--You're Out' proposal on the 
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November ballot This year, the legislature failed to pass a similar meaaure. Now, 

It's the citizen's turn. Under the Initiative, offenders who commit ttlree serious crimes 

are Imprisoned for life - no probation, no parole. It Is a significant commentary on 

the state of the problem that this Initiative is concemed with ensLfrlng that criminals 

with three serious felonies are actually, finally, treated seriously. ' 

These are but a lew example~ of NRA's significant efforts to 
fight crime and restore Justice and drder to our country. But theS'e efforts come none 

too soon lor an America besieged by crime, weary and fearful of the constant assault 

01 violence which threatens our communities, and frustrated by tt\e unravelling of our 

govemment's response. 
I '1 

Nowhere are the problems of' endemic violence and the failure to address 

these problems more keenly felt thah In our juvenile justice system - and the 

magnitude of the problem Is startling. What sadder commentary 'Can there be on the 

failure to instill moral values and res~ect for the sanctity of humar\ life in our youth 

when, as just one example, over the last decade, violent crime by juveniles In this 

county has more than doubled. In 1982 there was a murder committed by a Juvenile 

approximately every 40 days. In 1992 a murder was committed ~y a juvenile every 12 
~ 

days. In 1982 a juvenile committed a rape every 26 days; by 1992 it was GVery B 

days. 

The discussion In which you engage today is much more than a diSCUSSion 

over numbers and trends and calculations. It Is about lives broken by juvenile 

violence and by the govemment's failure to discharge Its most ~cred promise to the 

people: to secure domestic tranquility and to protect life, liberty, and property. 

Behind each one of thess statistiCS Is the story 01 a victim; a lost.or ehattered life, a 

devastated family, and all too often a story of yet anothar collapse of our Justice 

system. 

It Is the story of a terrorized Circle K clerk who was robbed at gunpoint by a 17 

year old who kept repeating 'You wimt to die, don't you?" and a juvenile court that 

refused to transfer the armed robber to the adult system. 

-
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It Is the story of a Juvenile armed robber with live prior juvenile referrals whom 

the state In v'lln tried to have transferred to adult court. Subs~uently, the Juvenile 

was released to home detention pending a disposition hearing In! Juvenile court, over 

the strenuous objection of the prosecutor. Eighteen days later he finally killed. 

It Is the story of a 16 year old apprehended for a drive-by ~hotgun shooting 

whom the Juvenile court refused to treat as an adult crime. He was old enough to 
, 

drIve, old enough to kill, but not old enough to stand trial as an adult. 

It ls the story of two sexual predators, one 16 and the oth~r 19, who took turns 

holding down a young woman as the other raped her. The 16 year old, Incredibly, 

was given a deferred disposition pending prosecution. The young woman was given 

nightmares for {:ie rest of her life, the rapist was returned to SChool. 

it Is the story of a 13 year old girl who died because another Juvenile armed 

robber was rele811ed pending juvenile disposition on armed robbery charges. 

It Is the story of a 17 year old juvenile who committed numerous assault and 

child molestation, yet even after thirteen prior offenses he stllJ w~ not treated as an 

adult. 

It Is the story of madness, Injustice, and shear disdain for the plight of the 

victims; the story of a Juvenile court system that has lost focus alid needs the 

discipline of a mandatory transfer law. We must once again make public safety the 

court's most sacred trust and responsibility, 

By the weakness of our Juvenile courts we are encouraging the very conduct 

they are established to deter. Just as the Congress in recent yellrs has recognized 

the need to discipline the federal co'urts' sentencing pol/cles thrd~gh the guidelines 

and use of mandatory sentences for chronic and violent offende~, so too must the 

juvenile courts of this country be disciplined by mandated transle'r laws. And for the 

cases they continue to hear there must be tough-minded, gradua~ed sanctions which 

emphasize consequences and responsibility for younger, non-vldlent first time 
il 

offenders. 

74-122 0 - 94 - 4 
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Jwenlle Justice reform must be a key element In this county's strategy to 

control and reduce the violent crime which ravages our citiZens. ''The NAA sUpports 

reasonable regulations on the carrying of firearms by Juveniles. Those who believe 
;. 

otIlerwIse, are ignorant of the reforms we have promoted to deal ,with this Issue, No 

one should be fooled Into belioving that any amount of regulation-, up to and 

Including a total ban on all firearms use by minors, will have any :¢fect on the level of 

juvenile violent crime. All such measures taken alone and 'sold· .~th antI-crime 

matoric are a cruel fraud on the public, Only restoring strong, nC! nonsense 

punishments for violent and chronic offenders will do that. 

Sadly, the Juvenile Justice system Is a blunt Instrument It only restores order 

through force. yet, we must recognize that our first duty Is to rBltore wholen9911 to 

those who are victims of violent crinie. At a minimum we have an obligation to levy 

swift, sure justice to those who perpetrate heinous actions on the' law abiding. Until 

we can, with reasonable assurance, provide this, the right any of us have to walk the 

streets of this country without fear as our most constant companion Is subject only to 

the conscience of a stray bullet, 

On the subject of specific juvenile Justice reforms, the NRA supports measures 

which are targated directly at the Juvenile offender and measures 'which establish 

reasonable uniform statewide regulation of minors carrying firearms, But, at the same 

time, these measure must also protect the rights of law abiding minors, and their 

parents or guardians. 

* 

* 

This year, In Arizona, the NRA helped draft legislation that1would: 

Mandate holding a 16 or 17 year old Juvenile offender responsible as an adult 

If the offender engaged In felony conduct Involving the us~ or threatenlr:'g 

exhibition of deadly weapon 6r dangerous Instrument, the Intentional or 

knowing Infliction of serious physical Injury, or a sexual offense,unless the 

juvenile's participation was as an accomplice and was minimal; 

Mandate holding a 16 or 17 year old juvenlie offender responsible as an adult 

if the offender on four prior and separate occasions had been adjudicated 

.. 
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delinquent or If the offender had previously been committed to a Juvenile 

correctfonal facility, unless the prior offenses were minor; 

• Impose a felony penalty on parents or guardians who reckiessly give coneent 

to a minor to possess or carry a firearm; 

• Encourage every school to provide a firearms safety program available at the 

option of the student's parent or guardian like NM's 'Edc'!t'e Eagle' program. 

Crimlnallze Gang Recruitment. 

The NRA also supports legislation patterned after an Arizo~a law sponsored by 

State Representative Brenda Burns and passed by the Arizona legislature which 

Imposes severe mandatory felony penalties on adults who Involve minors In Criminal 

street gangs or drug trafficking. 

Closlng public Housing to Crime Enterprise. 
,I 

In somE' regions of the country, authorities are preSSing to evict those In public 

subsidized housing who are using their residences as drug and gang centers. 

~ ~ 
According to Charleston, South Carolina, Police Chief Rueben G~eenberg who 

'1. 
Instituted such a program, his critics charged he would have to evict 4,000 residents· 

• literally half the Charleston public housing population. But Chle.f Greenberg writes, 

'We didn't have to evict nearly as many people as originally thought - only about eo 
Individuals.' Why? Because they stopped engaging in criminal activity. Our catch· 

and- release Justice system hobbles law onforcement. Says Chief Greenberg, 

"Whereas arrest had not prevented them from committing crimes} ... not having a 

place to sleep or live had a tremendous Impact." 

Targeting Gang Kingpins. 

Because the 'soldiers' In gang 'armies' are 50 young, it pays to take out the 
, 

'generals' - older gang kingpins who arm young people IIlegally"and press them Into 

crime. At the insistence of the community, Joint pollce-prosecuto!r task forces can be 

formed to target older gang kingpins. After putting such a task force to work some 

years ago, one east coast city reported a nearly 40 percent decrease In assaylts, 

drllJ6:by shootings and related yoU!" gang activity. 

Improved C9Cord-keeplng. ;' 
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To identify the worst offenders, all customary agents of sOcial control who 

Intervene with youngsters - schools, courts, welfare agencies ana police departments 

- must share information. Without information sharing, it Is ImpossIble to distinguish 

between those who might genuinely benefit from community outr~ach programs and 

those who are truly dangerous, repeat offenders. 

The overwhelming majority of minors who use firearms do so responsibly and 

In a law-abIding manner under the supervision of parents or guardians. However, 

violent Juvenile offenders must be subject to mora certain punIshment and that Is why 

reform of our Juvenile JuStice system Is so urgently needed. 

The problem of youth violence Is no more a lack of gun laws than It Is an 

Inadequate number of signs around" school yards advising people that schools are 

weapons-free zones. The probiem is a lack of morel muscle. 

Speaking on the ~ show last year after a school shootfng claimed the 

lives of two students, the principal of the school, Carol Burke-Beck, put It this way: 'I 

am concemed that we are assuming as a society that all weapons are made out of 

metal. They are not. The enemy that we're trying to stop Is the enemy of feeling 

hopeless, the enemy of being a victim, the enemy that I am someone who has to 

establish at every moment that I should be respected. We don't know how to love 

anymore and forgive anymore. Metal detectors do not detect that." 

Not long ago, attitudes, pressures and sanctfons once promoted a safs, 

healthy environment In schools. Not long ago, punishment was twilt and surs, not 

slow and uncertain. 

The preservation of order In dur society Is directly related tb a functfonlng, 

effectfve system of protection for the rights of Americans and pro~ecutlon of those 

who abuse those rights. Our demobracy cannot survive without these protectfons. 

The NRA Intends to do Its part. 

.. 
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Senator DECONCINI. Thank you, Mr. Corbin. 
Mr. Richard, thank you for being with us. 

STATEMENT OF GERALD P. RICHARD II 

Mr. RICHARD. Thank you, Senator. 
Senator I not only want to thank you, but Mr. Burke who asked 

me to come to these hearings on behalf of Chief Garret as well as 
myself, an opportunity to testify, but, even more so, an opportunity 
to have the hearing in an educational institution that houses a pro
gram such as the Genesis Program. I think it is commendable. 

Actually, in 1986, when I started prosecuting street gangs, and 
people were saying in the State of Arizona they were not here, not 
to worry about them, they were not the programs that sat at this 
table before I sat down. I also commend you on the fact that you 
are looking at tomorrow, because the issue is not just gangs now, 
but the one that is facing us tomorrow is blatant violence. 

Over the years, it is interesting, because the Phoenix Police De
partment has not only dealt with the growing problem as far as ju
veniles committing violent crimes, but we are still dealing with it 
in our ccmmunity. The officers in the Phoenix Police Department 
are at the iorefront of trying to serve and protect the citizens from 
these violent offenders. 

But let me stress something, it is not just juveniles. it is the 
adults, as well. We realize that in order to address this dilemma, 
though, we cannot do it by ourselves. Just as you heard before, we 
need every segment of our community in order to address it. 

Currently, the Phoenix Police Department is contending with a 
serious cut as faj as resources and are also being limited as far as 
what we can obtain. We are talking about sworn officers, we are 
talking about nonsworn personnel, we are talking about program 
funding, and we are also talking about equipment. 

Nevertheless, the community is still saying we want you to serve 
and protect us like any other major city. We are the 9th largest in 
the United States. But when we look at it throughout the United 
States, the top 25 cities have 2.6 officers per 1,000. Phoenix is oper
ating with 1.9, and they are still asking us to be out there, and we 
are doing the best that we can. 

I have to quote Chief Garret in something he said once, when 
they asked where can we start in addressing this problem as far as 
juvenile violence. He said in the womb, in the womb meaning with 
parenting skills classes, in the womb meaning that we encourage 
parents to instruct their children as far as the values they are 
going to need in order to deal with confrontation in a nonlethal 
manner. We need to strengthen the pride within the children and 
within our different cultures within our communities. 

And this came from a gang member. He said, Mr. Richard, if you 
teach us first about our own heritage and our own culture, he says 
then we can turn around and respect another culture. I happen to 
agree with the young man. 

Phoenix was the first to initiate tbe gun ordinance that you have 
heard so much about, and when we did so, we did it in order to try 
to get parent cooperation by the permission slip. But we have 
heard from the children. We have taken the time to listen to the 
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children, and it is like the children say that is not going to stop us 
from getting guns, if we really want them, we can still go out there 
and get them. 

Nevertheless, the Phoenix Police Department has to contend 
with trying to stop the violence, and when we have this ordinance, 
let me stress to you, it is only a tool in order to try to prevent the 
violence that is occurring in the street. Phoenix has also been very 
creative as far as adding a new component to the curfew ordinance. 
Instead of taking a child down to a precinct, we now take them to 
the park in order that they have other possible alternatives. But 
let me say this, it is not enough, because I had a chance to go out 
to the parks before the program started, and I asked them. 

I said, tell me something, if we brought a counseling service out 
here, if we brought a tutorial program out here, if we had allowed 
you an opportunity to learn about here, right here at the park 
where you grew up, if we had food for you and beds for you, as well 
as the other programs, how would you feel about that? Senator, 
they said that would make us come to the park more often, and do 
you know why, because those children that are being abused by 
their parents would come out at 10 o'clock and flag down a police 
car the same way you flag down a taxi and say take me to tli8 
park, because I cannot deal with this individual. 

By providing the counselors, the counselors cannot only deal 
with the issue that the child has to deal with and the violence that 
they are dealing with in their home, but they can also go back to 
the home, as opposed to authority going back and trying to deal 
with it in a holistic approach. 

The police department has tried recently within the last year or 
so to' enhance our community based policing, and we have done 
this through cultural awareness. But we don't only look at the tra
ditional cultures, we look at the nontraditional cultures that we 
have identified, like teenagers, because once we can get to under
stand teenagers and get them to respect us, then we too can re
spect them. We have done this also through our young adult assist
ance police academy, in order to encourage children to become 
police officers and get involved in law enforcement and not get in
volved in that subculture family, the gang, the quasi-family that; is 
out there. We have done this through the citizens advisory groups, 
and we encourage them, as well, and leaders within our communi
ty to come forward and help us as far as getting young adults, juve
niles interested in law enforcement. 

As you are well aware, we are a police officer, the BEAR and the 
GREAT Program, and I will be one of the trainers down at Tucson 
this summer in order to try to educate our officers. I am going to 
tell you right now, I have found not only as far as law enforce
ment, but also in the Federal level, there are officers that don't 
have the slightest idea what the gang problem is like. 

When we start talking about prevention, if we cannot do it 
through prevention, we can turn to those organizations that offer 
intervention, the city dance, the Mothers Against Guns and Gene
sis. But we have found something out that is very interesting here 
in Phoenix. 

When we combine prevention and suppression, the gang related 
violence goes down. The two months that most people are consid-

,-
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ered to be the highest as far as involvement is June and July. In 
the last two years, with our Operation Safe Streets, meaning 24-
hour visibility officers on the street, especially last year with our 
GREAT Program, it went below the line. So it shows that preven
tion, intervention and suppression working together can bring that 
safe community and safe environment back to our cities that we 
need. 

If it is necessary to arrest a juvenile, this is what the officers are 
asking for, provide the secure facilities and the personnel in order 
to hold the individuals, at the same time have a plea bargaining 
system that identifies the kind of offender that the b vstem has to 
deal with, so that they can either attempt to rehabilit8~te or punish. 

On the Federal level right now, there is S. 488 that has been in
troduced by Senator Arlen Specter that is known as the Drive-By 
Act of 1993. The Arizona State Gang Advisory Committee, which I 
chair, we got a copy of that bill and we sent a revision back to Sen
ator Specter. We have also sent a copy to your office. The reason 
being is that particular bill wanted to tie in a drive-by shooting 
with a major drug offense. 

You can ask law enforceme;l1t, that is extremely difficult to 
prove. You ask a prosecutor, it is almost impossible, because the de~ 
fense is going to say there was no major drug offense, I did it be
cause it was a retaliation because they killed my brother or my 
fellow gang member. So I hope that particular revision that we 
have introduced will be of help. 

The programs that were mentioned earlier by Mary Rose Wilcox, 
the Phoenix Inter-Agency team, with Roberto Amejo, with the 
Community Referral Information program that he has, has put to
gether a list of those programs. But I have to agree with her. Pro
grams that deal just with gang violence, I have to agree with her 
as far as evaluation that is needed. 

Judge Reggie Williams about 3 years ago came here and he told 
us, he said if you want a program that works, a program that is 
going to receive respect, you have to have a proper evaluation. I 
encourage that, but I encourage any evaluation process to be evalu
ated also every 3 years in order to make sure that we have not let 
something slip through the cracks. 

One other thing that I want to mention is this: You asked how 
many Kevins and Carlos are out there, when they were sitting 
here. I can tell you right now, in the Phoenix Police Department, 
we are finding more and more kids that are sayir.J I want out. For
tunately, we didn't have to go through the L.A. riots, because with 
the L.A. riots came the truce between a number of gangs that al
lowed individuals to lead the gang with integrity and dignity. 

But as programs like those of us who are sitting at this table 
that will provide those other individuals the same sort of integrity 
and dignity, and it can be used as a model throughout the United 
States. There is a commander in Chicago, because I am originally 
from Seuth Side Chicago, and there were gangs in Chicago when I 
was there. The technology wasn't as great, but they were 38's and 
25's, and I saw eye-witness as another student shot by another stu
dent in front. of the lunch room on my way to lunch, 6th period, 
the kid I had just sat next to in honors English. I saw it. So it hap
pened, and this was over 20 years ago, Senator. 
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Now we are seeing it here. I think that is the reason I asked to 
prosecute street gangs in 1986, because I didn't want to see it come 
to Phoenix in the same manner. What I am asking-and I think a 
lot of other individuals are asking-is let's encourage the funding 
of those programs that can assist law enfol"cement, if the dollars 
are not there for law enforcement, so that we can have more col
laboration nationwide. 

But as the commander mentioned, because we didn't address 
that problem back in Chicago, now what we really need is a county 
task force, because they have now reached a level of organized 
crime. 

They have now gone into the prisons. We now have prisoners 
that are coming out trying to encourage our children to get in
volved in more violent criminal activity. And when we look at the 
number of gangs, youth gangs out there in the State of Arizona, we 
reached over 700, that can be identified through the Department of 
Public Safety. When we look at the children, we think that most of 
them would be juveniles. To the contrary, only a third of them are. 
Only a third of them are children. 

So I thank you for the opportunity to come before you, and any 
questions that you might have, I would be more than happy to 
answer. 

Senator DECONCINI. Thank you very much. Your testimony is 
helpful and I will go into a couple of things. 

One is how many gangs do you estimate operate in the Phoenix 
area? Is there an estimate? Now that there is not much press here, 
we will not get much publicity on it, which is good. We do not want 
to, please do not print the number. 

Mr. RICHARD. The Phoenix Police Department has identified over 
120 active gangs. 

Senator DECONCINI. 120 active gangs. 
Mr. RICHARD. DPS has identified in the Phoenix metropolitan 

area, and that includes Glendale and the like, somewhere near 400. 
Senator DECONCINI. 400; how does Phoenix rate nationally as to 

the violence that these gangs are involved in, or are there any sta
tistics and numbers per capita of gangs? 

Mr. RICHARD. There are no statistics as far as that, and a lot of it 
has to do with the fact that we have not nationwide defined what a 
street gang is or what gang related activity, and we are doing that 
right now with our State Gang Advisory Committee. 

Senator DECONCINI. Your programs are well known, having vis
ited some of those neighborhood programs and seeing them even 
before we started the GREAT Program and the police officer on 
the beat. There is no question that it has helped. 

The debate over banning some guns and assault weapons, as 
Sheriff Apaio points out, is only a tool, as was your ordinance, 
right? 

Mr. RICHARD. That is correct. 
Senator DECONCINI. Nobody has ever advocated that this is going 

to stop the violence or the gangs. It is viewed from law enforce
ment as merely another tool for the prosecution of those that 
would violate and have those kind of guns, and that is the purpose 
of it, right? 

Mr. RICHARD. Right. 

.-
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Senator DECONCINI. Thank you. 
Mr. Corbin, yon always make a very eloquent statement and I 

have respected you immensely, as you know, over the years. You 
take exception with my reference to automatic weapons or assault 
weapons, and you are correct, these are semi-automatic, the ones 
that are involved in the Senate bill that I have introduced and that 
we passed last year, and hopefully we will pass again, if it is not 
filibustered. 

Do you really think that the street sweeper made in Africa for 
riot control is a gun that should just be permitted to be bought off 
the shelf as it is today? 

Mr. CORBIN. Senator, the problem you have here is this: In the 
hands of a criminal, it should not be there. 

Senator DECONCINI. Well, in the hands of a law-abider? 
Mr. CORBIN. In the hands of a law-abiding person who may want 

to collect that type of a weapon or may have fun just going out and 
shooting one, why do you want to penalize him? We have discussed 
it. I love your part of your assault weapons bill which I told you 
before I agree with, is that if you use one of these weapons in the 
commission of a crime, you go to prison. 

Senator DECONCINI. Let me ask you this. Is it--
Mr. CORBIN. That way, you are punishing those people who 

misuse them. 
Senator DECONCINI. I understand your argument. Isn't it worth a 

3-year trial on 14 semi-automatic weapons to see, because you don't 
know and I don't know. I don't know if it will help. Now, you 
maybe do know. I don't know, because I don't think anybody knows 
whether or not it will help. Maybe it would not. 

What is wrong with a 3-year trial on guns that show up 20 times 
more, according to the Cox survey, in l'.rimes, these assault weap
ons? I didn't pick these guns just out of th0 blue. We got them from 
the Treasury Department and from the Cox survey, and I just 
wonder what the problem is when everybody is grandfathered in, 
nobody has to give up the gun they have, and it is just for 3 years. 

Mr. CORBIN. Because I don't think it will work, Se~ator. 
Senator DECONCINI. I know you don't think it will work, but you 

don't know, do you? 
Mr. CORBIN. No, I don't. 
Senator DECONCINI. Nobody knows. 
Mr. CORBIN. As I mentioned earlier, that black police officer talk

ing about fully automatic weapons, he said that the fully automatic 
weapons, since Russia has fallen, are being smuggled into L.A. on 
ships and are coming up through Mexico, getting to the gang mem
bers. Fully automatic weapons were illegal since 1934, without get
ting a permit to have one. 

It did not stop them from getting these automatic weapons. He 
was a very honest police officer and he was saying that. When I 
was over at Barcelona last summer, I was told I could go to Poland 
and buy an AK-47 fully automatic for $250, because the Russian 
soldiers are going back to Russia, they had no money and they had 
no jobs, they were selling them. These guns go in the black market 
into the hands of the criminal, just like the drugs do. 

Senator DECONCINI. I saw them for sale in--
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Mr. CORBIN. That is why 1 say, Senator, I am sick l;ll1d tired of 
the law-abiding people being punished for actions of the criminal 
and it is not right. 

Senator DECONCINI. Mr. Corbin, nobody is punishing them here. 
What some of us are trying to do-you know, I'm on record as 
being the legislator of the month of your fine organization when I 
was in their good graces and having their support-

Mr. CORBIN. That was our fault that you got out of our good 
graces. I apologize for our previous person who was there for allow
ing that. 

Senator DECONCINI. I know that Attorney General Meese con
vinced your organization to try the plastic gun, and because there 
was resistance on it, and he told me that. I discussed it at great .~ 
length and, quite frankly, it would not have happened, if Attorney 
General Meese in his opinion didn't convince the NRA to try it. 

Now, I do not know that it has worked, but my point is, why 
doesn't the NRA sometimes take a little risk with that constitu
tional amendment, because, as you say, no amendment is inviolate? 
They are all subject to reasonable restrictions. So for a 3-year re
striction on 14 guns, it is confusing to me why your organization 
would not say, "We will try it," and it is grandfathered, as you 
know, and sunsetted, so that in 3 years it has to be repassed. It just 
is not an automatic ban forever. 

Mr. CORBIN. Let me answer this way, Senator. You brought up 
the plastic gun issue. Yes, we drafted a bill banning the pure auto
matic weapon that passed. 

Senator DECONCINI. Yes, but only after Mr. Meese-
Mr. CORBIN. Because there isn't any such thing as an all-plastic 

gun. The technology isr.'t there and it is not even in the foreseeable 
future. What you were';alking about was a glock, which is 60 per
cent metal and would certainly reflect on any metal detector or 
any x-ray machine at an airport. We drafted the bill, because we 
knew there wasn't any such thing as a pure plastic glock, the great 
terrorist weapon. I think the Washington, DC police department 
just went to the terrorie>t weapon, the glock. Most of the police de
partments go to it. 

Senator DECONCINI. That is not my point. That is not my point, 
Mr. Corbin. 

Mr. CORBIN. I understand, why don't-
Senator DECONCINI. My point is that, as General Meese, a 

member of the NRA, well respected--
Mr. CORBIN. I have talked to Mr. Meese, yes. 
Senator DECONCINI. I know you know him, and I know him, too, 

and he told me years ago when he was AttornE'Y General that he 
took credit by convincing the NRA not to oppose that, and I am 
glad they did it. I mean it demonstrated to me that the NRA is not 
tmcompromising, but here they don't want to compromise. 

Mr. CORBIN. Well, it is like--
Senator DECONCINI. Piercing bullets, the same kind of problem 

we have had. 
Mr. CORBIN. Senator, you know why we oppose that armor-pierc

ing bullet. They are 85 percent of the hunting ammunition. That 
first bill was a backdoor approach by Congress to ban the ammuni
tion, so people would not have ammunition to shoot. We drafted 
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the bill banning the pure armor-piercing bullet. We are the ones 
who drafted it. We fought the first one to ban the hundgun ammu
nition. 

Senator DECONCINI. Yes, and then your statement here that any 
honest police chief would not support banning these weapons or 
something to that effect, when you know, every police organization 
in the United States supports--

Mr. CORBIN. No, they do not, Senator, just a few of the political 
ones do. But you go to the rank and file-we have polled the rank 
and file ourselves with studies and polls, and we fmd that most of 
the police officers, 80-some percent of them support us, except 
police chiefs are political who do not support us, who are subject to 
their city councils. 

Senator DECONCINI. Is the Fraternal Order of Police purely polit-
ical? 

Mr. CORBIN. You bet. 
Senator DECONCINI. They don't represent-
Mr. CORBIN. Their leadership. 
Senator DECONCINI. They don't represent their organizations, or 

the Sheriffs Association. 
Mr. CORBIN. No, just like the ABA. Do you think the ABA repre

sents me? 
Senator DECONCINI. Well, I will tell you, the ABA is a group that 

maybe you belong to. I do. 
Mr. CORBIN. No, I don't, because they are too liberal for me. I 

resigned. 
Senator DECONCINI. Well, I belong to them and, just like many 

police officers belong to the Fraternal Order of Police or the Na
tional Association of Police Officers, organizations that represent 
hundreds of thousands of police officers, they come and testify that 
it is worth taking the chance. 

Mr. CORBIN. No, just a few of the leadership come to you, sir, not 
the members. If you poll the membership, I think you might find a 
different answer. 

Senator DECONCINI. I have talked to a lot of members, a lot of 
members right in this State, and they seem to tell me that it is 
worth a chance. 

Mr. CORBIN. Yes, but--
Senator DECONCINI. And you listen to all the testimony here, all 

of these community based people, Kevin and Carlos, say yes, take 
the guns away and try it. Sure, we have got to have them, and isn't 
it--

Mr. CORBIN. Sure, take the guns away from the law-abiding, so 
the criminals have them. Is that what you are saying, sir? 

Senator DECONCINI. Well, it also takes it away from these poten
tial kids that are using them. 

Mr. CORDIN. Well, they are going to get the guns. Senator, you 
know that the Justice Department testified on the Brady bill that 
93 percent of the g-ans used in criminal activity are not purchased 
through dealers. So what is the Brady bill going to do? Your own 
Senate appropriated $100,000 last year to get the criminal records 
in this country up to 80 percent up to date. Our criminal records 
aren't even 80 percent up to date in this country. 
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Senator DECONCINI. Yes, but you are begging the issue. The issue 
here is what is the constitutional risk to the law-abiding citizen, if 
you impose a 3-year hiatus and ban these guns and grandfather 
every legal gun now that is in existence? Why would the NRA take 
such a position, Mr. Corbin, that they would not take the chance, 
when you h~'.(~l· all the police organizations, you hear all the com
munity supporters here, you hear everybody except Mr. Romley, 
and I talked to him personally and he supports it, he says, all testi
fying that, yes, we should do that. 

Now, none of them say this is the answer, nor, as you admit and 
I admit, I do not know if it will work. But isn't it worth a chance? 
Your answer is no. 

Mr. CORBIN. I don't think it will. 
Senator DECONCINI. Isn't it worth a chance? 
Mr. CORBIN. No, because if it doesn't work, Senator, you will 

come back and want something else more tougher to try to get it 
work. If that doesn't work, you will come back for something else 
more tougher. 

You know, we have a second amendment. I don't think you play 
around with any of the amendments. I firmly believe in the amend
ments. I have heard people talk as you have, too, I am sure, after 
the doctor was shot down in Florida about a demonstration on the 
abortion issue, that we should do away with this, people can't dem
onstrate, do away with the first amendment right. I disagree with 
that. 

The same way I have heard people talk about dealing with the 
drug problem, police ought to be able to walk into your house on 
mere suspicions, without--

Senator DECONCINI. No, nofuody is suggesting that. 
Mr. CORBIN. But you hear that, Senator. 
Senator DECONCINI. But you testified this morning that these 

should be reasonably regulated or altered. 
Mr. CORBIN. Sure, but they are talking about doing away with 

the-and even you have a bill in front of Congress to do away with 
the second amendment. 

Senator DECONCINI. Well, this Senator is not part of that--
Mr. CORBIN. No, it is just the same old thing, it won't work and 

then you will say we need something tougher, we need to deal with 
this problem, let's make tougher laws on taking away guns. It will 
not work. Pretty soon, we have lost the second amendment. 

Senator DECONCINI. But you have no confidence in Senators that 
have supported you in the past and no confidence in Senators that 
you have supported in the past, like Lloyd Bentsen, like David 
Boren, like Harry Reid, like Bennett Johnston, like Sam N unn, 
like Dennis DeConcini, just to mention a few who supported for 
that assault bill, and they felt it was worth taking a chance. Jay 
Rockefeller, one of your star players, voted for that. They thought 
it was worth taking a chance, and now the NRA has got them all 
on their hit list politically. 

Mr. CORBIN. You bet. 
Senator DECONCINI. I think that is really unfortunate. 
Mr. CORBIN. Well, Senator, we are fighting for the second amend

ment, just like the media fights for the first amendment, and we 
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have a right to do whatever we think is right to protect that second 
amendment. 

Senator DECONCINI. Oh, I don't question the right. I don't ques
tion the right. Never do I question the right, nor do I question the 
right of the media to fight to protect the first amendment. 

Mr. Arpaio, in your experience with gangs and guns, are you 
finding more guns accessible to the gangs here, or is it as bad as we 
hear that they are just every place and available. The police officer 
in Tucson says it is almost like ice cream. 

Mr. ARPAIO. Well, we are not L.A. yet, but we are getting close. 
Senator DECONCINI. Are your officers equipped with comparable 

weapons as some of these gangs indicate that we had right here 
AK's and MACK-IO's? 

Mr. ARPAIO. Well, we carry the glock and a .357. 
Senator DECONCINI. Is that comparable to a MACK-10 or an 

AK-47? 
Mr. ARPAIO. No; I have a concern. You know, I worked the South 

Side of Chicago as an undercover agent for 5 years. I was a Wash
ington, DC, patrolman in a black neighborhood. And I have been 
kidnapped and shot at overseas and iu Washington, DC, 9 times in 
the back of my head, and a .9 mm, fortunately, is a bad shot. And 
he only got 3 years for assaulting a Federal officer. 

I do agree with your bill, maybe we should take on 10 years man
datory for anyone who uses a gun in the commission of a crime. 
But I am concerned. I have mixed emotions. Bob Corbin is a dear 
friend of mine. I have known Bob for many, many years. He has a 
nice family. I have known you, Senator, and it is a tough call. I am 
angry. We are at war on the streets. Anything that can be done 
to-

Senator DECONCINI. Well, you were at the press conference an
nouncing the bill. You obviously think it is worth a try. I don't 
know if it will work, I really don't. I wish I could tell anybody, you 
know, you do this and it is going to work. That is why I put in the 
grandfather clause, really at the suggestion of the NRA. 

Mr. ARPAIO. Well, I am a member of the NRA, I just renewed my 
membership last week, $25. But I will do anything, anything. I am 
the county sheriff and my jurisdiction is everywhere, including 
Phoenix. 

Senator DECONCINI. Well, like Chief Garret and like Chief Hekee 
down in Tucson, you are concerned about your officers getting 
killed with these semi-automatic weapons. 

Mr. ARPAIO. I am also concerned about the citizens. I took an 
oath to protect and preserve the peace. It is a tough call. Anything 
that can be done, take a chance to see what we can do to reduce 
this vicious crime and drug problem. Of course, drugs and guns go 
hand in hand. But I sure like that mandatory law. If we can just 
get that mandatory law and throw them in jail for 10 years and 
throw the key away, with no probation, no parole, I think that is 
what we need. 

Yes, I have to say that I do support your bill. I said that before 
and I will say it again, let's give it a shot and maybe I can convince 
Bob of a 3-year shot. 

Senator DECONCINI. Would you, please? I have tried for a couple 
of years. 
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Mr. Corbin, a last question. I don't know the answer to this, so it 
is not a setup. Did the NRA support the city ordinances that we 
talked about here? 

Mr. CORBIN. No, sir, and the reason was the media is typical, so 
anti-gun, never tells the truth in most instances, particularly back 
East. Arizona in 1983 passed a preemption statute in the gun area, 
representative English. It was passed and signed into law by the 
then governor. What that preemption bill said was that no lesser 
government, meaning cities, can pass any ordinances dealing with 
the possession, transportation, registration, sale, et cetera, of carry
ing of weapons. 

Now, that was a law that was on the books. We expect the cities 
to obey the law like they expect us to obey the law, so, consequent
ly, when they did, we challenged it on the basis of preemption. We 
don't believe that kids should run around with guns. That is why 
weare-

Senator DECONCINI. And what happened was the lawsuit? 
Mr. CORBIN. Well, I thought we won it over in Tempe, with 

saying that they tried to tie it in under the whole of downtown 
Tempe. The judge initially ruled-and I haven't heard the rest of 
it-that that was as violation of the State preemption statute. The 
City of Phoenix, the judge upheld their ordinance, saying it was 
not a violation of the preemption statute. To me, it was sort of a 
political decision, and we have it on appeal. But I think it is all 
preempted now by the new law that was just passed, the new legis
lative law. I think it is all preempted and made moot. 

But that is why we attacked it. It wasn't that we believe kids 
should run around with guns. 

Senator DECONCINI. No, of course not. 
Mr. CORBIN. We have a law on the books that say they are pre

empted from passing it. Now, we have the right to go to court to 
challenge something we think is illegal, and we are going to contin
ue. 

Senator DECONCINI. I don't ever question your right. 
Mr. CORBIN. No, that is what happened on it, Senator. But you 

never know from the media. 
Senator DECONCINI. I just wondered what the position was. We 

talked about the FOP being a political organization and their mem
bers being for or against the assault weapons bill. 

Mr. CORBIN. Dewey Stokes? 
Senator DECONCINI. Dewey Stokes came out in support of the 

bill, as you know--
Mr. CORBIN. Oh, yes, he would. 
Senator DECONCINI [continuing]. And in his last election, the 

NRA tried very hard to defeat him and he was overwhelmingly re
elected. 

Mr. CORBIN. Unfortunately, we didn't start soon enough. That 
was our problem. 

Senator DECONCINI. He is one of the outstanding police officers 
in the United States, in this Senator's judgment. 

Thank you, gentlemen, very much. I appreciate your testimony. 
I would like to thank Phoenix College for the use of this facility, 

Bears Den. I would like especially to thank B.J. Booley for her 
help, and Merna Harrison, president of Phoenix College, for per-

- --~-~-----~---------' 
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mitting us to use these facilities. I also want to thank Senator 
Kohl, who is the Chairman of the Juvenile Justice Committee, for 
permitting the hearing to be held today in Phoenix, AZ. And I 
thank Dennis Burke. 

The committee will stand in recess. 
[Whereupon, at 12:18 p.m., the subcommittee Waf! adjourned.] 
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OPENING STATEMENT OF HON. DENNIS DeCONCINI, A U.S. 
SENATOR FROM THE STATE OF ARIZONA 

Senator DECONCINI. Ladies and gentlemen, may I have your at
tention, please? May I have your attention, please? Ladies and gen
tlemen, the Senate Judiciary Committee, the Subcommittee on Ju
venile Justice, which is headed by Senator Kohl, has authorized 
these hearings this morning in Tucson and yesterday in Phoenix to 
explore the disturbing issue of youth violence. 

Our children are growing up in an environment dominated by vi
olence. It pervades their lives. It is in their homes, their schools, 
and their playgrounds. There seems to be no escape from it. Look 
at what they are watching on TV. By the time the average child 
graduates from elementary school, she or he will have witnessed 
8,000 murders and more than 100,000 other assorted acts of vio
lence just on television alone. 

The schools seem to be no better. About one out of every five 
high school students in the United States now carries a firearm, a 
knife, or a club to school on a regular basis, and the results, nearly 
3 million crimes, occur on or near our school campuses each year. 
That is one every 6 seconds. 

The street violence that is glorified on television is now day-to
day reality for our children. Just read the papers every morning. 
Gangs, drugs, random murders have become the staples of our chil
dren's lives. Every major city in this country is facing a deadly 
gang problem that is the subculture that has kidnapped our chil
dren's generation. 

Dispute resolutions involve a gun tode.y, and drive-by shootings 
with teen-agers brandishing assault weapons or semiautomatic 

-I weapons are all too common occurrences. 
We can no longer accept the violence as part of our culture. Kids 

are afraid, teachers are afraid, parents are afraid, citizens are 
afraid. It is time to get at the root of this deadly problem, if we 
can. We have a very serious problem that does not have only one 
solution, but to go forward with a plan of action, we have to ask 

(107) 
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ourselves some real hard questions and get some answers that may 
be uncomfortable. 

How did we get here? What are we going to do about it? What 
works and what doesn't work? And where do we go from here? 

I hope to have some answers to these questions today from the 
panel that we have. It is a problem that deserves the utmost atten
tion and the greatest dedication, and we each have a role in this 
effort. Law enforcement does, legislators, courts, community lead
ers, local government, parents, counselors, and on and on. 

I look forward to today's hearing. I don't come here with an 
answer from Washington. I come here seeking an answer that 
maybe Washington can help. 

This morning we have a very crowded and prestigious system of 
panels, so we are going to ask our first panel if they would please 
come forward: Mayor Miller, Supervisor Grijalva, Supervisor Eck
strom, Councilwoman McKasson, and Councilman Wheeler. 

Now, there are many other distinguished experts here today. • 
Some were in the town meeting last night that we had at Pueblo 
Center. The public is here, as I know, and we welcome them here. 
We have forms for any statements that you might want to give. We 
will not have time for an open microphone. We have elected offi-
cials, law enforcement, community organizations, and a youth 
panel-young people who are or were former gang members. I see 
we have Steve Leal instead of Bruce Wheeler. 

Mr. WHEELER. I am here. 
Senator DECONCINI. Well, Bruce, come on up. Find another chair. 

Thank you. 
Mr. Leal, the reason you weren't on here is we couldn't have ev

erybody. It was impossible to do that. It is no easy task, I can 
assure you. Thank you. 

We will start with Mayor MILLER. 

PANEL CONSISTING OF GEORGE MILLER, MAYOR, TUCSON, AZ; 
RAUL GRIJAL VA, SUPERVISOR; MOLLY McKASSON, COUNCIL
WOMAN; DAN ECKSTROM, SUPERVISOR; BRUCE WHEELER, 
COUNCILMAN; AND STEVE LEAL, COUNCILMAN 

STATEMENT OF GEORGE MILLER 

Mayor MILLER. Senator DeConcini, I want to thank you very 
much for holding this hearing here today in Tucson. Certainly the 
problem that you have just outlined is one that is so very serious. 
The City of Tucson Government has been involved with the schools 
for the most obvious reasons: the problem needs to be addressed in 
a manner that takes in the whole community. 

The increase in youth violence across the country can be attrib
uted to a long list of factors which have been identified, categories, 
and prioritized in an endless variety of combinations. The question 
that remains is always the same: What can we do? 

I believe we must do everything possible. Every day it becomes 
more apparent that the well-being of our citizenry and our democ
racy are at stake. In reality, there are numerous approaches to cur
tailing youth violence. Many are geared toward gun control, am
munition control, suppression of drug traffic, both domestic and 
foreign. These efforts are absolutely worthy of widespread support. 
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While there is much to do in the way of repair, the pattern of 
violence will continue unless we are willing to take responsibility 
for preventing the destruction, misery, and death that is growing 
everywhere in America today. I believe that the avenue preventing 
violence offers the most positive and constructive results. With this 
in mind, the following remarks will be limited to recent efforts that 
we have accomplished here in the Tucson area. 

In May 1992, the Pima County Interfaith Council met with the 
City of Tucson's mayor and council to discuss concerns related to 
children and families. As an outcome of this meeting, the mayor 
and council directed city staff to prepare a working paper that in
cluded a needed assessment and a summary of community con
cerns. 

In addition, I appointed an ad-hoc committee to develop a child
family strategic plan to review the working paper and identify and 
prioritize services relating to children and families. Members of 
this committee include representatives from community organiza
tions, agencies, educational institutions, and government. 

The Ad Hoc Committee for a child-family strategic plan identi
fied five overall goals as follows: rehabilitation of homes in the 
target areas, summer youth employment, summer and after-school 
programs for children and youth; a health plan for Pima County, 
and joint lobbying for the State legislature. 

A strategy team consisting of members of the ad hoc committee 
formed subcommittees and are working with staff to address these 
goals. Although the strategic plan is not yet complete, the City of 
Tucson is looking forward to having a comprehensive plan that will 
address the needs of children and families to make Tucson a child
and family-friendly city. 

A VOICE FROM AUDIENCE. Everybody should carry a camera-
Senator DECONCINI. Please. Please sit down. This is a public 

meeting. 
A VOICE FROM AUDIENCE. No, no. Everybody should carry a 

camera and take a picture of whoever threatens you and your life. 
Senator DECONCINI. Please sit down. We will conduct this in an 

orderly manner. . 
A VOICE FROM AUDIENCE. No, you erase some of that tape, Mr. 

Miller--
Senator DECONCINI. No, please. You are out of order. Please. 
A VOICE FROM AUDIENCE. No, and you, my man, I just find-these 

are petitions. 
Senator DECONCINI. Please. 
A VOICE FROM AUDIENCE. I am sorry. Thank you. 
Senator DECONCINI. Thank you very much. 
A VOICE FROM AUDIENCE. But I just want you to know, everybody 

should carry a camera, especially kids at school. 
Senator DECONCINI. Excuse us, Mayor Miller, for the interrup

tion. You may proceed. 
Mayor MILLER. In many cities across the Nation, summer em

ployment for youth is a major issue. Youth employment provides a 
positive outlet for the energy and talent of young people. It func
tions to prevent violence by offering an alternative to idleness, 
boredom, and frustration. In Tucson, over 2,300 youth have applied 
for such summer employment. President Clinton's economic stimu-



110 

Ius plan would have funded many of these jobs and also assisted in 
the provision of the summer youth program and the rehabilitation 
of facilities that offer year-round youth programs. With the loss of 
the stimulus package, only 500 youth will be employed through 
Federal funding. 

Pima County has been urging the private sector to help provide 
the funding for better yet actual jobs at the cost of approximately 
$800 to $850 a month per job. This pledge-a-job program has been 
modestly successful. Fewer than 100 jobs, however, have been 
pledged. The pledge-a-job program is of special importance because 
it can employ youth who are ineligible for federally funded jobs be
cause their family income does not fall within the poverty level 
guidelines. The PCIC is actively involved in publicity and recruit
ment to expand the pledge-a-job program. 

Despite severe budget restraints, the Mayor and Council has allo
cated city funds to underwrite 50 additional jobs for youth. We are 
painfully aware of the serious gap that still exists between what is 
needed and what is available. Next Monday, Senator, we have on 
the agenda a chance again for the Council to discuss this particular 
problem, and hopefully we will be able to add approximately 75 
more jobs by borrowing some money from next year to make sure 
that summer jobs start July 1st. 

The City of Tucson's Kid Co. Program, which is handled by the 
Parks and Recreation Department, serves children kinder age 
through 12 years free of charge at 22 summer sites. This recre
ational program administered by the Parks and Recreation Depart
ment is at first glance a wonderful effort on behalf of the health, 
welfare, safety, and enjoyment of our children. At second glance, 
we may view it as a powerful violence-prevention program because 
it engages children in positive activities which highlight and reflect 
their interests under supervision of sheitered environments. 

The Mayor's strategy team identified the need for additional Kid 
Co. sites and longer hours of operation. Eight more sites will be 
added this summer, and service will increase from 3 hours to 6 
hours. Between 80 and 100 children are served at each site, but the 
demand continues to increase. 

In addition, Kid Co. is administered as an after-school proJram 
at 20 schools, an increase of 8 sites over last year. It has been ex
panded to 40 weeks, up from 28, and operates until 6 p.m. The 
reason for this expansion, both summer and after school, is due to 
the City Council's allocating from its budget, within its own budget, 
$500,000 to expand the program. 

The question of juvenile justice and youth violence does not yield 
to any easy answers but requires steadfast commitment on many 
fronts and at every level to halt the despair that is accumulated. 
The search for responses that focus on violence prevention is but 
one critical piece of the puzzle we must fit into its place. 

Given the constraints, we are making every effort to act on the 
overall goals identified by the child-family-friendly strategic plan. 
We can do a lot more, of course. We need a greater commitment 
also from the Federal Government to help us in this area. 

Senator thank you v~ry much again. 
Senator DECoNCINI. Mayor Miller, thank you very much. 
Supervisor Grijalva? 

.. 

• 



.. 

111 

STATEMENT OF RAUL GRIJAL VA 

Mr. GRIJALVA. Thank you very much. I appreciate the opportuni
ty, Senator. I appreciate this hearing very much in the community. 
It is a pressing issue that many times the community and those of 
us in public office don't have the time to reflect on but rather react 
to it. And I think this is an opportunity for us to--

Senator DECONCINI. Excuse me. Would you pull that microphone 
closer? She is not picking it up here. Thank you. 

Mr. GRIJALVA. As I was saying, we don't have a chance to reflect 
and to plan about this issue. We have more of an opportunity, all 
of us in elected office, to react to it and to what do we do as a 
result of a crisis as opposed to what do we do to make this commu
nity better and to deal with young people as human beings with 
this issue. 

One of the things I didn't want to do in my testimony to you, sir, 
is to talk about the problem. I think we spend so much time in this 
community and a national level discussing, defining, identifying 
the problem, when in reality everybody knows what the problem is. 
The problem is that we have a situation in our society where 
people are disenfranchised, whether they be young, old, poor, 
where people feel a lack of place and value in this society. And I 
think the National Government and the Federal Government has a 
real role in beginning to address that issue, that issue of disenfran
chisement and disenchantment we have in the community. 

So let me briefly outline for you what I think Government can 
do. First of all, to begin with the premise that Government has not 
done enough, a lot of people, particularly in the tenor of the times, 
say that Government cannot be all things to all people. But Gov
ernment, at the local level, at the State level and at the Federal 
level, has an obligation to make this society better. And I think in 
this sense we have dropped the ball, both locally and at a national 
level, in not doing enough to address this problem. 

I don't think we have done enough simply because youth, the 
issue of poverty, and the issue of children and families have not 
been a priority when we set how we are going to spend our money 
and how we are going to use our revenues, both at this level and at 
the Federal level. I think that is the first thing that has to do with 
the consequence of what is going on in this society, with violence, 
with young people, and with our communities in general, that we 
need to make kids, young people, and children a priority. By 
making them a priority, we begin to address the fundamental prob
lem that we all know exists. 

I think at the Federal level one of the things that I would hope 
that you consider in your presentation to your colleagues at the 
Senate level and to President Clinton would be that the approach 
to youth violence and the approach to the problems that we are 
having in our communities with violence, with gang affiliation, 
whatever it might be, requires a comprehensive approach. It 
cannot be done piecemeal. You cannot address this part of the 
problem, you cannot address that part of the problem. It has to be 
a comprehensive approach, and in outlining what I think that com
prehensive package is, just let me go over the points, if I may. 
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That comprehensive agenda, that plan of action at a national 
level and a local level, involves, I think, some very key ingredients. 
An unpopular word in the Western States and an unpopular word 
many times in this community is the issue of some control over the 
availability of and the access to guns in this community. I think 
that both at a local level and a national level has to be explored 
and explored seriously. 

The availability of deadly weapons to anybody from 9 years old 
and on is not a healthy sign for this community. It is not a consti
tutional issue as much as it is a community issue that needs to be 
controlled, and we have to have some control over that availability. 
Whether that is Federal legislation, local legislation, we need to 
begin to take those steps. The City Council has begun at this level. 
The introduction of your bill on assault rifles is a good, positive 
step, but that control, that access and availability of guns in this 
community has to be a priority issue, and it must be addressed. 
Unpopular and uncomfortable as it might be, particularly to the 
lobbying efforts of major organizations like the NRA, we still need 
to address it because it is affecting the quality of life and it is a 
major contributing factor to the violence that we see around us. 

The other issue is law enforcement. I think the approach of com
munity-based partnerships, with the community and law enforce
ment, in setting up a community-based appl.'"oach to policing, to 
neighborhood protection, and to the reduction of violence is a very 
important issue, and that partnership needs to be strengthened 
and built upon. 

You are going to begin to address the issue of violence in our 
community by working in partnership with law enforcement and 
law enforcement working in partnership with the community. I 
think that we need start-up grants, we need demonstration 
projects, we need pilot projects to be set up here in Tucson where 
the community and law enforcement can show that they can work 
together and they can demonstrate that that, indeed, reduces vio
lence and that, above all, it creates a healthier climate in our com
munities. 

The other issue that is part of this comprehensive agenda is edu
cation. The state of our public schools is such that I think at the 
Federal level we need a major infusion of Federal money into our 
local schools to begin to reduce class size, adequately compensate 
teachers, begin the kinds of innovative programs that we need in 
our middle schools and high schools and elementary schools. 

Public education is in the State, and everybody complains about 
the public schools not doing their job. I think public schools can do 
their job a lot better given back-not more, just given back the re
sources they were denied for 8 years under previous administra
tions. That reduction in Federal support for public education, there 
is a direct correlation with overcrowded classrooms, lack of ade
quate classes, addressing the individual needs of students, proper 
counseling, proper work experience at the school level. When we 
lost those, there is a correlation with the escalation of disenfran
chisement, disorientation on the part of young people and leaving 
school and dropping out. 

So we need the Federal Government to step back up and say 
public education is a priority, we are going to fund it, and we are 
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going to begin to take care of that priority. That is part of the com
prehensive package as well. 

The other issue is recreation. At a local level and a State level, 
we need to begin to address the need for recreational opportunities, 
recreational facilities, and those kinds of things that young people 
can go to, participate in, and feel that it is a healthy, necessary 
part of our community life. So recreation is an issue. 

The issue of employment I think is very important. The job stim
ulus bill that the Mayor already addressed is an important agenda. 
Young people need to be able to work, earn part of their living, 
have a sense of responsibility in place, and that comes from a pay
check, and that comes from the ability to say, "I earned this money 
and it was part of my job." That is responsibility, and that comes 
from jobs, and that comes from us offering at a local level and a 
national level full opportunity for young people to work and have 
quality work experiences. That is part of discipline, that is part of 
values, and that is part of the American way of life. We all deserve 
an opportunity, and we all deserve a job. I think youth employ
ment is a major issue. 

The other issue is the empowerment issue. I think too many 
times we speak at young people and not listen and participate in 
the discussions with them. There has to be programs at the Federal 
level that bring young people into the discussion, allows them to be 
part of the planning, allows them to feel empowered, and allows 
them to feel respected. 

One of the things in alienation I have always felt is if you don't 
feel respected and you don't feel valued and you don't feel like you 
are a necessary cog in the decision that is being made about your 
life, then you step away from it, and you find somewhere else to 
get the value, to get the respect, and to get the understanding. We 
need to have programs designed at the Federal level and at the 
local level that address the issue of empowerment and the issue of 
value for young people. 

The other thing is money. I hate to be blunt about it, but one of 
the situations we all face at a local level-and I know you confront 
it at a national level-is the lack of money and resources to start 
innovative programs, to fund organizations that need that seed 
money in order to work with young people, to fund those youth 
groups, to fund education, to fund employment. So as in anything, 
this is going to cost. A comprehensive approach to dealing with the 
issue of youth violence, youth alienation, and gang affiliation is not 
as simple as wringing our hands about it. It is going to cost money 
to solve it. 

I would hope that this administration and Congress understands 
that a stimulus bill on jobs and a comprehensive approach to deal
ing with the issues of young people, not just violence, not just gang 
affiliation, but the issue of young people is going to cost money, 
and that it is a wise and necessary investment for this country to 
make right now. 

The money we don't spend right now on education, on young 
people, on counseling, on employment, is money we are going to 
pay later for the kinds of dark sides of society-prison, increased 
policing activities, and increased cost to this whole society. 
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So my presentation to you, Senator, invdves what Congress can 
do and what we at the local level can do, and that is going to in
volve us working together to try to stimulate and bring into this 
community the kind of revenue and resources of money that are 
going to help us put these programs together. 

I again want to say that I appreciate your having this hearing, 
inviting me to participate in it, and I am prepared to answer any 
questions after the other presentations. Thank you, sir. 

Senator DECONCINI. Thank you, Supervisor. 
Councilwoman McKasson? 

STATEMENT OF MOLLY McKASSON 

Ms. McKAssoN. Thank you very much. I appreciate your holding 
this forum this morning. Shortly after I was elected, I received 
something in the mail that I would like to read to you this morn
ing: 

"In 1988, handguns killed 7 people in Great Britain, 19 people in 
Sweden, 53 people in Switzerland, 25 people in Israel, 13 people in 
Australia, 8 people in Canada, and 8,915 people in the United 
States." The statement ends with, "God Bless America." 

We have a pied piper in this country. Senator, you mentioned 
that our children were being stolen from us. Indeed, they are. Our 
children are being stolen from us by violence-violence of all sorts, 
violence of poverty, violence of handguns, violence of lack of re
spect for other people, their cultures, their values, their ideas. 

I think each of us is gathered in this room this morning to con
sider not what government necessarily can do about this, but what 
innovative thinking, what innovative, heartfelt thought are we 
going to have to solve these problems, to stem violence in our own 
families, to stem violence in our churches, our synagogues and our 
community, in our Government at all levels, and to nurture respect 
for a multicultural democracy that is suffering from thousands and 
thousands of juveniles dying in this country by violence. 

Every day 14 children under the age of 18 are killed by guns. 
Hundreds more lose a limb, are blinded, or will spend the rest' of 
their lives in wheelchairs. We must develop a two-pronged ap
proach to end this violence. The first is getting rid of guns on the 
street, and the second is to support families and their children with 
preventive programs. 

We must ban the manufacture and use of all automatic weapons, 
an idea first suggested by Forbes Magazine. We must pass stricter 
punishment for persons who sell guns to minors. We must mount a 
massive educational campaign teaching children about the dangers 
of guns, much like the STAR Program, Straight Talk About Risks, 
developed by the Center to Prevent Handgun Violence. 

We must allow cities faced with increased juvenile violence home 
rule so they can pass appropriate laws to end the violence in their 
own communities. 

Until 6 weeks ago, juveniles, 9-year-olds, 8-year-olds in this com
munity and all over the State were allowed to carry weapons as 
long as they were not concealed. The problem has been revealed to 
us. 

.. 

• 
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Several Arizona cities, including Tucson, passed more restrictive 
ordinances. The State responded with a new law that limits the 
carrying of guns by juveniles and also limits the cities in creating 
stronger laws. The new juvenile gun law is better, but it doesn't go 
far enough. It states that juveniles under 14 cannot carry guns 
unless they are with a parent, guardian, or rifle instructor. Teens 
between the ages of 14 and 18 call carry weapons if they are on 
their way hunting or on their way to target practice between the 
hours of 5 a.m. and 10 p.m.. . 

Many Tucsonians feel this is a huge loophole, Senator. The new 
State law is very clear that cities cannot pass more restrictive leg
islation. 

Recently in Tucson, 14-year-old Andrea Munoz went to visit a 
friend. The friend got his mother's gun from underneath the sofa 
and shot her in the head. He was arrested and has been under a 
suicide watch ever since. Her father, a dentist in our community, 
her mother and two brothers are a devastated family. 

A 68-year-old grandmother was killed while sitting inside her 
home playing bridge with friends, shot by a passing car. Her grand
children will never know her. 

A 38-year-old woman was held up by three boys. Two of them 
were students at Rincon High, a 15-year-old and a 14-year-old. She 
was shot and killed for her car. 

These are now everyday occurrences in this community and all 
over this country. It is shocking. It is shocking. All of us should be 
so shocked that we should take immediate action. 

We need to reclaim our cities. We need to take the guns out of 
our children's hands. We need leadership on the Federal level, Sen
ator, and I am so glad that you have stepped forward. You have my 
100 percent support and the support of everyone that I have 
spoken to in this community. 

We need leadership to regain the domestic tranquility that will 
protect our democracy and ensure its continued well-being. 

The second prong is a preventive approach. The mayor and Su
pervisor Grijalva have addressed this very well. We must educate 
all our children about the dangers of guns. The Center to Prevent 
Handgun Violence has developed a program to teach children that 
carrying guns and using guns will not solve their problems. 
Straight Talk About Risk, the STAR Program, is a bilingual cur
riculum for kindergarten through 12th graders designed to reduce 
gun-related injuries and deaths among our young people. 

STAR helps students develop skills in resolving conflicts nonvio
lently, resisting peer pressure, channeling their anger constructive
ly, distinguishing between violence in the media and violence in 
real life, and respecting each other's culture and ideas. 

We need to help parents limit the amount of violence their chil
dren are exposed to by eliminating violent shows on television be
tween the hours of 3 p.m. and 8 p.m. We need jobs for our youth 
through JTP A funding and other innovative programs that are 
open to all kids. We need programs that teach young people to 
work together and feel proud of who they are and part of a larger 
community. 

We can't achieve this without having teens work together and 
play together from all parts of our community. The Federal Gov-
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ernment should establish a Youth Conservation Corps that gets 
kids into the desert and the mountains working on trails, picking 
up trash, working with young people from all backgrounds to make 
a better democracy. 

We need job programs in this city where teens can help the el
derly, work with city landscapers, learn how to be future active 
participants. Our young people need to feel that they contribute to 
the community in which they live. 

Finally, we do need an increased amount of public money invest
ed in young people. According to economist Sylvia Hewett, a mere 
4.8 percent of the Federal budget goes to programs that support 
families with young children. This should be unacceptable. Educa
tion and youth programs should be the primary targets for new 
public spending on the Federal level, as well as the local level. 

Finally, the three short-term things that I think the Federal 
Government could do to help stop juvenile violence would be ban
ning the manufacture and sale immediately of automatic weapons 
in the United States. Second, ban juveniles from carrying guns 
unless with a parent, guardian, or licensed rifle instructor and in
volved in a legitimate pursuit of hunting or target practice. Final
ly, spending more money to help build stronger families. That 
means spending money perhaps on an industrial policy in this 
country and creating jobs that help children grow up in families 
that are safer and more self-sufficient. 

In the long term, local and Federal Government officials must 
work together, and that is why we are here today: to change the 
bloodied face of this Nation that we all love so much to one of 
p~ace and respect. 

Thank you very much. 
Senator DECONCINI. Thank you, councilwoman. [Applause.] 
Our next panelist is the former chairman of the board of supervi

sors and former mayor and city council of South Tucson, Supervi
sor Eckstrom. Thank you for being with us. 

STATEMENT OF DAN ECKSTROM 

Mr. ECKSTROM. Thank you, Senator DeConcini, for being here. It 
is always a pleasure"to come back to Pueblo High School, a school 
where I graduated 28 years ago. The cafeteria looks the same. 
[Laughter.] 

You know, I have got to say I agree with many of the comments 
that have been made by the panelists heretofore, and I want to 
compliment all of them for bringing up some points that I believe 
need to be mentioned. Certainly I agree with the comments made 
by my colleague, Supervisor Grijalva. 

One of the things that I wanted to do today, Senator, is to say 
that while we hear many times a call for action, oftentimes we 
hear people talk about strategic plans, and we all know that plans 
take time. It takes dollars. 

Unfortunately, we are in a situation where we need action, and 
action requires commitment-commitment from all of us who are 
in this together, not only those of us who are elected to positions of 
responsibility, but all of us in this community, a joint partnership 

'. 
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between the private and the public sector, between adults, between 
youth, between everyone. 

We can sit here and give all the rhetoric we want, but it is going 
to require us to make some tough decisions. I feel somewhat disap
pointed and disillusioned today because I sit on a Board of Supervi
sors here in Pima County who, I believe, has a responsibility to 
serve the youth and children of our community. 

I am sorry to say that we haven't acted that way. We can ask the 
Federal Government, we can ask the State government for funds 
and resources, but I think we also at the local level have to be in a 
position to not be afraid to make a commitment to deal with prob
lems even if it requires something that those of us in elected office 
are deadly afraid of-raising taxes. I am not here to call for that; 
however, I think that is something that WI!!: have to look at. 

In January of 1993, Pima County experienced severe flooding. 
What did we do? We made our effort to go out and spend addition
al money. Automatically, $4 to $5 million was committed to a 
bridge that was going to be planned several years from now. Not 
too many months ago, we had a request to construct and spend 
$850,000 to build a noise wall up on Skyline Drive because people 
were concerned about the noise that it made in their community. 

I think local governments have to share in the responsibility, 
local governments have to commit their resources. Just like we can 
find money to deal with flood control and flooding problems, we 
have to find the money and the time and the attention to deal with 
issues that impact the youth and children of our community. [Ap
plause.] 

We have got to make tough decisions, and I am here to tell you, 
Senator, I am here to join with you and the rest of the members of 
this panel here to go back. I realize that times are tough. We have 
tried. But I think that we should leave here today with a resolve 
and a commitment to go forward. We talk about the number of jobs 
that we need to create here in this community. It is really sorry 
when you see 2,000 to 3,000 youngsters in our community who are 
unable to get a minimum-wage job because local government is not 
willing to commit dollars to fund these kinds of programs. 

Certainly we can talk about public and private sector involve
ment. Unfortunately, we have a job program called Pledge-a-Job, in 
which the private sector, while they have done their best, they 
have only pledged 110 jobs. We need to do better than that, and I 
have got to tell you that if the private sector is not going to step 
up, I think that it is government's responsibility. And I will contin
ue to ask that local government commit to the extent if we have to 
cut in other places. It is too important that our youth and our com
munity have the opportunity to work. 

We read in the newspapers where the police departments have 
said that during the summer months they are going to heighten 
their activity because we have many youth in our community who 
don't have things to do. I think one of the things that we can do in 
government to help stem the tide of those problems is to provide 
more job opportunities, and I will tell you today, Senator, that at 
our next board meeting, I will ask the Board of Supervisors to 
commit at least an additional half a million dollars for this 
summer. Whether or not we get the votes, that is a different story, 
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but I think we have to put our money where our mouth is and do 
what we have to do. 

I want to thank you, Senator, for allowing me to be here. [Ap
plause.] 

Senator DECONCINI. Thank you very much. 
The next speaker will be Councilman Wheeler. I understand, 

Mayor, you have another appointment. Thank you for being with 
us and showing your leadership. [Applause.] 

I appreciate the public's response to everybody's statement here. 
We have some time restraints, so maybe we can hold the applause 
until the end of the statement if we can. I know some very positive 
things are being said, and everybody likes those responses. But we 
have a lot of witnesses here that I am going to try to get through 
before noon. 

Councilman Wheeler? 

STATEMENT OF BRUCE WHEELER 

Mr. WHEELER. Thank you, Senator. I want to thank you again for 
the meeting that you held last night and again this morning. It is 
something that is sorely needed in this community. We have held 
numerous meetings, and I think one of the positive things that we 
have in Tucson, something that we are proud of, is that we have 
come together as a community. We have seen teachers and parents 
and elected officials, PTO's, social service agencies, and a very re
sponsible and sensitive police department participate in this effort. 
And so to see you call a meeting in which the Federal Government 
is going to look at our community and see what can be done about 
this problem nationwide I think is something to thank you for. 

We all are aware of your efforts to ban assault rifles, and that is 
certainly to be lauded. We are here because children are killing 
children in our community, and I would like to specifically address 
my comments, considering that so many wonderful comments have 
already been made and contributory comments by the people up 
here, to the fiscal matter. 

In the City of Tucson, with a budget of $525 million, we were 
able, through cuts and other ways, to come up with $2.5 million of 
money that would be allocated to youth services in different ways, 
recreation and including the hiring of 10 additional police officers 
in a year in which we are finding some very tough budgetary con
straints. 

I think that what would help is-we were counting very much on 
that Clinton stimulus money. That failed, but now where do we go 
from here? In fmding moneys on the local level to be able to meet 
these needs and these demands that are justly made of us, I think 
one of the things that hurts us the most is when the Federal and 
the State governments mandate services upon us and they don't 
give us the funds to provide those services with. 

We have cut from our own budget in the last two years $41 mil
lion. Since 1982, we have lost $84 million-this is the City of 
Tucson alone-in Federal moneys. In addition to that, we have had 
services upon services mandated upon us. 

I am not questioning the wisdom of those mandated services, but 
I certainly think that we need a tremendous amount of help in 
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meeting those services and those mandates with help from the Fed
eral Government. So I would suggest to you that one of the most 
important things for you to take back to your colleagues in the 
Senate is that effort of helping us in that way. I think it is a fair 
way. It is not way of leaning on the Federal Government and 
saying, "Give us more money." But it is a way of saying that by 
working together and identifying what services we are going to pro
vide, that you help us, you the Congress help us with all of those 
issues that we are working on. 

So much has been said that I am not going to repeat, and in the 
interest of time I would like to hear what some of the panelists, 
and particularly what some of the youth, the young women and the 
young men that are in the audience and that are at the edge of 
this effort, what they have to say, because I think a large part of 
our responsibility is to listen to them, but certainly jobs, jobs and 
more jobs, and education, and recreation. 

In Tucson, we face a real struggle in what kind of community we 
are going to be, not only on the issue of gangs R.nd drive-by shoot
ings and those challenges, but are we going to be a community in 
which we invest, invest in our youth, invest in our infrastructure, 
invest in our parks? Or are we going to be a community in which 
we are so afraid, as Dan Eckstrom said, to look at additional reve-
nues that we begin to decay? . 

Are we going to be a community in which school boards begin to 
close high schools down? Are we going to be a community in which 
city councils decide to let their parks deteriorate? 

No, I don't think so. And I think if we level with the public and 
we tell them what the choices are and we show them where we 
have made the cuts, I think they would go along with us in finding 
those additional revenues. I have spoken out on those. I don't think 
this is the forum for that, but the issue is that we need to find the 
revenues on a local and Federal level to meet our needs and 
become a thriving community in which we can take these kids and 
give them something with dignity and self-worth to do, rather than 
to find that escape in gangs. Gangs in not the place. 

Again, Senator, thank you very much for having this hearing. 
Senator DECONCINI. Thank you, Councilman. 
Councilman Leal, we did not have you on the schedule, but I 

would be more than happy to take a short statement. 

STATEMENT OF STEVE LEAL 

Mr. LEAL. Thank you, Senator. 
I think in the past people have either looked to solving the prob

lem by looking at the causes, other people leok at the effects, and 
we end up chasing our tail forever, because one without the other 
really doesn't work. 

I think that we are too prone to want to fund programs that 
have to do with the effects of problems and building-the continu
ous building of prisons and that kind of punitive expression on the 
part of society is the best example of that sort of wrong-headed ap
proach to dealing with these kinds of problems. 
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I think if funds are allocated that we need to lock in somehow 
that at least as much money goes into prevention as goes into deal
ing with the symptoms. That would at least be a good start. 

Some of the other things that I think the Federal Government 
could do-we are trying to do it locally-is the city has made stress 
maps. We have used census data, targeting some key variables, 
dropout rate, percent below the poverty level, ratio of owner-occu
pied to rental housing, et cetera. And so we have cultivated for our
selves a frame of reference so that when we allocate block grant 
moneys, when we think about where Park and Rec moneys go, we 
can choose wisely. We can be intelligent about it. 

We have built another column in the computer memory for the 
city so that we can track where the capital improvement budget 
goes, so that some parts of town don't get all the money and other 
parts don't get any. After a couple of decades of that, what do you 
have? You have got inner city decay. 

I support very much having funds come out of Washington to 
help pay for mandated services. Bruce touched on part of that. I 
think the other thing is that those services that have come to the 
city to pay for in the last decade have eaten $25 million out of our 
budget. 

I also think it makes sense that some of the money that is confis
cated by police from drug dealers be used to create programs like 
treatment on demand and other prevention programs. Those dol
lars came out of our communities. It would be good if they could 
come back into our communities, but in such a way that it helps 
undermine the very pernicious cycle of violence that is producing 
the crime in the first place. 

In the 1950's and 1960's, America spent almost 7 percent of its 
nonmilitary budget on soft and hard infrastructure. We were in
vesting in our Nation. That has shrunk in the last decade to 1.2 
percent. We are not investing in our Nation. We have not created 
jobs. We have not funded education adequately. And the decay and 
the malaise and the hopelessness in part that we see I think is a 
result of' that. An industrial policy has been discussed. I feel very 
strongly that this Nation needs an industrial policy so that we can 
compete with Japan and Germany and the rest of the international 
market. 

I will leave it at that. I am in very strong agreement with the 
things that other people have said here. One last thing I would say: 
In Tucson, to our credit, the various entities-whether it is the 
school districts, the supervisors, the Council, et cetera-have set 
aside a lot of boundaries and are working to create and protect the 
community. And the Government needs to do more, and we are 
working to do more. But to our credit, and as evidenced by the 
people that are here today, the community feels a sense of respon
sibility. They feel they are acting out their caring, and they want 
to do more. And so one of the things that I think we need to be 
able to better do is to help them work with us to solve our prob
lems together. 

Thank you. 
Senator DECONCINI. Thank you, Councilman, very much. I want 

to thank the panelists for taking the time and particularly for 
some of the specifics you have outlined here. They are very helpful. 

'M 
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I do have some questions. Because of time, I am going to ask, if 
you would be so kind, if I sent some of them to you, particularly on 
a little bit of broadening of some of the specifics that you have sug
gested. This figure on unpaid mandates you quoted, Councilman 
Wheeler, is very disturbing. And I appreciate the specifics, Council
woman McKasson, that you have put out, and Supervisors Eck
strom and Grijalva and Mr. Leal, concerning some particular ideas 
that we need to focus on at the Federal level. I do have a couple of 
questions, and I will ask you to respond and send them back to me. 
Thank you very much. 

Senator DECONClNI. Our next panel here is law enforcement and 
judicial: Pima County Sheriff Dupnik, Chief of Police Hedtke, Gary 

.. Smith from the Sierra Vista Police Department, Judge Collins, Ju
venile Judge, and Pam Treadwell-Rubin, Pima County Attorney's 
Office, Juvenile Division. If you would all come forward, please? 

Anybody in the audience who wants to have a statement can 
• leave it here or they can send it to our office. It will become part of 

the official record for the Senate Judiciary Committee and will be 
printed as such. We will leave that record open for at least 2 weeks 
after these hearings. 

Sheriff Dupnik, thank you for your continued leadership and 
participation not only today but in the innovative program that 
you have been involved in dealing with gangs and violence in our 
community. Welcome. We will start with you, Sheriff. 

.. 

PANEL CONSISTING OF CLARENCE W. DUPNIK, PIMA COUNTY 
SHERIFF; ELAINE HEDTKE, CHIEF, TUCSON POLICE; HON. 
RANER COLLINS, JUVENILE JUDGE; GARY L. SMITH, SIERRA 
VISTA POLICE DEPARTMENT; AND PAMELA TREADWELL
RUBIN, PIMA COUNTY ATTORNEY'S OFFICE, JUVENILE DIVI· 
SION 

STATEMENT OF CLARENCE 'w. DUPNIK 
Mr. DUPNIK. Thank you very much, Senator, for inviting me to 

participate and thank you very much for holding these hearings, as 
you always do. 

I would also like to thank you for the many things that you do 
for law enforcement on a regular basis over the past 16 years. I 
don't know what we would do without your leadership, without 
your dedication, and without your support of law enforcement. We 
wouldn't have a jail treatment program if it weren't for you for 
drug offenders. We wouldn't have a HIDA Program for involving 
local law enforcement in Arizona if it weren't for you. We wouldn't 
have a D.A.R.E. Program, and we wouldn't have many of the pro
grams that we enjoy, the resources that we have to try to do some
thing about the war on drugs and the war on crime generally. So 
on behalf of all of us in law enforcement, Senator, thank you for 
your leadership and support. 

I brought a statement for the record which has been submitted, 
but sitting thumbing through the pages and listening to some of 
the other speakers, I thought maybe I ought to say what is really 
on my mind. Maybe after 35 years in law enforcement I have 
earned the right to say what I really think. 

Senator DECONCINI. I think you have. 
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Mr. DUPNIK. About a dozen years ago, I participated in an Arizo
na Town Hall, and I know when you were county attorney in Pima 
County, you probably participated in one or two yourself. The topic 
of that particular town hall was crime and violence in Arizona. 

A few months ago, I was invited to participate in a planning 
committee for an upcoming Arizona Town Hall, and the subject 
again is crime and violence and drugs in Arizona, which I thought 
how ironic. In 12 years of strategizing and trying to deal with the 
problem, what have we really accomplished? And obviously the 
answer is that we have continued to lose ground, and it is very, 
very disturbing. 

It seems to me that government generally tends to deal with the 
problems of crime and violence, and I might say that I think that 
all the problems of antisocial behavior probably have similar root 
causes. And if you are talking about gangs and youth violence and 
the causes for that, the causes are probably the same for most anti
social behavior, most crime, and a lot of other things that I see 
that are very disturbing going on in our society. 

It seems to me that we deal with these problems probably be
cause they are so complicated, so difficult to get at the root causes. 
We tend to deal with them in a kind of superficial and perhaps 
simplistic way. And I think if we are going to get a handle on this 
problem and try to stem the tide, then we need to be a little more 
creative and we need to be a little more dedicated, determined that 
we are going to find out what the cause of this problem is and start 
dealing with the cause. 

I agree with what many of the speakers have said. The knee-jerk 
reaction of our society is to get tough with criminals, and that is 
how we and the legislature and sometimes law enforcement tend to 
deal with these problems. 

If you just look at murder, in many ways we have been talking 
about murder as the ultimate act of violence, and it certainly has 
been increasing in our community and nationwide. We have some 
pretty tough laws. We kill people who kill people, and that crime is 
still on the increase. 

I am not suggesting for a minute that we need to start throwing 
people out of prison, but I am suggesting that punishment has only 
an optimum point beyond which it probably doesn't serve as much 
of a deterrent. And we need to take that into account. What I 
really see that disturbs me is the slide of our values. 

A few years ago, there was a study done which indicated that a 
child spends as much time in front of the TV set in their first 6 
years of life as they do in the next 12 years in the classroom. Un
fortunately, for a variety of reasons, our :Society has changed, and 
many of our youngsters are being brought up to a large extent by 
baby-sitters and TV sets. And I don't think they are really doing a 
very good job. 

I think it is values that ultimately impact attitudes and, conse
quently, behavior. And until we start to deal with the hard prob
lems of the value systems that have changed over the years, I don't 
really hold out much hope that we are going to make any signifi
cant progress. We can build more parks. We can build more recrea
tion. We can find more jobs. All these things are noble, worthwhile, 

• 



123 

and we ought to be doing them. But I don't really think they are 
going to solve the problem. 

If you give Chief Hedtke over here another 1,000 cops and you 
give me 500, we really will do a much better job of serving this 
community. We will respond a lot faster. We will put a lot more 
people in jail. But in the final analysis, we are still going to have a 
significant number of crimes committed, especially by the young
sters in this community. 

I am not suggesting for a minute, because I think there are still 
some board members out in the audience, and I am up for a budget 
hearing soon, and we do provide lousy service and we do need more 
law enforcement officers to provide a better level and a better qual
ity of service. But what I am suggesting is that we have some very 
deep-seated problems in this society, and until we are willing to 
deal with them, I don't hold out much hope. 

I would suggest, Senator, that what we need is people who agree 
that our value system is slowly sliding into the sewer. We need to 
find out why and what is impacting that value system and causing 
our families to decay. People that ought to be raising our children 
and doing the job aren't doing it; why? We need to develop a na
tional strategy to deal with some of these issues. 

It is very difficult to deal with because ultimately you get into 
constitutional questions of censorship when you start talking about 
violence on TV, but too many of our youngsters are growing up de
sensitized to violence, growing up with an artificial perception of 
what reality really is, growing up with a compulsion, a need to 
have the thrills, the rush, because of the things that they are ex
posed to on TV. In reality, life is pretty dull and boring. 

We need to start looking at those kinds of issues, and I would 
suggest maybe we need a national commission to do this. I submit 
to you, Senator, that you are the perfect person to head such a 
commission. Thank you. 

[The prepared statement of Mr. Dupnik follows:] 

74-122 0 - 94 - 5 
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SUMMARY OF TESTIMONY TO UNITED STATES 
JUDICIARY SUBCOMMITTEE ON JUVENILE JUSTICE 

BY CLARENCE W. DUPNIK, SHERIFF OF PIMA COUNTY, ARIZONA 

Sheriff Dupnik's testimony reflects his experience and reaction to 
the trend~ regarding juvenile violence within his jurisdiction Th 
observed 1ncreases in juvenile violence are supported by statIst. e 
and pe,rsonal observation.. Sh:,riff Dupnik briefly outlines ~~~ 
a~enc~ s response to the d1sturb1ng trends in juvenile violence and 
h1s v!-ews as to the need for a multi-discipline approach td the 
splut10n. 

TESTIMONY TO THE UNITED STATES SENATE 
JUDICIARY SUBCOMMITTEE ON JUVENILE JUSTICE 

BY SHERIFF CLARENCE W. DUPNIK 

I would like to extend my gratitude to the Juvenile Justice 

subcommittee and especially to Senator DeConcini for inviting the 

input of local law enforcement regarding the apparent increase in 

juvenile criminal behavior and youth violence. Our community is 

observing both an increase in the amount of violence attributed to 

young people and a change in the nature and conduct of the behavior 

of violent youth offenders. 

Since January of this year my agency, which provides law 

enforcement services to the suburban and rural areas of Pima 

County, has already investigated two murders attributed to young 

people. One of those cases was this community's first known fatal 

carjacking, a vicious and violent crime virtually unheard of until 

quite recently. In 1992, a record seven juveniles were charged 

with homicide by my agency. The overwhelming majority of these 

youth-involved homicides share a frightening similarity in that 

they involve a single victim and multiple juvenile perpetrators. 

That is to say, the youth are acting·in concert with other young 

people to commit these violent crimes. 

The statistics regarding burglaries committed by juveniles in 

my jurisdiction illustrate the same two trends: juvenile 

involvement in criminal behavior is increasing dramatically, and 

the crimes are committed by groups of juveniles as opposed to 

individual offenders. In 1992, the Pima County Sheriff's 

Department arrested 53 juveniles for burglary. Through April of 

this year, my burglary investigators have already arrested 94 young 

people for this crime; the overwhelming majority of which were 

working in concert with peers their own age. 

I believe these trends in juvenile violence and criminal 

behavior result from the same societal influences that have 

manifested the huge surge in juvenile gang activity evidenced in 

our community. In 1989, there were 1,800 gang members in all of 

Arizona. In 1992, 2,400 youths were known to be members of gangs 

in Pima County alone. 
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Gang membership is not all that has increased in recent years. 

The degree and amount of violence perpetrated by known gang members 

has risen as well. In 1991, the weapons of choice for gang members 

encountered by Sheriff's Deputies were knives and baseball bats. 

In 1992, my officers investigated 47 acts of violence directly 

related to gang activity and entered 62 guns into evidence from 

these incidents. If this year's trend continues, we will see over 

80 gang related incidents of violence involving firearms. We have 

already secured 27 guns from gang members operating in the 

unincorporated parts of the County this year. 

The law enforcement community has already reacted to these 

disturbing trends with innovative deployment of its traditional 

resources and techniques. Our specially trained Gang Unit has been 

successful in identifying and bringing many young violent offenders 

into the criminal justice system. Our success in making arrests, 

however, really highlights a failure for our society. While I 

believe we must improve en'forcement efforts and need your help to 

do that, I believe strongly that non-enforcement measures such as 

education must become part of the law enforcement contribution to 

the overall solution. 

I believe programs such as GREAT, (The Gang Resistance 

Education and Training program), which has been promoted and 

supported by Senator DeConcini, should become as common place as 

the widely recognized DARE, (Drug Abuse Resistance Education) 

program. We have seen a tremendous level of support from the 

community for our DARE program. The youngsters who participate 

appear to form strong bonds to our DARE officers and truly embrace 

the ideals presented during the program. I believe a fJimilar 

approach to gangs and youth violence, in concert with appropriate 

discipline and enforcement action, would yield success similar to 

that of the DARE program. 

Youth violence and crime is not a problem that law enforcement 

can solve alone. with your help and support, law enforcement can 

improve its response to this challenge, but I believe your inquiry 

will clearly show the need for a much broader approach that reduces 

the sensationalism of violence in our media, reverses the 

deterioration of discipline in our schools, and returns a sense of 

self-esteem and hope for the future that so many young people in 

our society appear to have lost. 

I can think of no better investment than that which we make on 

behalf of our nation's young people. Our nation cannot afford to 

ignore the illness that is manifesting itself in this epidemic of 

youth violence. I wish you well in your endeavor to fathom this 

problem and thank you again for this opportunity to speak. 
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Senator DECONCINI. Thank you, Sheriff Dupnik, for that state
ment. It is most revealing and gets to the heart of the problem, no 
question about it. I wish I had an answer. 

Chief Hedtke, thank you for taking the time to be with us today. 
You demonstrated some of the programs you have started with 
your police force on the street, in the hearts of our neighborhoods, 
last night. We heard some complaints, but we also heard a lot of 
compliments. Officer Malino was there with some good responses 
and was well received by the community, I might say, so thank you 
for your leadership. You may proceed. 

STATEMENT OF ELAINE HEDTKE 

Chief HEDTKE. Senator, thank you for the invitation to be with 
you. I certainly echo what I would say is the most appropriate, ap
preciative remarks that Sheriff Dupnik mentioned in terms of your 
support in the past, not only for law enforcement but for public ~. 
safety. And I would underscore the public safety angle much more 
because what we are all here about is to provide for public safety. 

I too have submitted the general type of report that will speak 
about all the statistics and the all of the issues that cause us con
cern in Tucson. And I could read through that, but I don't think 
that is what we are really here about this morning. 

I think what we are really here about is to talk: How is it that 
we in a community address the issues that face us in terms of qual
ity of life, in terms of safety and security in our streets, in our 
schools, in our neighborhoods? 

I am going to say that what I have seen over my years of public 
service is that we look at issues in a way that becomes almost 
cosmic. Somehow or other there is supposed to be a final, absolute 
way to address an issue. And we believe that that is going to be 
done and arrived at on a national level, on a State level. And I am 
going to suggest that I don't think that is true. I don't think that 
the Federal Government can come into any community and say 
here is how it is going to be resolved. I don't think the State gov
ernment can do that. I think only the local government and the 
local neighborhood and the people in a community can do that. 
And so I am going to make a plea for people in this community 
and in every community in this country to come to grips with their 
own reality and to quit looking for the solution some place else. 

We are going to talk about neighborhood organizations. We are 
going to talk about people that care about people. You heard last 
night about the need for the police department to work with the 1\ 

community. You heard that again this morning from Mr. Grijalva. 
This police department has understood that for a number of 

years and has worked steadily toward working to develop an atti
tude of community-based, problem-oriented policing. We have been 
doing that for over 17 years. 

We are not there yet because it is a long haul. It takes a lot of 
effort. The nuts and bolts of service delivery get in the way of 
being able to sit down with people like Mr. Chavez and others to 
deal with the issues in a neighborhood. Officers that have to go 
from a call to a call to a call, that get called off of those calls in 
order to respond to the next one, haven't got the time to work with 
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the community to come to real resolution. All they are able to do is 
put on a band-aid. 

Well, the band-aids don't work. They don't work. The only thing 
that is going to work is all of us sitting down together and coming 
to an internal strategy about how to deal with the issue in our 
neighborhood, not in the city as a whole but on my block. 

I have had people say, "Well, how do you deal with the fact that 
kids don't have anyone to take care of them? There is no one at 
home after school." I submit to you that some of the plans that 
have been used in some neighborhoods work pretty well. A mother 
of a family that does stay home with her children is then hired by 
other families on the block to be the Kool-Aid house for kids after 
school. And so that neighborhood responds to its own need. 

No, it is not a federally funded program for kids to go to some 
neighborhood center down or across town. It is something that is 
done immediately. It is done personally, person to person. And so I 
am going to ask this community to reach out to itself, care about 
itself, respect itself. Start in your own home. Then go to your 
neighborhood. Then go to your community. Reach out. 

Mentoring programs are absolutely necessary, but we will be our 
own solution. 

We have heard a call for prioritization of our funding and deal
ing with the issues so that those things that are important get 
prioritized and dealt with first. It is hard. It is very hard because 
there are lots of demands. But communities must prioritize. 

Scripture has said, "Woe to that generation that neglects its chil
dren." And I submit to you that if we don't deal with our children 
now, we will deal with them, or perhaps better yet, they will deal 
with l.!8 in the future. 

And so the answers aren't absolute, but they do include groups 
that work in partnership together, neighborhood by neighborhood, 
block by block, so that you care about who lives next to you and 
you know who it is that lives next to you. 

All of you together understand that our commitment, our respon
sibility in our community is to provide for our future, and our chil~ 
dren are our future. 

Thank you. 
[The prepared statement of Ms. Hedtke follows:] 

---- --------
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YOUTH VIOLENCE, JUVENILE JUSTICE 
AND COMMUNITY SAFETY 

As members of a diverse society, we have all become acutely 
aware of the problems that today confront our children. We, like 
most throughout 'the united states, are experiencing increased 
violence as our ohildren express their frustrations. These acts of 
frustration are why we are all assembled. 

There is little question that youth crime is on the increase 
in our nation. Tucson reflects that increase in youth crime. 
Youth violence is a result of many societal issues inclusive of 
abused and neglected children living at or below the poverty level; 
faltering education and deteriorating educational facilities, adult 
and youth unemployment, increasing numbers of single parent 
families and the lack of traditional ~amily values being instilled 
in our youth. The Children's Action Alliance (1992) found that 
210,000 Arizona children Ii ve in poverty, under $12,700 for a 
family of four. The report also states that 39% of Arizona's 
students scored below the 40th percentile in nationally 
standardized tests in 1990 with significant race/ethnicity 
dispari ties. The Tucson Community Foundation's report, "Pima 
County Children's Mental Health Needs Assessment Study" (1990) 
found that " ... over 9,000 families with children in Pima County 
live at or below the poverty level; almost 9,500 cases of child 
abuse or neglect are reported each year; more than 26,000 children 
currently live in single parent households; and almost 1,400 Pima 
County babies each year are born to teenage mothers." 

The Foundation's report concluded that Pima/ County has a 
substantial at risk population and provides fertile ground for the 
criminal gang culture. 

Nationally, criminal activity is on the decline. While one 
would expect Tucson to be representative of this trend, it is not. 
Youth violence in Tucson is increasing. The most glaring 
illustration is a 56% increase in arrests of persons under eighteen 
years of age for weapons misconduct. In 1991, 118 arrests were 
made and in 1992 184 arrests were made. Comparing 1991 to 1992 in 
arrests of persons under the age of eighteen, there was a 16% 
increase in aggravated assaults, 47% increase in robberies, and a 
300% increase in homicides. Specifically addressing gang related 
crimes, aggravated assaults increased 33%, robberies increased 40%, 
and homicides 300%. 

Street drug selling offers low income youth economic 
opportunity which is more lucrative than the limited legitimate 
opportunities available to youth. Through drug dealing and gang 
participation, youths can have fancy cloths and weapons. Glamour 
commands respect. Disrespect is answered with violence. With this 
mind-set, violence tends to beget more, as everyone tries to gain 
respect. Shootings over hand signs and beatings over dress 

'. 
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ill ustrate the extremes this mind-set reaches. 

The citizens of Pima County are afraid. This fear is fed by 
direct- contact or media coverage of gang related incidents such as 
these: 

- the robbery of a bank by a band of armed men who pistol 
whipped employees 

- the robbing and shooting of a cab driver by five mal e 
clients who laft him for dead 

- the shooting of a young man in a bar because of the way he 
wore his hat 

- the murder of a si*teen year old· gang member and wounding of 
an innocent bystander hang'ing out in a parking lot 

- the drive-by murder of a middle school student walking home 
from school 

- the drive-by murder of a high school student during school 
hours 

- the near fatal drive-by sbooting of a four year old girl 
with her mother in a park because of someone else throwing hand 
signs 

These events shape the way we think about our community and 
safety. Much of this viol ence has received extensive media 
coverage. People are afraid to walk in their neighborhoods. 
Parents are worried about the safety of their children in school. 

Our children are in danger not only from violence but from the 
pervasive influence of destructive lifestyles. During the summer 
1991, police served a search warrant on an active crack house, an 
apartment which was extremely busy especially in the early morning 
hours. The individual arrested was a known gang member. When 
officers entered the apartment, they found five children under the 
age of ten with the adults. There were no toys, books or even a 
television in the horne. The refrigerator was empty. Two of the 
older children detailed the operation of the crack house. This was 
their only developmental life experience. 

Tucson defines a communit~ that has a high level of low income 
residents, with resulting problems that induce low-income youth to 
be tempted by gang lifestyles. More specifically, the low income 
neighborhoods have been most prone to gang activities. 

Less than three years ago, when the Tucson Police Department 
formed its gang unit, there were approximately four hundred 
identified gang members. Today, there are over 1,700. 

Tucson is experiencing many of the national trends involving 
youth violence. This increase in youth violence is rooted in gang 
related activities. Consequently, the primary focus of our efforts 
should be directed towards education, early intervention, 
prevention and long term incarceration. 

The Tucson Police Department is actively involved in 
supporting city programs which provide alternatives for youth and 



130 

private organizations and neighborhood programs similarly focused. 
We have committed substantial resources to the education and early 
intervention of "at risk youth." Two sergeants, one detective and 
seventeen officers are assigned to provide educational information 
and positive choices/role models to youth, kindergarten through 
middl e school. Part of these officers' responsibilities is to 
ensure the safe educational environment in which all available 
resources can be directed towards providing positive choices. The 
concept is to identify topics of interest to youth, identify 
resources within the community that would enable these topics of 
youth interest to be readily available and easily accessible. 

The Tucson Police Department has also reorganized the Gang 
uni t with components of intervention/prevention and follow up 
investigations to affect long term incarceration. 

However, this problem will not be eradicated by the efforts of 
law enforcement alone. Youth violence is a result of the societal 
issues that have already been addressed. We must all actively 
participate in the partnership of identifying resources and 
directing them towards youth specific problems. Most importantly, 
each of us must assume the function of mentor and role model for 
all youth wi thin our community. The Tucson Police Department' s 
Youth and Family Services section is designed to address the 
multifaceted dimensions of youth development. We seek the support 
of community resources, community programs, and political direction 
towards long range active commitment in this concept. 

Although there is little question that youth violence is on 
the increase there is no question that without the investment in 
our children today, we will all pay an enormous price tomorrow. 
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Senator DECONCINI. Thank you, Chief Hedtke, very much. It is 
very, very encouraging to hear local officials, as I just have from 
the two of you and others, say that they're ,not just looking to the 
Federal Government for the answers. We obviously don't have 
them. Even if we had the money, we don't have them, but to call 
on the community. Being a native Tucsonian, I think . that is where 
the answer is, too, and I am so glad to hear that from the chief of 
police. 

Judge Collins, thank you for joining us today. I know you have a 
busy schedule at the juvenile court, and we appreciate your taking 
the time to be with us today. 

STATEMENT OF RON. RANER COLLINS 

Judge COLLINS. Thank you, Senator. I am going to stick with my 
prepared remarks so I don't get myself in trouble. 

Let me say that Tucson and Pima County are becoming just like 
other large metropolitan areas. The influence of gangs and violence 
have not failed to pay us a visit, and they didn't just get here. 

In 1988, there were 12 children arrested for homicide in Pima 
County, and my memory tells me that at that time barely a ripple 
of public interest surfaced. In 1989, 1990, and 1991, the numbers 
were five or six children involved in homicide. Once again, it 
seemed barely anyone took notice. But in 1992, we had a banner 
year. There were 22 children involved in homicides. Some of those 
cases were spectacular. The news media played them up, and they 
drew public attention to a problem that we now face. 

The instance of violent crime went from 1,016 in 1988 to 2,078 in 
1992. By this I mean committed by juveniles. In 5 years, it doubled. 
We have seen a significant increase in the number of children 
under age 14 being brought before the juvenile court. In 1992, there 
were 3,164 instances of children under the age of 14 involved in 
some type of offense, and 646 were violent offenses. In fact, one of 
the alleged homicide crimes was committed by one 14 years old. 

Let me briefly mention some of the reasons why I think we have 
a large and rapid increase in the violent juvenile crime. We need to 
recognize that being a child today is much more difficult than it 
has ever been. Today's children are faced with guns, gangs, drugs, 
low self-esteem, lack of discipline, and the temptation of doing 
things the easy way. These children see the crumbling of this Na
tion's infrastructure, and they can honestly wonder what will be 
left for them. 

They have seen us cut funding to educational institutions and 
the failure to fully fund social programs designed to help them. 
They see portrayals of a glamorous life on television and the 
movies. They feel a sense of anger and frustration. The violence 
that they see on the screen has little to do with their own reality of 
life. Like all children before them, today's children have no real 
sense of their own mortality. Those who do, do not care. They have 
been brought up in a society that gives great weight to the materi
al things a person possess and less and less to the moral content of 
their character. 

I must also point out that many children today live in single
parent homes. More children today come home from school and 
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expect to stay alone, not just for an hOUl: or two but for some all 
night. 

It is difficult to say exactly what causes kids to ~e involved in 
crime. We know there alie' certain risk factors, however. We know 
if a child goes to school Hungry he will not be able to pay attention 
in. class. We knoVlif a child is ill clothed, he won't be able to pay 
attention in class because of the attention he himself gets because 
he looks different from everybody else. 

We know if a child feels disassociated from those around him 
that he also will not do well. We know that drugs, alcohol, and 
weapons of all types are easily accessible. 

Social scientists tell us now that if one of your paTents is an alco
holic, your chances of being one are enhanced greatly. If you were 
an abused child, chances are you will continue to be involved in 
abusive relationships. 

We now use such as terms as unbonded, fetal alcohol syndrome, 
crack babies, emotionally handicapped, delayed, and latch-key kids. 
These words were quite foreign to our vocabulary 20 or 30 years 
ago. 

Let me offer some solutions. First of all, we still deal with chil
dren much as we did 20 or 30 years ago. Probation officers are typi
cally swamped with too many cases to handle to give much quality 
of supervision. Most rehabilitation programs are ill funded to run 
the way they should, and in the few good programs that exist, only 
a small number of kids will ever be served. 

Many programs, local, State, or national, that target early inter
vention are the first ones cut in budget crunches. We give a lot of 
lip service to being concerned about our children, but not a whole 
lot of &iything else. , 

The children that we are talking about are typically identified by 
the lack of discipline, poor social skills, and poor school perform
ance. The programs that deal with these ohildren by and large are 
the same today as they were 20 years ago, and by that I mean 
almost nonexistent. Those that do exist are expensive and far from 
home. 

I recently heard an educator say, "Our school system treats kids 
today in education the same way it did back in 1990." We have to 
change the way we deliver services. We have not kept up with the 
changes in our society that affect our children, and our children 
mirror society as a whole. The problems that' adults have, our chil
dren have. 

We need to design a system that is adequately funded to deal 
with the problems of today's youth. We must form an educational 
model that is geared to educate the difficult child. We must teach 
basic social skills and acceptable modes of behavior. If the juvenile 
system is to work in the present and in the future, it must be ade
quately funded and encouraged to develop new ways of dealing 
with children. 

We should also note that the greatest population now being 
served by the juvenile justice system are of minority extraction. 
The few good programs that exist outside of juvenile court pro
grams often have not dealt with the minority child. Most do not 
nave minority employees. Minority children have not often had op
portunities to participate in these programs. These children have 
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been run through a system that bears little relationship to their re
ality. They do not often see a face the hue of their own. Their 
ethnic ways are often misunderstood. 

We must design programs to reach children early, not when they 
first commit a crime but even before. We must have supportive 
programs available to children from birth. 

It is a frightening time for children today in our society. It is a 
total shame in our society that guns, crack, and prison cells are 
more readily available to them than education and social services. 

Thank you, Senator. [Applause.] 
['fhe prepared statement of Hon. Raner Collins follows:] 
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Dear Senator DeConcini: 
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I would like first to thank the subcommittee for allowing 
me to address you on the issue of juvenile violence. Very 
recently juvenile crime and the violence associated with it 
has sky rocketed in our nation. I want to share with you 
what we in Tucson and Pima County are experiencing. Then I 
will share with you what I believe are some of the reasons 
for this increase in juvenile violence and crime. I will 
also share some possible solutions. 

Tucson and Pima County are becoming just like other large 
metropolitan areas. The influence of gangs and violence 
have not failed to pay us a visit. 

In 1988 there were 12 children arrested for attempted 
homicide or homicide in Pima County. My memory tells me 
that at that time barely a ripple of public interest 
surfaced. The numbers for 1989, 1990 and 1991 were either 
5 or 6 children involved in homicide or homicide 
attempts. Once again, it seemed barely anyone took 
notice. In 1992, however, we had a banner year in that at 
least 22 children were arrested for homicide or attempted 
homicide. Some of those cases were spectacular in the 
nature in which the press covered them and therefore, drew 
public attention to the problem that we now face. 

Aggravated Assault charges in which weapons may have been 
used, either knives, guns, or sticks, went from 166 
occurrences in 1988 to 590 in 1992. Domestic violence 
incidences went from 212 in 1988 to 567 in 1992. In the 
categories of homicide, attempted homicide, kidnapping, 
rape, robbery, aggravated assault, .threatening, 
endangerment, simple assault, domestic violence, child 
molesting, sexual offenses, and arson in which lives were 
endangered, the total number of occurrences went from 1,016 
in 1988, to 2,078 in 1992. This means that in five years 
the total occurrences in these areas had doubled. 

There are other weapons charges such as Carrying a 
Concealed Weapon, which went from 70 in 1988, to 222 in 
1992. These figures leave no doubt that violent juvenile 
crime is on the rise in Tucson and Pima County. 
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We had seen a decrease in the use of drugs for a while with 
these children and now drug use and court involvement are 
also on the rise. 

We have also seen a significant increase in the number of 
children aged 14 and under being brought before the 
juvenile court. In 1992 there were 3,164 children under 
the age of fourteen arrested for some type of offense. These 
children are also involved in violent crime. In 1992 there 
were 646 violent occurrences attributed to youth under 
fourteen. In fact, one of the alleged homicide 
participants was only fourteen years old. 

Let me talk about what I believe are some of the reasons 
for the large and rapid increase in violent juvenile 
crime. We need to recognize that being a child today is 
much more difficult than it has ever been. Today's 
children are faced with guns, gangs, drugs, low self
esteem, lack of discipline and the temptation of dOing 
things the easy way. 

These children see the crumbling of this nation's 
infrastructure and they can honestly wonder what will be 
left for them. They have seen us cut funding to 
educational institutions and the failure to fully fund 
social programs designed to help them. They see portrayals 
of a glamorous life on television and the movies. They 
feel a sense of anger and frustration. The violence that 
they see on the screen has little to do with their 
reality. Like all children before them, today's children 
have no real sense of their own mortality. Those who do, 
do not care. They have been brought up in a society that 
gives great weight to what material things a person 
possesses and less and less to the moral content of their 
character. 

I must also pOint out that we have had a breakdown in 
family values. In fact, the very existence of the family 
has broken down. ~ore children today live in single parent 
homes. More children today come home from school and are 
expected to stay alone, not just for an hour or two, but 
for some, all night. 

In Juvenile court you see children from all walks of life 
with all types of problems. I have encountered children 
who have been abused by their parents. This could be an 
explanation for why th.ey are in trouble. I have seen 
children whose parents have done everything they possibly 
can, and the children still wind up in trouble. Therefore, 
being able to say exactly what causes a child to turn to a 
life of crime is a difficult thing. However, we must be 
aware of certain risk factors. We know that if a child 
goes to school hungry, he will not be able to pay attention 
to what is happening in the classroom. We know that if a 
kid is ill clothed, he will not be able to pay attention to 
what is happening in the classroom because of the attention 
the other children will pay to him. We know that if a 
child feels disassociated from those around him, that child 
will a.lso not do well. We know that drugs, alcohol and 
weapons of all types are easily accessible. Social 
Scientists teli us now that if one of your parents is 
alcoholic, your chances of being one are enhanced greatly. 



If you were an abused child, chances are you will continue 
to be involved in abusive relationships. We now use such 
terms as "unbonded," "fetal alcohol syndrome," "crack 
babies," "emotionally handicapped," "delayed," and 
"latchkey kids". These words were quite foreign to our 
vocabulary twenty to thirty years ago. 

I have encountered children in Juvenile court who have a 
variety of responses when asked why they are involved in 
trouble. One response that stuck with me is with a victim 
who was involved in a gang-related shooting. He had been 
shot in the stomach. His startling remark was that he was 
surprised that being shot hurt. 

What are some of the solutions to curb this rise in 
violent crime? First of all, we still deal with children 
today much as we did twenty years ago. Probation Officers 
are typically swamped with too many cases to give much 
quality supervision. Most rehabilitation programs are ill 
funded to run the way they should. In the few good 
programs that exist, only a small number of children will 
ever be served. 

Many programs, local, state or national, that target early 
intervention, are the first ones cut in budget crunches. 
We give a lot of lip service to being concerned about our 
children, but not a whole lot of a~ything else. 

It is still a relief to say that most children today, like 
the children twenty or thirty years ago do not get involved 
with the juvenile justice system. For those children who 
get involved, the vast majority make only one or two trips 
and they shape up. There is however, a "hard core" (for 
lack of a better term to use), group of children who need 
something more than writing a letter of apology, paying 
restitution or performing community service. These 
children are typically identified by their lack of 
discipline, poor social skills and poor school 
performance. The programs that deal with these children by 
and large are the same today that they were twenty years 
ago, almost nonexistent. Those that exist are expensive, 
long-term, and in the case of most residential treatment 
centers, far from home. ' 

I heard an educator say recently that we have the same 
basic educational system for our schools that we had in the 
early 1900's. For the most part, our delivery of probation 
type services for juveniles is the same as it was twenty o~ 
thirty years ago. 

We have not kept up with the changes in our society that 
affect our children. Our kids mirror society as a whole. 
The problems that adults have are shared by our children. 

We need to be able to reduce probation officer caseloads so 
they can spend more time trying to help these children 
learn some of the social skills that they will need to 
survive. We need to create educational opportunities to 
work with these children. We should also note that the 
greatest populations represented in our juvenile 
institutions today are of minority extraction. The few 
good programs that exist outside of juvenile institutions 
often have not dealt with the minority child. Most do not 
have minority employees. Minority children have not often 



137 

.had opportunities to participate in these programs. These 
children have been run through a system that bears little 
relationship to their reality. They do not often see a 
face the hue of their own. Their ethnic ways are often 
misunderstood. 

We are still trying to understand the dynamics of these 
children's lives. Their dysfunctional families are 
different from those that we have ever known. A child from 
drug abusing or alcoholic parents now has a different 
outlook on life from a child from a substance abusing 
family twenty years ago. The penalties faced by a drug 
abuser are significantly more severe than those faced by an 
alcohol abuser. The stigma attached to drug use is so much 
greater than that attached to one who drinks alcohol. 

Solution: We need to design a system that is adequately 
funded to deal with the problems of today'B youth. We must 
form an educational model that is geared to educate the 
difficult child. We must teach basic social skills and 
acceptable modes of behavior. If the juvenile system is to 
work in the present and in the future it must be adequately 
funded and encouraged to develop new ways to deal with 
children. 

This country has currently locked U.p over a million of its 
people. If the juvenile system fails to get the funding it 
needs on the front end, we shall pay dearly on the back 
end. This is not only a waste of money but also a wast~ of 
life. 

Programs must be designed to reach children early, not 
just when they first commit the crime, but even before. We 
must have supportive programs available to children from 
birth. 

It is a frightening time for children today. It is a total 
shame in our society that guns, crack and prison cells are 
more readily available to them than education and social 
services. 

for your interest and the opportunity to 

Judge 

RCC:tdp 



138 

Senator DECONCINI. Thank you very much, Judge Collins. 
I want to thank the Sierra Vista Police Department for sending 

Gary Smith here to give us a little perspective on the rural prob
lem of violence and gangs and what have you. We welcome you, 
Mr. Smith. 

STATEMENT OF GARY L. SMITH 

Mr. SMITH. Thank you, Senator. 
Some of the information I am going to give is going to make 

Sheriff Dupnik and Chief Hedtke jealous. I would like to paint a 
little picture of Sierra Vista. It is a small community in southeast
ern Arizona. It is about 80 or 90 miles southeast of Tucson here, 
and we have a low crime rate. That is kind of one of the hidden 
secrets of Sierra Vista. It is a very low-crime-rate city. 

For example, we have never had a bank robbery. In 1986 and 
1987, we had no murders. In 1988, we had one. In 1989, we had one. 
In 1990 and 1991, we had none. 

The street gang problem came to Sierra Vista, we can trace it 
back to 1987 when all of a sudden we started getting a lot of calls 
to our high school about fights, assaults, and they kept telling us 
the kids were wearing blue bandannas. And we saw the gang prob
lem grow. 

It has continued to grow. Right now in Sierra Vista we believe 
we have six street gangs with about 125 active members and maybe 
125 associates. In 1992, we had 10 gang-related shootings. We had 
two homicides. One of them was gang-related. 

That is kind of in the rural community the perspective of how 
the gangs and violence have affected our crime problem. It has 
gone from nothing to those incidents that shock the community. 

What did we do as a rural community? Probably what Tucson 
has done and Phoenix and everywhere else. We responded by sup
pression. We tried to put a lot of these people in jail and chase 
them out to Tucson. We kept giving out these pamphlets to come 
here. It didn't work. They are still down there. 

We discovered very quickly we needed the community to help us 
as police agency. We went to the schools for their help. We have 
gone to the neighborhoods, and just this last year we formed a 
street gang task force. It has various committees: a jobs committee, 
finance committee. Our community has gone from one of denial of 
the problem to acceptance, and now what can we do about it? I see 
that going on here in Tucson, and Sierra Vista, it is a lot smaller, 
so we can work with our community a lot better. ,. 

The problem for the future I think is not going to go away. All 
the indicators are still here, the family dysfunction, the economic 
uncertainty, racism, substance abuse, overburdened criminal jus
tice system, and the educational system is more demanding also. 

The target of gang activity in our community, and everywhere 
else, I think, will continue to be youth. Wherever youth works, 
plays, and learns, they are certainly going to be subjected to some 
kind of gang activity or violence. I tell people in Sierra Vista do 
not underestimate the potential danger from street gangs. One 
bullet can bring serious tragedy to a family and to a community. 
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As an example, in 1992, a fellow by the name of John Thomas, 
who was active military, was an Arizona Ranger, a volunteer law 
enforcement organizations, had worked a bingo game that night, 
and one of the things they hire out for is to escort money deposits 
to banks and so on after bingo games at the Lions Club. The Rang
ers then take the money they earn, and they donate it to services 
in our community. 

He was standing at the back of a bank helping with that deposit, 
and the gang member around the front was robbing a customer of 
his money. And John Thomas didn't know that. The gang member 
saw him when he ran around back and assassinated him, shot him 
in the head several times. That is when our community got very 
much involved with the gang problem. 

That particular suspect was eventually taken into custody. Four 
months earlier he had attempted to assassinate a rival gang 
member in Sierra Vista. That attempt was unsuccessful. 

We found in dealing with the problem that the community is 
afraid of these people, with good reason, the violence, and we have 
been able to put them in jail through narcotics enforcement and 
some other strategies. 

I feel as a law enforcement officer than penalties for gang-relat
ed activities must be levied to the full extent of the law. Removal 
from the community of the most violent gang members has proven 
effective in the short term, but it is only a band-aid to the problem. 

I feel as a law enforcement officer that our role, one of our roles 
is continued aggressive suppression tactics. Somebody has to do it. 
That is our part of the community service. 

The resource demand upon law enforcement to respond to gang 
problems will be significant and may become singularly the most 
expensive service operation for any law enforcement organization. 
In 1989, when we had a very serious gang problem and we were 
learning to control it, we expended our entire year's overtime 
budget in 60 days to try and beef up our patrols and handle the 
problem. 

Funding, of course, as you have heard today, is a critical issue 
when these problems arise. In addition to all the family fights, bur
glaries, and thefts, law enforcement has been forced to deal with 
the gangs without asking do we want to or not. They have just 
come upon us. They are very expensive, a very resource-consuming 
problem to deal with. 

Rural America too shares the menaces of increasing violence and 
street gang activity. Sierra Vista is a good community. You can go 

., there in the mornings and the evenings, and people are out with 
their families walking. There is also the hidden dark side, and I 
think every community in this country has those problems. 

This increasing phenomenon of violence and street gangs demon-
to, strate important failures of our socioeconomic institutions. The epi

demic of violence and street gangs is not only an urban problem, it 
is a rural problem as well. And I think until some of the ideas are 
implemented that we have heard today, it just isn't going to go 
away. 

Thank you, Senator, for having me. 
[The prepared statement of Mr. Smith follows:] 
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WRITTEN COpy OF FACTS PREPARED BY SARGENT 
GARY L. SMITH, GANG SPECIALIST FOR THE 

SIERRA VISTA POLICE DEPARTMENT 

For the past two decades, some disturbing trends have appeared in our country 

that make violence and gang activity a concern for many communitios. Urban sprawl. 

population growth. high unemployment, Increased family dysfunction. and the declining 

economy are carrying violence and street gangs out of the Inner cities and into smaller 

urban areas. 

The Arizona Department of Public Safety. which acts as the state repository for 

street gang intelligence, reported 9,010 gang members in Arizona by 1991 (DPS 1991 

Report 137). Street gang migration has al~o extended to Sierra Vista where the Sierra 

Vista Police Department has Identified 125 full-time gang members and about the same 

number of aSGociate members. 

The emergence of street gang activity In Sierra Vista cal'! be traced back to 1987. 

During the latter part of 1987 the Sierra Vista .~ollce Department began receiving a 

noticeable Increase In calls for service relating to ·assaults, disturbances, and 

Intimidations at and near Buena High School, the only high school In Sierra Vista. A 

calls for service report compiled by the Department showed a 50 percent Increase In 

these types of calls compared to 1986. This trend continued Into 1992 with reported 

Incidents at or near the high school Increasing by 11 percent In 1989, 18 percent In 

1990, and 15 percent in 1991. 

These incidents shared the common denominators of: Teenagers, proximity 

to youth gathering places, and lastly, large numbers of participants. 

Witnesses and victims at the Incidents reported participants wore blue bandannas 

which suggested the partlclpu71ts were street gang members. 

The Sierra Vista Pollee Department,responded by Intensifying patrols near the high 

school and other popular youth gathering places. Uquor violations and weapon 

violations were strictly enforced, any criminal violations by suspected gang members 
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resulted in arrest and lastly, any gang member committing a traffic violation received a 

written citation. 

IdentifIcation of the gang members was felt to be critical. Officers were issued 

cameras and encouraged to photograph any suspected gang members and their 

vehicles. In less than three months, most of the budgeted overtime for the fiscal year 

was expended and no film budget remained. A Juvenile Enforcement Officer (J.E.O.) 

position and a Drug Abuse Resistance Education (D.A.R.E.) position were created by the 

City Council. The resources allocated to the problem were extensive. 

The general approach by the Departmenfwas two pronged. Besides the above 

described suppression tactics, gang awareness by the community became important. 

The Sierra Vista Police Department organl?ed awareness seminars for community groups 

and for the educational communIty In particular. 

By early 1988 the efforts of the Department began to loose intensity. Many 

gang members were jailed or had left the community. The increased patrol efforts were 

reduced. specialized enforcement actions were decreased and in general, there existed 

a feeling of having completed a successful anti-crime campaign. Few additional 

resources were committed to street gang enforcement activities. 

During the next few years. In response to the suppression tactics of the 

Department, gang Incidents went underground. Colored bandannas were not worn In 

public and persons no longer admitted membership to gangs. Large fights relocated to 

the unincorporated areas surrounding the community. Few victims of gang Incidents 

came forward to report crimes. In substance, the problems were successfully moved 

" from public View, but had not been ellminated. 

By late 1991, the violence and street gang issues again became an Integral part 

of the Sierra Vista Police Department's agenda. This was made apparent at a city counoll 

work session, during which curtailing gangs and Violence, was assigned as a long term 

objective for the Police Department. The community had again become concerned with 

the increasing number of gang related Incidents near Buena High School and other 

youth gathering plaoes. By the end of 1991 the oalle for service near Buena High School 
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relating to assaults, disturbances, and Intimidations had increased 94 percent above the 

1986 level. 

Gang activity In Sierra Vista during 1992 seemed to have matured into what many 

people would believe Is exclusive to only large cities. During 1992 the community 

experienced an unprecedented number of gang related shootings and gang member 

arrests. Gang activity received significant amounts of coverage by the local media as 

well as the Tucson media. Sierra Vista gang connections were traced to Phoenll<, 

Tucson and most of the surrounding communities of Cochise county. 1992 marked the 

birth of a community tasl~ force organized to battle the street gangs. 

In early 1992 Sierra Vista experienced several commercial burglaries In which 

firearms were the main targets of the incidents. Some persons eventually linked to the 

crimes were believed to owe drug money to members of the Maryvale Gangster Crlps 

and were Intent on using the guns to settle the debts. In one case In which a gun store 

was broken Into, the three teenaged suspects claimed to be arming themselves to do 

battle against the gangs. None of the suspects felt help would be forthcoming, against 

the gangs, from their parents, the police .or school authorities. 

In March of 1992 four Ft. Huachuca soldiers shot a person in a neighborhood In 

an attempt to assassinate him. this person was a member of the Maryvale Gangster 

Crlps and an alleged narcotic's dealer. This Incident sharply increased the violence 

potential between the existing street gangs In Sierra Vista and tensions were very high. 

Fate intervened, at least somewhat, and the gang member was killed In early April In a 

car accident. Emotions remained tense. His associates did attempt to shoot one of the 

G.I.'s during the summer at an apartment complex. 

March also saw the arrest of two Westside Crlp~ from Phoenix. for seiling crack 

cocaine at a local motel. A military dependant was 8.1S0 present at the time of arrest. 

The suspects boasted their gang was going to control the drug trade In Sierra Vista. 

It became evident to the Sierra Vista Police Department that a covert narcotic's 

operation would be the most effective means of trying to control the increasing violence 

of the street gangs. The operation ended by early summer and resulted in the arrests 
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of five Of the most active and violent gang members. A sixth remains at large and Is 

believed out of the area. 

May of 1992 resulted in the indictment of a Maryvale Gangster Crip for his role in 

a drug related homicide in Tucson. Other Sierra Vista gang members; are bel/e\i£'d to 

have some involvement 1111 that homicide. The second Indicted suspect, "Diamond", was 

a Phoenix gang member. 

During April the Gang Reduction, Awareness, Prevention & 

Education{G.R.A.P.E.) task force was formed In hopes of el/citing community 

involvement to help solve the gang problem. The task force relies on 'olunteers and 

Is made up of five subcommittees which generate activity through G.R.A.P.E. These 

committees are fund raising, graffiti abatement, suppression, job's committee and the 

activity's committee. 

A record number of aLHO thefts plagued the community during 1992. 8y May 

a cooperative investigation with the Cochise County Sheriff's Department had 

revealed a Latin gang, the Varrlos Nueve Nostomos(V.N.E.), were involved in many 

of the thefts. It was believed the vehicles were taken to Mexico and traded for cash 

or drugs. In November SVPD arrested several members of the Tucso" V.N.E. and 

the Sierra Vista V.N.E. for multiple auto thefts and burglaries in both jurisdictions. 

Gang related fights, shootings and increased reports of shots fired calls 

continued to grow in the first half of 1992. The shooting Incidents seemed to peak 

In July after Arizona Ranger John Thomas was killed by one of the same suspects 

who had earlier shot the Maryvale Gangster Crlp In March. Community reaction was 

outrage at the court system and shock about the violence. 

Trying to keep SUspected gang members locked up, the Sierra Vista Police 

Department began monitoring court appearances of suspected gang members and 

working closely with prosecutors for stiff sentences and strict release conditions. 

The last reported gang related shooting for 1992 was reported August 16th 

when a vehicle was shot with a shotgun while parked at a residence. 
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In September a new gang emerged calling themselves the United Front(U.F.), 

a skinhead group. They were featured on the front page of the local newspaper and 

claimed a membership of 30 persons. They further claimed they were "two-toned", 

i.e., non-racist. "U.F." graffiti began appearing In Sierra Vista after the article was 

published. 

A violence conference was held during November In Sierra Vista. The 

conference sought to bring together community and area leaders to begin 

formulating strategies that would impact our community's Increased violence. The 

conference was sponsored by G.R.A.P.E. and the F·.~.I. The four major areas 

addressed were violence In schools, violence In the family, violence In our 

neighborhoods, and the acculturation ~f violence. The conference received a large 

amount of media coverage and reaction from the community was very positive. 

Five major gangs were Identified In the Sierra Vista area during 1992. These 

were: Maryvale Gangster Crlps, Varrlos Nueve Nostomos, Santos Del Varrlo, Lynch 

Mob Crips, and the United Front. The MVG was active In narcotic trafficking and was 

the most violent gang. The VNE was active In auto thefts, narcotic trafficking and 

graffiti Incidents. VNE graffiti was seen In Bisbee, Douglas, and Tombstone. 

The estimated number of full-time gang members Is 125, with another 125 

associate members. This number Is the law enforcement estimate of active gang 

members. Local gang members and community youth have told the Sierra Vista 

Pollee Department the number of members is higher than the law enforcement 

estimate. 

1992 GANG ARREST TALLY 

The following table depicts the number of gang arrests made by SVPD during 

1992( by crime), also noting the number of gang related shootings. 
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YEAR TO DATE ACTIVITY SUMMARY 

UQUORVIOL DIS. CONO. WEAPON VIOL CURFEW NARCOTICS 
ARRESTS ARRESTS ARRESTS ARRESTS ARRESTS 
14 14 10 13 10 

THEFT REu\TED RUNAWAY ASSAULT GANG RELATED ROBBERY 
ARRESTS ARRESTS ARRESTS SHOOTINGS ARRESTS 

20 2 9 10 2 

TRAFFIC VIOL. WARRANT HOMICI!:?E OTHER TOTAL 
ARRESTS ARRESTS ARRESTS ARRESTS ARRESTS 

6 8 1 16 124 

1993 ACTIVITY 

Gang related violence In 1993 has continued to plague the community. Thus 

far five gang related ahootlngs have been reported to law enforcement authorities. 

A new gang, Criminal High Tower Clique (C.H.T.C.), has been identified and Involved 

In several of the shootings. The United Front Skinheads have become Increasingly 

active and have accounted for at least six gang related violent assaults. 

The law enforcement portion of the G.R,AP.E. Task Force is continuing to improve 

its networking and now Includes most of the law enforcement agencies in the 

aouthern portion of the Cochise County. 

A May 1993 stOlen vehicle arrest of a Sierra Vista V.N.E. gang member, with 

that of a TUcson gang member, illustrate the continuing collaboration of urban gangs 

with rural gangs. In 1992 The Sierra· Vista Pollee Department recorded 96 stolen 

vehicles. this trend Is expected to Gontlnue Into the future, 

The Arizona Department of Public Safety and the Cochise County Sheriffs 

Department have each assigned an officer part-time to work only gang related 

Incidents. 

SUMMARY & FUTURE PREDICTIONS 

With a strong feeling of certainty, gang problems are predicted to continue 

through the coming year and Into the future as well. The many factors which create 

the conditions allowing street gangs to flourish stili trOUble our country and the 
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community. Some more prominent factors are: family dysfunction, economic 

uncertainty, racism, substance abuse, an overburdened criminal justice system, and 

a,l ever more demanding educational system. Law enforcement has come to realize 

it cannot resoive gang problems alone. Studies are showing the gang problem Is 

a manifestation of many social ills and any solution will require the cooperation of all 

facets of a community. 

The target of gang activity and vioience wi" continue to be youth. Wherever 

youth works, plays or learns, they wlll·most certainiy be subjected to some kind of 

gang activity. 

The potential danger from street gangs to our community cannot be 

overestimated. A single III-aimed bullet can bring Instantaneous tragedy to the 

community. Past experience In large urban areas have shown violence and other 

criminal activity come with the gangs. 

Covert narcotic's operations should be maintained to keep constant pressure 

on the gangs by law enforcement. Penalties for gang related activities must be 

levied to the full extent of the law. Removal from the community of the most violent 

gang members has proven effective In the short-term; and continued suppression 

tactics must be maintained. 

The resource demand upon law enforcement to respond to gang probiems 

will be significant and may become singularly the most expensive service operation 

for any law enforcement organization. Funding to·law enforcement agencies Is 

critical In order to continue the vigilance against street gangs. 

Rural America,too, shares the menaces of increasing violence and street gang 

activity. These Increasing phenomenon dr.omonstrate important failures of our 

socioeconomic institutions. The epidemic of vioience and street gangs is not oniy 

an urban problem, it is a rurai problem as well. 

!. 
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Senator DECONCINI. Thank you very much, Mr. Smith. I wish 
you would please extend our appreciation to Chief Montgomery for 
having you here, taking you from your duties there. It was very 
helpful. 

Ms. Treadwell-Rubin, we appreciate the County Attorney Steve 
Neely, as well, having you here as head of the Juvenile Division. 
You may proceed. 

STATEMENT OF PAMELA TREADWELL-RUBIN 

Ms. TREADWELL-RuBIN. Thanks. I just finished about a 20-month 
stint as the supervisor of our juvenile unit at the county attorney's 
office. We have a self-contained unit at the Juvenile Court Center 
that is responsible for making decisions about whether children 
who get referred to the center will be approved for diversionary 
programs, whether petitions of delinquency or incorrigibility will 
be filed to actually bring them into court, and also whether trans
fer petitions to treat them as adults in their prosecutions will be 
filed, and we prosecute those cases. In addition to that, we deal 
with adoptions and mental health placements for juveniles out at 
the center. 

I think Judge Collins did an excellent job in providing you with 
some background about the changes that have occurred at the Ju
venile Court Center. I would just like to add a couple of thoughts to 
that. 

I have been at the Juvenile Court Center for a little over 18 
months on two separate occasions, about 4 years apart, and during 
the time that I was away, I was shocked to discover, even in 4 
years, how much the situation had changed and how much what 
kids were facing had changed. 

When I first got to juvenile court, never having had any experi
ence out there before, I was pretty surprised to discover that kids 
as young as 15 were doing things like committing aggravated as
saults, robberies. They were victimizing not just people their own 
ages, but adults as welL 

I soon learned, especially in trying to deal with this problem 
now, that that was probably, 4 years ago, the good old days com
pared to what we face now. There are more and more kids who are 
being referred at younger and younger ages. When I was there 
before, it was very unusual for a child to be referred at the mini
mum jurisdictional age, which was 8. Now that is happening a lot 
more frequently, and it is also happening that those kids at that 
young an age are presenting with very substantial treatment 
needs, and many more treatment needs than can usually be han
dled in any kind of out-of-court unit, which is where the youngest 
kids usually are dealt with as first- or second-time offenders. 

We are seeing more and more female offenders, and last year we 
saw an increase in the number of violent and serious female of
fenders, which is a very severe problem. Judge Collins gave you an 
idea that there is currently being looked at whether or not there is 
a racial disparity and some issues about racial access to certain 
types of treatment programs. And I am here to tell you that I 
think there is also a gender-based one as welL 
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I think that the services that exist for girls in our system right 
now are currently wholly inadequate, especially to deal with the 
kinds of violent kids that are coming through the system. And I 
think that is going to be a severe problem. 

The other issue is that we are now seeing second-generation de
linquent kids. Kids whose parents were themselves delinquents and 
had cases in the Juvenile Court Center are now seeing their kids 
return to that Court Center as well. 

We do know that if you have a sibling who has been a delinquent 
or has received a delinquent referral, that you are more likely to 
become a delinquent yourself. We don't probably know as much 
about the effect of that parental delinquency, but certainly it is 
only one symptom of the problems that we see. 

It is very clear, as you have already heard, that there is a signifi
cant lack of parental availability to children these days and a lack 
of parental guidance to children. 

We are looking toward other agencies and other service provid
ers to fill that gap, but they can never do the same kind of job as 
adequately as an actual parent can. There are going to be people 
involved in a child's life who will serve as surrogate parents and 
who can have some effective, positive role, and we should all try to 
expand those types of services. But we do have to look at the 
nature of our family structure today. It has very definitely 
changed, and probably not for the better. And now it is affecting 
certainly the lives of the delinquent kids we see, but I dare say it is 
affecting lives of kids that maybe are not delinquent but who are 
on the fringes of trouble, and maybe who even come from what we 
would consider "good" backgrounds or higher socioeconomic sta
tuses. Those folks are having kids that maybe they can't pay atten
tion to just as well as the lower economic status people are. 

We need to be honest about the nature of our problems in every 
community. We need to recognize that while gangs are a serious 
problem of violence in our community, they are not the only expla
nation for why we have violence. They are a lot of other explana
tions as well. And it is also not true to assume that gangs will 
never affect my child, never affect my race, never affect my neigh
borhood. In the past year, we have seen throughout the community 
that that is absolutely not true. And I dare say folks who thought 
that they would never see gang activity in their neighborhoods are 
now seeing it. 

So we need to take this issue on as a community and as a neigh
borhood because those are where the strengths are. That is where 
the good networking is. That is where the knowledge of individual 
people is. And I would like to echo Chief Hedtke's comments in 
that regard. 

I think that while there are some Federal things that can be ac
complished-and I am going to list a few of those things that I 
think you can do and play an important role in this-the vast ma- ,. 
jority of effort to turn this problem around has to come from local 
resources and local communities. And it doesn't necessarily have to 
cost a lot of money. It is going to require time. It is going to require 
volunteerism on the part of the community members, and it does 
require a lot of mentoring and a lot of skill building, because there 
are definitely folks who need help in knowing what to do with 
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their kids and knowing how to build values for them, because they 
may not have had a good value system themselves to begin with. 

So there are a lot of ways that community members can help. 
There are a lot of ways that we can get involved in mentoring as 
business people to expand the opportunities for minorities and for 
youth to become employed. So the more that we can do on a volun
teer basis, that will only augment the efforts that we can accom
plish through the money that we can raise. 

In everything that we do, we need to hold kids above all else. We 
need to examine every act that we take, whether it is as an individ
ual person or as a government official, and examine what we are 
doing in terms of its effect on kids and its benefit to kids. 

That having been said, I think that there are several things that 
Federal officials can do that will help local efforts in trying to 
combat these very serious problems. The first one is to support pro
grams that would give us a risk assessment ability at either prena
tal stages or very early childhood stages to determine what fami
lies or what births may be at risk for child abuse, and then provide 
services on an intensive basis to those families to prevent the child 
abuse potential that they may have, given their risk factors. There 
has been a program, such as the one that has begun in another 
community, that has been very successful, and we know that those 
types of things can work. 

I think the other thing that we need to look at is the level of 
education in this country. We should encourage programs that will 
educate parents and children side by side. There are some pro
grams already in effect in Tucson that have been very successful to 
not only encourage parents to get GED's, that don't have them, but 
also to learn how they can help their children and become more 
involved in the educational processes of their children. Those pro
grams are very important, not only in terms of increasing self
esteem, but also increasing the economic well-being of that particu
lar family. 

The other things that can be attempted are minority and inner
city development incentives, either through the government con
tractual services that are available or through direct incentives. 
The other thing that can be attempted is to require a minimum 
level of youth employment in every government contract that is 
awarded, similar to what we did for minority business involvement 
in past years. 

We need to make sure that there are adequate funds earmarked 
for juvenile court programs, and specifically the ones that are des
perately in need of funding at the moment, are those that are ear
marked for either prevention services or early intervention serv
ices. We need to refocus the way that we look at the system and we 
need to make sure that for the kids there are services that are 
available that can help them prevent any further recurrence of de
linquency and a return to juvenile court sentence. 

The final thing that I would add is that there seems to be, when 
we look at prevention, a very all or nothing approach. We seem to 
think that we either have to look at prevention in terms of only 
prevention dollars and not incarceration dollars, or only incarcer
ation dollars and not prevention dollars. 

L-________________________________ _ 
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It is very important to find both, and the reason for that is that 
there is an entire group of people that prevention services have 
missed in this country, because we haven't focused on doing those 
kinds of things. And whether we like it or not, a good portion of 
those folks are dangerous and, when they commit crimes, do need 
to be incarcerated. We cannot say we will take these dollars from 
incarceration and put them into prevention. We have to do both at 
the same time. 

I think with those perspectives and a good action plan, there are 
certainly things that the Federal Government can do to help local 
communities that are motivated to do better. Tucson is certainly 
such a community, and I think that we do have advantage in that 
we are willing to work together and willing to cooperate, and there 
is a lot we can still do to turn this problem around, once we are 
honest about it and we know that we need to get involved to re
solve those issues. 

Thank you. 
[The prepared statement of Ms. Treadwell-Rubin follows:] 
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STATEMENT OF 
PAl,IELA TREADWELL-RUBIN 

PIMA COUNTY ATTORNEY'S OFFICE 

CHAIRPERSON AND MEMBERS OF THE COMMITTEE: 

Thank you for the invitation to address you today. I would 
I ike to share wi th you some of my experi ences in the juveni I e 
system, and offer some suggestions on how to act now to reduce the 
problem of youth violence. I have. recently finished my second 
stint at the Pima County Juvenile Court Center, most recently as 
the supervisor of the county Attorney's Office uni t there. I 
remember when I first started there, being surprised at the types 
of crimes kids were committing. What I didn't know then was that 
those were the "good old days." 

During the last year I spent as a trial deputy in juvenile 
court, approximately four years ago, it was very rare for a youth 
to be referred at age 8, the minimum age of jurisdiction. It was 
rare for kids to be charged with homicide, and when it happened, it 
was one to five times a year. A transfer petition on a 16 year 
old was also not frequent, and hotly contested when it occurred. 
Weapons-related offenses among juveniles were rare, and kids did 
not bring guns to school. We were just beginning to hear about 
gangs, and becoming concerned about their transplantation into our 
community. 

Last "year, it was a very different story indeed. There were 
many 8 year olds referred, and one had accumulated so many 
referrals while in out-of-court Diversionary services, that it was 
necessary to petition to bring him into court, all before his ninth 
birthday. Two children younger than 8 were involved in an arson 
fire, causing hundreds of thousands of property damage. The 
juvenile homcide rate for our County increased 340%, and included 
potential death penalty cases, and the transfer of a 14 year old 
girl, the youngest ever here. Transfer requests were made more 
frequently than ever before, due to the frightening lack of secure 
juvenile bed space for those "really needing to be confined, and a 
diminishing set of dispositional alternatives in juvenile court. 
Those alternatives ran out more quickly than before, because kids 
were referred at younger ages and with more severe treatment 
problems than juvenile court was ever designed to deal with. Gang
related crime increased exponentially in every neighborhood, among 
every ethnic group, and put schools at serious risk for the first 
time, with several shootin.gs on school property. Weapons at school 
became at least a weekly occurrence. 

It is time to admit we have failed--failed our youth and our 
law-abiding citizens. It is time to demand an honest assessment of 
the nature and causes of our problems, and act swiftly and 
extensively to solve them. We have placed the interests of adults 
above those of children for too many years. We do not do enough to 
ensure that children can grow and prosper in a safe environment, 
before they or their fami lies are in crisis. Viol ence is NOT 
simply a problem for our youth. At all levels of society, we have 
become desensitized to violence. We want something for nothing, 
and we no longer accept responsibility for ourselves. We want 
someone else--often the government--to fix it for us. Those 
attitudes are pervasive--not just in dysfunctional families--and 
are being adopted by our children. 

Our office has realized that such problems will not be solved 
in the courts alone, and they will not be solved without the help 
of every citiien. There are things we can do, however, to make our 
futures better. 
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1) We must act, in all things we do, as though kids are 
this country's most important resource. Saying so alone 
will not get it done; 

2) We must admit that we are not adequatel y training our 
youth for the challenges they will face in the coming 
century, and that we have fail ed to provide viabl e 
employment alternatives in inner-city neighborhoods; 

3) We must recognize that inadequate or absentee 
parenting is creating entire generations of 
kids who have no values or counterproductive ones, 
meaning a much greater treatment burden on those 
attempting to deal with kids or families in crisis; and 

4) We must understand, and demand honesty of decision
makers about, the fact that gangs are a problem of every 
community, regardless of size or affluence, an.d every 
race including whites, and that they are attractlve only 
when'positive structures have failed. 

Though many changes are best accomplished at the local level, there 
are things you can do. Here are a few examples: 

1) Support programs that will create ways .to screen ~ll 
families either prenatally or just after bl.rth, for ns.k
of child abuse, and to provide in-home' services, 
including ongoing parental mentoring, to those most at 
risk; 

2) Increase incentives to those on public assistance to 
further their education and job training, and limit the 

.length of aid. they can receive; \ 

3) Encourage programs that educate parents and children 
side-bY-side. Doing so furthers parent~l education and 
station in life, as well as encouraging parental partner
ship in a child's education; 

4) Offer minority business and inner-city development 
incenti ves that provide an opportuni ty for revital i zation 
and viabl e employment, that neighborhoods can take an 
ownership interest in; 

5)' Create a requirement for. a minimum' level of youth 
employment in every goyernment contract; 

6) Ensure that there are adequate funds earmarked for 
community prevention and early intervention, of juvenile 
delinquency; and 

7) Continue to fund incarceration at current levels at 
1 east, .whil e funding prevention. In.. the 'long run, it is' 
much cheaper. to fund prevention; howev.er,. it Is clear 
that there are still high numbers of dangerous offenders 
who did not receive prevention services, and who now-need 
to be locked up. Itis not a choice between prevention 
and incarceration, you must do both. 

I hope that this information is of use to you as you search 
for ways to deal with the very serious problem of youth violence. 
It has been said that man's greatest inhumanity to man is to be 
indifferent. The problems we have today exist because for too long 
we have bel ieved that violence was someone else's probl em .. We have 
said young people were important, but we have not acted that way. 
It is not too late if we act quickly and comprehensively. It will 
be too.la~e very soon if we fail to act . .. 
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Senator DECONCINI. Thank you very much, Ms. Rubin. 
I have a lot of questions, but our time is a little short today. Let 

me ask the law enforcement folks, do you have special training 
needs, which I think is probably yes, and special training programs 
in existence, when it comes to how your officers are going to work 
with teenage offenders in the community, gangs, et cetera? It 
seems to me there's a need for some experience training, but I just 
don't know how the police departments handle it. Chief, could you 
give us a little enlightenment? 

Chief HEDTKE. Senator, the need to address the awareness of how 
to deal with the special group here of young people, we certainly 
understand and we have the problem in dealing with not only 
youth, but all the other different varieties of special groups that 
exist in our community, so that service can be directed and can be 
effective. 

We are in the process of continuing to develop a training pro
gram for all of our departmental staff that deal with that sense of 
awareness, not only as it relates to youth, but to elderly and to the 
various ethnic groups within the community. There has been over 
time in-service training to deal with the gang issue for all of our 
personnel, but the reality is that the types of things that need to be 
done we need substantial amounts of support for, because the time 
out of staff to be trained and putting programs together is not inex
pensive and it is not without cost, both in terms of dollars and in 
terms of staff time. The needs I think are critical for all of us to 
understand the specific particularities of any group that we serve, 
and young people are no exception. 

One of the comments that I heard the previous panel make this 
morning that I thought was quite on target is that we must include 
the young people in the development of those programs. All too 
often, we as adults tend to treat a young person as though they are 
a thing that is there, but they don't have any perception nor per
spective about the issues. And nothing could be further from the 
truth. If they are not part of the resolution to the problem, I don't 
think the resolution is going to work. The last time I checked with 
people, when you stuff something down their throat, they usually 
throw it back at you. 

Senator DECONCINI. Thank you. 
Mr. Smith? 
Mr. SMITH. We don't have any training like that. Quite honestly, 

we rely on Tucson and Pima County for assistance. We have their 
officers come down to help train us. 

Senl'ltor DECONCINI. Sheriff? 
Mr. DUPNIK. I think the chief covered the subject pretty well, 

Senator. The Tucson Police Department, as you mayor may not 
know, is the second police department in the United States to start 
a school resource officer program back I think in 1961 and has 
been a pioneer in that area ever since. 

One of the things that we are experimenting with ourselves, we 
have started a pilot program down in Green Valley, because it pro
vides I think a little more optimum laboratory for experimentation, 
and that is the utilization of volunteers with drug education. We 
simply do not have enough resources to do the kind of education 
that needs to be done, and it is our sense that there are a signifi-
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cant number of qualified people who are retired and willing to get 
involved and help us out, if we provide them with the forum to do 
that. So we are very hopeful that we are going to be able to develop 
that program in Green Valley and then perhaps elsewhere in the 
community. 

Senator DECONCINI. Thank you. 
I want to thank the panelists very much for their helpfulness in 

the hearings today. Some of those ideas are going to be very, very 
helpful to the committee. Thank you for being with us. 

I notice that a Member of the House of Representatives, Phil 
Hubbard, is here with us, and there may be other members. If you 
will identify yourselves, I will be glad to introduce you. Thank you, 
Representative Hubbard, for joining us and joining us last night, as 
well. 

Our next panel is composed of community organizations and edu
cators. We are very pleased to have Superintendent Garcia from 
the Tucson Unified School District with us, Alice Ramirez from 
Sunnyside School District, Roy Cooksey from Martin Luther King 
Inc., Mr. Noonan from Our Town organization, Enriqueta Romero, 
from Pima Community College, John Sharpe from Gangbusters, 
and Rod Mullen from Amity Drug Treatment. 

If you would all come forward, we will proceed with your state
ments. Your full statements will be inserted in the record, as all 
statements will here. If you can, summarize them for us. It would 
be helpful as far as time. 

Superintendent Garcia, thank you for taking the time from your 
busy schedule at Tucson Unified School District. You cover such a 
wide area of great diversity, and we welcome your testimony here 
and you may proceed to summarize it for us, please. 

PANEL CONSISTING OF GEORGE F. GARCIA, SUPERINTENDENT, 
TUCSON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT; ALICE RAMIREZ, SUNNY
SIDE SCHOOL DISTRICT; ROY COOKSEY, MARTIN LUTHER 
KING, INC.; DENNIS W. NOONAN, OUR TOWN; ENRIQUETA 
ROMERO, PIMA COMMUNITY COLLEGE; JOHN SHARPE, GANG
BUSTERS; ROD MULLEN, AMITY DRUG TREATMENT; AND 
DENNIS D. EMBRY, PRESIDENT, HEART SPRING, INC 

STATEMENT OF GEORGE F. GARCIA 

Mr. GARCIA. Thank you, Senator. 
We appreciate having been invited to this very important forum. 

I am pleased to have the opportunity to present some of my 
thoughts and observations about violence among young people, par
ticularly as it affects public schools. What occurs in our schools 
today is often a direct reflection of what we see in society at large. 

A lot of the comments of other panelists this morning are right 
on target. As our communities and our families are changing, so is .. 
the impact on our schools. The changing role of the family, the 
changing values and structures within our society have all had a 
major impact on how we conduct business in our schools. 

In TUSD, the 58th largest district in the country, with approxi
mately 58,000 youngsters, we recognize this fact of change and 
have taken a series of aggressive pro-active steps to address the 
issue of youth violence head-on and to prevent it in our schools. We 
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feel these additional steps have paid off, although it is always diffi
cult to quantify or otherwise assess the results of incidents that do 
not occur. 

My comments today are more specific and directed at the kinds 
of initiatives that we have undertaken in TUSD, perhaps to give 
you a model that might be of some use, as you continue your delib
erations regarding this critical issue to society. 

In 1989, our district formed a violence prevention team of securi
ty professionals to help prevent crises that lead to violence and to 
educate students, parents and staff about school safety techniques. 
The team is still in existence and it coordinates its efforts very 
closely with local law enforcement and public safety agencies. 

Before coming to Tucson, I was Superintendent in the Kansas 
City, Missouri School District, and I found in Tucson a great col
laborative spirit. Someone in the earlier panel mentioned that the 
police department in Tucson started the SRO program very early, 

.. -'l 20 years ago. That is our school resource officer team. 
The violence prevention team in our district works daily with all 

of the law enforcement agencies and other agencies within the city 
to try to cooperate and make sure that we can be aware of any 
changes in our community, even overnight, that may impact or 
have an effect on school activity at whatever school throughout the 
district. We have 104 schools in the district. 

In November of 1991, TUSD experienced its first and only stu
dent shooting on a high school campus. We realized instantly the 
need to build on our earlier anti-violence efforts, so I called for a 
citywide task force on community violence in schools, not for the 
sake of just another committee, but, rather, to bring together the 
best ideas our community could offer, as we try to address an issue 
that affects so many of us. 

The task force met in many open meetings to discuss every 
aspect of the problem and to devise concrete workable solutions 
and also solutions that have to be incorporated within the con
straints of our budget. The result of the task force was a series of 
recommendations to our governing board in August 1992. 

I might add that one of the conclusions of the task force was that 
the problem of violence in schools is not a problem of the schools, it 
is a problem of the community and it is going to take the entire 
community to come about in resolving this issue. 

Taken together, those recommendations represent one of the 
most positive results oriented projects TUSD has ever undertaken. 
New initiatives from the task force include site safety committees 

1.. at each of our schools, allowing safety techniques and approaches 
~ to be customized as needed, so that all 104 schools have school 

safety committees in which faculty, administration, parents and 
community members deal with issues of safety in the school and 
provide a pro-active strategy to deal with those considerations. 

Second, our governing board has taken a very strong stance on 
mandatory expulsion for students found to be carrying weapons. 
Last year, we had 52 youngsters who were expelled for bringing 
weapons to school. This year, the number is about the same. We 
have not concluded with all of the hearings, but we believe that as 
we send the message that weapons will not be allowed in schools, 
this will lead to a diminution of that activity. 

74-122 0 - 94 - 6 
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A rewriting of the student document explaining the district's 
policies governing student conduct, titled "Guidelines for Rights 
and Responsibilities," we believe that youngsters and parents need 
to know exactly what the expectations are in the school, and we 
have made a concerted effort to try to educate not only the young
sters, but the parents about their responsibilities, as well as their 
rights of being a member of our school district. We believe that, 
ovel' time, this will have a major impact on how students under
stand what it is that is expected of them in terms of behavior in 
the school. 

We have also established a safety zone program in every school, 
offering a special phone message number to be used by anyone to 
report incidents of violence, gang activity or suspected activity, 
rumors or anything that could lead to violence. In the first year of 
operation, that has brought a tremendous amount of information to 
us that has led to intervention and prevention of potential situa
tions. 

Fourthly, immediate intervention and investigation of safety 
zone calls by a well-trained violence prevention team, preventing 
potential crises at the source. This violence prevention team is 
mobile, and so it is able to move from school to school, as needed. 

Fifthly, an ongoing series of detailed presentations to parents, 
staff and community groups on'school safety and violence preven
tion. Finally, parents on patrol, an innovative· program that in
volves parents in school safety techniques. 

These are some of the immediate steps that we have taken, and 
this year we found that we had less violent activity or violent acts 
that occurred within the schools than in prior years. And we be
lieve that as we continue in involving the whole school community, 
the parents, the teachers, the administration and other support 
personnel, as well as the community around us, that we will con
tinue to make progress in this arena. 

Of course, these initiatives are dealing very specifically with the 
school environment consideration. I think, as many of the panelists 
before us, that the long-term solutions have to be more in the 
arena of education, and we do have within our curriculum, in our 
instructional programs a variety of things that we have been ex
perimenting with. 

The SRO's is one program that I have talked about. The county 
has been very supportive with our D,A.R.E. Program, which is a 
Federal initiative. One of the things that we have found most effec
tive is peer mediation. In all of our middle schools and many of our 
elementary schools and in some of our high schools, we have begun 
to train students to be peer mediators and to resolve problems that 
can lead to potential violence within the schools, and that has been 
very, very effective. 

We are also initiating this coming year year-round schools, with 
five elementary schools and one middle school. We believe that if 
we use our time over the 12 months more effectively and keep 
youngsters engaged and have shorter periods of vacation times, 
where they can be more unsupervised as more families now leave 
their youngsters at home without supervision, that we may be able 
to impact on this whole issue of youth violence. 
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We are also initiating a program called the Fourth R, which has 
to do with the Fourth R being reading, writing, arithmetic and the 
Fourth R being readiness for the world of work, and one compo
nent of that thrust is community development. We are exploring 
the possibility of requiring all of our youngsters to do community 
service before graduating from our high schools. We believe that 
might also lead to mentoring from community members across the 
community and might keep our youngsters with more adult super
vision and more adult intervention during their experience with 
the schools. 

From the Federal level, Senator, I would continue to urge you to 
continue to support any funding for early childhood programs. The 
State of Arizona is very, very backward from the rest of the coun
try in providing financial support for early childhood programs. In 
Arizona, in TUSD, as most districts in the State of Arizona, there 

J! is no all-day kindergarten. We can only provide a half-day kinder
garten program. We are way behind the rest of the country in this 
endeavor, and we also have no programs for preschool initiatives. 

Before coming to Arizona, as I mentioned, I was in Missouri, and 
I would encourage you to look at the Missouri initiative called Par
ents as Teachers program, in which the State of Missouri has 
funded this program to begin to intervene with both parents and 
children at the ages of 3 and 4 years, so the parent begins to learn 
how to parent the child and the process with school, and this is a 
program that doesn't end in 1 year, but it continues to support par
ents and the home and participating in school development. 

One of the major villains of what we are dealing with in terms of 
youth violence is poverty, and unless we can break that cycle of 
poverty for many of these families, we won't be successful in the 
long run in preventing violence in our communities. 

I should emphasize that every city and school district is different 
and that violence prevention techniques need to be tailored to indi
vidual communities. There is still much to be done. For example, 
we will see many untapped opportunities for working even more 
closely with parents on this issue. However, by taking a pro-active 
uncompromising approach, schools can do much to safeguard their 
students and pursue their ultimate mission of instruction. 

It is obvious to me that school safety is perhaps the number one 
issue in the minds of parents today. There is evidence everywhere 
we turn that parents want schools to do more in providing a secure 
learning environment. As educators, we must respond and adapt to 
that need with creativity and determination. 

Thank you again, Senator, for this opportunity to address the im
portant issue of violence among young people, particularly as it re
lates to our schools. I hope that our experiences at TUSD provide 
hope to other urban districts, as they too grapple with the unprece-
dented challenges of school safety. 

Senator DECONCINI. Thank you, Mr. Garcia, for the background 
of the Tucson Unified School District and also some very innova
tive programs. 

Ms. Ramirez, we are very pleased to have you here. 
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STATEMENT OF ALICE RAMIREZ 

Ms. RAMIREZ. Thank you very much, Senator. It is a pleasure to 
be here with you today, and I was with you last night. I was sitting 
right behind you. 

Senator DECONCINI. I saw you there. Thank you for being there, 
as well. 

Ms. RAMIREZ. I want to say ditto to about 99 percent of the 
things that Dr. Garcia stated, we are also doing in our smaller 
school district of 13,730 students, the Sunnyside School District. 

We are very pleased to be able to tell you something today. Be
cause of the need and lack of funding, we are becoming extremely 
creative in Tucson. We have a partnership. As we speak, we have a 
summer program going on in two of our high schools, and we call it 
the summer enrichment program. 

Thanks to city dollars, parks and recreation, community agencies 
assisting us and the help of the Tucson Police Department, we have 
been able to develop programs for the children, and were it not for 
the people from the Tucson Police Department and the juvenile 
court center that assist us in the monitoring of the program, the 
safety issue would be compromised. So that is a very important 
piece of the pie. 

The agencies provide us at cost or below-cost services, which is 
another very important component. The prevention dollars the dis
trict receives fund specialty areas, and, of course, city parks and 
recreation provides the athletics and the supervisory staff, so that 
is one way where we are trying to save us all dollars. But we pro
vide minimum services and really stick our necks out, because we 
need more assistance. But if it comes, we will welcome it; if not, we 
will roll up our sleeves and continue to provide the services, be
cause of needs of the kids. 

What I want to make reference to today, too, is that in trying to 
understand why our youth in our schonl district have been turning 
to violence, we want to take a closer look at what the enablers are 
and those enablers are very defmitely parental problems, parental 
neglect, use and abuse of drugs, and with that I include alcohol, be
cause alcohol abuse is a big problem among our Hispanic and 
Native American population in our school district. 

Availability of weapons, which is of concern to our community, 
our community lives in fear. We had another drive-by yesterday. 
We have them on a weekly basis in the neighborhoods in my com
munity, which is by the airport. Lack of recognition, lack of 
empowerment, those feelings that kids have that don't make them 
feel like they are contributing citizens are something we all need to 
look very closely at and try to do something about. 

Kids are looking to satisfy other human needs, and if they can't 
fmd what they seek, they may turn to gangs and violence in order 
to do so. Common threads I have observed among the youth that 
are involved in this kind of violent act are anger and frustration or 
trying to get back at something or somebody. 

We need to keep in mind, also, that youth involved in "violent 
crime can also and often do come from affluent families, not just 
from lower socioeconomic levels. As some newspaper articles wit
nesses recently, also, we have some kids who come from the Catali-
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na Foot Hills, so it doesn't necessarily mean that people from cer
tain parts of town are the only ones involved in crime. And the 
danger of this is that a lot of kids get a kick or a rush out of doing 
a criminal at or by holding a weapons, as well. I am sure that our 
law enforcement people here can elaborate on that issue, because a 
lot of kids are doing that and it is very frightening. 

The mass media I feel must also accept responsibility for nega
tively influencing our youth. We need to look at the kind of enter
tainment the kids are watching and listening to. We need to take a 
look at what impacts on them. In many cases, what can be enter
tainment to some people can be obsessive to ot}:ler people, so youth 

... do get impacted a lot by entertainment or the mass media. I do not 
do it as an attack on the mass media, because I have a daughter 
who makes her living working at a television locally. I have great 
respect for what they do well, but I disxespect what they do very, 
very carelessly. 

Drugs also affect our youth seriously. Drugs introduce more con
fusion, youth may perceive themselves as invincible with no 
thought to consequences. And if you compound that with the acces
sibility of weapons, we have what is happening in Tucson now. 

I want to share my time today with an agency that to USD and 
Sunnyside School district are working with in trying to reduce the 
incidence of violence in the Tucson community, and with that I 
will introduce and concede my time to Dr. Dennis Embry. 

[Ms. Ramirez submitted the following:] 
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Summary Statement 
Alice Ramirez, Prevention Coordinator 

Cour~ records document 1550 offenses committed (each offense counted 
separately). District policy violations total 2028. 

Driv~-bys and homicides in our part of the community have accelerated. 
The effects are felt in the total community. 

Conditions that contribute to youths's negative involvement: Low 
Socio-economic level; high minority population with lack of opportuni
ties; high dropout rate; high absenteeism at school, low academic 
standing, family, community, school and personal enablers. All help 
create characteristics that m~y put youth at a disadvantage. 

In trying to understand why youth is turning to violence we need to 
look closer at "the enablers. Parental neglect;, use/abuse of drugs, 
~ilability of weapons, lack of recognition, lack of empowerment. 
Kids looking to satisfy other human needs, ~/ho can't find what they 
peek, can turn to gangs and violence in order to do so. Common threads 
are anger and frustration. 

Youth involved in violent crime can also come from affluent families 
if these children's needs are not being met. 

The mass media must also accept responsibility for negatively influ
encing our youth. They must change the type of "entertainment" they 
offer to our kids. 

Drug use affects our youth seriously. It introduces more confusion. 
Youth may perceive themselves as invincible with no thought to conse
quences. Compound this with accessibility to weapons and we have what 
is now being experienced in Tucson. 

We must change the conditions in our society that allow qangerous 
weapons to get into the hands of children. We must all pay attention 
to the messages our youth communicate. We need more eyes, ears, 
monitoring and law enforcement to make our community safer and a 
child-friendly ~lace to live. Schools cannot do it alone. 

May 27, 1993 

sen. Dennis DeConcini 
2730 East Broadway, #106 
TUcson, AZ 85716-5340 

Dear Sir: 

The following is in response to your letter of May 18, 1993 inviting 
me to participate in a field hearing on the alarming increase in youth 
violence. Thank you for your kind invitation. I will welcome the 
opportunity to share information and present my concerns. 

sunnyside Unified School District No. 12 (K-12 enrollment 13,730) lies 
within an economically depressed area in Tucson (up to 61% of students 
on free/reduced lunch) with high Hispanic (74%) and Native American 
(3'1;) student counts. Fourteen percent are identified as limited 

Bnglish proficient. sunnyside School District is experiencing a high 
drop-out rate (13% in grades 9-12), and high absenteeism (6.6% in 
grades 6-8, 6.5% in grades 9-12). Among those who stay in school, 
between nineteen and thirty-three percent of seventh and eighth 
graders and fifty percent in grades 9 to 12 fail to maintain satisfac-

~~----~~-
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tory progress toward graduation (ineligibility). As you can see, many 
of our youth have characteristics that put them at a disadvantage. 

As'Prevention coordinator for my school district, I must state that I 
feel frustration that we see the ineidence of youth crime and violence 
on the increase. On the average, we see about 150 name of young people 
with sunnyside area addresses on the monthly court probation lists. 
The last district suspensions/offense report (for violation of Dis
trict policies) that I received in my office (for week ending 5-14~93) 
list~d the following year-to-date information: Total of 595 student 
offenses for physical abuse, assault or threat; 6 offenses for posses
sion and/or use of tobacco; 12 offenses for being under the influence 
of a controlled substance; 47 offenses for possession of a controlled 
substance; 11 offenses for sale or transfer of a controlled substance; 
80 for profane/abusive language or material; 286 for disruptive 
behavior; 161 for defiance of authority; 31 for vandalism; 4 for 
falsification of document; 19 for posseF.sion or use of weapons; 23 for 
theft; 70 gang related; 433 for truancyjtardies; and 235 "other" for a 
total of 2028 suspensions. 

Enclosed you will find copies of supportive data provided to my office 
from Pima county Juvenile Court. This documentation shows the location 
of our census tracks and number of arrests (offenses) by type. The 
total nUmber of offenses of our District's students for the 1992-93 
school year was 1,550. Records are kept on numbers of offenses by 
school. 

In our school district we have certainly had our share of youth crime 
and violence as many newspaper articles and television coverage will 
attest. Attached you will find copies of stories on just four of the 
violent crimes we've had to deal with on our campuses. Anytime an 
incident happens there are repercussions felt in many of our schools. 
We have had to activate our crisis teams several times this past 
school year to deal with issues and incidents that have had an effect 
on the smooth functioning of our schools. 

I have lived in this area for 28 years and have never seen the youth 
violence and crime that we are now witnessing. The recent shooting 
deaths of three district male students and wounding of several others 
is of great concern to our district and community. 

In order to begin to understand why youth is turning to violence 
perhaps we need to take a look at the conditions that enable this to 
happen. We need to acknowledge the family, personal, school and 
community enablers that have assisted in developing a generation of 
stressed-out idle young people that, for whatever reasons, were 
neglected by their parents and are finding their identities in drugs, 
alcohol, violent movies/entertainment and delinquent gangs. A definite 
trend tnwRrdR more serious crime has emerged in recent years with the 
growing abuse of drugs and availability of weaponsl Research says that 
most youth who commit crimes of violence are seeking attention from a 
parent or a significant person or person. People who feel isolated and 
without support of others, especially their parents, seek recognition 
through Violence. Human beings today have the same needs, we've always 
had, only, in the case of criminal youth, the people are just not 
there to provide it. Kids have the same needs, yet we have whole. 
families that are pulled apart by economics, distance, death, divorce, 
etc. There does not seem to be a role model present that will guide 
them, talk/mentor them and give them structure and recognition. Some 
youth often find security through their peers, this often means the 
fraternity of a gang, where the way to become accepted is to become 
involved in sometimes violent crime. The common threads we see in the 
violence of our youth are guns, anger and frustration. 

children that act out these disruptive behaviors also may come from 
our more affluent neighborhoods and heads of househol~s, They can come 
from parents of any income. Wealthier kids that are disturbed by their 
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circumstances can become inwardly destructive because of demands they 
feel are placed on them for achievement/accomplishment. When we see 
hard-working, dual-career parents we may be dealing with absentee 
parenting with high levels of expectations. If these children feel 
their parents do not accept their failure they may skip school, 
develop temper tantrums and all of the other signs of stress. A way 
they may react to not having their distress recogni~ed is violent 
behavior. 

When the mass media become the role models for kids they often find 
entertainment that depicts violence. Youth are desensitized to the 
con~equences of violence by the graphic presentations in movies and 
can also be greatly influenced by the matter-of-fact presentation of 
wars and violence on television. The fascination of our youth by 
movies about gangs' lifestyles and the killing and mutilations should 
be of concern to all of us. We need to enlist the aid of the movie 
makers to tone down this type of "entertainment". What is only 
"scary" entertainment for one person can become obsessive for another. 

Drug use among our kids, mainly alcohol, also introduces more confu
sion for youth. When under the influence, they may perceive themselves 
as invincible with no thought to consequences for their violent acts. 
Compound this with accessibility to guns and we have a community with 
a serious problem. Tucson is now beginning to feel the effects of the 
syndrome. 

We need to look at a society, a community and parents that allow 
dangerous weapons to get into the hands of children. People need to be 
sensitive to the signs of impending violence and will take action to 
do whatever they can to stop it. 

Youth often communicate their intent to commit a violent act by verbal 
expression or other outward demonstrations in hopes that someone cares 
enough to stop them. We need more ears "listening", more eyes "seeing" 
the children, because if everybody ignores them, they will continue 
the violence and none of us will be safe. Law enforcement cannot do it 
alone. school districts cannot do it alone. It will take all of us 
doing our part in order to stop the violence and keep the peacel 

Yours truly~ 

aLl.<t! lcaJ~;J, 
Alice Ramirez .t 
Prevention Coordinator 
sunnyside Unified school District #12 

cc: Dr. Ernest Fimbres, superintendent 
Mrs. Lydia Baker, Assistant superintendent, Secondary Curriculum 
& Instruction 
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blcle (a SWeI) around 40d lIft'llt 
back and sIlol film." said AtmIJo. He 
srJ61t b lICIt ucnro wbettler Wool. 
brfjl.b.t aod MlcbaeJ tntw each 
olber. 

Lesa lbaa h1J bout'S laltr. Wool. 
brljbrs Blazer was..sclzled. 00. West 
Saata Paull Street and SoUlb Mfs. 
slnodale R04\L Detectives abO 
seatdlrtl two apartments 01 180 W. 
Valeocla Road. Authontic:! would 
DQUay It any 1!.V\"tnc~wu found al 
lbellllirtmenl1. 

Atmf,lo elId say • bancIfUa. j,e. 
UeWd 10 be lilt!: -tapaD ustd In Ibe 
klllln&.wa.stound,bulbe woulc1not 
elaborale as to _ben: It was tound. 

Maowhlle. a busJoad IUId car. 
loa~ 01 Apollo pupIls aDd leacl!;. 
en! wenl to Frant and AlIce CtIa· 
yen: bome yelttroa, t1) UJ!rt3I 

thelrcondoletlccsoverUlelQlSor 
Ihelr&randsoll. 

.. It truly b hard.. Mlcbad 1r1IJ OW' 

!::Ii!\~e!::~!::~w~ m:! 
ls haV'e hI.Ilh." he SIlId. 

DonaHolll can: be made to tAt JdJ.. 
cbael GoYtmaJe F\lnd at Flnt lDttr-
.stateBIIDkOfA!1zoIll..834W.Valra_ 
cia Road. to tlelp PII1 for UlelUallf'll1 .-

V1e'1rilll 01 lbe bodJ "'U be oa 
Monda,. belllU\lrlS at 1:3Cl- p.tn. at \JIll 
Cl'lavez lamlly bome, 5lSa S. Alasb 
Drive. The mSlu)' wlU be JIIld at a 
p.rn.. and a Yf&il "U 10110" unHI 
sunrise on Tuesday. 

ne- tub(!ml M&!II ..tll be at 8:$3 
D.m. Tuesday at MlsVob Sa4 XaYler 
del Bac.andb:lrialwlUlollowatUJe 
ml:s!loaeemetel'l'. 

Wca\brlVlt 1llI0 Chrtstoptler M. 
Hedlle., TUc::son Pollee Oden Elall1e 
Hedtke's son. were chal'led In an 
Incidenlllboul,,"oweeuagolnvolv, 
Inl reports of IUnshot1 nred at .. 
central TUC$On llpanmenl compleL 

OnIalt. 211.Ileditelll'aschllrgN 
witb curlew vlolaUons. and Wool. 
bright was chal'led wllb ettntrlbut. 
Inc (Q thel1ellnquency of II minor. 

Bnlln ElIJul O'Kelley. ". was aw 
chal'led wUh conlnbulltll to the de
IInquency ola mInor and wllb dJ:s. 
cl'lar&lna a fireann WllbIll cit)' 
limits,. 

~ 
0) 
C<:l 
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i T~en shQt in neck, 2nd held 
~n ,gradLiation-party gunfire 
f;y HiPolito R. Corella _ The first officers wbo alTived at 
The ArIzona Dally SIB. the scene said they found several 

.": .. '., A 17·year-old boy was shot In the youtbs with bandguns running down 
<:·t;F, neck early 'Yesterday morning dur- !be sidewalks. . 
-:-:'::.\:' Ing D blgh scbool graduatlon party Josepb was In good condltlon last 
-:,:,~:,.:,:·thDt erupted In gunfire on the city's night after surgery at a local bospl-, 
: ::".:' soutbslde, police said. tal, a bospltal spokeswoman saId.ln-
',' "', .. ,', vestlgators asked that the hospital 
, ., "', A 16-year-old boy was lIl'mlted In not be Identlfled because they fear 

rconnectlon with the gang-related 'rival gang members would seek him' 
, ',' ,Sbootlng, said Detectlve Jelf Moore, out. " 

~ of the Tucson Police Department' Alex Lawrence Encinas, 16. 01 the', 
After Telon Joseph was shot, JXl" 600 block of West Elvira Street, was 

, .. ~ltce said. several others pulled ollt arrested about an hour after. the" . 
,',' ,. , guns and fired a volley of shots In abootlng, Moore sa~.d. Encinas. who 
'. ltbe 200 block 01 West Santa louisa, uses the street name "June Bug.". 

Street No one else In the crowd of was being beld on charges of aggra_ ~ 
about 200 youtbs was struck. vated assault and one count 01 gang" . 

.' Josepb. of the 6300 block 01 South threats and Intlmldatlon at the Pima . 
: Van Buren Avenue was shot about 1 ., Couaty Juvenile Court Center. police. 

. ;, a.m. while argutn8 with B group of IIBld. . .: .. 
. " about eight rival gang members B,t· Altboll/lll Encinas Is a JuvenUe. be 

, ,;: the party outside the bome. pollee .Is being Identified by The ArIzona, 
.-, ." said. Dally Star L. 'use of the serlous-: 

.: f Josepb, WhO uses tbe street aame 
_ "T -Dog." was struck once In the 

. ' ,... neck by a bullet fired from a semi-
. "I automatlc pistol. police said, The 

'.. buUet exited tbrough bIs neck near 

ness of tbe charges. . 

Moore said the argllk. ~t b!itween 
the gangs Involved an ear ... ' COD
frontatlon at graduatiOD ceremonies 
at Desert View High School, 4101 E. 
Valencia Road, , , , ... bls spine, 

~; ~::: In"-'d- 1,1,1113 
.' " ," • .' .~" "0'.. • •.•.• , I .' • • , • .. 

.' 
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IS-year-old .held 
in shooting that. 
hurt youth, .12 

. Boy wounded outside home; 
in F~b. 19 drive-by incident .. 
By Carmen Duarte 
-_DoIIySlar 

""Uee atr<sled an l8-year-oJd man lost nlghl In 
tile 1IrIve-by SlloollnB of a I2·Year-oJd boy Dearly two 
Weeks 180, pollee said. . 

DruniaD Mandroo, of tile 700 block of West Holladay 
Stree4 was artes!ed al 6 p.!Il. 81 bls bome aner W!ImIJlIs 
.... ere lIelVed by mem1>e", 01 tile SpedaJ W"poll.!lllDd 
Tactics team, said Sst ErnIe Smltll 01 tile TUaIon ""Uee 
Department. 

Mandroo Wll.U/'J'OSIed by 88118 unli De!ect!V01 Cbtls 
Cues!as IlDd Ron lbomson. He was questioned ebout til. 
Feb. 19 cIrlve-by ""ootlng OD til. dly'. aoul/lsl4e al main 
polle. h .. dqWllters, 270 S. Stone Ave. belore belJ>g 
booked Into tile PJma Coun!)' Jail lost night. :. 

An ApoUo Middle School pupil was ",,01 In til. hIlDd 
and lorearm al 10 p.m. In til. 300 block 01 West Con. 
ada Street. lbe boy. whose Ide.UflcalleD Is belJ>g Wlth. 
held by lbe ArIzona Dally Star lor bls prolectlon, was 
trealed 81 Unlvem!)' MedlC81 Conler IlDd released tIlree 

. days Ilf!er Ibe ",,00Ung. 

Mandros was charged Wltll ODe counl 01 aggravaled 
assaUl4 endangermenl IlDd unlewlulpossesslo. 01 marl. 
juana, said Thomson. M/l.Ddros was belJ>g held Wltlloul 
bond lost night. IlDd Is scIIedUied for an 1nI!1a! cout! 
appearnnce today. . • 

""Uee also tearebed Mandros' hom. aDd bls 
molber'1 bouse, In til. 5800 block 01 Soutll Morris BoUle
vard. Investlgalors seized an ounee 01 mariJuana, dotll. 
Ing IlDd Dotebooks. DeleeUv .. said DO ODe at til. 8d· 
dr .......... lnvolv.d In Ibe drive-by""ooUns. • 

De!ect!v .. are stili aearehlng lor two DtIl.r people, 
tile ..... po. IlDd tile car used In til. drive-by sbool • 
Ing. said Thomson. lbe car was described as 8 ... hlle or 
yellow compact. possibly a lour-door NIssnn or Toyota 
oedan. , 

• lbe boy ..... ""ot WblIe 1l!II.DdlJ>g Dear B gal. IIlaI 
leads to Ibe drlv.way 01 his bome. lbe ""ootlng oc. 
CUrred about two blocks from ... b.re Michael Gov· 
ernal., 13, .... ",,01 F.b. n. Governale, also aD Apollo 
pupl~ died al UMC 4~ mlnut .. alter Ibe drive-by ""oot. 
Ing. 

MIchael J. Woolbright. 18, .... arrested o. F.b. 12 
Ond charged wltll flrsl-degree murd.r In Governal.'s 
.laylng. Woolbright Is being held I. the PIma Coun!), Jan 
on II mUllo. bond. 

Four students from tile Suanyslde Unified School 
DlstrJct have beeD shot ID less tIlaD ODe year. Tbree 01 
th.... stud •• ts - Governale, aDd Oscar LeoD and 
Johany Valenzuela, bolb 16, have died. 

L __ _ 



;. Juror, WhO laW 
·Antonlo Redondo 
lelt year predlctlld 
he'd be back In 
court. 
"RHONDA 
'OOFI~u.I """"--AnIoDIo RocIoado,...-1n the 
thooIlqcloolhofaloc:ol hllhochool 
audellt 00 TuMdaY. wu Ute a 

.bomb woIt1Di 10 upIodo, IOId two 
men who .. on & Jury lD wbleb 
RldoOOo wu • .we...sm-. 
:~r:.;~.: ~ ~ 
bond Oil • 1InI-dopM'1IIUI"dft 

::~:Vf:!W"'b~e..=.= 
Leon, lB. 'fiodondo 0100 II bolna 
held Oil az.500 bond for ... WIJ90 

~.:=':== _pon. 
Leon .. mOl In b111Cboo1 pork. 

lnllo< around 2:30 p ..... Tuooday 
end died ... )lour w.r 01 _ 
Medlcol Ce1lIor. 

A=nIiI!IlO the two ...... who 

1UIPICi. oornJnue<l'2A 

r 

THE TUCSON CITIZEN 

OC+./6)'99;J Thw~chtj· page .... \ of_ \ 

Suspect chills jurors' as shooting case witness. 
Contiouod from 1'" WhDe poIlce ., Redondo boo • 

prior ....... ncon!. Iher ho ...... 
oerved on • jury In tl>e JuI, 1991 /u...t 10 ",leue opoclflC Info.,.... 
.,... .. a1nst.Callfornlo l .... .,.m- .1IonaboutiL 
hor ~ of attempdllllO mul' A=n!1ns 10 jure... Redondo 
d.r a elrel. K d.rt, lIedondo _ laIIIIed 1bal be met De&bIa ond 
offered Immunity to testify qa1nIC another yount man and that the 
then~ Juao Desbla. three or them went to IteIJ bf.er at 

"It wu obvious rrom the It&I1 the convenience store near South 
thOl ho (Redondo) wu the penoll Tw:oon BouI....-d ond Eut 17th 
.... ponslbl. ror the enlire nent. SInri. When a clerk chuod them 
He was the one thal lhould hue out of the store. a volley or fift 
been on IriaI." aa1d • 411-,...-.ld ohots blew out ...... windowo. The 
mechanic. who reared retaJl&tIon' cJerk was uninjured. 
ond ~ed O\IOnJlllltJ. • &tb juran aid they were d. 

m:.:! =r::.:~ridt':r'.!i: r:':o':=~:=w=::: 
umble , .. 11::\ thll ""non.... oaId he .. w Deabia with th.l\UD. 

~~.:.':f!=..~.rtbc~'or ...:s~!J':'JI: ==I~ 
The trial ...... lted In a huns ju..,. 'he bad the au .. ond ho I'" .nce~ 

with only one Nyfna the cuspect at them." Hld tm- other juror, a 
... aulll,. • 36-year-old lruck dri .. r. "You 

could juIt loot C1 hi .. ond tell ho bead. lho Tuc:Ion Pollee lleJ>ort. 
didR', care about anybody or any- ment', gaD, unJL 
thllllo periocL" A Itudenl who IOId sbo ........ 

WbDe poll::e IOId P.edondo bu f.rred IIul 0' Desert VIew because 
.... affiliations, they ha .. not "'" 0' lang viol."", aaId her Ilf ..... 
leased a motin In ~ cue nor thrH1ened becaute of colon she 
have they said whether Leon wu. wol"eorbecauleofwhomlhelalked 
sang member. to. 

And while ochool ocquaIntances '''1lH!y would co"", up 10 me and 
of Leon', insist he was not In a say. 'You'd berter watch it. We're 
Sanl end .... quiet ond oh, • child. Boinl I. cop you' ond oay Ihlnp 
bood lri.nd said yesten!aylhatsho lit. .~~ II dead, It IIIands fer 
knew h" was • member of Barrio death. abe said. 
Centro Her mother N1d she hid to take 

", • .; known him sIDce junior - l:;h ,,-'::l:: .:!,~~ ':'C'": .. :~ 
blah. ~ he .... always throwllll Ihreals her child bad ...,.IYed. :=: .~~t~r.~I:fri:nd~t 0011 lOt to the point where it wu 

~Ins ~ .IIMII. wa, to ~ ~:~ro~d~::~~rS~cou.!~t~-= 
commun!cate WIth other pap and aJmosc lie she was restricted 10 
~hen an invitation for. conrronta- wearing white all the time," the 
liOn, aid Sgt. Sino MoUna. who Nid • 

'" 

..... 
eD 
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OS/24/93 Number of offenses, by offense type (see below), for each school; 

SCHOOL 

ApoLLo ~!r HI9h 
COUNT 40 

Apollo Jr HI9h 
COUNT 83 

ApoLLo ...Ir HI9h 
COUNT 21 

ApoLLo ...Ir High 
COUNT 14 

Apollo ...Ir HI9h 
COUNT' 29 

ApoLLo ...Ir HI9h 
COUNT 55 

Apollo ...Ir High 
Apollo ...Ir High TOTAL 
COUNT 242 

SCHOUL 

Craycroft Elementary 
COUNT 1 

Craycroft Elementary 
COUNT 3 

Craycroft Elementary 
COUNT 6 

Craycroft Elementary 
Craycroft Elementary TOTAL 
COUNT 10 

SCHOOL 

Chaparra l ...Ir High 
COUNT 38 

Chaparral ...Ir High 
COUNT 72 

Chaparral Jr Hi9h 
COUNT 10 

Chaparral Jr High 
COUNT 28 

• Chap"rra l ...Ir Hi9h 
COUNT 39 

Chaparral ...Ir HI9h 
COUNT 65 

Chaparra l Jr High 
Ch.p"rr"l Jr HI9h TOTAL 
C(1UNT 252 

OFFENSE CROUP 

1 

2 

4 

:; 

6 

OFFENSE CROUP 

1 

2 

5 

OFFENSE GROUP 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

Offense: 1=perso"s, 2=prope,-ty, 3=drugs, 4=technlcal, 5 c peacel 6=status 
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OS/24/93 Number of offenses, by offense type (see below). for each school; 

SCHOOl 

Desert View 
COUNT 39 

Desert View 
COUNT 104 

Desert View 
COUNT 19 

Desert View 
COUNT 47 

Desert View 
COUNT 53 

Desert View 
COUNT 93 

Desert View 
Desert View TOTAL 
COUNT 343 

SCHOOL 

DI-exel Elementary 
COUNT 1 

Drexel Elementary 
COUNT 2 

Drexel Elementary 
COUNT :3 

Drexel Elementary 
Drexel Elementary TOTAL 
COUNT 6 

SCHOOL 

Elvira Elementary 
COUNT 1 

Elvira Elemental-y 
COUNT 6 

E lv II-a Elementary 
COUNT 1 

Elvira Elementary 
COUNT 2 

Elvira ELementary 
COUNT 1 

Elvira Elementary 
Elvira ELementary TOTAL 
COUNT 11 

OFFENSE GROUF 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

OFFENSE GROUP 

1 

2 

OFFENSE GROUP 

1 

2 

3 

5 

6 

Offense: 1=persol's. 2=property, 3=dl-ugs. 4=techn I cal. S=poace, 6=status 
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OS/24/93 Number of offenses, by offense type (see below), for each sChool; 

SCHOOL 

Esperanza 
COUNT 3 

Esperanza 
Esperanza TOTAL 
COUNT 3 

SCHOOL 

(;01 1 lego Elemental-Y 
COUNT 1 

(;al1ego Elementary 
(;allego Elementary TOTAL 
COUNt 1 

SCHOOL 

Llb~rty Elementary 
COUNT 2 

LlbElrty El\ill\antary 
COUNT to 

Liberty Elementary 
COUNT 1 

Liberty Elementary 
COUNT 3 

- Liberty Elemenhrv 
. Llbe'rty Elellenhry TOTAL 
'COUNT 12 

SCHOOL 

Los Amigo!> 
COUNT 2 

Los Amigo!> 
COUNT " 

Los Alnl<;os 
COUNT 2 

Los Ami<;os 
Lo. A~I<;os TOTAL 
COUNT e 

SCHOOL 

Los Nlnos Elementary 
COUNT 14 

Los Nlnos Elementary 
Los Nines Elemmntary TOTAL 
COUNT 14 

OFFENSE (;ROUP 

2 

OFFENSE (;ROUP 

2 

OFFENSE (;ROUP 

1 

2 

3 

:s 

OFFENSE (;ROUP 

1 

2 

5 

OFFENSE (;ROUP 

2 

10. 

.. 
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OS/24/93 Number of offenses, by offense type (see beLow>, for each schooL; 

SCHOOL 

Los Ranchltos 
::OUNT 3 

Los Ranch,ios 
COUNT 3 

Los Ranchltos 
COUNT i 

Los Ranchltos 
COUNT 1 

Los Ranchltos 
COUNT 1 

" Los Ranch I 'los 
Los Ranchltos TOTAL 
COU/iT 9 

SCHOOL 

Mission Manor 
COUNT 1 

MIss"lon Hanor 
COUNT 7 

Mission Hanor 
COUNT 3 

Mission Hal10r 
COUNT 1 

" Mls!ilon Hal10r 
Mission Hanor TOTAL 
COUNT 12 

SCHOOL 

Oeot i L Lo ELementary 
COUNT 1 

Oeot I l Lo E Lemental"y 
OcotiLLo ELementary TOTAL 
COUNT 1 

SCHOOL 

SllInta CLara ELemental"Y 
COUNT 1 

Santa CLara ELementary 
COUNT 4 

Santa CLara ELementAry 
Santa Clara Elementary TOTAL 
COUNT :5 

OFFENSE GROUP 

1 

2 

3 

6 

OFFENSE GROUP 

1 

2 

6 

OFFENSE GROUP 

1 

OFFENSE GROUP 

1 
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OS/24/93 Number of offenses, by offen». type (see below), for each school; 

SCHOOL 

·SS: Sierra Middle School 
COUNT 24 

SS: Sierra Middle School 
COUNT 43 

SS: Sierra Middle School 
COUNT 10 

SS: Sierra Middle School 
COUNT 11 

SS: Sierra Middle School 
COUNT 17 

SS: Sierra Middle School 
COUNT"49 

SS: Sierra H,ddlo School 
SS: Sierra Middle School TOTAL 
COUNT 154 

SCHOOL 

Sunnyside MiddLe School 
COUNT 2 

Sunnyside Middle School 
COUNT :3 

Sunnyside Midd l. School 
COUNT 2 

Sunnyside Mlddl. School 
COUNT ,,-

Sunnyside I'Ilddl .. School 
COUNT 2 

Sunnyside Hlddl .. School 
Sunnyside Middle Schoo 1 TOTAL 
COUNT 10 

SCHOOL 

Sunnyside Freshman 
COUNT 1 

Sunnys I de Fr.eshman 
COUNT :3 

Sunnyside Freshman 
COUNT 1 

Sunnys I de Fn!shman 
Sunnyside Fre~hman TOTAL 
COUNT 5 

OFFENSE GROUP 

1 

2 

:3 

4 

5 

6 

OFFENSE GROUP 

1 

2 

:3 

5 

6 

OFFENSE GROUP 

1 

2 

:3 

2="roparty, :3=dru9s, 4ctechnlcal, 5=peace, 6u st&tus 
Offens.: 1=persons, -r 

"-
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OS/24/93 Number 01 offen ....... by 011 .. n .... type (see below). 101- each .. chool; 

SCHOOL 

Sunnyside High School 
COUNT 45 

Sunnyside High School 
COUNT 123 

Sunnyside High School 
COUNT 29 

Sunnyside High School 
COUNT 42 

Sunnyside High School 
COUNT 65 

Sunnyside High School 
COUNT 127 

Sunnyside High School 
Sunnyside High School TOTAL 
COUNT 431 

SCHOOL 

SUl1lWS I de A l terna t I ve 
COUNT 5 

Sunnys I de A l terl1at I ve 
COUNT 1 

Sunnyside Alternative 
COUNT 3 

Sunnyside Alternative 
COUN~ 2 

Sunnyside Alternative 
Sunnyaid .. Alternative TOTAL 
CQUNT-U 

SCHOOL 

Special Services 
COUNT :3 

Spec I a l Sel-v Ices 
COUNT 2 

Special Services 
COUNT :3 

Special Services 
COUNT 2 

Special Services 
Special Services TOTAL 
COUNT 10 

OFFENSE CROUP 

2 

3 

4 

5. 

6 

OFFENSE CROUP 

2 

3 

4 

5 

OFFENSE CROUP 

1 

2 

4 

5 
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STATEMENT OF DENNIS EMBRY 

Mr. EMBRY. Thank you, Alicia. 
I am here just basically to present to you, Senator, a blueprint 

for a private-public partnership to help improve and reduce vio
lence in our community. And the fact that I am here with the 
school districts reflects something of an emerging partnership. 
That partnership and the plan emerged from something that you 
knuw well. 

During operation Desert Storm, this community basically came 
together and set in motion a national plan to help meet the unique 
needs of military families, and out of that came a blueprint which 
was presented to your committee in Washington. And what we are .. 
doing presently in Tucson is enacting those ideas used very success-
fully for the military families to help our entire community. There 
are several written submissions today with that. One of them is 
from InterGroup Health Care and from Desert Hills, which will be ... 
entered in the record, detailing how those public-private partner-
ships can, in fact, bring substantial more money to the table, addi-
tional resources from what we currently have. 

The· second item is from Heart Springs, which details how those 
partnerships are put together, and, very specifically, how those 
partnerships work on the issues raised by Sheriff Dupnik and by 
Chief Hedtke, because our business community bears substantial 
responsibility and interest in helping solve some of those problems. 

I would like to thank Alicia for the 60 seconds or so to bring that 
to your attention. 

[Mr. Embry submitted the following:] 
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President 
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Quotation or use of. the material is pennitted after submission to the committee. 
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the peace in Pima County, Arizona and Bryan, Texas 
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Summary 
This testimony recoIDIIlCnds the following- to the Committee as a course of action to increase the 
peace all across America: 

BeBin early-Adult or young adult involvement with violent crime can be reasonably 
predicted by behavior in the first to third grade. The 11U)st promising interventions seem to 
be lin the early grades,followed by related interventions designed to help 11UJintain the 
behavior over time during middle school and high school. 
Encoumv:e community-wide, positive interventions-Both extensive research and common 
sense conclude that a positive approach to increasillg the peace (positive skills, pro11U)ted 
across the community) than 11U)st/y negative approach focused on so-called high-risk youth 
in "bad" neighborhoods. 
Promote the integration of prevention. jntervention wd sYWNssion of violent crime across 
education. media. health. law enforcement wd jystice--Again, both common sense and very 
extensive research show that much greater success will be achieved if the messages and 
technqiues are integrated across diverse settings and people. 

The paragraphs below offer concrete suggestions to the Committee on how those principles 
might be activated, drawing on the lessons from major demonstration of a community-wide 
approach supported by a private-public partnership in Tucson, Arizona wd Bryw, Texas. 

" The Committee might request the Attorney "The Committee might direct its staff and request 
General to develop technical support to for the Attorney General to investigate the 
creating positive, community-wide plans for possibility of legislation or tax credits for 
"increasing the peace" in this country. putting special signs, cues or directions on 

" The Committee might recommend to the Senate products that foster prosocial interaction among 
to amend the Tax Code to provide special children, youth and families. Such a concept to 
federal tax credits to businesses for using their be extended to include directions on what to do 
advertising money to promote and community- If the product tends to increase anti-so.."ial 
wide. prosocial media modeling and programs behaviC&' (as has been found with certain games, 
that increase cooperative behavior among toys and videos)-the equivalent of 
children, youth and families. recommendations for fust-aid for accidental 

ingestion of a poison. 
The Committee might draft legislation to enable 
funding of a national campaign to increase the 
use of the social skills that reduce violence at 
home, schools and the community. 

The Committee might recommend that changes 
occur in the FCC regulations to aUow 
purchased, prosocial advertisements to count as 
pan of a st.\Iion's obligation for an FCC license. 
(Presev:riy only programming counts, even 
though there is clear evidence that commercials 
have very significant impact on chUd behavior). 
Such a change might mpidly shift the media 
modeling diet of our chUdren. 

The Committee might empower the Attorney 
General to purchase mass media locally and 
nationaUy in coopemtion with the private sector 
to air messages that model prosocial choices 
and options. 

The Committee might recommend that changes 
occur in the FCC regulations and cable TV 
legislation to require special set·asides for 
prosocial programming and or "infomericals" 
that model positive skills as the country moves 
toward intemctive media, in which the current 
market trends would suggest that anti-social 
conle!lt would become more common. 

The Committee might recommend c1arification 
of the tax codes so that funding by the private 
sector of projects and campaigns of 501(3)(c) 
crgani:zations for pro-social modeling and 
education do not become taxable income for the 
tax exempt if advertising considemtion is 
provided to the private sector-as has happened 
in a number of countries. A negative tax ruling 
would seriOusly undermine private sector 
involvement in private·public partnerships. 
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Wat do young people say needs to be done about the increasing level of violence? 

"Listen to us." 

tlBe/air." 

"Reward good things we do." 

"Show respect to us." 

"Start earlier, well be/ore fifth grade-maybe at kindergarten." 

"Encourage kids to think through things rather than tell them." 

"Involve our parents better." 

"Give our parents better ideas/or what to do." 

"Expect kids to be good instead a/bad." 

These are the words of young people-from focus groups, discussion panels, and surveys of 
youth in Pima County and inner city Los Angeles. Their recommendations merit close attention. 
Their word echo what is know about the scientific study of increasing positive behavior of 
children and youth. The question is how to implement their common-sense suggestions and the 
proven wisdom of scientific studies. This testimony indicates how, drawing on the practical 
experience and research-linking the testimony to specific suggestions for action by the 
Judiciary Committee. 

Section 1: An Outline for Action 
This next section details options for the Committee to act on to increase the peace. The options 
draw on extensive research and demonstration projects. 

Move past another count of the steadily worsening trends in America 

The Committee and Subcommittee will no doubt hear volumes of testimony about the scale and 
rapid increase of youth-related violence all over America. What the committee needs is not more 
detail on the terrifying numbers of increasing youth violence; what the committee needs are some 
positive suggestions that can be promoted to make a difference-now and in the future, things 
that can be done without adding yet larger burdens to our stretched taxes. 

Begin early 

Take a group of 100 young adults who have been arrested for committing serious violent crimes. 
When could you have reasonably predicted that they were headed for bad trouble? At age 14? 
Age 12? Age 1O? Age 8? Age 57 

Scientific studies say somewhere between ages 5 and 8, we can predict with about 65% accuracy 
based on aggressive behavior at school whether a kid will go on to commit violent crime. And 
the studies showing the very best results for preventing involvement with violent crime are 
interventions beginning during the preschool years. Waiting until a young :.Jerson has committed 
a serious offense during adolescence to do something is going to be much more expensive and 
less assured of success. 
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Committee Qptions: ./ Alter the drug seizure laws to require greater funding of early, 
community-wide prevention programs instead of day-ta-day 
justice operations from RICO moneys • 

./ Alter community-assistance grants to emphasize early 
prevention on a community-wide basis . 

./ Encourage federal prosecutors to stipulate that adults with 
minor children convicted of violent crime participate in 
appropriate parent-education activities as a part of sentencing 
or probation since the research clearly shows that having one or 
more parents who are convicted of a violent crime stacks the 
odds heavily against a child. 

./ Make all U.S. Federal justice settings "Child-Youth Friendly" 
in waiting areas so that positive parent-child interaction is 
encouraged, since adult-ta-child praise is a key predictor of the 
emergence of anti-social behavior. Signs and other devices 
that cue adults to praise prosocial child behavior improve those 
interactions . 

./ Expand the concept of "victim rights" at a federal level to 
include the children of adults convicted of violent crime so that 
such children are treated for potential s.~paration anxiety and 
post-traumatic reactions, since such interventions would lessen 
the probability of the "victimized" chile\ maturing to commit 
similar crimes when older. 

Encourage community-wIde, positive Interventions 

The FBI reports that juvenile violent crime is up 27%-across all groups. neighborhoods, etc. If 
we continue to treat violence as "only" a problem in "those neighborhoods." then we ~ the 
problem rather than decrease it for several reasons: 

Stigmatizing Long-term studies now convincingly show that making prevention 
programs only for the "bad people" makes the problem worse by accelerating the 
sense of rejection and limited opportunity from the rest of society. 

Ayoidance--Marketing studies st.;", that people will avoid participating in any 
program that is seen to be a negative. 

Hielt Mobility-At-risk youth and families have a high rates of mobility, moving 
across neighborhood and community boundaries which means that people will miss 
much of the targeted intervention • 

• Poor Marketing-This "negative model" means that the power of effective mass 
marketing cannot be properly used, so that fewer individuals will participate. 

The probability that a violence prevention program will succeed can be expressed in this simple 
formula: 
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Program Com~onElnt EstImate Example 

.fower of Intervention 65% Po_r 

(How rruch of the percentage of 
problem does the specHIc plan ------% 
address? 10%? 40%? 80"k?) 

Impact of the Intervention 65% Power 
X 95% Impact (What percentage of the target group = 55% !Pxt) will change as a resuH of the )t % 

Intervention? 10%? 40%? 80%?) 

Rate of Participation SS'lI. (Pxl) 
(What percentage of the target X 75% Rata 

population actually do the program? X % 
.. 41% (PxlxR) 

10%? 40%? 80%?) 

,Generalization Rate 41% (PxlxR) 
(What percentage of the target group X 82% G 

stay changed over a longer period? X % 
.. 33% (Pxl xRxG) 

10%? 40%? 80%?) 

Likely Prevention Effect = % = 33% 

This prevention formula can be worked for a neighborhood, community, a state or the country. 
What one can quickly see is that additions or subtraction's in the effectiveness in any given part 
of the formula has a powerful multiplying effect.! 

A community-wide, positive approach tends to increase the "Likely Prevention Effect" fer a 
number of reasons: 

• Power of Interyention-A positive, community-wide approach means that more of the 
target behaviors can be effectively addressed instead of just the behavior to be avoided. 
Almost all the behavior change studies show that it is not sufficient to eliminate the 
negative to solve the social problem. 

• lImlaI;.~A positive approru:h dramatically increases the chances of 
being rewarded and praised for behavior change, something several decades of 
research and easily a $100 million dollars has proven to be more effective in homes, 
schools and the workplace. A negative approach tends to result in higher rates of 
scolding, nagging and confrontation-all of which decrease the probability of behavior 
change. 

• Rate of Participation--A positive, community-wide approach means that more people 
will be reached-particularly those individuals who are more mobile and at risk. More 
people will voluntarily participate because of the desirable social status attached to the 
program (the association effect, people want to be associated with high status activities 
than low status activities). 

! The fonnula can be made much more sophisticated than the one depicted. The formula described is a powerful toel 
as is. and prevention efforts will be greatly enhanced when i[ is used more widely. 
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• Qenemlization Rate.-A positive, community-wide approach assures that many more 
cues, social supportS and prompts will occur across the whole community to help 
maintain the behavior change. 

The essence of this logic has been amply demonstmted since the W. w.n mtioning effOrtS and in 
many major studies since. 

Committee Options: ~ The Committee might request the Attorney Geneml to develop 
technical support to for creating positive, community-wide 
plans for "increasing the peace" in this country. 

" The Committee might recommend to the Senate to amend the 
Tax Code to provide special fedeml tax credits to businesses 
for using their advertising money to promote and community
wide, prosocial media modeling and progmms that increase 
cooperative behavior among children, youth and families. 

~ The Committee: might draft legislation to enable funding of a 
national campaign to increase the use of the social skills that 
reduce violence: at home, schools and the co!DIIlunity. 

Promote the Integration of prevention, Inbarventlon and suppression of violent 
crime across education, media, health, law enforcement and Justice 

Integmtion of stmtegies across prevention, intervention and suppression of violent behavior make 
a great deal of sens~both from a position of common sense and proven research. Consider just 
a few examples. 

• If the educational systems find better ways to reduce aggression, hostility, assaults and 
weapons possession at school, then many fewer demands will be placed on law 
enforcement and justice. 

• If media related violence is reduced, there will be clear reductions in aggressive and 
violent behavior by youth. 

• If law enforcement and justice discover better ways to facilitate the tmnsition of youth 
back to success in the everyday world, then the burden on educational systems will be 
reduced. 

• If media, law enforcement, justice and schools succeed in reducing violence, then there 
will be huge cost savings in the health-care side. Those savings are direct from 
reductions in injuries as well as from reducfions in chronic illness (which can be 
tightly linked to ongoing or serious exposure to violence). 

How can this integmtion be achieved? An analogy may help. Imagine if supermarkets had 
different labels and logos for all the common products purchased. Chaos would rule. Profits 
would decline. People would fight. Customers would be very unhappy. Such is the situation 
presently. Every symbol that cues collective, coopemti1{e action is different. There are no 
common cues or logos for positive action. There are no "nutrition labels" to tell us anything 
about how to improve our human relationships. Another analogy will help, too. Green traffic 
lights always indicate when to "go"; red lights always indicate when to "stop." 
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We can create instructions, labels, logos and "ttaffic"lights to foster the behaviors to reduce 
violence in this country across all of the major settings of life. Here are some examples: 

• Offering specific choicer The federal government has presently spent millions of 
dollars in grants to universities and other organizations to prove that choices offered in 
almost every arena of everyday behavior increase cooperation and reduce hostility, 
even major violence. A child offered a choice of punishments for bad behavior at 
school will learn good behavior much faster, and the same is true at home. Any person 
(child or adult) will comply better with medical procedures if given some choice over 
even minor components of the procedure (e.g., "would you like the shot in your left 
arm or your right?"). Jailed youth or psychiatric patients comply far better with 
instructions when offered choices, and their behavior improves more rapidly. Parallel 
to this finding is that studies have found that gang members are much more likely to 
exit a gang if a police officer directs a youth to choose to participate in one of several 
specific actions instead of a general "shape up or suffer the consequences" demand. 

A community-wide, positive approach can develop and mmet unifying strategies and 
examples to improve the offering of choices. Such behavior is easy to record, praise 
and evaluate. 

• Rewarding COQl2CTlltiye. helpful behaviors-All effective management strategies 
(TQM, Passion for Excellence, etc.) ar.d therapies for behavior change agree on the 
importance of rewarding positive behaviors. Studies on reducing anti-social behavior 
among cr.ildren and youth categorically emphasize this principle. Thus, across all 
settings that children and young people use must reward prosocial behaviors on a 
regular and frequent basis. This needs to happen in homes, in classrooms, in the media 
and elsewhere. Court services are far more effective probation staff reward the 
positive behavior of convicted youth. Medical patients are much more likely to follow 
through with treatment if rewarded. 

• Modeling de~ired behaviors and choices in media and materials-Positive behavior 
change is far more likely to occur if people (children, youth, families, teachers) 
regularly see and wimess models of the target behaviors in the media, particularly if 
positive consequences are attached to the story about the media models. Advertisers 
know this about produclS--show people using the product often and getting benefits 
from it. This seems to be less well known among organizations charged with 
prevention, who tend focus on depicting the bad behavior and the negative 
consequences attached to it. An example would be the frequent TV ads about the 
horrors of child abuse, compared to the fact that there are virtually no ads (let alone TV 
shows) depicting ways to have a happy, loving life with a child-except by calling a 
psychiatric hospital right now. Again, extensive marketing research and behavior 
change r.:search shows that positive models can and do result in significant changes in 
everyday behavior. 

Committee Qptions:.t The Committee might recommend that changes occur in the 
FCC regulations to allow purchased, prosocial advertisements 
to count as part of a station's obligation for an FCC license. 
(Presently only programming counts, even though there is clear 
evidence that commercials have very significlmt impact on 
child behavior). Such a change might rapidly shift the media 
modeling diet of our children. 
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./ The Committee might empower the Attorney General to 
purchase mass media locally and nationally in cooperation with 
the private sector to air messages that model prosocial choices 
and options. 

,/ The Committee might direct its staff and request the Attorney 
General to investigate the possibility of legislation or tax 
credits for putting special signs, cues or directions on products 
that foster prosocial interaction among children, youth and 
families. Such a concept to be extended to include directions 
on what to do if the product tends to increase anti-social 
behavior (as has been found with certain games, toys and 
videos)-the equivalent of recommendations for first-aid for 
accidental ingestion of a poison. 

Section 2: A Practical Demonstration of Action 
This section describes specific illustrations of what is being done in Tucson, Arizona and Bryan, 
Texas (and it is hoped, Los Angeles) in a real way that illustrates the principles outlined in 
Section 1. 

Begin Early 

Beginning in November of 1992, a coalition of private corporations (using their advertising 
budgets) and non-profit organizations launched a program for all Pima County, Arizona 
elementary school youth to increase the peace and reduce the risk of violent behavior at schools 
and home. Through area schools and other organizations, every kindergartner through fifth
grader could receive a free 48-page special story/workbook (in English or Spanish) to use at 

. home and school. Supporting materials were made available to area school staff. 

The same program was launched in April of 1993 in Bryan, Texas by the private sector there 
(again in coalition with non-profit agencies) after a fatal stabbing at lunch in a school cafeteria 
while school was in session. 

Discussions have been occurring for over a year in Los Angeles about offering a similar 
program. 

Encourage community-wide, positive Interventions 

The efforts in Tucson, Arizona and Bryan, Texas are community-wide. Every child and family 
may get a program without cost. The community-wide intervention models, cues and rewards 
four basic skills among K-S year old children (and the adults who care for them) involved in 
social competence and violence prevention: 

• Praising prosocial behavior in others 
• Reducing the use of put-downs 
• Noticing and speaking up about hurts caused by self to others 
• Using wise adults as mentors 

These four skills represent the antithesis of what the literature on anti-social behavior describes 
as the "cycle of coercion" (e.g., Patterson, DeBarshey and Ramsey, 1989). Consider these 
examples. 

6 



184 

Praise has been systematically shown to increase desirable behavior at home, at 
school and work. Praise is the interpersonal tool whereby individuals increase the 
probability of positive behavior by others. In dysfunctional systems, interventions 
that restore balance typically increase the rate of praise directed toward system 
members. 

Put-downs constitute a variety of belittling, negative statements directed toward 
others. Such statements elicit aggressive behavior from the recipient, which could be 
viewed as a form of punishment designed to remove an aversive stimulus. 

Noticing and speaking up about harm caused to others emerges from the interpersonal 
research on relationships. IniliYiduals who deny harming another tend 10 elicit 
aggressive responses from their victims over time, or create social distance the 
undermines social suppon. 

Seeking a wise person emerges from a variety of studies on social networks and 
mentoring, among both adults and children. Such mentors "balance" and guide 
prosocial actions. 

The demonstration program running in Tucson, Arizona and Bryan, Texas was explicitly 
designed to address the four parameters of the formula introduced in Section 2. 

• Power oflmeryentioQ--The program targets key behaviors 10 be increased and 
decreases, all of which have a clear documentation of suppon from the scientific 
literature. 

• Impact of the Intervention-Both prior studies on which this program is based and 
qualitative analysis of the intervention in progress show that the approach can generate 
substantial gains in positive behavior as well as major reductions in undesirable 
behavior. 

• Rate ofPartjcjpatioQ--The program was designed to incorporate known strategies to 
boost participation from the inception. Data from Tucson revealed several barriers to 
the intent, many of which have been addressed in the Bryan, Texas replication. Where 
schools fully embraced the children as the leaders of the behavior change process (as 
was intended), major repons of positive effect occur for both school and home. 

• Generalization Rate--The positive nature of the project has resulted in the newspaper, 
TV and informal media (school bulletin boards, displays, signs in waiting areas) to 
adopt components of the program 10 promote. A middle-school project will be 
launched in the fall of 1993 to foster the maintenance of behaviors among elementary 
school youth transitioning to middle schools/junior highs. 

Promote the Integration of prevention, Intervention and suppression of "Iolent 
crime across education, media, health, law enforcement and Justice 

The integration of program is happening at a number of levels, echoing the suggestions of 
Section 1. 

• Offering specific choices-All of the materials-from the books for kids and families, 
to the teacher's newsletters, to the TV ads, to the newspaper comics-show very 
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- specific options for people to choose to increase the peace. The options are linked 
conceptually and organizationally to maximize effect.; 

• Rewardin~ csxmerative. helpful behaviors-Both intrinsic and extrinsic rewards have 
been built directly into the program. For example, pages in the story/workbook 
actually cue praise from adults in the family. Various interventions modeled in the 
story/workbooks and other materials set up situations in which children and the adults 
who care for them will received social recognition for positive behavior. Prizes for 
completing the program (Pizza in Tucson; Tacos in Bryan, TexljS; 1I!ld a trip to 
DisneylandJDisneyworld) add glitz to the initial marketing of the program to young 
peoplo-which becomes less important as they find satisfaction with the positive 
effects of the program in their everyday lives. The efforts for rewards are being 
expanded to teachers and school staff who participate in the program. 

• Modelin~ desired behaviors and choices in media and mnterials--Various models of 
positive behavior to copy are being presented in the mass media both in Tucson and 
Bryan, Texas. The models are concrete and specific. In Tucson, they were/are also 
interactive-allowing viewers to phone or write in tlleir own ideas, which were then 
published in the Sunday newspaper. 

The integration is now moving to other levels in Tucson, which are designed to be replicated in 
other cities. 

• Middle-school community-wide pmmm-A special comic is being readied for 
distribution in the fall of 1993, primarily supported by the private sector. 

Middle-school intensive prowm-An integrated, coopemtive project that links 
teachers, school staff, counselors, police, agencies and probation. The project focuses 
on three main skills: 

I Give and Get Respect. 
I Keep the Peace. 
I Protect Myself. 

The aim of the project is to assure that younger adolescents develop and maintain the 
core social skills that have been shown to reduce involvement with juvenile authorities 
and/or to reduce the probability of recidivism. Additionally, the skills are designed to 
interface with mental-health tre-atment-again to reduce relapse rates and increase 
therapeutic effectiveness. 

• Community-wide praise si~s--These signs cue adults to praise cooperative behavior 
of children and youth in public settings, a mechanism of encouraging generalization of 
the core skills being taught in the books and media. 

• A comprehensive health prQject for middle schools-In coopemtion with tlle 
University Medical Center, the University of Arizona College of Medicine and 
Nursing, Intergroup HMO, School Districts, Desert Hills Center for Youth and 
Families, and the State Department of Education, a project is being planned to 
integrate the core concepts into a health-promotion initiative. 

• A parentin~ intervention for parents of newboms--Based on research used during a 
project developed for the Department of Defense during Desert Stonn, a special 
intervention kit is being designed for use by the parents of newborns to boost their 
skills in "reading" the behaviors of infant using a specially modified version of 
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protocols from the Brazelton Neonatal Assessment Scale. These procedures have been 
shown to reduce pediatric utilization and child abuse reports during the first two years 
of life. 

• Training protocols for Teachers. Police. Counselors and Probation-The first state
wide in service training to integrate violenee prevention skills across these groups will 
be held in September of 1993, sponsored by the Arizona Psychological Association. 
This training is planned to be. expanded over time. 

Section 3: Research Basis for Recommendations 
This section summarizes some of the research supporting the recommendations made in this 
testimony. The nature of the recommendations emerges from the work on "protective factors" or 
resiliency that enable a child or family to have a better chance of succeeding even in difficnlt 
circumst.1Dces. 

IncreasIng protective factors 

The table below describes "Pathways to Resiliency-a set of skills and conditions that provide 
children with a "vaccine" against emotional hardship in life, enabling children to learn the skills 
that build confidence, a sense of personal worth, and the ability to bounce back after difficulty. 
The table represents the conceptual approach for what is targeted for Tucson, Arizona. 

Pathways to Resiliency Table 

Path or Intervention 

./ Saturation advertising 

./ Parenting skills for drug 
abusing parents 

./ Wide-spread parent-skill 
building 

./ Provide community-wide 
interventions for school-home 
problems 

Reference 

Black,i989 

DeMarsh & 
Kempfer, 1986 

Tremblay et al., 
1990; Pentz et 01., 
1989; Patterson et 
01.,1989; Shedler & 
Block,1990 

Swantic, 1986; 
Anesko, 1987; 
Green,1989 

Tucson Adaptation 

public-private partnership that 
shows practical problem-solving in 
the media for children, youth and 
families; community-based signs 
and prompting cues 
All treatment centers and therapists 
screen and refer for specialized 
parenting intervention . 
Problem-specific, developmentally 
appropriate interventions available 
through schools, agencies, doctors 
and even mass market outlets such 
as grocery stores and malls that are 
integrated with more intensive 
parenting interventions . 
Special printed interventions and 
media interventions that teacher 
parents and children how to do 
homework effectively; how to have 
a successful parent-teacher 
conference; how to behave 
successfully at school 
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,/ Social support and 
neighborhood networking 

,/ Reduce family conflict 

187 

Gaudin, Wodarski, 
Arkinson, & Avery, 
1990-91; Telleeo. 
Herzog, & Kilbane, 
1989 

Wilson & Hernstein, 
1985 

,/ Increase parent-child closeness Brook et al., 1980; 
or bonding Hirshi, 1969 

,/ Reduce early anti-social 
behavior in preschool and 
elementary years 

01 Increase social competence and 
anger management beginning in 
preschool years all through 
high-school 

74-122 0 - 94 - 7 

Shed1er & Block, 
1990; Loeber & 
Dishion, 1983 

Gittelman et al., 
1985; Lechman, 
1988; Ketchel & 
Bieger, 189 

Proactive action tie-ins with 
Neighborhood Watch, materials for 
churches, PTOs, community 
volunteers and organizations; 
phonelletter tree tied together with 
problem-specific interventions. 
Model practical solutions in the 
media and commUfiity-wide 
interventions to specific situations 
that increase family conflict-for 
example how to deal with a bad 
report card, balance the checkbook 
Teaching parents of newborns to 
use Brazelton Neonatal 
Assessment; developmentally 
modified infant newsletter in 
community; developmental record 
for parents and health-care 
providers; GUdesguides (special 
volunteer coaches for behavior 
clinics in malls) 
Distribute proven special school 
interventions for all teachers, 
counselors and agencies working 
with younger children 
Distribute proven interventions, 
developmentally adapted, to 
children throughout their 
maturation so thM social 
competence is universally 
improved; tie-in pn:vention 
programs with more acute 
intervention 

10 



188 

./ Increase academic achievement Hundleby & Mercer, 
1987; Blechman et 
al.,1981 

./ Increase positive-peer 
acceptance 

Coie, 1990; Cairns 
et al., 1988 

Distribute special school-home 
note system to teachers & 
counselors; 
Develop homework teaching tips 
for pa."l:nts and families; 
Develop behavior management and 
school climate improvement 
programs based on research; 
Distribution of self-efficacy 
modeling interventions for use by 
teachers to improve initial learning 
of students and attention 
County-wide intervention to 
improve transitions from preschool 
to elementary, elementary to 
middle and middle to high school 
County-wide program of incentives 
for children's academic 
improvement and success 
County-wide program to promote 
self-control and self-direction by 
children and youth 
Use of advanced technology to 
promote mentoring by business 
people of children and youth 

County-wide interventions to 
reduce teasing, insults and put
downs 
Interventions to improve modeling 
of peer acceptance among adults in 
the community-teachers at 
schools, leaders in the media 
Peer led resistance ~ training 
and interventions couple with 
social competence skills 
Create opportunities for positive 
social interaction. 
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./ Increase culturally appropriate Schinke, Botvin, et English and Spanish versions of 
metaphors and bicultural al., 1988; Matthews, materials 
competence skills in all 1990. Demand type-printing for special 
interventions . materials that integrate stories from 

one culture with stories from 
another culture 
Programmed linkages in social-
studies curriculum to identify 
similarities in approaches across 
cultures 

.. Inclusion of appropriate models of 
diversity 

./ Reduce aI'xiety and depression Kazdin, 1989; Model school-wide models of 
Block, Gjerde and cognitive behavioral coping 
Bleck, 1991; techniques 
Kendall, Howard & Offer cognitive maps 
Epps, 1988 

./ Teach children how to avoid Lang & Kahn, 1989 Training package on how to avoid 
victimization by others being teased or assaulted and other 

acts of victimization 

./ Increase attention to task and Henker & Whalen, Classroom based-interventions to 
reduce hyperactivity 1989 increase self-control and self-

monitoring 

./ Increase effective transitions Distribute modeling interventions 
before start of each new year 

./ Increase connections to and Tobler, 1986 Create opportunities for young 
skills to increase people to develop, produce and 
responsiveness from society market goods and services related 

to prevention-e.g., student 
designed t-shirts, buttons, 
neighborhood employment 
Phone-tree access designed for 
young people 

./ Increase availability of Thompson, 1987 Create public-private partnership to 
afterschool programs for operate such programs in school 
elementary and middle school facilities, which can be funded by a 
youth. combination offees, Chapter 1, and 

DES money. 
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,/ Improve organizational climate Gottfredson, 1986, 
1988 

,/ Reduce unemployment and 
expand employment base of 
better jobs. 

McLoyd, 1989; 
Dooley and 
Catalano, 1980 

Technology of behavior change 

Rewards and recognition for small 
innovations that improve learning 
and climate by teachers 
County-wide newsletter to teachers 
and counselors on proven tips to 
improve academic performance 
Use of adoption money to fund 
teacher-based design of program 
components 
Mass media campaign honoring 
teachers 
Organizational development 
interventions for schools 

Use funds from Chapter 1, Drug 
Free Schools and other federal 
sources to buy and develop from 
Pima County sources, then turn 
around and help market those 
materials to other communities. 
Several million dollars could be 
infused annually to our economy, 
plus improve local education 
conditions; create a special 
development fund to market locally 
developed innovations to other 
communities. 

The overall approach being recommended represents a synthesis of lessons learned from public 
health, community psychology, clinical psychology, education, organizational management, 
medicine and biology, and marketing. Such a synthesis is necessary to assure success, and 
makes a great deal of common sense. 

Self-ModelingNirtual Reality 

Perhaps the most visible part of this _flProach are the story/workbooks, since every participating 
child/youth or family receives one along with supporting interventions for the mass media. The 
approach of both hinges on a concept called self-modeling (the reader, listener or viewer 
becomes the prime actor). Another way of explaining the concept is that of "virtual reality"-a 
media in which the participant becomes the hero of the story. 

Please note that the approach also relies heavily on the use of story rather than just telling people 
what do. The story, self-modeling and community-based rewards for behavior change make the 
core intervention much more powerful than the standard information sheet or instructions 
commonly given out by helping agencies. The principles the lie underneath this concept are the 
result of fifty or more independent investigators who have variously received millions of dollars 
of federal funding. The technology approach represents a technology transfer back to the people 
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who funded the basic ideas, the taxpayer. The next several paragraphs detail background on the 
approllch for the reader who may be unfamiliar with the core ideas. 

The story/workbooks use the technology proven in Program Project previously funded by the 
Depanment of Education (000083002) to study problem-specific approaches to parent training 
in clinical settings. 

A facsimile page of such a problem-specific, story/workbook appears below. 

Selr-Modeling/Virtunl Reality Story/workbook ror Elementary Children 

h ... .., ... j-.: .............. 

The efficacy of the storybook intervention in changing the behavior of children and parents has 
been systematically validated scientifically, and the ability of the technology to change the 
behavior of high-risk and low-risk families has been documented as has the ability of the tech
nology to gain large rates of participation (50% or better of families in the community)
(Anesko, 1987; Embry, 1981, 1982, 1984, 1987, 1990, 1991; Peters and Embry, 1985; 
Christophersen and Gyuley, 1979; Clark, Greene, Macrae, McNees and Davis, 1977; Fisher and 
Tomery, 1976; Green, 1989; Greenwald, 1985; Lenkowsky, Barowsky, Dayboch and Puccio, 
1987; Jakibchuk and SmerigJio, 1976; Kelley, Schilmoeller and Goetz, 1978; Newhouse, 1987; 
Pearson, 1987; Pardeck, 1990; Peed, Roberts and· Forehand, 1977; Swantic, 1986; Zebrowitz
McArthur and Eisen, 1976). The self-conttol teaching elements of the materials are likewise 
based on extensive federally sponsored research (e.g., Jones and Haney, 1984; Kazdin, 1980) and 
can have a profound positive effect on parent-child interaction and academic achievement (e.g., 
McCarl, Svobodny and Beare, 1991). 

The use of the techniques in the Story/workbooks has dramatic effects on receptive language 
skills, auditory memory and reading achievement (e.g., Wedel and Fowler, 1984; Embry, 1980). 
The Story/workbooks use techniques from the acclaimed Reading Recovery program developed 
in New Zealand, where the Story/workbook concept has been utilized nationally in all early 
childhood settings for use by volunteers, parents and others. When adults (parents or caregivers) 
use the Story/workbooks, their actions like those taught in Reading Recovery are automatically 
cued. 

The design of the Story/workbooks™ combines the proven techniques from research on self
modeling, self-conttol, stimulus control, cognitive-behavioral psychology, family-systems 
therapy and inStruCtiO,"al design. These books are unlike other books or brochures produced and 

14 



192 

distributed to date co=ercially, as can be clearly seen by examining their design, structure and 
content: 

• Personalization: The story's herolheroine is the child being taught and all support and 
family members in the story are the child's real-life family. The teaching thus becomes 
self-modeling for the child and hislher family. 

• Androgynous and Generalized Drawings: The illustrations enhance the child's identity as 
the herolheroine of the story-regardless of sex or race. 

• MClieling and Family Involvement: The story involves other members of the family. 

• Stimulus Controlj A system of relevant cues is established for performance of the new 
behavior. 

• Interactive Leaming: The child is coached to take action, including making the story hislher 
own. 

• Troubleshooting "Helper" Component: Certain parts of the materials address the 
"yes ..• buts" and establish motivational techniques for the family system (siblings, etc.) 

• Generalization Components: Makes material in the books and related materials useful 
across settings, time, people and related behaviors. 

This Story/workbook model has been tested with high-risk, clinic-referred families whose 
interactions were negative and coercive under the auspices of a program project grant from the 
U.S. Department of Education grant, Project LIFE (Living in Family Environments) that ran 
from 1983 through 1987. The design of the Story/workbooks™ was based on experimental 
research on social skills training and imitation by children, because of the target skills identified 
for children. Since high risk parents were the people using the original test versions of 
Story/workbooks™, the design of the books also used proven principles from instructional 
technology with adults with educational impairmen!S-(because parents from high risk settings 
typically have academic difficulties). The results o/the Project LIFE studies showed that the 
children did learn the target behaviors as did their parents. For example, Diacon, Embry, & 
Baer, 1987 specifically set out to teach children to compliment their caregivers for positive 
actions. The effectiveness of the intervention can be seen in data from two children whose rate 
of compliments (one of the behavioral targets of the I help build peace program) went up, as 
demonstrated in a time-series (multiple-baseline) design. 
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Successive Observations 

?,1;lfkerinL! and priyate-public Partnershjps for a positive America 

What is different about the sttategy is the level of integration and systems thinking, precisely the 
issues that are required if one is going to create a whole society in which children and their 
families are more resilient A approach also sets the stage for a new economic base for child 
development 

A program that is replaceable and effective to improve child, family and community resiliency 
must be capable of being diffused and disseminated throughout the country if not the world. 
Diffusion and dissemination requires money. Typically speaking, most huma!. lervice or 
educational innovations have been created by grant money-either from government or private 
sources. A grant can be perceived of in two ways: (1) as principle that is used up, or (2) as 
venture capital that creates an ongoing, viable economic entity. In all but a few cases, grants 
~ave been used in the first manner-with the idea that well-meaning people would innovate and 
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hope (or pray) for ongoing funds from yet other grants or public SOUICes to sustain the 
innovation. In the 1960s, ~uch things were possible. In the 1990s, they are not. 

1f a program to promote child, family and community resiliency is to succeed in a broad way, it 
must create a new financial structure to sustain and expand. That means dealing with fiscal 
realities and looking for alternative SOUICes of funding. To most people the public sector, that 
means asking for donations from private corporations. That strategy has merit in many cases, 
yet there are limits that publicly held corporations can legitimately donate money for the public 
good when they must face reduced corporate earnings or need to invest in their own 
infrastructure to remain competitive. 

Corporations have no theoretical limits in investing money in child, family and community 
resiliency to the extent that their investment offers a good rate of return compared to alternative 
investments. Such returns on their investments are not just for the common good, but clearly 
defined, measurable economic benefit fi1l:.lillm\. Accordingly, a comprehensive plan to increase 
resiliency must include essentially a win-win configuration for private (and public-sector) 
sponsors. Such an approach might include effective advertising and marketing benefits accrued 
from participation, new licensed products or services. 

There are some precedents for such an approach. The most obvious is Sesame Street-which is 
fundamentally a public-private partnership between Children's Television Workshop and Jim 
Hensen Associates, Inc. Licensed products and services help maintain the public good provided 
by Sesame Street. Another precedent is Channell and other activities by Whittle 
Communications-a for profit company. Some smaller scale approaches are worthy of note, 
too-such as the coupon/activity books for children developed by Unique Concepts Internati.onal 
and distributed through supermarket chains. 

A combination of all of those approaches is what is most intriguing. The Sesame Street is 
exceptionally powerful and effective because of the nonprofit arm of the joint-venture (which it 
is not often thought of in that way) and its clearly proven educational value. The Sesame Street 
model has one main programmatic and oae major business liability. Pro grammatically, Sesame 
Street is focused on children-not parents and children, a factor that ultimately limits its ability 
to fulml the promise with which it was begun. A business liability relates to the programmatic 
issue: Sesame Street has appeal mostly to preschool age children, which limits the breadth of its 
licensed products and related services. Mickey Mouse, by contrast, appeals to just about 
everybody, including adults. The effons of Whittle Communications suffer from a lack of 
grounding in educational effectiveness, though the marketing savvy around the product is clearly 
advanced when compared to Sesame Street. 1f the Whittle materials and programs were tested 
rigorously, they would be unlikely to have significant impact on children's resiliency or 
educational attainment. Since their main purpose is marketing, not educational, such a finding 
would come as no great surprise. The item to note is that advertisers are willing to pays sums of 
$150,000 per commercial aired for Channell, and sign multi-year contracts. Such sums can 
easily suppon a national child resiliency program. 

By combining the Sesame Street public-private parmership model. the licensed character 
possibilities, the high-tech advertising of Whittle Communications, this approach with a proven 
parent-children training interventions, it is theoretically possible to create a self-sustaining child, 
family and community resiliency intervention-which diffuses universally in the culture, thereby 
making a structural, systemic shift in our educational system and community. 

The private-public partnership emerging in Tucson is a hint of what is possible. R!:call that 
almost $250,000 of cash and in-kind services have been recruited largely from the private sector. 
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That is a remarkable event. Other testimony submitted to the committee discusses the whys and 
hows of this partnership. 

Our desire to change often dwells on problems--the problem with crime, the problem with child 
abuse, the problem our educational system. Most efforts to change at an individual or group 
level focus on solving problems and those solutions typically fail because the underlying 
structural factors "pull" solution efforts back to a homeostatic balance (see the best-selling 
managcment theory book, the Fifth Discipline by Peter Senge). Wh,,!\ the solution oriented 
efforts fail, both individuals and groups tend to fall into anger, resentment, disillusionment, 
depression and even rage. That is much of the situation that we find ourselves today, which is 
manifested in very real terms in depressed consumer confidence and behavior that has 
measurable roots in individual depression and anxiety. Sociology recapitulates psychology. 

How then to create system change? To create resiliency and community? Real change begins 
with a clear, positive vision of the future-of how life can be. A clear vision of "where we want 
to be" enables us begin to read where we are. A clear vision begins to free our creative capacity 
for change, both at an individual and group level. 

Visions leading to systemic change are fundamental and life-affirming, enabling people to 
weather short-term setbacks and to learn from a temporary failure. Such visions enable people to 
go bevond being a victim of circumstance to being a creator of the present and future. Such 
visions often begin with clear words or deeds. 

Rosa Parks sat in the front of the bus, a Black young girl in Topeka decided she wanted a good 
education, a preacher had a dream that all Black children would be free. 

A small man in humble clothes walked to the sea for some salt in India, three men penned the 
Declaration of Independence, a man from Ukraine had a different vision of the Soviet state. 

These are the visions that we see at a large scale. There are millions of visions that we do not 
see, yet are touched by. Vision begins with ... 

• an active approach toward solving life's problems 
• a tendency to perceive their experiences constructively 
• the ability to gain others' positive attention 
• the ability to maintain a positive vision of a meaningful life 

These skills are the precise foundations for reducing violence in America, and .'Ire the skills that 
form the foundation of the plan outlined to the committee. 

The context for individual, positive vision can be structured by creating the vision of resiliency 
for the community. When that vision takes place, many individual parts (strategies, 
organizations, personal actions) come together to form the organic whole that shifts the 
underlying structure-enabling systemic change to flow down a path of least resistance (see the 
Path of Least Resistance by RollertFritz, a colleague ofPeterSenge). Such an idea is not new, 
thought it is often forgotten. It can be seen in the work of some of the very early social scientists 
of changt}-Kun Lewin. It can be seen in the philosophical and self-help literature of the 
previous century in America-e.g., Ralph Waldo Emenon in his essay on self-reliance. The 
earliest writings of the Renaissance herald such understanding in the work of Pic de Mirandela in 
1400. Even the very roots of Western thinking illustrate the concept when the Prophet Isaiah 
says, "Without a vision, the people will fail." 
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Systemic change begins with vision, often spurred by the pain of the present. With the vision 
comes the careful awareness of the present state, the ideas, the tools the capacity to make the 
creative leaps into the future. 

We can increase the peace. 

Committee Options:'/ The Committee might recommend that changes occur in the 
FCC regulations and cable TV legislation to require special set
asides for prosocial programming and or "infomericals" that 
model positive skills as the country moves toward interactive 
media, in which the current market trends would suggest that 
anti-social content would become more common. 

,/ The Committee might recommend clarification of the tax codes 
so that funding by the private sector of projects and campaigns 
of 501(3)(c) arganizations for pro-sociaI modeling and 
education do not be<;ome taxable income for the tax exempt if 
advertising consideration is provided to the private sector-as 
has havpened in a number of countries. A negative tax ruling 
would seriously undermine private sector involvement in 
private-public partnerships. 
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TvIEWPOINTS 

Building 
peace in our 
community 
By Dennis D. Embl): 
c 1993 n. MIonII DfoIJ '* 

V iolence: an4 qgJ"e:!IIl;on can be reduced by 25 
~t La OQr homes. &ehoob and ctlmmualty 
over a period 01 a year. 

Sn'eral bundred sclenUncstudles detail bow,and 
it QUI bqln by tak.lng some ratber simple steps In our 
homes., nelgllbOrt100ds.lCboob and communlUes. The 
dues for pe~ and community action COme from a 
dirtueftl way of tblnkinl about violence. 
Dfauae Of b&oIo&k:al rnponso? 

Violence: Is a dbeuc of buman relaUonsblps.Uwe 
10011: at the roots of the dlJease.lndudlag both 
behaVior IDd bLDIOID'. we wW nod Jevera!tey facts. 

Vlolent.dults or older teenqen typically have a 
history ot ebnInic (or acute) a,gressI.¥e acts 4lrected 
al them as )'OUnptem. Fordilldren apo!Ied to 
Violence dlRetly, onaoln& exposure 10 Violence In the 
mtdla lncn:ases their agn:ssIve behavior. Coercive 
dlsdpllne al home and/or sclIool- eYen When 
well·lntentioned - bas been repeatedly shown 10 
Increase the violenl acts by children who have been 
labeled u qaresslve. 

AdYlUlces la medical rcseatth have mude It 
pos!Jbleforuslouocoverblologicaldulll&e!ua 
result 01 exposure 10 Violence. For eumple. we tnow 
now that lndl'ttduals wbo sutler lrom posHraumatic 
stress diJorder (sueb as combat veterallS or crin:le 
victims) onu develop very hlab levels 01 
testosterone. a bonnone that atfectJ 1101 ot1ly 
auressloo but also perceptions 01 safety. coopen.Uon 
and sexuallty;WDSt 01 us tlI1n.k of post·traumatic 
stressuarureevent.alldonelarrelyUmIt£dto 
adults. II Is lIeltber. For eu.mple. Doe out of nve 
children la innerdUes IU"e likely to wiwa a murder 
before !lie 1eVetl, tcmeth1ogwell·known to cause 
post-traumaticJtresl disorder .. The Impod Is Dot I 

something tI14t easily disappeaR with time. I 
Electronic imaIlDIteetuuquts make It clear that 
chcU1ges in brain stnIcture and lIeurotrammittm 
occur ItS a consequellCe of post·traumatk: stress. 

Survival of the molt "loIent 
Tbls panem of stnletl1ra! ami bebnviorul change 

In cblldren as a result 01 exposure to VloleDce maJles 
;enselromahlolo&Jcalperspec1ive.Allofthese 
respoases have blltorkaUy Increased the SUrvival of 
illdlv:l4ua1s and their socW croup. Elevated levels 01 
androgens (honnnots),JUch as testosterolle,iacrea=se 
effective predatory behaviOB - $ln!ogth. sexual 
precocity to pus Doe's genes In the lace: of danger. 
lack of responshuess to rewards that could be !lied 
as "lures," wc.rintslJ and dlstrusl. quick resPODJe 10 
Insultl that mi&ht IodlOJ1e ettaCk, aod detens1venes:s 
abOut ten1tory. Does lhls sound like urban PllI 
bebaVlor? 

Tbe eHect:s are not limited to astn&le generation. 
Recent studies Indicate that exposure to violen« 
allen the hormonal balance In expectattl mothers, 
and the Ictus cbanlts Its cellt",1 nervous system as e 
consequellcc - emerging at birth IOmewhat bener 
"prouammed" to deal w1.1h a hostile world. EVidence 
tOf this panem tan be se-en III census data Showlag 
that al·rtU populaUons lor violence have bi&her birth 
rates. bl&ber rall.!S of lett-lmndedoess (relaled Ie 
spallal reuontng In predatory behaVior In the n&ht 
portion of the braia), and hl&bPr rate. of aa:re:ssIve 
behavior problems amana thlh1ru at an early qe. 
Again. nature lS 1l')1JI, to protect ber own - trylq to 
Jive survival advaotate. cartq not about the law, 
propeny ownenhlp, convention or IOdeJ COntr1!.tL 

IncreaslnJlY oureulture eommunkalts threaL 
Violence: and agress.Ion tollow. Our bodies aod mlods 
respond With ancient biological and bebaViorul 
readJOtIS. 

The SOlution lies In .wnswhat nature has dlSo 
2Ivenu'-abralncaeableofcreallnpcnlt'rjou~n~ 

This pattern of structural and behavioral change In children 
as a result of exposure to violence makes sense from a 
biolOgical perspective. 

of buUdlzlg a culture that commuolcates cooperation 
end collabefallon for common BOOd. 

p~ and community 

PeAce Is nol the absence 01 conlllcL Rather. It Is a 
stale 01 cooperation alld ctlliaberaUon that mujmiz:es 
thesurVh'llJ and weUIlf1! of aiL Hundreds oflldenUDe 
Jt\1dles poilU to the path for conwell\&. then 
prnenlin&. the epidemic of violence we tee prese.oUy 
In thlscountry. 

Arst. We need 10 locus efforts 10 younger ChIldren. 
redudoi their exposure to aggnsdon prior to Ule 
0J!Sd of puberty. PubUsbed reviews ot LntervenUons 

"'"Urreduee \'IO!eDeelhow thai early interventions are 
much more suc:eesstuJ than InterveotIons timed 
durtq adolescmce. The reasons forlhls become 
appe.rent as we understand buma.o blolDIY. 

Second, we need to build soda! tompelence of 
yOUD8Jlers and reduce perceived todal threal to. 
)'UWI8Slers.5eVeral thousand rc:searell. studies. an 
art1tad ot buman COIlSdo~ess.sbOW that praise and 
reward build sodal competence.latelli&erace and • 
self-direcuolJ In ehlldren. Thus, we need to ;ezch 
cb.1Jdten to praise oUten slneerely (whlcb Increases 
the probablll[)' that more good lhltllS w1.U happen 10 
them).1.Dd lar adUlts to praise dilldren for more 
social compelence and se11-dlrecUon. Mult praise
except Ln the ease of adults who tJy 10 exploit children 
I6XWl1IY- typically slpab coodilioliS 01 Jowlhrear 
MIl coopera:Uon. 

stcnt:ln, Up to Put-down. 
SocIDl competence: will be 10ereax41f we also 

t~Ch Children to reduce lhelruse of pUt-c1owns lor 
tnsull'l.slncethe~ull'tendtf\lnvjlr'IUlacL-

third. we need 10 provide ample models (balh In 
the mtdla and rea1Ufe) of adult and cblldhood 
cooperatIon. Sua models reduce perceived threat 
aod ongoing re-V:lctlmlmllonol the symplnms;of 
post-tnlumatIe stress. These models 01 cooperation 
Deed to be C%plleltiy pelaled alit and studied by 
c:bUdreo 10 their everyday lives. 

If violenee.is B diseue of buman relatinnshlps, 
tbeo the ture lies 10. relationship bul!dlo.c. That Is wby 
a coalIUon ot more than 10 Pima Coun[), OrpnJr.aUOIlS 
- bustnesses,lChools.lhe poUce.the media and 
OllIen- have jolned together to create a pcaslUve 
"tr:LaTkar evetll" to fostl!f soelal competence of 
c:bUdren at !lome. In scbool alld in the ctlmD1unlty. 
TIle marker event, highly VIsible tel many to lIle 
ctlmrnunlty. began on Nov. U with thedl5trtbuUon of 
some 100.000 bookJ 10 lIle elementary ICbaol cblldren 
of Pima County en1led"1 Help BuUd Peace."Thnt 
book. the matenals tor scbools and medla programs 
(suCh as the weekly wrapper Insert In thl! Sunday 
edltlDn 01 The Ariuula Dally Star) represent B 
collaborative. cooperallve effort 10 build a 
community all of us consciously want 

Eadl of us QUI enhuce thai effort bJ t!Choina the 
Jlnodples In our dally lives at borne. at work and In 
the communJty. Begin today. Praise people honestly I 
recocnJz:e Ulem for their dally Bcbievemetltl and 
belp. Reduce put-downs., our l1ablts of IrtIUlttng 
crttidsm. 

Dennis D. Embry. PhD .. is Ihl! preJidenl 0/ 
HtortsprlntJ, Inc .. 'he delle/open o/Ihe '" Help BuUd 
PNce" pl1lgram. He is a /jmued PJYChologul who 
rrenwd nalional recognilion lor hiJ elfol1s to help 
clIildma and famille, olf«ted by Ihe Ruff war. HIS 
article. "Cmzting Conscious Amenca." oppears ItI 
Ihe ~mber wue ofOmnl Maf'a:ine 



.. 

"1 can do 
something to 
increase the 
peace. You can, 

too. Here 
is how" 

"1 watched until 1 saw the boy do 
something nice for the other kids. 
Then I wrote a secret note to the 
boy about the nice thing he did. 
You should have seen how happy he 
was when he read it." 

"1 learned something about older 
teens and adults in prison. They 
felt rejected by other kids when 
they were growing up." 

"Mter the secret 
note, the boy 
started being nicer 
to lots of other kids. 
He even became 
friends with ME. 
He stopped hurting 
other kids so much. 
That's how I started 
increasing the 
peace." 

Co-sponsored as a public service by •.• 

;x 

"That made me think. I can 
help kids my age be more 
accepted. So I noticed another 
boy who had trouble making 
friends." 

~.g ••••••••••••• g •• & •• ~ 

Increase the Peace. 
Praise People. ~ 
(Hint: usc this sea:el note like the story) 

x 
" .. from a secret friend ; 
~ •••••••••••••• m •••••• ~ 

Family Support & Family Advocacy Board 

~ 
~ 
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First Aid For Dealing with 
an Angry Young Person 

i.o oWer the pitch of your voice. 
Yellingorusinga high-pitch inyourvoice Illy" there is 
somethingtonmawayfrom. Uaingawwerpitchgivea 
authority with noint.ent to harm. Lowerpitch invites 
more rapid compliance with your inlllruction. 

o Give choice for cooling off place. '"1_ 
you are 0JIII7':I. You amBit in 1M beck of the room or in 1M 
~ UlItil ~ taU! about tki& Which do you c1woM, the 

beck of the room or 1M ~r Giving a choice defuae. the 
anger more than telling someone to go tooneplsce, whl<:.'1 can 

be seen as an act of aggresaion-making the anger wone. 

o U/Ie a "When/lben-Choice" sentence 
form while ilvinlr instruction. "li'b.'<I1YOU 

are ./ttinginIMchDJrandamtui me ina calm voice, thmUJC willall1 
out wluzt IItIedII to be done." Directcommanda-"Sithete and teD 
me what happenedr - t.end to increase resistance and anpr. A 
"When-Then" collltnJ!:ticm ~ out the path for the youne penon 

-... -... ~ ... ,. 
.., .... 1Y_ .... -. 

tb act in • pcoitive way to obtain the goaJ. Choice gives respect. -G=~~:::U9iJo( 

o Ask about the resultB of action rather than 
lecturingabouttherulea. TheaimistoredueoothachaDee 
of the re-occurrenee of the perIOD'. act. Lecturing, CZPIainine. pltlDdinc and 
-!din&' wiD allDOlt certainly not chanp the behavi.... Often, the perIIOIIl will 
aimply argue bad< or tuna out. Aakinjr about tha reault of tile ..:lion impraves the 

c:hances~thatthaperlOD :=toin~future. Hera .... iome oample 

" • What unpleuant thh1c heppened when the rule wu brcIuat? 
• . • What rule did you bnek? 

• What could you hav!t done instead? 
• What pleuent thlup happen when)'ou do (JM pooltiDe 

thing idmti{kd by 1M pueon'fl 

o Giw choice for penalty or for making amenda. O@ 
Future, positive acta .... nlore likely, and angry acta .... 10.. ~ EiJ 
likely,lfyouoftOra~ofpenaltytoth.eIu1c1.. Sayaomething ~\:::::= 

1 like, "You can either write a nClltl (anaw~ the l)UeStions _," . 
above), or can cany J'un'. boob between c1_ as an apoloiY. . 

I! WhiclI one do )'IlU choooe?' 

Ii 0 Walk with a young person to let them explain 
A. and expend their emotional distress. Teachers may not 

J! havethatimetowalkwithaehild,butotherachoolstaft'may. Thi.often 
• works better than having the child lit in. chair or come to an office. 

!j . \-;, ......,.. •. _-." 
b / I • \ ClIJ~ }.rialna liuiIu Slat & ~~ ,~ 

lith" lpec:iIf IhlnklIO ItIt lid of 
==-":'::'~~Q~!';;;:'= Desert Hills Center for Youth and Families 
1lSm:,,""J~.~_il ......... ., ....... idtQI 
u."'-nAJ.c-li ... "r-c-r. n. .. ...... 
,...;...:.._Ib ..... '.,.-,~,.... 
MQ ........... ~-.,. 
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Three ways to get adults 
to listen and respect 
young people more 

o Ask the adult to walk and talk with you. 

When you really want an adult to listen to you, ask the adult 
to go for a walk with you so that you can talk. The adult won't 
be so distracted and will hear you better. 

Young people often complain that adults really don't really 
listen to them. Part of the problem may be that the adult is 

~ \too busy trying to pay attention to other things. By asking 
the adult to walk with you, they have to listen more carefully 
to you and the adult is a lot less likely to get on your case. 
A once a week walk with an adult in your family can really 
help build more respect. 

8 Offer two different ways make 
up for a mistake 
Everybody goofs from time·to-time. 
When a young person goofs, adults 
sometimes make up a punishment that 
young people find unfair. When that 
happens. the young person complains. 
and the adult gets mad. You will get a 
lot more respect from the adult if you 
notice the mistake and propose two 
ways to make it up. The adult will be 
much more likely to treat you fairly by 
choosing one of your ideas and to listen to your side. 

P.S. Make sure that the two options you propose make sense and are realistic 
for the adult and you. 

Il. ·1l.';.1.~.LJ oj -:-. -I 
S M T W T F S 

1 2 .3 
VI',..'! 

5 . ~~ II 9 ,0 II .2-

~ .. '( 
13 I"~ Ir· . .!" ~ Q " 
2o@ (0 ® © 15 " 
11 'J.8 1.9 30 

o Notice and praise the good things 
adults do for you each day. 
Almost all adult say that young people don't 
notice the good things adults do for kids. Young 
people say almost the same thing about adults . 
Getting and giving respect is all about noticing 
the good things that we do for each other. 

As a young person. you can get adults to give you 
a lot more respect and get more of the things you 
want when you praise an adult each day for some 
small thing done to help you ~ day. 

CopyrightelS93. H~I f~ . . P.O. ~OX12158, Tueson.AZ 85732' 602-322.9977. 

All rights re .. rved. Additional copie. may be orde",d from th. above add", ••. 
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A Community-Wide Comic to Show Ways to 
Increase the Peace 

From superhero to local hero, the main 
character of this comic-the actual 
young reader by using the first-person 
pronoun "I"-makes a difference in 
this community. The young reader 
takes positive steps to increase the 
peace at school and home. 

With detective-like skill, the young 
reader notices how certain actions 
trigger violence and aggression. The 
young reader grasps some 
alternatives after talking about what 
is happening with two wise adult 
mentors-a male Vietnam veteran 
and a female teacher's union leader. 
The young reader starts doing these 
alternatives in daily life, with 
positive effect. Another young 
person, something of a troubled 
bully, watches from the sideline, 
subsequently trying what our 
hero does. In the story, the hero 
comes to understand a bit about 

~~-"'bOd<"y.o. a real warrior being a person 
-"",,,,,,,,,,lnlul''''"'-

L-1'~""i'i""i.u""'.' cmoriii.I ••• I~~ who works to create peace in the community. The hero and 
friends initiate a school-wide plan to reduce 

violence that involves getting and giving respect, keeping the 
peace and ).earning ways to protect one's self. 

Target audience: All middle-school youth, using a media popular with the age 
group-an action comic. Focus groups and youth input from three school districts 
in Pima County have been used to help design the comic. 

Rationale: Focus groups with young people-from kids in trouble to kids doing 
well-reveal that they read more than adults commonly think, and they prefer 
comics, Sports Illustrated, Mad Magazine, etc. Such media can be used to teach 
prosocial skills, if carefully constructed. 

Linkages: Links to the overall Pathways to Resiliency model, including I Help Build 
Peace for elementarY schools and a DrOlrram for middle schools. 
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Senator DECONCINI. Thank you, Dr. Embry. 
Mr. Cooksey? 

STATEMENT OF ROY COOKSEY 

Mr. COOKSEY. I would just like to thank Senator DeConcini for 
putting together this kind of a panel and this kind of a session, be
cause it is something that is sort of rarely seen in these parts, 
where everyone is called upon to come out and make their input. I 
think this is a healthy thing and I hope that local officials will buy 
into it, so that they can hear the real problems of the community. 

I changed my sermon a little bit, because of things I heard last 
night. My grandson mentioned that we talk so much about prob
lems in the distance, we talk about how to solve the problems of 
the world, Los Angeles and elsewhere, but we neglect to talk about 
the problems at home. 

Now, this might be a little different from the way things are 
going this morning, but I think that it is necessary for me to talk a 
little about the unique problems facing other people, some of the 
people of the community, particularly African-Americans. So many 
times, we are so preoccupied with the problems in general, and so 
many times we hear how good and how great we are. 

I would just call your attention to some of the things that they 
said during the riots of 1967 in the Kerner Report. It said, in effect, 
that the nation was moving toward two societies, one white, one 
black, separate and unequal, and that the chief root cause of the 
riots were "white racism." 

So I think that sometime we are going to have to come to grips 
with the problems that we face in our society. Now, I was disturbed 
today when I walked out-not just today, but all last week when I 
was talking to youngsters and adults about coming to the meeting. 
They said why, you know, why, can you give me one reason why I 
should waste my time. Others said, you know, I make $4.25 an 
hour and I would get fired if I didn't go to my job. So I think this 
was very moving to me, when we talk about the great progress that 
we are making. 

Now, one of the major problems that we identified in 1967, when 
the report was made, was jobs, was one of the major problems, law 
enforcement or the lack of it, and the mass media, among other 
things, were the main causes of the civil uprising. Now, I venture 
to say, as we look for solutions, if you would take the Kerner 
Report and photocopy it, alter it a little bit, adjust it and imple
ment it, the problems would go away. It is basically just that 
simple, and I would like you to think about that. 

Jobs, jobs in Tucson for African-Americans are almost nonexist
ent. Incidentally, I am talking as a pioneer. I have been here. I 
helped to build Arizona. I helped to build the mines and the smelt
ers, when I couldn't even work in them after they were built, and 
then we came back later and integrated them. So the jobs are 
there, but you can see millions of dollars of jobs going up to Dana. 
You check it out, if you have some problem with my statement, 
and you won't see a black face on the job. I can't hardly get to 
work when I go, and I go down 6th Avenue, incidentally. The road 
is all tore up and that is great and people are working. I have been 
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trying to see a black person working on construction, when we 
helped build this country, this State. 

As a matter of fact, I don't want to get into details, but I was one 
of the first black foremen in the State of Arizona pouring concrete. 
I did it pretty good, because 1-10 still stands and I poured it a long 
time ago. 

So I think this is the major problem. You can talk about recrea
tion, you can talk about boxing and football-and I really go for 
that, because I used to box a bit-but you can't do it on an empty 
stomach. So these are the kinds of programs. 

Let's get back a little bit to law enforcement, for that was one of 
the other problems that were identified. You have programs in this 
community that are operating contrary to the law, and everybody 
knows it. For example, the community service program, it requires 
that-and you say it in your little booklet-that you are to operate 
under the guidelines in accordance with title VII of the 1964 Civil 
Rights Act, and title VI. I venture to say-and I would challenge 
you to get an investigation going and check it out-the Urban 
League is the only program that is in compliance. You check it out. 

In 1991, they had 71 employees. They had 34 Hispanics, 45 Afri
can-Americans and I am not sure the number of females, and they 
have 2 Native Americans and another entity that I would not care 
to mention that is representative of most of the others, has 20 em
ployees, not 1 Mrican-American, they have one Anglo, and some of 
them have right the opposite. 

I guess the point I am making is you are required under title VI 
to have participation, it requires participation about the people 
being served in participation and enjoyment of benefits. Boards, 
committees, jobs, et cetera, should be evenly produced and provided 
to people of the community of all ethnic groups. This is not done. 
So that is one of the major problems. 

The other problem is law enforcement, as I said. The jails and 
the prisons have a disproportionate number of minorities in them. 
Now, you might say they are "bad," if you want to, but check out 
the record, and we fmd that people are basically the same. I think 
these are some of the major problems. 

Then they want us to participate, and I have to go back to the 
people who ask me why, why should I go, why should I bother. But 
we are still here, because we still have confidence. We have been at 
this for many years, as you know, and we will continue to do so. 

So I am going to move along and let others have something to 
say, but I would make some recommendations. One recommenda
tion would be to appoint, elect or hire a compliance officer to check 
out the social programs here in the City of Tucson, check it out in 
terms of their compliance with title VI and title VII of the 1964 
Civil Rights Act. Dan Quayle and Ted Kennedy cosponsored a bill 
called the JPTCA Corps, and you ought to read it. It is very inter
esting. It tells how many employees who never hire African-Ameri
cans are, in fact, getting money to subsidize their payroll. So these 
are the kinds of things that really hurt. 

Tucson District I, their schools, where there is not even a black 
home mother, not to say anything about a teacher, now how are 
you going to tell my grandson that he ought to be a school teacher, 
he ought to be a whatever. He doesn't see any models. 



210 

Chief Hedtke, you are right about the resource office, because I 
was there. We have to usher in the plan for the first school re
source officer. There is, in my opinion-and I stand corrected-not 
one African-American school resource officer in the City of Tucson, 
and I strongly recommend that you do so. Let our African-Ameri
can kids see a good police once in a while. 

Thank you. [Applause.] 
[The prepared statement of Mr. Cooksey follows:] 

• 
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INTRODUCTION 

My name is Roy L. Cooksey president and founder of the Martin 
Luther King JR Memorial Society,INC. I am retired from the Ari
zona civil Rights Division of the state Attorney Generals' Off
ice, Past President of the southwest area conferenoe of the Na
tional Association for the advancement of Colored People. I re
cieved my high school equivilency certificate via Adult Evening 
Classes at Tucson High school. I attended Pima College, the Uni
versity of Arizona, UCLA and I hold a BA Degree in Public manage-

ment from ST. Marys' College of California. 
The purpose of the MLKMS is t.o fight Poverty, Violence and 

Racism, three key forces detriment.l to the tranquility and suv 
ivaI of mankind. 

YOUTH VIOLENCE 

Our topic this evening is one that is difficult to discuss in a 
vacum. It might be impossible to restrict violence to anyone 
segment 'of our society. Organized violence in the form of hate 
groups, cults, drug dealers, and yes under the guise of law and 
religion spans all age groUps and comes in cycles; evolving about 
every decade and rna xing out about every score or quarter century 
and as we count down the twentieth century, I am afraid the score 
cards will indicate that we are trailing on points. At a time when 
violence is spreading across the globe like a conttageous disease 
the question becomes, do we have the intestinal fortitude to bail 
ourselves out. 

Historically, these cycles of violence are always preceded or 
ushered in by a strained race relations and a depressed economy. 
It is a time when we consciously or mabe even unconsciously revert 
to a subtle form of division or seperatism along racial ,economical , 
political, philosophical, and religious lines. This rai.ses the 
question asto whether or not we are moving faster towards seper
ation than intergration. 

To understand youth violence in our society today and fend 
alternatives to address the problem it might be helpful to study 
some contemporary history. About a quarter century ago, we found 
oursel ves in the midst of a major ci vi 1 uprising along racial 
lines. The majority of the participants were young black males 
15 to 24 years of age, highschool dropouts,lifelong ghetto res -
dents,with a growing measure of of racial pride,hostility towa dB 
the middle class ( black or white) and distrust of the politic 
system and the role of police enforcers. 
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In the aftermath of the urban riots in 1967,president Lyndon 
.Baines Johnson appointed an eleven member commission one of whom 
was Ms Coretta Scott King, chaired by former Governor otto Kerner 
The President instructed the commission to answer three basic ques
tions, what happened, why did it happen, and what can be done to 
prevent it from happening again. The commission concluded that the 
root cause of the problem was" White Racism' 'They soon recognized 
that the causes of the rioting were implicitin the situation and 
condltions of ghetto life. 

They further concluded that the nation was moving towards two 
societies; one black and one white seperate and unequal.The 
=ecommended a program equal to the deminision of the problem. 

SIMILIARITIES and DIFFERENCES 

As we compare the economies analyze race relations and identify 
the problems facing poor people at the. peak ot the uprisings in 
1967 and on the eve of the 21st. century in 1993, we find more 
similarities than differences. Problems identified during the 
1967 ci,vil disorder were, high crime rate in black neighborhoods 
1 ack of heal th faci li ties and --municipal sEfrvtces ,·liygE--rrrfi.n t 
mortality among blacks, poor garbage collection and the increasing 
compressionof poor black citizens within the urban ghettos. These 
problems were compounded by poor educational opportunities,inade
quate recreation facilities biased administration of justice, dis
criminatory credit and consumer practices, feeble welfare programs 
~9.g..r~~iA1.t;.Jl!g3. ~!l~mg!..oyment_. . 

A NATION RESPONDS 

People of all ethnic groups put aside their political difference~ 
passed new laws and implimented new programs 
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Senator DECONCINI. Thank you, Mr. Cooksey. 
Mr. Noonan? 

STATEMENT OF DENNIS W. NOONAN 

Mr. NOONAN. Senator DeConcini, thank you very much for invit
ing me this morning. I also thank you very much for the last 10 
years of your commitment to the issues of youth and children, that 
of yourself and your staff over that time. You have committed, any 
time we have asked you to act on behalf of children's issue through 
legislation, you have been there for us and we really appreciate it. 

The issue that I would like to present this morning is that 
around the issue of youth violence there is more to youth violence 
facing us today than illegal gang activities. Violence for many 
youth is the answer to the problems that they face, whether it is a 
bully in school, whether it is a situation where they are feeling un
comfortable about who they are themselves. 

The rate of adolescent suicide, Arizona is one of the leading 
States in the area of adolescent suicides. The issues of eating disor
ders, the problems that we see not only in suicide, but all of the 
other factors that do not always hit the front page of our newspa
pers. 

We see suspensions for fighting up, we see racial altercations on 
our campuses up, we see more and more suspensions for possession 
of weapons in our schools, and that is only the tip of the iceberg. 
The problem is what we are not doing is we are not giving our 
youth the opportunity to learn the alternatives there are to resolv
ing conflict, which is a natural part of our lives, in positive and 
supportive ways. 

We need to get back to being able to help families and help 
schools and help, as Roy was saying, show role models that will 
positively influence our youth and our communities. Like I said 
conflict is a normal, natural situation for many people. We have 
conflict ourselves when we are dealing with our own abilities to 
take values and make difficult decisions in our lives. Conflicts be
tween youth, between parent and child do not have to be solved by 
fighting, either verbal or physical assault. Unfortunately, we aTe 
finding ourselves and our children shooting at each other, rather 
than dealing with each other. 

Today, we find children who are lacking in helping schools, we 
find youth that are parents and adults that are afraid of the youth 
on our street and youth living in our homes. How many parents we 
have heard at the agency I am working with who are afraid to con
front their own children about the issues, not because of what they 
are going to hear, but what their child might choose to do to them. 
That is something that we cannot tolerate in this country, and that 
is something that we cannot tolerate in this community. 

I guess it is no wonder, with all those factors, plus the added fac
tors of the issues of how our media has raised our children, that we 
find our youth involved in gangs, where their find their support 
and nurturance. We find them playing games like Russian roulette 
with handguns. We find them caught up in the cycles of depression 
and we find them caught up with the heavy use of alcohol and 



214 

other substances. We also find them acting out in violence toward 
women, adults, peers and themselves. 

How many of you read a comic book lately? How many of you 
have walked into a store and picked up a comic book and flipped 
through the pages? It is not the same as it used to be. Comic books, 
like other parts of our society, exploit individuals, exploit women 
and continue to carry through the negative stereotypes that we 
find in the negative parts of our community. 

It is very interesting to listen to Charles Barkley talk about in 
his Nike ad, he is not a role model, he is not here to raise our chil
dren, parents should raise their children. Even Charles I think un
derstands the fact that it is not as easy as it used to be. Parents 
and families and communities need help in being able to carry the 
normal development of their children through high school these 
days. It is not easy. It is not the same as it was 13 years ago, when 
I began as a counselor at Our Town. 

I think one of the things that hit me last week was sitting in a 
meeting where I was listening to the clinical director for the De
partment of Juvenile Corrections explain a new and innovative 
program that was being implemented here in Arizona and was 
being used as a model in other jurisdictions in other parts of the 
country. 

The model calls for a small number of youth to live in cottages. 
Low staff-to-client ratios are provided, a sense of clear expectations 
and safety and trust is developed with the youth. Role models use 
positive interactions and staff reinforces all positive behavior by 
the youth. Skills are taught to help the youths succeed in interper
sonal relationships, so they can interact with each other. 

For me, it was truly ironic to sit there and listen to the fact we 
were creating the perfect home and school environment in the in
stitutions we have for our violent youth. That is wonderful that we 
are doing it there. But while we are spending our money to develop 
those programs in the institutions, our schools and our families are 
crumbling under the stress of cuts in budget, limited service and 
failed legislation. 

I think that Tucson is a wonderful diverse community and reflect 
what Alice was saying, because of lack of funding on the State 
level and city level right now, we have been very creative in the 
programs we put together. But I think that there is time now when 
we need to look for a little ·more support and a little more help. 

Some of the things I would like to see us look to is more leader
ship through coordination of services nationally. I would like to see 
more emphasis on treating the issues related to the total child, not 
just the substance abuse issues of children, the violence issue of 
children. We want to talk about the total child and the total family 
and how we can work together to resolve those issues, and I believe 
the Child Welfare League has some literature that they are point
ing to, some legislation which they want to see implemented with 
those areas. 

This is not just a law enforcement issue, an education issue or a 
housing issue. It is an issue for the total need of the child and the 
total need of the family that needs to be addressed. Until we start 
seeing some leadership on the nr jO\onallevel and some commitment 
from the heads of the Departrneht of Health and Human Services, 
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I don't think there is much chance for us to be able to implement 
comprehensive programs on the local level. 

We also need to see reasonable gun laws. As long as the state-of
the-art guns are cheap and more available to youth than recre
ational educational opportunities and cheaper than an hour of 
counseling, we can't expect our youth to give up the guns, guns 
that they use not only for taking out their frustration on others, 
but also protecting themselves. 

Legislation focused on support of families needs to be encour
aged. No one wants to see the deficit continue to grow, but it 
should not be cut at the cost of our youth and families. The pro
posed cap on domestic spending, which is part of the recently 
passed House tax bill, could be a detriment to the development of 
services due to children, and I think it needs to be looked at very 
closely, as it comes to the Senate for discussion. 

More programs like the bipartisan program offered by the Rocke
feller and Bond program, the family preservation bill needs to be 
passed so that we can restructure our existing services to youth 
through title IV-E and also focus more focused energy on commu
nity based alternatives and family services. 

We need to encourage and enhance cultural local neighborhood 
control programs. Efforts like Head Start and the Runaway and 
Homeless Youth Act need to be enhanced and not watered down by 
outside academic influences and State bureaucracies. It is great to 
have the universities involved in helping us develop programs, but 
it is counterproductive to use the university as the value structure 
for which programs should be developed in our community, and I 
think that we need to make sure that technical help is there as 
part of Federal support, but not mandated as part of Federal fund
ing. 

Cultural sensitivity classes and, like Dr. Garcia said, conflict res
olution and mediation programs need to be encouraged in our 
schools and in our summer programs throughout the communities. 

Youths that still leave school after 12 years of education should 
not just be able to solve an algebraic equation. They should also be 
able to handle basic life skills, such as money management, balanc
ing a checkbook, interpersonal communication and basic nutrition 
needs. 

Finally, one of the other things that we need to look for is, unfor
tunately, the community service program, the ability to give youth 
not only jobs, but also give them the opportunities to be able to 
learn from a job experience, so they can take that on to the next 
level, and I think we need to push for those kind of programs, so 
that they can not only get the jobs they need now, but also look 
forward to the possibility of going on to trade school and college 
and having that paid for with the time they put into their commu
nity service programs. 

Thank you. 
[The prepared statement of Mr. Noonan follows:] 
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Testimony by: 

Dennis W. Noonan. MSW 

Senator DeConclnl. Senate Committee Members. and Staff. Thank ."ou for the 
. opportunltl,l to address the Committee this morning on the Issue of ."outh violence. 

As a professional sO,cial worker and the Director of a ."outh and famll." communltl,l 
Agenev In Tucson. Arizona, I have seen first hand the escaJatlng levels of violence In 
our hames, schools. and neighborhoods over the past ten ."ears. I have worked with 
the victims and perpetrators of Violence. and have observed the fear. anger, distrust 
and sense of hopelessness which has transformed our ."outh Into objects to be feared 
b." adults In our society. 

Youth violence goes far beyond the Issues of !lIegal gang activities and the dangers 
on the streets of our urban communities. Youth violence Is toda." found In our homes 
and classrooms as ."outh use guns and violent actions to address their Inabllltl,l to 
deal with failing grades. bullies. personal rejection. abusive parents. and their own 
sense of failure. It would be shortsighted of us to address toda." onl." the front page. 
hlghl." visible iIIegol actlvltes of groups of youth while the rate of school suspension 
for fighting. racial altercations. and possession of weapons continue to grow to tragic 
levels. 

I will not present this morning the alarming statistics of ."outh crime nor willi present 
first hand accounts of victims of violence or the background of abuse. rejection, and 
discrimination of man." of the ."outh who are responsible for violence In our streets. 
I will leave that to the ."outh and other panel members before ."ou toda.". The focus 
of m." comments will address the broader question of ."outh violence as It occurs In 
the escalating rates of adolescent suicide, dating and relationship violence. and the 
use of violence to resolve Interpersonal. school, famll.". and peer relationships by 
."outh. 

Conflict Is a natural situation when a person finds himself at odds with his own values 
and the need to make a difficult decision. Conflict between tUlO Individuals 
presenting differing points of views Is a normal part of life. Our abllltl,l to success full." 
deal with conflict and Its associated feelings Is a product of our life experiences and 
our learned coping skills. Man." ."outh toda." find themselves lacking In both these 
areas and have no positive experiences In resolving conflicts without violence. The 
changing American famll.". the Impact of television. economic hardships. especially 
among ethnic mlnorltl,l populations are factors which have Impacted the ."outh of 
toda.". their values, coping skills. expectations, and sense of realltl,l have been shaken 
b."lnsecurltl,l In areas that We adults take for granted. Much has been written about 
the Impact of the single parent famll." on ."outh. - much less written on the multiple 
femll." stressors placed on children of divorce as the." must learn to deal with two or 
more sets of parents. with var."lng expectations. and differing values. Much has been 
written about the Impact of drop-out rates, on self-esteem, - little written on the 
unfulfilled expectations and the pressure of ."auth who are pressured to succeed at 
all cost Youth toda." must live In the fear of the actions of others, whether It Is a 
stra." bullet on the sChool campus. AIDS through sexual contact, or drunk drivers on the 
streets. Add to that the conflicting messages of the nlghtl." teen television show, the 
latest angrl(CD lyrics, or the monthl." magazine or violent comic books the." read. HOUJ 
else could ."outh feel but overwhelmed and out of control over any part of their lives, 
a feet that greatl." stresses their relationship with pnrents and peers. 
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Is It anv wonder then that we find our vouth todaV Involved with Illegal gongs. 
plavlng In games of "Russian' Roulette" with handguns. caught up In CVdes of 
depression. suicide. eating disorders. heaVl,l alcohol abuse. and acts of violence 
towards women. adults. peers. and themselves. A sense of hopelessness too often 

. overwhelms their lives at a time In their developmc:nt when Independence and self 
assurance are supposed to be the natural stage of development. Vouth unable to 
control or Impact their own lives turn to guns. cheaper and easier to find than on hour 
of counseling. to protect themselves and deal with their problems. Rs adults. how sad 
we feel when we hear of a vouth who takes his own life. How surprised we are when 
we hear of a vouth who walks Into a dassroom and shoots a peer or teacher. How 
condescending we are when we hear about the quote accidental "shooting" of one 
youth bV another. How judgmental we are when we hear about another Illegal gong 
activit." ending In violence. yet we fall to see the comparison of their needs to our 
own needs as we drive to the bar to meet our friends ofter our weekly dub softball 
game or on the way home from a Junior League Club meeting. Perhaps we need to 

~. recognize In ourselves the need to belong. ta shore. and be a part of something. and 
to find wavs far youth to find the some positive support In their lives. 

The problem of youth violence lies In aur Inablllt." to recognize the real needs of our 
vouth. nat just the false sense of securlt." which has our high schools looking more like 
the Wilmot Acad Prison and our Juvenile Courts used as holding tanks far the transfer 
of vouth to adult correctional svstems. The Issues of quallt." of life. the treatment of 
Vauth as a valuable part of our communities. not as expendable objects of fear needs 
to be maintained. I recentlv listened to the Clinical Director for the Deportment of 
Juvenile Corrections (OYTR) explain their new. Innovative approach to treatment which 
was alreadv catching on as a model In other states for dealing with violent vouth. 
The model calls for a small number of Vauth to live In cottages. Low stoff to dlent 
ratios are provided. A sense of dear expectations. sofet.". and trust Is developed with 
the vouth. Role models and positive Interactions are used bV stoff to relnfarce 
positive behaviors by the youth. Skills are taught to help youth succeed In 
Interpersonal relationships so they know how to act with others. For me. It was trulV 
Ironic that we are talklng about creating the perfect home and school communlt." In 
our Institution for violent vouth while we continue to watch and let our schools and 
families crumble und~r the stressors of the budget cuts. limited support services. and 
failed legislation which would help communities and families to help keep vouth out 
of the correctional svstem. 

Chorles Barklev. the Phoenix Suns basketball star. has a new shoe commerclol where 
he dlrectlv states that he Is not a role model. he Is a basketball piaver. parents 
should be role models and raise their own children. As I am sure Mr. Borklev knows. 
It Is not quite thot easv. In todav's soclet.". the role of media has created a whole 
new cultural norm for our vouth. one af $70.00 shoes. deor sodo. perfect deodorants. 
and clear. clear complexions. A purple dinosaur named Barnev. teaches values ond 
gives comfort. while a big Vellow bird and group of monsters teach children to count 
and recite the alphabet. This acculturation of our vouth continues with teen movies 
crammed with sexual exploitation and wanton violence while television sitcoms solve 
the most compllcoted social or personal problem In 21 minutes. minus commercials. 
In todaV's world. parental Impact. cultural volues and traditions. are diminished and 
school once a source of SOcialization. stimulation. and pride. has been overshadowed 
bV the stimulation of video games. while street gongs provide the SOCialization. pride. 
and sense of belonging which vouth need to feel supported. Low enforcement as the 
main source of control on the streets Is feared bV few. despised bV manv. Is It anv 
surprise then that adults think that the oniv hope for the law abiding citizens Is the 
lock up of vouth criminals In adult Jails. again giving us a false sense of safet." and 
securlt.". 
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Some suggest we just write off this generotlon, ond begin onew. Lock them up ond 
throw oWOII the Icell. The problem Is thell ore our future and are capable of making 
It with support and leadership. These 1I0uth like the victims of war and the soldiers 
who fight In battle, can be a valuable, contributing part of our communltl/. These 
1I0uth have seen death and destruction but stili seek what all of us seek for aurselves. 
We know the answers, we just lack the leadership and support to make a difference. 

SOLunONS: 

There are manll successful programs In communities throughout the countrl/. What Is 
lacking Is the leadership through the coordination of efforts notlonollu to look at the 
whole problem of youth violence. It Is not just a law enforcement, education, hauslng, 
health and human services, or substance abuse problem. It crosses all these areas 
and until a notional plan and commitment develops for all children, there will continue 
to be only Isolated pockets of success In an othe:wlse dark picture. Joint funding and 
coordinated programs can greatly enhance local communltl/ efforts to address the 
problem with unique programs effective In neighborhoods and barrios throughout our 
countrl/. 

Reasonable gun laws. ·As long as state of the art guns are cheap and more available 
to our 1I0uth than recreational or educational alternatives, then youth will continue to 
carry and use handguns and assault weapons on our streets and In our schools both 
to hurt others and protect themselves. 

Legislation focused on support of families and children. While no one wants to see 
the deficit continue to grow, It should not be cut at the cost of our youth and families. 
The proposed cap on domestic spending, a part of the recentlll passed House Tax Bill, 
will hurt children at the expense of defense and foreign policy. More programs like 
those outlined bll the bl-portlsan Rockefeller, Bond family Preservation Bill needs to 
be passed to help support our families, meet the needs of rearing their own children 
effectiveill. Funding of communltl/-based alternatives needs to be enhanced, most 
communities and neighborhoods know how to handle their own children. Theil need 
the funds to enhance cultural, local, and neighborhood programs. Efforts like Head 
Start and Runaway and Homeless Youth Act need to be enhanced and not watered 
down by outside academic Influence or state bureaucracy. Evaluation and program 
consistency are Important parts of a successful program, but communities, not 
Universities should control the content, placement, and values of a program with the 
outside support for technical assistance available from Universities, not required for 
Federal funding. Programs such as Conflict Resolutl,.n, Mediation, Cultural Sensltlvltl/, 
life Skills Classes, and Teen Courts, need to be provided In schools and summer 
programs. Youth after 12 years of school should not just be able to solve algebraic 
equations, but be able to handle basic life skills, such as money management, 
nutrition, and Interpersonal communication. 

Finally, 1I0uth jobs such as those proposed by Communltl/ Service Program Bill needs 
to be Instituted. The job and practical experience as well as the chance to attend 
college and trade schools Is for many, the only ticket aut of a sense of hopelessness 
and a life of crime, Isolotlon, and violence. 

Thank IIOU again for the Invltatlan and opportunity to present before this Sub
Committee. 

<. 
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Senator DECONCINI. Thank you for those detailed suggestions, 
both on the Federal level and the local level. 

Ms. Romero? 

STATEMENT OF ENRIQUETA ROMERO 

Ms. ROMERO. Thank you, Senator DeConcini, and to the commu
nity that has shown their support by coming out last night and this 
morning. I know you have heard a lot and you have your own reac
tions, but I thank you for sitting through it and for representing 
your concerns. 

Senator DeConcini, I come to you not representing Pima College, 
but representing a person who grew up on the South'Side and is 
most proud of being a Pueblo graduate. If I did nothing else in my 
life, that would be a highlight. But, of course, that is not all I have 
done. 

I have come to a good many children in the past two or three 
years, and what I have learned is that responsibility rests not just 
with parents, the police or teachers, but with the community. Com
munity is the key word. We cannot do it alone. A child is not just a 
mind to be educated by TUSD, a heart to be loved by family or 
parent or friends, or hands to be employed in a summer youth em
ployment program. It is a whole child and we need to take care of 
the whole child. 

There is an African proverb that states it takes an entire village 
to raise a child. Here is your village, Senator DeConcini. Here are 
the parents, the grandparents, the brothers and sisters that are 
concerned, and I charge you to be a village elder and to take back 
to DC, after you leave us and the barrio, our concerns. 

Our concerns are that the current programs which many feel 
serve us are not for us. They are not culturally sensitive. They do 
not have space. They do not have resources. The people who run 
them sometimes are not adequate, not because they don't have love 
for the children or the community in their heart, but because they 
have not been trained properly, they have not been assisted in 
grant-writing and leadership skills and conflict resolution. 

So I ask that when you go back to DC, you remember not us the 
adults, but the children that you met last night and today. I want 
you to remember Chris Jones, Rosie Hernandez, I want you to re
member Alex and Ronnie and Valerie. That is what you need to 
take back with you. 

Senator DECONCINI. Thank you. I will not forget them, and the 
ones I met yesterday in Phoenix, both ex-gang members and 
present gang members that I spent several hours with, and I thank 
you for that suggestion. 

Mr. Sharpe? 

STArrEMENT OF JOHN SHARPE 

Mr. SHARPE. I want to thank you for having me here today to 
speak to you. Another person in the audience, because of the high 
success rate of my program, is Dr. Gene Weber, who spoke to 
teachers, counselors, principals and other school districts about the 
program when they thought I was as little off the deep end because 
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of what I was doing. He persuaded them to allow me to try the pro
gram. 

I have been into martial arts now for 35 years actively. I am one 
of the top 5 instructors in the United States and probably one of 
the top 10 instructors in the world. I am also the founder of Gang
busters, Inc., which is a nonprofit organization put together here in 
January 1992 in Tucson. 

I am here today to talk about gang violence, gangs and what is 
being done by Gangbusters, Inc. to help eliminate these problems. 
Gang violence has escalated over the past 10 years to levels of into
lerability. What was once a problem associated with the inner-city 
of major metropolitan areas has spread into all America, affecting 
people of all walks of life. 

It is not a low-income problem, as we once perceived it to be. 
Today's gangs consist of members from a wide range of economic 
backgrounds. Hate crimes, turf wars and riots are all part of vio
lence that use these angry displaced youth of the melting pot of 
America. We need to take responsibility for our actions and search 
for ways to restore faith in our children and give them a chance to 
reach their dreams. 

What can be done to successfully combat this growing problem 
and gain control of this lost generation? In January 1992, as I said, 
I realized the growing need for our kids to have a positive alterna
tive to the streets that teaches them respect for others and respect 
for themselves. For without respect for yourself, you can't have re
spect for anyone else. From hard work and respect comes honor 
and the sense of positive accomplishment. 

The kids need to see that someone really cares for them. They 
need to be shown respect, love and a strong sense of belonging. 
They need a role model or hero, if you will, to lead the way for 
them to follow. Thus, the formation of Gangbusters. It was estab
lished to give kids a positive alternative to the hard streets. 

Gangbusters' martial arts programs offer free instruction in mar
tial arts to any student from grade school, ages 3 years old, until 
high school graduation and sometimes beyond. We have some basic 
principles that they must abide by. One, the student must improve 
his or her school grades each and every semester. Second, the stu
dent must stay away from gangs and gang members. Third, the 
student must stay away from drugs and alcohol. And fourth, he 
must show respect to his family members and those of authority, 
and basically anyone he is making contact with. 

Once the kids agree to this, they are given a brand new deed, 
which is a uniform used in martial arts. The look on a kid's face 
when they get the uniform is a sense of total relief, a sense of final
ly belonging to something great, a sense of beginning a new life. 

I require all students to bring in their report cards to show me at 
the end of each term in the school year for my personal review. If 
the student has not shown improvement in his or her grades, then 
I will discuss with them how they will go about to improve the 
grades in the next quarter. Again, if they do not improve their 
grades, we will discuss different alternatives. 

As you can see from the copies of report cards that I handed to 
you, the students are learning respect for themselves and 97 per-
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cent of the kids enrolled in the program now have successfully im
proved their school grades each and every quarter. 

The Gangbusters program began with an initial enrollment of 
200 students, and that was after a 15-second commercial. Now its 
numbers exceed 5,478 students a year and a half later and is grow
ing at a rate of a minimum of 100 students per week. It has as doc
umented success rate, as I said, of 97 percent improvement in 
grades. 

What makes the Gangbusters program so successful? Why are 
kids and their families getting involved and staying with the Gang
busters martial arts program? Again, in that folder I gave you are 
about 100 testimonial letters from parents and kids, from teachers, 
principals, superintendents, and political figures attesting to the 
program, why it works for them. 

When I was young, I was raised in the ghettos of New York. My 
family was poor and I lived in the backseat of an old Plymouth a 
good period of my life. For meals, we had oatmeal once a day. If I 
had it more than that, I had it a lot. 

I started hanging out with the wrong type of kids, the wrong 
type of guys and I became a pretty good enforcer. I busted heads 
with the best of them, sometimes even better. 

En route between where I lived and where I went to school was 
as martial arts school, and every day for about a year I stood out
side after school and watched through the windows. Whether it be 
freezing or pouring rain, I would be out there. I was simply fasci
nated by it. 

The instructor came out one day and asked if I wanted to take 
classes. I told him I was real poor and couldn't afford it. He said I 
didn't ask you if you could afford it, I asked if you wanted to take 
classes. I said sure. He said go home and get your parents and 
come back. I did. The next thing you know, I was studying. That 
was at 11 years old. At the age of 13, the community got together 
with the instructors and I made my first trip to Japan. Since then, 
I have trained for 21 years in Japan. 

Although Webster's dictionary defines a gang as a group of 
criminals or hoodlums who ban together for mutual protection and 
profit, it should be noted that the average gang member does not 
fall under this definition. Ten percent of each gang are hard-core 
members, who most of them will never change, and the remaining 
90 percent are want-to-be's or those who just want to belong to 
something. 

Kids of all ages, male and female, poor or rich, join gangs for any 
of several reasons. Some of the reasons include wanting attention, 
wanting to belong to something, wanting power, lack of supervision 
at home, lack of activities, lack of positive role models and unsafe 
conditions in neighborhoods and schools. 

We at Gangbusters have found that by teaching traditional mar
tial arts to the students, together with at least one parent, we are 
accomplishing the impossible. First, by having the student and his 
parent train together, we are bonding the family unit tighter and 
closer than they ever were. 

Parents who are unable to actively train with their son or daugh
ter learn by watching and listening to all the instruction given in 
each and every class. The family is now training as one unit and 
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not two separate units. They are learning to work with each other 
and to help each other, probably for the first time in their lives, 
with a mutual goal in mind. 

Parents learn to talk to their children and not at them, and to 
understand their children's feelings. The children, on the other 
hand, learn to work closer with their parents, they start to under
stand their parents' feelings and respect what their parents say, 
which again is probably for the first time in many years. 

Traditional martial arts as taught by Gangbusters teaches the 
students to have respect for themselves, their parents and anyone 
they may come in contact with. It teaches the parents to respect 
their children and others, along with building respect in them
selves. 

Through the discipline of our martial arts program, both stu
dents and parents learn to take control of their lives. They learn to 
overcome obstacles in their daily lives in a proper way, and not to 
be defeated by anything. Where motivation doesn't exist or there is 
very little, we are able to motivate both the parents and students 
to their maximum potential, for we believe that the only limitation 
a person has is that of the one he sets for himself. Anything can be 
accomplished, if you are willing to work hard enough for it. 

Through the training and respect, discipline and motivation, the 
students and their parents' self-esteem rises to an extremely high 
level. You see, martial arts training is for the perfection of the 
total person. Self-defense ability is only a bypr.oduct of its training. 

In closing, I want to add that children are the lifeline of our cul
ture. They make us laugh, they make us cry. They remind us of a 
time of innocence and purity. It is through the children that we 
are able to see our innocence and our inquisitive nature. As adults, 
we yearn for the years and the days when we would wander 
around the wonderful world of a backyard, exploring and creating 
stories, epics of fantasy, where we were kings of the land. We 
would conquer evil and shine light in places that were once shad
owed with darkness, bring peace and harmony to the world. 

We must make strides to allow our children to be children. If we 
teach by example, then we must learn honor and set an example 
for our youth. We need to be the gentle giants guiding our children 
to a better future. Each of us must strive to live life for all life, 
instead for our own survival. We must strive against racial barriers 
and gangs, not each other. 

Senator DECONCINI. Thank you, Mr. Sharpe. 
If any of the members of the panel need to go on to other ap

pointments, since this is taking a little bit longer than we had an
ticipated, I understand, and you certainly may be excused. 

Thank you, Mr. Sharpe, for your background. I am familiar with 
your program and it has accomplished a great deal. 

Mr. Mullen, we are very pleased to have you, from Amity House, 
one of the nation's nationa.lly successful and innovative programs 
in drug treatment. We are glad to have you with us. You may pro
ceed and summarize your statement, please. 

STATEMENT OF ROD MULLEN 

Mr. MULLEN. Thank you, Senator. 



223 

I want to echo the appreciation for you and your tireless work in 
this and on many other issues for our community. I now that Sher
iff Dupnik talked about how you have been a patron of the needs 
for law enforcement, but I think a lot of people in our community 
don't know that you almost single-handedly put into national legis
lation programs for addicted mothers and their children, which I 
think has become one of the most important new program initia
tives out of the Federal Government, and which speaks immediate
ly to the issue of preventing violence, because we prevent violence 
by really getting to these children who are the most prone to vio
lence, to criminality, to drug abuse immediately during their infan
cy, and working with their parents to build strong families. So I 
want to congratulate you on the leadership role you have taken. Of 
course, that has worked in our community, where we have several 
of those programs functioning today. 

Senator DECONCINI. Thank you. 
Mr. MULLEN. I have a 27-year history with drugs, gangs and vio

lence. In the 1960's, I worked with members of New York and New 
Jersey street gangs. In the 1970's, I worked with the members of 
the Mexican Mafia, the Black Gorilla Family, the F-14's in Califor
nia, and in the last 12 years I have worked in Arizona with the 
Arean Brotherhood, Crips, and Bloods, and, unfortunately, the chil
dren of many of the people that I worked with when I first started. 

As you know, Amity runs a number of different programs for 
adults and children here in Tucson and also a prison program in 
California. Unfortunately, I must say to you today that in the last 
year we had to close three of our programs for serious adolescent 
offenders, because there were no funds and a real lack of interest 
in programs. We were one of the few programs in Arizona that 
worked with serious criminal juveniles, and over 50 percent of our 
programs for minority youngsters. The loss of those is a tragedy in 
our State and kind of reflects the indifference that we have. 

In the quarter centur,y I have been involved in this, I have seen 
us make the same dumb mistakes over and over again. Here in 
Tucson, as in the rest of the United States, we are like a bunch of 
idiots who keep trying to fight a malaria epidemic by buying a lot 
of bug spray and by trying to treat victims, rather than draining 
the swamps, which is the only way we are ever going to really get 
a handle on the problem. 

Every year, we have some great idea that is going to solve the 
problem. In the 1980's, we decided to spend billions of dollars on 
law enforcement, interdiction, and the most expensive prison ex
pansion program in the history of the world. To the rest of the 
people, we said "just say no." 

Well, here we are in the 1990's, we have got more people incar
cerated than any other nation in the world and more black men 
incarcerated than South Mrica, which has been denounced as a 
racist society for the past 10 or 15 years. No matter how good our 
programs are, no matter how good our police are, we are not going 
to really make much of a difference until we begin to drain the 
swamp, until we really begin to address root causes. 

I want to pick up the suggestion that was given earlier by Sheriff 
Dupnik that you think of a national commission to study the root 
causes of crime and violence. I know these studies, to some extent 
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there is cynicism about them, but I think the time is really right. I 
think the consciousness is not only here in this community, but na
tionally, that we are losing ground and we are losing it very, very 
quickly. 

There are an awful lot of people in this country that are subject
ed to the kind of fear that Ms. Ramirez was talking about, the 
drive-by shootings, the random violence, and I think it is time now 
for some national leadership, and I really hope that you would fur
ther that. 

Thirty-five years ago, a noted sociologist, Harry Bromfanbrenner 
pointed out in an important book that we were losing the condi
tions in our society that make human beings human. Making some
body a human being is not genetics, it is culture, and it requires an 
enormous amount of time and involvement by adults in the lives of 
children. Yet, year after year, decade after decade, we are becom
ing more fragmented as a society and our children are really left 
alone, and we should not expect anything other than what we saw 
in "Lord of the Flies," and we are getting it. 

Gunshot wounds are the second leading cause of death for high 
school aged children in the country. Are we alarmed, when we 
learn that the rate of violent juvenile crime increased 27 percent 
between 1980 and 1990? We should not be. Juvenile heroin and co
caine arrests jumped 713 percent in the same period, and for Afri
can-American teens, it increased 2,373 percent. We shouldn't be 
surprised by the level of juvenile violence, because it fits exactly 
with the increase of juvenile drug use and the lack of education 
and poverty. 

Before we knock gangs, let's talk about what they do and why 
9,000 children in Arizona belong to them. They provide a sense of 
family, sometimes the only family these kids have. They provide a 
sense of belonging that these kids desperately need. They give a 
sense of inclusion for people who have been excluded, and as they 
look into the future and their role model .and see them margina
lized and excluded in their adult lives. 

Before we knock gangs, we had better figure out an alternative 
for gangs, and it isn't jail. We have got to find something that is 
stronger, that is better, that is more attractive than gangs, or the 
gangs are going to continue and they are going to get larger, be
cause they fulfill an important social function, albeit a very nega
tive one. 

In Arizona, I want to point out that we are transferring more 
children to the adult courts than any other State in the Nation. 
Last year, we transferred 212, and those were not violent crimi
nals. Most of them were for property crimes, 116 were Mexican
Americans, 32 black, and this is definitely a case of racial bias. 

Girls arrested in Arizona have almost no options for treatment. 
Those who are arrested and need intensive treatment very fre
quently go to programs where they are put on Prozak, which is as
sociated with suicide in adults and adolescents. 

In the last 10 months, one juvenile probation officer had 10 Chi
cano girls give birth to babies while she was on her caseload and 
had no resources for those children. What do we think is going to 
happen to those children? What do we think is going to happen? 
Are we really talking seriously about youth crime and violence, or 
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are we again ignoring the problem like we did, as you pointed out, 
sir, in the 1960's? 

I also want to suggest to you that we have a huge national falla
cy, which we can have a terrible life for our children and a wonder
ful national economy. Twenty percent of the children in this coun
try live in poverty, 45 percent of the children who were born in 
1990 had mothers who had not completed high school, who didn't 
have jobs and were teenagers. 

We have to really address the. roots of these problems and not 
just come up with another neat whiz-bang gimmick which we will 
find out 20 years from now didn't work. 

[The prepared statement of Mr. Mullen follows:] 
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TESTIMONY TO U.S. SENATE JUDICIARY CO:M1IDTEE, SU13COMiVITITEE 
ON]UVENILE JUSTICE, HEARINGS HELD BY SENATOR DENNIS 

DECONCINIlN mC50N, p,z ON JUNE 2,1993 AT PUEBLO HIGH SCHOOL 
Testimony on Youth Violence by Rod Mullen, Executive Director, Amity, Inc. 

"It takes an entire vt1lage to raise a child." African proverb 

"The man outside the polis is either a god or a beast" Aristotle 

"It is the simultaneous withering of economic opportunities and 
intensification of consumer values that has made the urban drug 

culture both so alluring and so difficult to dislodge through 
conventional policies. Rapidly constricting economic opportunities 

have severely weakened the indigenous institutions and traditions of 
poor communities, and the weakening of those institutions, in turn, 

has helped make possible the rise of a violent altd materialistic street 
culture." Elliot Currie, Reckoning 

"I got my twelve gauge sawed off, an' and I got my headlights 
turned off, 

I'm about to bust some shots off, I'm 'bout to dust some cops off. 
Die, die, die, pig, die .. " "Cop Killer" Ice-T. 

I would like to start by thanking Senator DeConcini for holding these 
hearings. This reflects Senator DeConcini's continuing interest in the vital 
concerns of this community. Sheriff Dupnik earlier thanked Senator 
DeConcini for his stellar work in supporting law enforcement here along the 
U.S./Mexican border, which is now the highest drug importation area in the 
U.s. Similarly, I would like to thank Senator DeConcini for something that 
he is probably less well-known for, but in which he has taken a similar 
nationalleadershlp role: that is the pIOvision of effective drug abuse 
treatment services for particularly underserved and vulnerable populations. 
How many of you in this auc;liellce know that it was sP..nator DeConcini who 
brought drug treatment to the Pima County Jail through the nationally. 
known Amity/Pima County Jail Program? How many of you :know that 
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Senator DeConcini almost single-handedly began federal programs for 
addicted mothers and their children? The latter has become one of the most 
important new program areas for the U.S. Department of Health & Human 
Services. Certainly here in Tucson, we have pronted by this federal initiative 
in having several federally-funded programs for addicted mothers and their 
children. Programs for addicted mothers and children goes to the heart of 
youth violence prevention. Addicted mothers are unlikely to raise normal, 
healthy, well·adjusted children. These children are very likely to grow up to 
be criminals, drug abusers, and prone to violence. In providing effective 
treatment, Senator DeCondni has become a spokesman for the most effective 
prevention - working with the highest of high-risk groups and providing 
effective treatment services for the mothers and medical, behavioral and 
socialization services for the infants and young children. When we teach an 
overwhelmed addict mother how to become an effective mother, we have 
probably saved federal, state and local taxes in the millions during the 
lifetime of that child. 

I have a 27-year history Working with drug abusers, gang members, and 
violence. In the 1960s, I worked with members of New York and New Jersey 
street gangs - all of whom had significant heroin addiction problems along 
with their criminality and violent behavior. In the 1970s, I worked in 
California with members of the Mexican Mafia, Black Guerrilla family and F-
145. In the past twelve years here in Arizona, I have worked with the Aryan 
Brotherhood, La Eme, Crips, Bloods, and other gangs - and I am sony to say - I 
am now working with gang members who are the children of gang members 
that I worked with in the 60s and 70s. 

As you know, Senator DeConcini, AmIty runs a number of programs - about 
16 in all - for substance abusers; criminal justice/ treatment programs in jails 
and prisons (and for probationers); programs for adjudicated adolescents; 
programs for pregnant mothers and addicted mothers and their children; 
AIDS prevention programs for IV drug users and their sexual partners; 
programs for homeless substance abusers; and prevention programs for 
school-aged youth. Relevant to tOday's meetings, I am sorry to say that in the 
last year, we have had to close three of OUI foUI programs for serious 
substance--abusing adolescents who are involved in the criminal justice 
system. We have been providing these services in Arizona for nine years and 
consistently had more than 50% African American, Native American, and 
Mexican American enrollment (we were the only residential program for 
substance abusers with that high of a minority enrollment in Arizona). They 
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were closed not because a lack of need, but a lack of state funds and a lack of 
state interest in the problems of these children. Many of the kids we serve are 
involved in gangs, carry weapons, and have been involved in violent, 
predatory crime. 

Senator DeConcini, in the quarter century that I have been involved in the 
battle against drugs, criminality, violence, and irresponsibility, I have seen the 
same mistakes made over and over again. Here in Tucson, as in the rest of 
the U.S., we are acting like a bunch of idiots trying to fight a malaria epidemic 
by buying more and more bug spray to kill mosquitoes and by spending 
more and more on medications to treat victims. In the meantime, we never 
drain the swamps that surround us which produce the mosquitoes that carry 
the disease! 

Every few years, we have some great new idea, some great new gimmick, 
which will save use from drugs, violence, and crime. In the 80s, we spent 
billions on law enforcement, interdiction, and the most expensive prison 
expansion program known in history. We told everyone else, "Just Say No!" 
Well, here we are in the 90s with more people incarcerated than any other 
country in the world, with more black men locked up per capita than South 
Africa, and with drugs, violence and crime (especially amongst the young) 
continuing to escalate. 

No matter how good our programs or our police, we are never going to make 
much progress until we begin to drain our own swamps - until we begin to 
address the roots of our problems. Earlier today, Sheriff Dupnik suggested a 
national commission to study the problem of "root causes" of violence. He 
said he thought the root causes of most socially dysfunctional or maladaplive 
behavior were the same. Further, Sheriff Dupnik, with his many years of law 
enforcement experience, said that the solulion to our problems is not in 

c simply more policing, more law enforcement, or more interdiction. He, like 
more and more law enforcement professionals in the country - including our 
US. Attorney General, Janet Reno - are coming to the conclusion that we 
have to start looking elsewhere for solutions. 

Thirty-five years ago, sociologist Uri Bronfenbrenner stated in his book Two 
World of Childhood that, "If the institutions of our society continue to 
remove parents, other adults, and older youth from active participation in 
the lives of children, and if the resulting vacuum is filled by the age, 
segregated peer group, we can antidpate increased alienation, indifference, 
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an'tagonism, and molence on the part of the younger generation in all segments of our 
society - middle class chl1dren as well as the disadvantaged .• " In short we are losing 
the conditions in our affluent society for "making" human beings human. 
The process of becoming human is a very slow and intensIve one which 
requires continuous, intense involvement by adulfs in the lives of children 
in many settings for many years_ This is opposite to the direction that we 
have been going for the past 100 years In our country. We are begInnIng to 

reap the questionable benefifs of our social marginalization and segregation of 
children. 

Over two thousand years ago, Aristotle pointed out that "the man outside the 
polis is either a god or a beast." By polis, Aristotle meant the all
encompassing, tightly-knit community which provides the social matrix fur 
families which are involved in the critical role of child rearing, child 
education, and child socialization. Our experience in the past decades proves 
Aristotle correct-serial killers, sexual criminals, gang violence, increased 
rape, and other violent crimes show the bestiality of those excluded £rom 
community and family. 

Despite our rhetoric, our society is doing less for children every year. Women 
and children are Slipping below the poverty line faster than any other group. 
By 1990,20% of the children In America lived below the poverty line. Of the 
1.7 million children who were born in 1990, over 45% were In a "family" in 
which the mother had not completed high school, was unmarried, or was a 
teenager herself. Someltow or another in our country, we have developed 
the rhetoric that we have no money to spend to improve the lives of our 
children. Somehow, we have developed the idea that we cannot afford it, 
that it would ruin our economy. Is it more important to us to find 500 
billion dollars to bail out savings and loan institutions that failed than to 
support low income women and their children who might succeed with a 
modicum of support? Do we really think that we can fail at raising one out of 
five of our children into mature, functioning, productive adults and have a 
successful economy? 

Are we shocked that gunshot wounds are the second leading cause of death 
for high school-aged children in the U.s_? Are we alarmed when we learn 
that the rate of violent, juvenile crime has increased 27% between 1980 and 
1990? We should not be. During that same period, juvenile heroin and 
cocaine arrests jumped by 713% and the rate of increase for African/American 
teens increased 2,373%11 Drugs and violence go together just like violence 
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and poverty go together. The handwriting has been on our waIl for a long 
time, but we have not been reading it. 

We are still not reading it. We cannot change our endemic drug use, 
violence, and criminality until we begin to face the fact that we are not 
providing the conditions necessary for many of our children to become adult 
human beings. We can and should judge our society or any other society by 
how well children are reared. Using that judgment, we are doing very poorly 
as a nation. We continue to be plagued by racism, poverty, and a lack of 
educational opportunity for far too many of our young citizens. 

A word about gangs. Why are an estimated 9,000 kids in Arizona in gangs? 
Before we knock the gangs for their violence and for their promotion of anti
social values, we should look at them and ask ourselves, "What need do they 
fulfill?" Gangs provide a social structure for our disenfranchised kids; they 
are "family" for those who have none; they provide the sense of belonging 
that these youngsters have never had; they do not discriminate against 
people of color; they include those that have been excluded; they give a sense 
of pride to those who have no dignity; they provide role models for those 
who have none; they provide rights of passage into adult roles in a society 
which has none. Before we knock gangs, we had best look at why they are 
there, and what needs they are fulfilling. We are not going to end gangs by 
rhetoric, we are not going to end gangs by scaring them, arresting them, or 
incarcerating them. We are going to have to end gangs by building inclusive 
communities with educational and employment opportunities and a sense of 
.fairness, structure and inclusively that is believable and credible. 

By the way, Senator, I want to bring to your attention the remarkable job that 
the Tucson Urban League has done in combating drugs, gangs, and violence 
in Tucson, and in helping to build a healthy community in a very 
disadvantaged area of our city. The Urban League has addressed the problem 
in a holistic manner, working with youth, with their parents, helping elders, 
developing pre-school programs to prevent dysfunctional behavior in later 
years, developing community policing, and giving people who were hopeless 
a feeling that changes can be made in their neighborhoods. 

You should know, Senator DeConcini, that in Arizona we are transferring 
more children to adult courts and to the adult correctional system than any 
other state.. Last year, 222 youngsters were transferred. Of those, 116 were 
Mexican-American and 32 were African-American. Again, this reveals the 
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racial bias in our criminal justice system. You would think that these young 
criminals are being traJasferred because they are exceptionally violent. 
However, many if not most are transferred for property crimes. Few, if any, 
of these kids were offered a chance for treatment, a chance to change their 
lives, a .chance to learn the skills necessary to "mainstream" into society. 
When they do go to adult prisons, they must be isolated from adults, by law, 
so many of them do long sentences in isolation like our most hardened adult 
criminals. Do we really expect them, when released, to be better citizens as a 
result of this? Do we forget that the Mexican Mafia was formed by young 
gang members in the California Youth Authority? Are our current policies 
really designed to fi~t gangs or to promote gangs? 

For seriously delinquent girls (usually gang members and drug abusers) who 
get transferred to Arizona's juvenile corrections, there are few options for 
education and treatment. Only a few beds exist in the state. Some of these 
girls get treated with psychotropic drugs such as Prozac, which raises real 
questions since that drug has been associated with suicidal ideation and 
behavior. In the past six months, one juvenile probation officer told me 
that he had ten girls on his caseload who are pregnant and gave birth to 
babies, but there were no services available to him for these teenage, drug 
using mothers and their new infants. Do we really expect these children, 
born to these completely unprepared mothers, to grow up and be good 
citizens of our state and of our nation? Aren't we simply preparing the next 
generation of drug users and criminals? 

Senator DeConcini, r hope that you, on your return to Washington D.C., will 
help in the "paradigm shift" that must take place in looking at the "swamp" 
instead of merely throwing money at the symptoms. Our country, to prevent 
the kind of juvenile violence that imprisons many of our citizens in their 
home in absolute fear, must begin to make the establishmE>.l1t of healthy 
communities in which the full development or children is the central value 
the most important item on the national agenda. We cannot let cynical 
economists or special interest groups deter us from making the kind of 
national policy that will begin to restore our communities and begin to 
address the endemic violence, drug abuse, and criminality that threaten our 
viability as a nation. 

ROD MliLLEN 
Executive Director and CEO 
Amity, Inc. 

74-122 0 - 94 - 9 
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Mr. MULLEN. I want to close my remarks, which I tried to rush 
through, because I would like to just introduce for 1 minute Eddie 
Frajoe, who kind of really represents some hope in a lot of very 
mean statistics. He came out of this community, he grew up here 
right in this neighborhood. He was a gang member, he was in
volved in violence, he was incarcerated. I am now very proud to 
say he is really a father to a lot of people like himself. 

Eddie, could you just say a couple of words? 
Mr. FRAJOE. Hello. 
Senator DECONCINI. Hello, Eddie. 
Mr. FRAJOE. When I was 2 years old, my mom went to prison for 

5years-
Senator DECONCINI. Eddie, I will tell you what, if you do not 

mind, why don't we have you join the next panel, which is a panel 
of former gang members. Would you mind just staying up there? 
We are running out of time here and I have got to have some time 
for the former gang members, and that is what you could help us 
with. Can you just stay? 

Mr. FRAJOE. Yes. 
Senator DECONCINI. Thank you very much. [Applause.] 
We are going to take a 5-minute break here. 
[A short recess was taken.] 
Senator DECONCINI. The next panel can give us a better under

standing of former members of gangs. I don't think the public in 
general, and certainly not this Senator, really has an appreciation 
of why gangs are as attractive as they are, why they do some of the 
things that they do and what happens when you get into a gang 
and what happens or how do you get out of a gang. 

So what I would like each of you to do, if you could, is take a few 
minutes, like :3 minutes, and tell us a little bit about how you hap
pened to get into the gang, why you liked it, what it did for you, 
and then, of course, why you got out. 

We will start with you, Rocco. 

PANEL CONSISTING OF ROCCO D'ARPINO, ROBERT HERNANDEZ, 
CHRISTOPHER JONES, ROSIE HERNANDEZ, ALEJANDRO R. 
VILLA, RUDY HUERTA, CINDY RAMEREZ AND EDDIE FRAJOE 

STATEMENT OF ROCCO D'ARPINO 
Mr. D' ARPINO. I would say that the main reason that I got into a 

gang was the fact that we are real close and he got stabbed. He 
was already a gang member. He got stabbed and almost lost his 
life. 

Senator DECONCINI. He was already in the gang? 
Mr. D'ARPINO. Yes, and he almost lost his life and I figured, be

cause I wanted to get them back and the only way that I could get 
them back is-the fact was I knew I couldn't take down the whole 
gang by myself, so if I joined the gang and I was down with the 
gang and I got into boxing with the other gang a lot more often, I 
could get back at them a lot easier, and because of the fact that it 
was just-it was like back-up all the time. 

You know, because everybody else already had back-up, a lot of 
friends, it was like if they came up and started a fight with me and 
I started to step up to one-on-one, a lot of guys would come in. This 
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way, you know, if I got jumped, they get jumped back. Being in a 
gang is just like a reassurance, like you have got boys behind you, 
you have got people who care about you all the time. 

You know, like your parents, they care about you, like the way I 
was, my parents cared about me. But when we got in a fight, you 
know, when you get in a fight with your parents, it is like you have 
got no place to turn to. When I got in a fight with my parents, you 
know, they were always there. It was just like they were a second 
family, they were always there. There was nothing I could do. 

Senator DEC9NCINI. So the reason you got in the gang is so you 
could help your friend and also so you had protection? 

Mr. D'ARPINO. Not protection, really. 
Senator DECONCINI. You had these friends that would help you 

get somebody, when you had to get somebody back? 
Mr. D' ARPINO. It is not exactly protection. It is just kind of like 

backup, not protection, because you. can protect yourself. There are 
plenty of ways to protect yourself. It is just the fact that it is not 
what you can do, you know, it is not what you know, but it is who 
you know. 

Senator DECONCINI. So what did you get out of being in the 
gang? What was good about it for you? What was positive? 

Mr. D'ARPINO. About being in a gang? 
Senator DECONCINI. Yes. There must have been something that 

you liked about it, friends or--
Mr. D' ARPINO. I guess friends being down for each other. It 

seemed like if somebody else had a problem they would turn to me, 
and it would be like, you know, these guys jacked me last night, 
let's go get them. It was just kind of a thing to where I was there 
for them and they were there for me. 

Senator DECONCINI. Then why did you get out, and how did you 
get out? 

Mr. D' ARPINO. I got out by getting corded out, which is fighting 
my way out. 

Senator DECONCINI. Fighting your way out? What does that 
mean, you had to fight the whole gang or you had to fight some
body or--did they leave you alone or did they bother you after you 
got out? 

Mr. D'ARPINO. No, I am still friends with them. I still associate 
with them, because they realized why I needed to get out. One 
reason was the only thing was I was the only guy of light skin. I 
was an Italian in an all Mexican gang and that didn't go too good, 
so that was one reason. It was as fact that I had to prove that I was 
down for their color, for their race and I did that and they let me 
in, and I have proved that and they knew that. So now when I see 
them, it is what's up, you know, there is nothing--

Senator DECONCINI. And what made you get out? 
Mr. D'ARPINO. I got into some trouble, and like everybody, my 

whole family, everybody just started to disown me. I spent some 
time in jail and all my family just started to look down on me. I 
had calls from a lot of my relatives looking down on me real bad, 
and it was just all the pressure of everything. Then I got into some 
positive things and, you know, I wasn't sure if I wanted to get out. 
I talked to some people. I talked to the leader and I said I need to 
get out, and he said I knew you were going to come to that, he said. 
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Senator DECONCINI. Are you in school now? 
Mr. D' ARPINO. Yes. 
Senator DECONCINI. Good. Thank you very much. 
Robert, can you tell us a little bit about how you got in the gang 

and why and what it did for you? 

STATEMENT OF ROBERT HERNANDEZ 

Mr. HERNANDEZ. I had a friend, we were real close friends with 
my cousin. I had a few friends that were getting into it and they 
were in it from the heart, you know, from where'they grew up, 
where they came from, you know, from the barrios there, their 
neighborhoods, their families in it. That is how they got in it. 

I got in it because I became friends with these people, but I 
wasn't down from the heart. They are, because they grew up with 
this. It is their family. They will die for it. I thought maybe I could 
do this, too. I got corded in. I figured this is what I want. I didn't 
realize what I was getting into. 

Senator DECONCINI. How old were you when you got in the gang? 
Mr. HERNANDEZ. How old was I? 
Senator DECONCINI. Yes. 
Mr. HERNANDEZ. I was about 13. 
Senator DECONCINI. And d.id you jump in and have to fight to get 

in? 
Mr. HERNANDEZ. Yes, I had to fight my way in. You know, it 

really--
Senator DECONCINI. How long were you in the gang? 
Mr. HERNANDEZ. About a year and a half, maybe. 
Senator DECONCINI. What happened while you were in the gang? 
Mr. HERNANDEZ. Excuse me? 
Senator DECONCINI. What happened to you while you were in the 

gang? 
Mr. HERNANDEZ. My grades started falling, I started losing 

friends, fighting a lot, making just a lot of enemies. One time I got 
in a big fight at the mall and I got shanked twice in the back. To 
some people, they say that's nothing, you got shanked, so what, you 
haven't got shot or nothing. It is pretty scary. It came like a centi
meter from my heart and one almost punctured my lung. I could 
have lost my lung and I could have died. I was losing a lot of blood, 
because I didn't know that I got stabbed, I was so pumped up, you 
know. 

I hurt my family a lot, you know. To me, my family is the most 
important thing in my life, more important than anything. That is 
my real family. My mother, my family, it comes first. That is why I 
got out, also because I have something to live for. I was a positive 
leader before I got into this stuff, and now I guess it is just not 
there for me any more. It just was not. I just started losing it. I 
didn't come from the heart. There are some people here, you know, 
it is number one for them and they will never leave, because, like 
they say, it is porveda, for them it is going to be there always. I 
guess for me it just wasn't, because I didn't come from a straight
out neighborhood. I grew up there thinking like that. It was just 
something that was not porveda for me. 
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Senator DECON-CINI. Did they give you a hard time when you got 
out? 

Mr. HERNANDEZ. Yes, they were pretty pissed, pardon my lan
guage, but--

Senator DECONCINI. Do they harass you or anything once you get 
out? 

Mr. HERNANDEZ. No. 
Senator DECONCINI. They leave you alone? 
Mr. HERNANDEZ. They gave me a good cord out, but they knew, 

yOl!, know, when you've got to go. I told them, hey, I was down for 
my say, this isn't me, if you want to kill me, you can kill me, if you 
want to cord me out, cord me out, do what you've got to do, but I 
am going out. 

Senator DECONCINI. What are you doing now? 
Mr. HERNANDEZ. What do I do now? 
Senator DECONCINI. Are you going to school? 
Mr. HERNANDEZ. Yes, I am going to school. I rank number one in 

the state in wrestling. 
Senator DECONCINI. Are you? 
Mr. HERNANDEZ. Yes. 
Senator DECONCINI. Congratulations. 
Mr. HERNANDEZ. Yes, I took second in the state championships 

this year. I am going to a national wrestling championship this 
summer. [Applause.] 

I am pretty sure, if I keep my grades up, I will get a full scholar
ship somewhere for wrestling. I am playing football and my last 
term was really great. 

Senator DECONCINI. What year are you in high school? 
Mr. HERNANDEZ. Excuse me? 
Senator DECONCINI. What year are you in school? 
Mr. HERNANDEZ. I will be a junior next year. 
Senator DECONCINI. Thank you very much for coming forward, 

and good luck on your continuation. I am glad to see you. 
Christopher, what can you tell us about why you were in the 

gang and left? Your brother is in the gang, too, right? 

STATEMENT OF CHRISTOPHER JONES 

Mr. JONES. My cousins were in the gang. 
Senator DECONCINI. You were in the gang? 
Mr. JONES. I was in the gang with my cousin. I originally got in

volved in gangs growing up in New York. I jumped in when I was 9 
years old, because it was pretty much a family thing. All of my 
cousins and everything were in gangs and they always put me 
under pressure and wanted me to get in a gang, you know. I was 
pretty much scared, because without my cousins and stuff like that 
to back me up, I would probably get beat up a lot, so I got jumped 
in the gangs. 

Senator DECONCINI. How long were you in the gang? 
Mr. JONES. About 2 or 3 years. 
Senator DECONCINI. Here in Tucson? 
Mr. JONES. In Tucson about 2 or 3 years, too. 
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Senator DECONCINI. Two or three years, too. What was the differ
ence between the gangs where you came from and here, any big 
difference? 

Mr. JONES. Up in New York, the reason why I moved on here to 
Tucson, I came down to live with my mom because in the gangs up 
there I almost got killed about 2 weeks before I came down here, 
because my cousins and me were out having fun and my cousin got 
shot up and they almost killed me, too. I got stabbed in the leg. I 
guess that is the reason my grandmother sent me down here to live 
with my mom, to try to keep me out of trouble, and I got involved 
more in gangs here, too. It wasn't really as scary as it was up in 
New York. 

Senator DECONCINI. How did you get in the gang here? 
Mr. JONES. In the gang here? 
Senator DECONCINI. Did you meet some people or friends or 

what? 
Mr. JONES. Yes, my friends. 
Senator DECONCINI. Friends? 
Mr. JONES. Yes. 
Senator DECONCINI. And did you have to jump in and fight to get 

in? 
Mr. JONES. Yes. 
Senator DECONCINI. You did? 
Mr. JONES. Yes. 
Senator DECONCINI. And what did you get out of the gang that 

was good, anything? 
Mr. JONES. What did I get out of being in the gang? 
Senator DECONCINI. Yes, how did it make you feel? 
Mr. JONES. A lot of people respecting me, because I was in a 

gang. 
Senator DECONCINI. And what happened in school? Did you get 

kicked out of school, or were you able to stay in school? 
Mr. JONES. Yes, I was able to stay in school, except recently I got 

kicked out, I got expelled from school. 
Senator DECONCINI. You got kicked out of school? 
Mr. JONES. But it didn't really have anything to do with gangs. 
Senator DECONCINI. It was other things. And what made you get 

out of the gang? 
Mr. JONES. Getting out of the gang is that group John Sharpe 

was talking about, Gangbusters, I got into that. 
Senator DECONCINI. Martial arts? 
Mr. JONES. Yes, martial arts stuff, I got into that. 
Senator DECONCINI. Is that one of the conditions, that you had to 

get out of the gang? 
Mr. JONES. Yes. 
Senator DECONCINI. And you like the martial arts? 
Mr. JONES. Yes. Well, I have been in it for a while. I used to be a 

kick-boxer. I used to do kick-boxing. 
Senator DECONCINI. Are you pretty good at it? 
Mr. JONES. Pretty much. 
Senator DECONCINI. Now, when you got out of the gang, did you 

have to fight your way out? 
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Mr. JONES. No, my cousins understood what it was about. They 
understood why my grandmother was sending me away, because it 
was pretty much family, like I said. 

Senator DECONCINI. Is your cousin in the gang still? 
Mr. JONES. All of my cousins were there, lots of them, friends 

and they all understood, because I had no choice, I had to move 
down :iere, anyway. 

Senator DECONCINI. Why do your friends stay in the gang? Do 
you have any idea? 

Mr. JONES. I really don't know. All of my friends are in gangs. 
Senator DECONCINI. Do you talk about the gang, or once you are 

out do they stop talking about it? 
Mr. JONES. We don't talk about. 
Senator DECONCINI. You don't talk about it. 
Mr. JONES. I just kick back with them like that. 
Senator DECONCINI. Are you in school now? 
Mr. JONES. Yes. 
Senator DECONCINI. And how are you doing? 
Mr. JONES. I'm doing all right. 
Senator DECONCINI. You're doing all right? 
Mr. JONES. Yes. 
Senator DECONCINI. Good. 
Thank you very much, Christopher, for coming here. 
Rosie, thank you for coming here, too. Can you tell us a little bit 

about why you went into a gang and what you got out of it? 

STATEMENT OF ROSIE HERNANDEZ 
Ms. HERNANDEZ. First of all, in a gang I associated with the gang 

members. 
Senator DECONCINI. You were never in a gang? 
Ms. HERNANDEZ. No. ' 
Senator DECONCINI. OK. 
Ms. HERNANDEZ. No, but I do to this day associate with the gang 

members. The reason I did not jump into any gang is because I as
sociate with both Bloods and Crips or other gang members. 

Senator DECONCINI. You say you associated. What does that 
mean, you go around with them, but you don't have to jump in or 
fight to get in? 

Ms. HERNANDEZ. I don't fight to get in, no. 
Senator DECONCINI. But you weren't a member? 
Ms. HERNANDEZ. No. 
Senator DECONCINI. What is the difference? Do they let you go 

and hang out with them, but they don't make you become a 
member? 

Ms. HERNANDEZ. They ask me today if I want to get jumped into 
the gang. It is tempting. I at times wanted to say yes, but I haven't. 

Senator DECONCINI. Was this a girl's gang? 
Ms. HERNANDEZ. Yes-well, you can't really call it a girls' gang, 

because both boys and girls are in the gang. 
Senator DECONCINI. Boys and girls are in the gang? 
Mr. HERNANDEZ. Yes. 
Senator DECONCINI. Is that right, Christopher, there are girls in 

your gang, too? They don't have separate gangs for girls? 
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Mr. JONES. Like in New York, no, there weren't any girls, but 
down here there are a lot of them. 

Senator DECONCINI. Rosie, here they don't have separate gangs 
for girls? 

Ms. HERNANDEZ. Not that I know of, no. 
Senator DECONCINI. It's the same? I 
Ms. HERNANDEZ. Yes. 'rhere are different gangs. 
Senator DECoNCINI. And were you able to go with the gang all 

the time? 
Ms. HERNANDEZ. If I wanted to, yes. 
Senator DECONCINI. If you wanted to. Are you still friends with 

those gang members? 
Ms. HERNANDEZ. Yes. 
Senator DECONCINI. Did it affect you adversely? Did you do some 

things that you didn't want to do? Did it hurt your performance in 
school or anything? 

Ms. HERNANDEZ. No, it did not hurt my school, no. 
Senator DECONCINI. And do you still go around with the gang? 
Ms. HERNANDEZ. Yes. 
Senator DECONCINI. Do you think that is dangerous for you, or is 

that good for you? Do you get something good out of it? 
Ms. HERNANDEZ. Do I get-I guess just my friends I meet. 
Senator DECONCINI. So you are still hanging around with them? 
Ms. HERNANDEZ. Yes. 
Senator DECONCINI. Do they get in trouble? 
Ms. HERNANDEZ. Well, again, I have been going with them like I 

used to, I used to go and get in trouble. 
Senator DECONCINI. You kind of stay away when they are going 

to get in trouble? 
Ms. HERNANDEZ. Yes. 
Senator DECONCINI. Are you afraid that you might get in trou-

ble? 
Ms. HERNANDEZ. Because I have before, yes. 
Senator DECONCINI. Pardon? 
Ms. HERNANDEZ. Because I have got in trouble before, yes. 
Senator DECONCINI. You have been in trouble? 
Ms. HERNANDEZ. Yes. 
Senator DECONCINI. As a result of being with the gang? 
Ms. HERNANDEZ. Yes. 
Senator DECONCINI. Are you in school now? 
Ms. HERNANDEZ. Yes. 
Senator DECONCINI. What year are you in school? 
Ms. HERNANDEZ. I am going to be a freshman. 
Senator DECONCINI. A freshman? 
Ms. HERNANDEZ. Yes. 
Senator DECONCINI. In high school? 
MS .. HERNANDEZ. Yes. 
Senator DECONCINI. How long have you been associated with the 

gang? 
Ms. HERNANDEZ. About 2 years. 
Senator DECONCINI. Do you want to tell me anything else? 
Ms. HERNANDEZ. No. 
Senator DECONCINI. Do you have a brother or a sister or anybody 

else in the family ",,·ho is in the gang? 
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Ms. HERNANDEZ. No. 
Senator DECONCINI. What do your parents think about it? 
Ms. HERNANDEZ. My parents don't really know. 
Senator DECONCINI. They don't know? 
Ms. HERNANDEZ. No. 
Senator DECONCINI. We won't tell them. We won't tell them. 

(Laughter.] 
Rosie, thank you very much. 
Eddie Frajoe, do you want to go ahead and tell us a little bit 

about your background and your involvement with Amity? 

STATEMENT OF EDDIE FRAJOE 

Mr. FRAJOE. Like I said, it started out to be everyone from my 
mother, my father, my step-dad and uncle, they all went to prison, 
which means I really didn't grow up with any guidance. 

At the age of 14 years old, I was asked if I wanted to join a gang 
and I said yes. Instead of being jumped in, I had to fight someone. 

Senator DECONCINI. To get in the gang? 
Mr. FRAJOE. Yes, who was a lot bigger than I, to see how well I 

could hold my own. 
Senator DECONCINI. So how many did you have to fight to get in? 
Mr. FRAJOE. I just fought one. 
Senator DECONCINI. One? 
Mr. FRAJOE. One, a real big guy. 
Senator DECONCINI. It was a real fight, huh? 
Mr. FRAJOE. He was a real big guy, yes. 
Senator DECONCINI. Did he beat you up? 
Mr. FRAJOE. Yes. 
Senator DECONCINI. And then you were permitted in the gang? 
Mr. FRAJOE. Yes. 
Senator DECONCINI. How many were in the gang? 
Mr. FRAJOE. 20 or 25. 
Senator DECONCINI. And what did you do in the gang? 
Mr. FRAJOE. I just went around and went to other schools and 

caused trouble. . 
Senator DECONCINI. Were you in school at the time? 
Mr. FRAJOE. Yes. I tried to, you know, take the other kids' lunch 

money from school, just anything to feel like no one could stop us. 
Senator DECONCINI. And how many years were you active in the 

gang? 
Mr. FRAJOE. I was only in the gang for about a year. I got 

shipped off to-I got in trouble and got shipped off to Foster. 
Senator DECONCINI. For how long? 
Mr. FRAJOE. For 1 % years. 
Senator DECONCINI. For lY2 years. 
Mr. FRAJOE. I came back and got in trouble with the law and 

went to jail at the age of about 17%. I turned 18 in there, and from 
then I went to Amity, which I am in now. 

Senator DECONCINI. How did you happen to go to Amity? 
Mr. FRAJOE. I was in jail and they put me on IPS when I was in 

jail. 
Senator DECONCINI. IPS is? 
Mr. FRAJOE. Intensive Probation Service. 
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Senator DECONCINI. So they let you out of jail? 
Mr. FRAJOE. No, they put me on IPS while I was in jail. 
Senator DECONCINI. While you were in jail, and so you went to 

the program in jail? 
Mr. FRAJOE. They have a jail program inside the jail project. I 

went there and stayed there for 5 months and then went out to 
Circle Tree Ranch. ;' 

Senator DECONCINJ;. What did the program do for you in the jail? 
Mr. FRAJOE. It did a number of things. It allowed me to express 

how I felt, brought up with no mother or dad, why I thought it was 
important to prove myself to people and the pros and cons of 
things that can come out of that. 

Senator DECONCINI. And then after that you went into another 
program at Amity? 

Mr. FRAJOE. No, I have been in Amity for 5 years. 
Senator DECONCINI. So after you got out of jail, then what did 

you do? 
Mr. FRAJOE. I went to the ranch out on Tinkleberry and stayed 

there. 
Senator DECONCINI. Was that part of the program, the ranch 

program? 
Mr. FRAJOE. Yes. 
Senator DECONCINI. How long were you in that program? 
Mr. FRAJOE. About 2 years. 
Senator DECONCINI. For 2 years? 
Mr. FRAJOE. Yes. 
Senator DECONCINI. Were you on drugs? 
Mr. FRAJOE. No. 
Senator DECONCINI. You never were on drugs? 
Mr. FRAJOE. No. 
Senator DECONCINI. And when you were in that program, how 

did you get in that program? Did somebody pay for it? 
Mr. FRAJOE. No, I don't know who paid for it, the government. 

They wanted me to go there, my probation officer wanted me to go 
there. 

Senator DECONCINI. When you got out of jail, did you stop hang
ing around the gang? 

Mr. FRAJOE. I went straight from jail to--
Senator DECONCINI. So you were out of the gang really when you 

went to jail? 
Mr. FRAJOE. I have been out of the gang for a while now. 
Senator DECONCINI. What are you doing at Amity? 
Mr. FRAJOE. I'm a counselor there now with young adult men. .. 

We are former gang members who come from similar backgrounds 
that I came from. 

Senator DECONCINI. What did you get out of the gang that was 
good for you? 

Mr. FRAJOE. Acceptance, people acknowledging me for the things 
I did. You know, I got affirmed for beating other people up or steal
ing a car or a stereo, you know. You get a lot of affirmation out of 
it. 

Senator DECONCINI. Do you have anything else to tell us? 
Mr. FRAJOE. No. 
Senator DECONCINI. Thank you very much. 
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I want to thank you, Rosie. Thank you, Christopher. [Applause.] 
Our next panel are current gang members, Ronnie Rios, Ricardo 

Lopez, Sergio Morales and Valerie Honyumptewa. I want to thank 
you for taking the time to be here today and waiting so long. You 
have an opportunity to help us understand what gangs are all 
about and what you think should or shoul<.l not be done, what you 
believe is important about the gang or what you think can be done 
to improve gangs or to convince people not to join gangs. 

We will start with you, Valerie. 
Mr. Rws. I will go first. 
Senator DECONCINI. You want to go first. 

PANEL CONSISTING OF RONNIE RIOS, RICARDO LOPEZ, SERGIO 
MORALES AND VALERIE HONYUMPTEWA 

Mr. RIOS. One of the biggest problems we have today is the. 
neighborhoods, and the first thing that happened today when we 
got up here was they labeled us as "current gang members." 

Senator DECONCINI. Is that bad? 
Mr. Rws. Well, we are being labeled once again, you know. We 

are not current gang members. 
Senator DECONCINI. You are not? 
Mr. Rws. No. 
Senator DECONCINI. Well, thank you for clarifying that. We ap-

preciate that. 
Are any of you in gangs, or would you rather not say? 
Ms. HONYUMPTEWA. No, we are out. 
Mr. RIOS. I am not in no more and we don't like being labeled as 

IIcurrent gang members" or "gang members," period. You know, 
because we don't understand something, it doesn't make us bad 
people. 

Senator DECONCINI. No, not necessarily at all. It is like, you 
know, if you join a club, it might be a gang and it might be some 
other kind of club. Just so I understand, Ricardo, is your point that 
you just don't want to be designated or labeled as a gang member? 
You just want to be labeled by your name, that is all? 

Mr. Rws. Exactly. 
Senator DECONCINI. OK; thank you. 
Valerie, pull both microphones up there, please. I enjoyed talk

ing with you last night, Valerie. 

STATEMENT OF VALERIE HONYUMPTEWA 

Ms. HONYUMPTEW A. First of all, I want to say that I think a lot 
of people who were up here earlier said what they had to say and I 
don't think that is fair, at all. I mean why should we have to come 
here and listen to them, if they are not going to listen to us? That 
is what we are here for. [Applause.] 

That really got me angry, when I see all of them. This room was 
packed at 9 o'clock. Look at it now. Where are they? They are at 
their office. They don't care. That is what they are showing me 
right now. 

One thing I want to say today is what I have been saying and 
what my main message is, put your money where your mouth is. 
Last year, Jim Colby was here doing the same thing. This year, Mr. 
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DeConcini is here. What has happened in that year? Where has 
that money went? Has there been any Senate bill, anything? I 
haven't seen any since. 

One other thing that a friend of mine brought is these programs 
that we have, they do the juvenile system, but you have got to 
commit a crime to get into them. I don't think that is right, either. 
What about the people that are out there trying to get out, trying 
to get a life? 

Another thing is we talk about putting people in prison for what 
they do. This is my solution: Out of the 100 percent of the gang 
members out there, there is only 10 percent that are repeat offend
ers. Those 10 percent keep the rest of us from trying to get our life 
straight. I don't think that they should take that whole 10 percent 
and label all of us. 

I think what we need to do is get those repeat offenders off the 
streets, put them in prison where they belong, because they have 
been offered that second chance. And you need to start giving us a 
chance, because the people who say prisons, prisons, prisons, I 
don't think that is right. I think that is sick. We are not insane 
people. We do these things because we want help and we cannot 
come out and say it, and we need these programs that will help us 
to say that we need help. [Applause.] 

We are not bad people. We have hearts just like everybody else. 
We cry and we feel pain just like everybody else. You get me in a 
corner and I am going to cry. I am not going .to be bad like I am on 
the street, because I do hurt. 

One thing I wanted to tell Mr. DeConcini is, you know, I want 
you to hire me as a consultant. You want somebody to tell you 
about gangs? Hire me. It will create jobs. Hire me. I will work for 
you. I will be at your office tomorrow morning. You give me a 
pencil and paper and I will get something started for you. [Ap
plause.] 

I started hanging out with gang members when I was 13. I am 18 
years old right now, and do you know what it took me? It took me 
to get hit in the face, go to county jail and be really scared. I mean 
I had to get scared. They had to tell me you're looking for prison 
time for what I was in there for, which was aggravated assault. I 
got scared. It scared me. 

That is what I mean, a lot of the people out there now that are 
banging, this hard core, they say no, I don't want out, the reason 
why they don't want out is they love it. They like what they are 
doing. They are not getting in trouble for what they are doing. 
That is how I was. I had that same attitude until I got in jail, until 
I got scared, until I got threatened. Then reality hit me. 

You know, a lot of gangs-I am speaking for myself and the 
former gang members I used to associate with, and that is they 
talk about being your home boys and your home girls and being 
with you all the time. But do you know what I learned? During 
those 4 years that I met all those people, not one of them wrote me 
when I was in jail, not one. And I think that is where you learn. 

I came out and I told them that, listen, you talk about being my 
friend, the time that I needed you the most, you are not there for 
me. That is when I learned, listen, Valerie, they don't care about 
you. The only thing they care about is themselves. They care about 
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you when you are out of jail, when you are doing the crazy things 
you are doing, stealing the cars, beating the people up. Once you go 
to jail, they don't know you. When you get out, hey, where were 
you, we heard you were in jail. You know, what happens to that 
friendship in between there? That is what I learned. 

Right now, you know, I am taking a big risk coming up here and 
talking. But do you know what? I am doing it for myself. I am not 
doing it for anybody else. You know, when you get out of a gang, 
they just threaten you. They shot at me. They shot at my car. I 
have bullet holes in my car. They shot at my car, because they say 
I am a snitch. 

But do you know what? I don't care. I was talking to my friend 
Valerie earlier and she really told me earlier. I said, Valerie, it 
scares me because they ten me I am a snitch and nobody wants to 
talk to me no more. But you know what she told me was that I am 
doing this for myself, I am not doing this for them. I am not going 
to be with them all my life. They are not going to beat me, they 
are not going to call me, they are not going to take care of me. 

That is what I am realizing right now, I am realizing that I have 
got to do this for myself. Either I can hang out with them gang 
members, go walk in their path and end up in prison, get a bunch 
of tattoos and come out with this big eagle, or I can go out and 
meet Dennis DeConcini, get in his office, get a job, get my--

[Applause.] 
That is all I have to say. Thank you. 
Senator DECoNCINI. Valerie, thank you very much. I appreciate 

your comments very much. You say what happens when you come 
and you talk with people. I don't know what happened when you 
did this, whether it was last year. But though the other panelists 
did not stay, the purpose of this hearing was for the Senate, the 
U.S. Senate. I wish they had stayed, too. 

If I had to do it again, I think I would have had this panel earli
er. But the purpose of the authorization of this hearing is so that I 
can build a record based on some of the things you have told us 
and some of the things that other people have expressed to us, so 
we might see if there is anything to do. 

I have learned a lot talking to you just last night about consult
ing, when we spend money on projects. You might say what is 
going to happen after this hearing. Maybe nothing. Maybe nothing. 
That is the chance I take or the chance you take, that I can't do 
anything about it. Maybe I can. Maybe I can ensure that when 
Federal dollars are spent here to build a recreation center, that 
they have to have a committee of advisors from the community 
before they can get the plans approved and started. That is an idea 
you gave me last night. So I will try to do that. I may not be able 
to succeed. 

People say, oh, you can't do that, you can't involve the communi
ty, you have got to get the job done. If I had a job, I would hire you 
as a consultant. I hope you will come down to my office and talk to 
my people. We do have internships. They don't pay much, if any
thing, but they are very helpful to us. Sometimes a job becomes 
open and most of my staff, including Dennis Burke right here, 
were interns for me for a long time before we had openings so they 
could become employees. 
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So I thank you. Let me just ask you this: Do you find it as offen
sive when, as Ronnie said, somebody pegs you or designates you as 
a gang member? Is it offensive that someone says Valerie is a gang 
member, rather than just Valerie? 

Ms. HONYUMPTEWA. I think it does, because you look at Tucson 
now, 90 percent of the people you introduce me to as a gang 
member, and they won't talk to me. 

Senator DECONCINI. They won't. 
Ms. HONYUMPTEW A. You introduce me as Valerie, and they will 

listen. I am sure the--
Senator DECONCINI. So it is a very derogatory designation? 
Ms. HONYUMPTEW A. Yes, it is like labeling a murderer as a sick 

person. 
Senator DECONCINI. One of the reasons we ask the question or 

want to know, you know, is why do you get into the gang, why do 
you get out, and why do you stay in. I am not here criticizing, be
cause I don't know. There obviously are some positive things in 
being a gang member. Acceptance is one, respect is another. Who 
knows, maybe some protection or safety. You pointed out that 
when you got in trouble and went to jail, even your gang friends 
weren't there. That is interesting, because I thought they would be. 
That is why we designate those who are in gangs or not in gangs, 
because we try to find out how they think and listen to them. 

So thank you very much, Valerie. 
Ronnie, what can you tell us? Thank you for last night, by the 

way, Ronnie. You were very good. 

STATEMENT OF RONNIE RIOS 

Mr. RIOS. You are welcome. 
One of the main reasons I am up here is to talk about the stuff 

that is wrong, I don't like in the schools and the community. For 
instance, we never get a fair chance to learn. Certain teachers look 
at you about the way you dress, you know, they think you come 
from a bad family, you know, they are not going to listen to me, so 
they kind of push you away and take the other students first. Help 
is never offered until it is too late. 

For instance, the school I go to, there are several students that 
could not graduate by only like a quarter or half a credit, because 
the counselors there did not tell them that they were going to fail, 
and that is the counselor's job. One of the jobs they have is to tell 
the people when they are going to fail and what they need to grad
uate. The counselors that are there, they might change transcript. 
What about the family problems, what about the stuff that bugs 
kids, that keeps them from concentrating in school? 

Senator DECONCINI. You mean they don't ask those questions or 
they don't care about those questions? 

Mr. RIOS. At the school I attend, no, it didn't happen. Some 
schools are set up like prisons. You now, they have all these moni
tors there checking you out for, you know, like your,--

Senator DECONCINI. And when you get in trouble--
Mr. RIOS. They have got police there, they have got gates every

where and all that stuff. They treat us like animals. There might 
have been a couple people who did things wrong, talk to those 
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people and mediate them, instead of just kicking them out of school 
like everybody else does. That is not going to solve nothing. 

Senator DECONCINI. I know, but is there any benefit of having 
some security in the schools, so somebody isn't beaten up who may 
just be walking along and--

Mr. RIOS. There is to a certain point. 
Senator DECONCINI. You think it is too much? 
Mr. RIOS. At some schools there is, and the way people treat 

others, especially kids, like I have seen how teachers look at us dif
ferent, because we are young or whatever. That is a big thing and 
people have a big problem with us being young. They don't under
stand us and that is causing more of a problem. 

Senator DECONCINI. So are you saying when you get in trouble in 
school, there is no counseling, nobody who understands, nobody 
who wants to talk to you. It is just discipline? 

Mr. RIOS. What usually happens when you get suspended from 
school, you go home for so many days and you come back to school. 

Senator DECONCINI. And nobody talks to you while you are gone, 
nobody says, hey, what's going on, what can we do? 

Mr. RIOS. A program that can happen, if a fight or whatever hap
pens, you know, they have got those two people, those two people 
mediate the problem and talk it out to where they can come to an 
agreement of what is going to happen. 

Senator DECONCINI. That goes on now? 
Mr. RIOS. No. It was going on, but then our school didn't allow it 

to happen no more. 
Senator DECONCINI. I see. 
Mr. RIOS. One of the organizations that was in there was Family 

Center and it is not allowed in the school no more. 
Senator DECONCINI. When did you join the gang? 
Mr. RIOS. When did I? I have grown ip them. It is just a p~rt of 

life. 
Senator DECONCINI. It's just a part of life? 
Mr. RIOS. Yes. 
Senator DECONCINI. You didn't have to jump in and fight to get 

. ? m. 
Mr. RIOS. That was my decision. 
Senator DECONCINI. Pardon? 
Mr. RIOS. That was my decision if I wanted to or not. 
Senator DECONCINI. And you didn't have to, so you didn't do it. 

You decided not do it--
Mr. RIOS. I did do it, but it was up to me to say if I wanted to or 

not. 
Senator DECONCINI. I understand it is up to you, but is that how 

you get in the gang? You can't get in, if you don't do that, but it is 
your decision, right? 

Mr. RIOS. Well, there are different ways. It all depends. 
Senator DECONCINI. Oh, there are? 
Mr. RIOS. Yes. 
Senator DECONCINI. I see. How else do you get in the gang, be

sides so-called jumping in? 
Mr. RIOS. I don't know. There are different things for different 

people, you know. 
Senator DECONCINI. Why did you join the gang, Ronnie? 
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Mr. RIOS. Well, I got my reasons, but--
Senator DECONCINI. Maybe you don't want to tell me. I don't 

care, I am just interested. 
Mr. RIOS. The thing I say is, yes, I was in a gang, I did my share 

and everything, but I think what really matters now is not what I 
did in the past, but what I am doing positive for myself now. [Ap
plause.] 

Senator DECONCINI. I agree, and I am not here-to criticize why 
you are in a gang. I am trying to understand and build a record 
here. There have got to be some reasons that make very good sense 
to the young people who join a gang or the old people who join a 
gang or anybody, just as you join any other club or group. There 
has got to be a reason that you want to do that. I am only trying to 
find out. I am not here to judge it or to criticize it at all. If it is 
because your brother was in it, if it is because you can have access 
to drugs or alcohol or friends or what have you. 

Mr. RIOS. When I was going through achievement, I learned a lot " 
of things about cycles and stuff. You know, the cycle that I was 
caught up in, you know, my friends did it, my dad did it and they 
had left that there for me. You know, there is nothing left for me, 
so that is when I got caught up in it. It wasn't my mom's fault, but 
I got caught, so it was just something I picked up and learned. Like 
I said, it was as part of life for me. 

Senator DECONCINI. Now, when you are in the gang, if you don't 
mind explaining to me, what is the benefit? What was good about 
it? Was there something good that you-

Mr. RIOS. I don't know, it was something I was doing. 
Senator DECONCINI. Maybe you don't want to tell me, but are 

you still in the gang? 
Mr. RIOS. No. 
Senator DECONCINI. And what made you get out? The reason I 

ask, before you tell me, is that I don't want to know a lot of person
al business necessarily, but I want to know why people get out of 
gangs, what motivates them. Maybe it is a program, maybe it is a 
policeman who that is friendly, maybe it is an elder person. 

Mr. RIOS. The main thing that motivated me was to have more 
self-respect for myself, my mom and my family. That came first to 
me, but I was going up and I didn't know that and they weren't 
always there for me, so I found my own family. And when things 
started working out at home and within myself, then I could run 
my life and the gang didn't run my life no more, I did what I 
wanted, because it was my view. 

Senator DECONCINI. And that helped you come to your own deci
sion to get out? 

Mr. RIOS. Yes, because most of the time when people are in 
gangs, they can't make their own decisions and the gang makes the 
decision for them. But once you have it within yourself, you can 
make your own decisions :J.nd know that they are right and trust 
yourself. 

S'enator DECONCINI. As Valerie has said she has had threats and 
problems, you now, the fact that she got out and came up here and 
talks about it, has that happened to you, too? 

Mr. RIOS. No, it has happened, because I did it and I was able to 
say yes, I did, I've got my reasons and I took care of what I had to 
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take care of for myself and I kept going on with life, instead of 
staggering around, you know, playing. I just took care of it and 
kept going. 

Senator DECONCINI. Are you back in school now? 
Mr. RIDs. I have always been in school. . 
Senator DECONCINI. You never did drop out of school? 
Mr. RIDs. I might not have been doing the best job, but I was still 

in school. 
Senator DECONCINI. Did you get kicked out of school or expelled 

for a little while or anything? 
Mr. RIDs. No. 
Senator DECONCINI. You never did. How are you doing in school? 

What year are you? 
Mr. RIDs. I am a sophomore. I am going to be a junior. 
Senator DECONCINI. Do you go here? 
Mr. RIDs. No, I go to Tucson High. I came here my freshman 

year. 
Senator DECONCINI. That is where I went to school. That is 

where I graduated from. Do you have anything else you want to 
tell me? 

Mr. RIDs. Yes, there are a lot of other things. 
Senator DECONCINI. Go ahead. 
Mr. RIDs. There is a lack of respect by teachers for students. 

They treat us like-the other day, I go to summer school, and we 
came on TV last night, and I tell my teacher, you know, I was on 
TV last night. He tells me, what did you do, get arrested? That is 
the first thing he did, was he singled me out. That wasn't fair. If I 
would not have known the stuff that I know, I probably would have 
gone up the teacher's face, in fact, they expected me to, but that is 
not right. Something should be done about that. Every time we 
complain, nothing ever gets done, because we are kids, and that is 
not fair. 

Also, I think there is a lot of disrespect between students, and 
people wonder why. Like at my school, there is a lot of racial atten
tion and a lot of it is because we don't understand each other and 
our own cultures. They are always trying to tell people don't do 
this, don't do that, for whatever reasons, but they have got to help 
understand each other's culture before they can say not to do some
thing. 

And employment, I want to talk about jobs for kids. There are no 
jobs for us young people. They always want us to have responsibil
ity, but there is nothing there for us. How can we learn responsibil
ity, if we are not taught it? It is very easy to say Wtl want things to 
get better, and it all starts at home. But a lot of times things are 
not OK at home. There is a lack of job skills training and at school 
we are not learning how to work in high-tech buildings or nothing. 

When we go through these programs that are set up for jobs, 
they just put us somewhere to do work. They don't show us how to 
do things so we can get better jobs later on in life. They put us 
with something like to keep us quiet or something. 

Senator DECONCINI. Has that been a common experience, when 
you get a job? 

Mr. RIDS. Has that been a what? 



248 

Senator DECONCINI. Does that happen all the time when you get 
a job? 

Mr. RIOS. It all depends. They always want experience, but we 
never have experience or skills. 

Senator DECONCINI. But do you have a job? 
Mr. RIOS. No, I am looking right now. 
Senator DECONCINI. So when you do get a job, they don't train 

you to do anything more, is that what you are saying, also? 
Mr. RIOS. No, not really. When you go and to get the job, you are 

expected to know it already, that is how you are going to apply for 
that job. We are also judged by the way we are dressed. A lot of 
times, people won't give us jobs because of the way we are dressed. 
They are supposed to stick to the interviews, not what they see us 
as, because it doesn't matter what we are on the outside. It de
pends on how we are willing to work on the inside, and that is why 
they have interviews, right? ,... 

Senator DECONCINI. Well, isn't there any basis to the fact that 
the employers want someone to dress in a certain way and comb 
their hair and have clean clothes on, if they are going to wait on 
tables or something? Is that proper? 

Mr. RIOS. That is when they have the job, not before. When they 
get the job, then they have to abide by those rules. They sign a 
paper, but before they get the job they are judged by the way they 
are dressed, and that is not fair. 

Senator DECONCINI. I see. 
Mr. RIOS. That is not fair, because sometimes that is all people 

have. 
Senator DECONCINI. So you are saying that if one comes in 

dressed nicely and does just as well in the interview, and one 
comes in dressed not as nicely and does just as well in the inter
view, the one who is dressed nicely gets the job? 

Mr. RIOS. More than likely, yes. 
Senator DECONCINI. And that is unfair? 
Mr. RIOS. Yes. Also, I think there are a lot of stuff with-this is 

my closing statement. Martin Luther King and Cesar Chavez are 
two civil rights leaders that believed in nonviolent acts. One of the 
things that Martin Luther King said was, "I have a dream." We 
also have dreams, but you have to allow our dreams to come. 

Something that Cesar Chavez said was that he believed in having 
ideas. A lot of people have already judged us by the way we look or 
by the way we dress. For instance, we are already labeled gang 
members up here. You have to start having ideas that we are good 
people and then make it a reality. 

Thank you for having me up here. [Applause.] 
Senator DECONCINI. Thank you. 
Sergio, thank you for being with us last night and your participa- p 

tion. What do you want to tell us? 

STATEMENT OF SERGIO MORALES 

Mr. MORALES. Like I said last night, one of the main reasons why 
people join gangs is because there is no cultural awareness, like 
where do they come from, what their history is, and most of that, 
from my opinion, I think that the histories should be passed on 
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from generation to generation, from grandparents to parents to the 
kids, and then on and on in the same way. 

Senator DECONCINI. Do the gangs help that? The gang you were 
in, did it help cultural awareness and education that you couldn't 
get in other places? 

Mr. MORALES. Not really, because it is like a big negative thing 
when you are in a gang. But it is a different thing when you are in 
a gang or when you belong to a varrio, because a varrio is different 
than a gang. It is like a more positive thing. You respect a lot more 
things. You respect yourself, the people around you, your elders. In 
a gang, it iSI a lot of negative stuff. There is a difference. I belong 
myself, I all+ a part of logga right now. I am an active member in 
my logga, but I don't belong to a gang. 

Another reason why people join gangs is their financial situation 
at home. They are poor and they will go steal a car stereo and they 
will get money and the people at home will and they are accepted, 
and at home there is no money. They eat once a day and then they 
go-just like bad things, real negative stuff when you come into a 
gang. 

Then tl~e negative media portrayal-
Senator DECONCINI. The negative media? 
Mr. MORALES [continuing]. Like the news-
Senator DECONCINI. You mean about gangs? 
Mr. MORALES. Yes, like the news will come and they will show a 

Latino and an Afro-America, they are doing this and this and that 
is all they show throughout the news. Someone last night said that 
only minorities get shown and their names and their faces and ev
erything-and I don't mean to put you down or nothing like that, 
but the other people are--

Senator DECONCINI. They get singled out. 
Mr. MORALES. Yes, they get singled out, you now, they get special 

treatment. Like the movies, the movies come and do all of this like 
being in the gang is good, in prison, you get things out of prison. It 
is like to each his own, but that is just not the way it should be. 

[Disruption from audience.] 
Senator DECONCINI. Go ahead, Sergio. Please let him finish. 
Mr. MORALES. Then there are no resources for the community, 

you know, earlier in the year, me, Ronnie and his cousin Ricardo, 
we were trying to open the YMCA downtown on 6th Street. That is 
for the kids to go during the summer, but we couldn't really get it, 
because we needed $4 million, but we couldn't get it. That is an
other thing why people get in trouble, because there is nowhere to 
go, there is no supervision, there is nobody to talk to and stuff like 
that. 

Have you ever seen a mural written on, some when somebody 
sweated and everything-I don't know if-

Senator DECONCINI. A mural? 
Mr. MORALES. Yes, a mural. 
Senator DECONCINI. I know what a mural is. I have seen a lot of 

them. 
Mr. MORALES. I know, but like with different names and different 

sets. I have done a mural myself and--
Senator DECONCINI. You did it? 
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Mr. MORALES. Not myself, but I contributed to it and I saw it 
tagged up and I didn't appreciate it all, because I worked for it, I 
did it for myself with a lot of other people, and to see that tagged 
up, it is like disrespect. 

Senator DECONCINI. Who did it? Do you know? 
Mr. MORALES. Yes. 
Senator DECONCINI. Some other gang or something, some en

emies? 
Mr. MORALES. It isn't a gang, it is just some-it doesn't really 

matter, really. 
Senator DECONCINI. But it makes you mad? 
Mr. MORALES. Yes, really mad, because there is no respect. 
Senator DECONCINI. Does it make you mad at the person who did 

it? 
Mr. MORALES. Yes, because there is no respect. Like I did it in 

my own neighborhood and they just came like from another race or 
another set and it is just disrespect, and that is what Ronnie said, I .. 
think, that there is no respect between cultures. 

Senator DECONCINI. What do you think should be done about 
that? 

Mr. MORALES. Well, I think there should be more programs, more 
programs for like the-

Senator DECONCINI. You mean to express those kinds of things? 
Mr. MORALES. In a way, but like people could be united. 
Senator DECONCINI. Does it bother you, Sergio, if somebody 

makes reference that you are in a gang? If they say Sergio the 
gang member, does that bother you? 

Mr. MORALES. Yes, sir, it does, because I am not in a gang. 
Senator DECONCINI. Well, were you ever in a gang? 
Mr. MORALES. Yes. 
Senator DECONCINI. But when you were in a gang, it bothered 

you if they referred to you as a gang member? 
Mr. MORALES. Yes, sir. 
Senator DECONCINI. Does it bother you if they say that you are a 

former gang member now? Does that bother you, too? 
Mr. MORALES. It does, but not really, because at least they don't 

call me a gang member right now. 
And to the courts, like the juvenile courts, it is good for me, like 

the courts, in November, I had a gun, an illegal gun under my bed 
and my mom called the cops. 

Senator DECONCINI. Your mother called the cops? 
Mr. MORALES. My mother called the cops. It was a sawed-off shot

gun, and my mom called the cops and the cops got the gun and it 
was loaded and everything, and they just wrote me a paper for a 
sawed-off shotgun, and I shot it three nights before and they were 
aware of that. 

it. 

Senator DECONCINI. They were aware that you had shot it? 
Mr. MORALES. They were aware of it and didn't do nothing about 

Senator DECONCINI. How old were you? 
Mr. MORALES. 15 years old. 
Senator DECONCINI. And what happened to you? 
Mr. MORALES. The next day I was going to run away to L.A. and 

my mom find out. My mom found out and I spit milk at school and 
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she brought me to downtown, and meeting my dad and my mom 
and we talked to Sexton Molina right here and he referred me to 
John Molina after I got out of juvie, and like from then I started 
knowing my culture, getting to know myself, self-respect, I started 
taking more pride in everything that was done. 

Senator DECONCINI. Because somebody cared and listened to you? 
Mr. MORALES. Yes, sir, that is exactly why. 
Senator DECONCINI. And before that, you never had come across 

anybody who would do that? 
Mr. MORALES. No, sir. It is like-
Senator DECONCiNI. Why did you hav:e the gun, for protection 

or--
Mr. MORALES. Yes, because I got threatened many times before, 

because I was in the wrong side of town. 
Senator DECONCINI. You thought somebody might be shooting at 

you and you wanted to shoot back? 
Mr. MORALES. Yes, sir, and that was just it. 
Senator DECONCINI. What arp. you doing now? 
Mr. MORALES. What I am doing now, I go and talk to some other 

kids. 
Senator DECONCINI. You do? 
Mr. MORALES. Yes, sir, to keep them out of trouble. 
Senator DECONCINI. Good for you. Do you have a job? 
Mr. MORALES. Yes, I got a job last week. 
Senator DECONCINI. And are you in school, too? 
Mr. MORALES. Yes, sir. I am going to be a junior. 
Senator DECONCINI. What made you get out of the gang? When 

you met Officer Molina, that made you get out of the gang? 
Mr. MORALES. Yes, sir. It is not get out of it, I just converted to 

like a positive thing, contributing toward the gang, toward the 
home boys and the gang. 

Senator DECONCINI. It is certainly a credit to the police depart
ment, isn't it, to find policemen that take the time and want to be 
your friend and listen to you, and not just bust you. 

Mr. MORALES. He did care. He took a lot of time. 
Senator DECONCINI. Do you have anything else you want to say, 

Sergio? 
Mr. MORALES. Just thank you for the time and for listening. 
Senator DECONCINI. Thank you. [Applause.] 
Cindy Ramerez, you were with us last night and I want to thank 

you for your participation last night. You had a lot of interesting 
things to say. 

STATEMENT OF CINDY RAMEREZ 

Ms. RAMEREZ. You are welcome. 
You talked about while going to school and stuff like that. I just 

graduated from high school and--
Senator DECONCINI. Congratulations. [Applause.] 
Ms. RAMEREZ. A lot of people last night made a comment saying 

that we get a lot of help and stuff like that, because we are gang 
members, and nobody helps the baccaros, the cowboys and stuff. 
But nobody handed me my diploma on a silver platter. 
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You know, I had a lot of trouble in the beginning of my senior 
year and nobody pushed me. You know, they just let me go at my 
own pace, and when I really wanted it, I got it on my own. People 
kept telling me that it was already too late, you know, that I was 
going to have to go another year. But I wanted it and I wanted to 
graduate with my class. Nobody pushed me. It was only like maybe 
two people that told me you can still do it, you have a chance. 

Most of the time they kept saying just give up, forget it, you 
know. When I started going to the United States to go see about 
classes and stuff, we were working on campus, it was me and one 
of my friends, he already goes there. We were the only ones in 
Dickies and Converse and stuff, and people were looking at us like 
we did not belong there. They were just like what are you guys 
doing here. You know, it is a campus, a school, and we were just 
seeing how things were and stuff, and they like had a different at
titude. 

Senator DECONCINI. Why, because of your ethnic background or 
the way you were dressed, or why do you think? 

Ms. RAMEREZ. I say the way we were dressed, because we were 
the only two like that and we are the only two getting the looks, 
you know. I guess that is why people ask me how come I don't 
change, because I already finished school, and I want people to see, 
no matter how I am dressed or what I look like, that I still have a 
heart, and it is nice to have things like goals and dreams, too, and 
people have to start listening. If they don't start listening, the 
future is going to die, because that is what we are, we are the 
future. [Applause.] 

Senator DECONCINI. Cindy, do you object to people making any 
judgments about the way you look, the way you are dressed? 

Ms. RAMEREZ. Yes, because they label us wrong. I mean a lot of 
people saying, like what the barrios and the gangs, too, they say 
they are the same and they are not. The barrio has more of a 
family type value, you respect each other, you treat each other like 
family. 

Senator DECONCINI. Were you in a gang? 
Ms. RAMEREZ. I am in a barrio. 
Senator DECONCINI. But that is not a gang? 
Mr. RAMEREZ. No. 
Senator DECONCINI. I mean not in the terms of what we are talk

ing about of gangs? 
Ms. RAMEREZ. No, but my friends are and I see everything, too. I 

lived out in the streets. I used to run away from home. I did every
thing, too. 

Senator DECONCINI. Are those the same things that a lot of the 
gang members did? 

Ms. RAMEREZ. Yes, because my friends were gang members and 
we just followed through. But then I started seeing this is the way 
I wanted to live, and a lot of gang members don't see that. They 
just see like nobody wants to help me, because we don't get the 
help. 

In school, like people were telling me, my counselors were telling 
me to change and stuff, so I started to try and help other people. I 
got into peer counseling and I counseled other people. When they 
started seeing my friends taking a real good look at me, they told 
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me I'couldn't be in there, that I \¥asn't fit for that activity, because 
my friends are gang members. And they told me how do you expect 
to be changing other people's ideas, when you hang around with 
gang members yourself. 

Senator DECONCINI. Were you able to change some people? 
Ms. RAMEREZ. Yes, like they would send me-everything that 

was trying to get into gangs and stuff, they would send them to me 
to talk to them, and I would take them aside and I would tElll them, 
you know, have you gone to this and I would ten them things that 
I had seen on the streets that I lived through, and that had taken 
place with me and my brother and my family and stuff, and when 
they start seeing the violence, they don't want no part and a lot of 
people did change. They didn't want it, because of the violence. 

Senator DECoNCINI. Thank you very much. I want to thank you 
very much for taking the time and telling the committee here how 
you feel about these things. It is very important. We don't hear 
this in our world, and it is very important for us to know some of 
your reasons and how you think about things, because it is up to us 
to listen and to respect you, even if we disagree with you. It is up 
to us to respect you and for you to respect our opinions. 

So I appreciate very, very much that you are coming forward. All 
of your testimony here is going to be put into the record and given 
to all Senators on the committee and their staffs. If they want to, 
they can read it and get some good ideas, and maybe they will 
agree with some and maybe they won't. But that is what we do for 
a living. We decide whether there is something here that we can 
translate into a program from the Federal level; maybe we won't 
build so many jails, maybe we'll build more jails, implement differ
ent kinds of programs in the jails, or put programs outside the 
jails, like an advisory committee to consult with the neighborhood 
before we build a project there. . 

Like you said, Valerie, you have a feeling that it was yours, and 
those are good ideas. I want to thank you very, very much. 

I want to thank Dr. RiChardson, the Principal of Pueblo High, for 
the use of these facilities, and the staff who helped put this togeth
er. We are very, very grateful. I want to thank Dennis Burke from 
the Judiciary Committee, and Mr. Strauss behind me, who is help
ing us here, Mr. Steel, my Director, Ignacio Barraza and other staff 
members, Bonnie Fritz and two or three others that I probably left 
out here. I am very grateful for the time you put into this. 

And I want to thank the citizens who have come out and listened 
to this. I regret we do not have time to have just an open micro
phone, but last evening we got a lot of information which was very 
helpful, and which will also be part of the record, but this will be 
the official hearing record here. 

I want to thank Senator Kohl, who is the Chairman of the sub
committee that authorized these hearings in Tucson and Phoenix. 

Thank you very, very much. [Applause.] 
[Whereupon, at 12:45 p.m., the subcommittee was adjourned.] 
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APPENDIX 

ADDITIONAL SUBMISSIONS FOR THE RECORD 

City of Phoenix 
OFFICE OF THE POLICE CHIEF 

June 2, 1993 

The Honorable Dennis DeConcini 
United States Senate 
Washington, D.C. 20510-6275 

Attention: Dennis Burke 

Dear Senator DeConcini: 

Pursuant to your request, enclosed is a copy of the 
written statement which supported the oral testimony 
which I gave at the field hearing of the Senate 
Judiciary Subcommittee on Juvenile Justice on Tuesday, 
June 1, 1993. 

If I can be of any further assistance, please let me 
know. 

Sincerely, 

DENNIS A. GARRETT 
POlice Chief 

~~ 
GERALD P. RICHARD II, Esq. 
Special ASSistant to the Police Chief 

dl/c 
Enclosure 

620 West Washington Street. Phoenix. Arizona 85003 602·262-6747 

Recycl!:d Paper 

74-122 0 - 94 - 10 
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Senator DeConcini, Hr. Burke, on behalf of Chief Dennis Garrett 
and myself, thank you for the opportunity to testify at this 
field hearing of the Senate Judiciary Subcommittee on Juvenile 
Justice. I commend you on holding this hearing at an educational 
institution, and especially one which has a program that helps 
juveniles who may have had a negative encounter with the criminal 
justice system. 

Over the years, the Phoenix Police Department has dealt with a 
growing number of juveniles who are committing violent offenses 
in our communities. The officers of the Phoenix Police 
Department are at the forefront of trying to serve and protect 
our citizens, from violent offenders, whether they are juveniles 
or adults. However, we realize that in order to address this 
dilemma, it is necessary that every segment of our society, not 
just the juvenile justice system, must get involved in altering 
the course whi ch we are headed. 

Currently, the Phoenix Police Department is contending with the 
fact that our resources have been cut or limited. This includes 
officers, program funding and equipment. Nevertheless, our 
communities need the same quality of service as any other major 
metropolitan. The top twenty-five cities in the nation currently 
have an average of 2.6 officers per 1000 residents. Phoenix is 
operating with 1.9 offit~rs per thousand. Therefore, it is 
essential that in order to address the increase in violent 
juvenile offenses we must begin at the womb, by encouraging 
parenting classes. We believe that through proper parenting 
instruction and encouragement we can strenghthen the values which 
our children need, in order to deal with confrontation in a non
violent way. We need to strengthen the pride within our various 
cuI tures and communi ties so that we have BIOre respect for one 
another. 

In Phoenix, we have attempted to address the issue of violence 
alOng our youth through a city ordinance which restricts 
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juveniles from carrying weapons, without a permission slip from 
their parents. We accept the fact that if a juvenile wants to 
get a weapon they can do so regardless of the ordinance. 
However, the ordinance does provide an officer another tool to 
try and prevent a violent act from occurring. Unfortunately, we 
are not able to prevent the numerous violent acts which due 
occur • 

. In Phoenix, we have added a new component to the curfew 
ordinance. Instead of taking a juvenile to a precinct station 
until the child's parent picks the child up, we take them to a 
park facility. Although this provides the juvenile with other 
positive activities to get involved in besides walking the 
streets, this program could be improved considerably by providing 
counseling, tutorial services, cultural enrichment courses, food 
and a number of other services, which could assist a child who 
has left home in search of something. 

The Phoenix police department has also enhanced it's efforts to 
provide better service through Community Based Policing. In 
order to effectively achieve this we have included cultural 
awareness training for our sworn and non-sworn personnel. This 
allows us to look at and appreciate not just traditional 
cultures, but cultures such as "Teenagers" as well. Hopefully, 
this will be one of the ways that we can contribute to reducing 
the over-representation of minority youth in our juvenile justice 
system, by establishing a better sense of understanding and 
respect for our youth, as well as for ourselves. 

We are still trying to provide community interaction and 
awareness through programs such as the Police Activities League, 
D.A.R.E. and the Gang Resistance Education and Training 
(G.R.E.A.T.) Programs. However, funding is restricting the 
number of officers, personnel and materials !.~hich we need in 
order to have an optimum program. 
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If prevention does not work, then intervention programs through 
COIIIIDUD.ity based organizations have provided a leans for juveniles 
to re-enter main stream society. 

If it is necessary to arrest juveniles, then officers are in need 
of facilities and personnel to securely house our more violent 
offenders and a plea bargaining system which identifies the kind 
of offender with which the system is attempting to rehabilitate 
or punish. 



) 

259 

Ladies 1IIld Galtlemen of <rovermnent: J UN (I E 1993 

93 ItJi1J!Sj3!) Pm flO. ~ 6, in the West Phoenix neighborhood near the cross streets of 39th 
Av.1IIld Osborn. There has been a drive by shooting 2 hours ago. I am in shock that something 
like this has happened a few houses ftom mine. I thought that things like this happened only in 
remote neighborhoods somewhere in South Phoenix. I am shocked to find out that the 
neighborhood in which I live is considered a crime ridden area and furthermore I am even more 
shocked to find out that a drive by shooting happened just the night before at the same location. 

When I found this out my initial unasked question for the police was; jf this happened the 
night before, why was this place not under surveillance. My question was immediately answered 
by a uniformed police officer who told me that their budget is fixed and that they are doing all 
they can with the limited staff they have. 

I am obviously lacking in undersIaDding about such things, but I did notice one thing. 
Ia.~ fridsy I picked up my chcclt from the company for which I work aDd noticed that S300.00 of 
it was missing. Looking back at the rest of my cbeck stubs, I noticed that this has been happening 
for sometime, at least as loog as I've been keeping records. Yet, after talking to the police 
officer I got the impression that they were somehow constnrlned and under-staffed because they 
had no money. 

This is vel}' confusing. How can there be uo money for the police to be adequately 
staffed to protect the citizens. We are tile vety citizens whom make evetything possible, we pay 
for evety last cent that government spends. You name it and we pay for it 

But somehow it has been brought to my attention that tbero is no money to protect usl 
The citizensl Ladies and GaltIemen of government, policy makers, bureaucrats, in all levels of 
government; I pose to you this question. 

Can you conect taxes frnm a Dead citizen? 
I realize that the IRS has been know to attempt this in the pest, but I think even they 

would agree that the rate' of return of tile living outweighs that of the dead. 
Unless you get more cops on the street, lInIess you get high tech equipment out here, 

lInIess you build more jails to put away those who choose not the obey our laws, that is CXlICtIy 
what you will get. Dead taxpaying citizensl (dead investors for those of you Clinton supporters) 

We dcscrvc more than what we an: getting. we need to insure domestic tranquillity, 
provide for the common defense, promote the general welfllre,l!IId secure tl:e blessings of h'berty 
to ourselves I!IId our posterity. These words sound f8miliar. I wonder where I read them? 

Could it be The Constitution ofibe United States of America, ibe single most important 
document oflaw, of our great coontty, the vety same document that evety elected official swears 
toupho\d'1 

I don't know how much simpler this ne::ds to be put, maybe I should draw you a picture. 
Get more cops in this area. give them the best equipment we owo, give llicm the best training we 
have, give them more moncy to keep them honest, do it, and do it nowl And don't YOIl dare ask 
for more money. 

Justdoitl 

From 8 vety irri1ated taxpaying citi1.en that is committed to making government accountable. 

Francisco A Islas. 
'J:l8..Sm 
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PHASE II 
OPERATION PERMANENT CEASE-FIRE 

A GRASS ROOTS CITIZENS' MOVEMENT To EUMINATE DRIVE-By SHOOTING 

I. BACKGROUND 

II. THE MESSAGE 

A Expose the Filthy lies of Drive-by Shooting 
• Not a time honored tradition 
• It is COWARDLY, not macho 

_. It makes no one famous or respected 
B. Who are the victims? 

III. WHAT CAN BE DONE TO STOP THE KILLING? 

A Surviving Victims 
B. Civic leaders 
C.Media 
D. Concerned Citizens 
E. Gang Members 

IV. OPERATION PERMANENT CEASE-FIRE PLAN OF ACTION 

A Video tape gang members 
• In prison and on the streets 
• Convert them to help stop the killing 

B. Circulate videos across the country 
C. Donate Videos to Prisons and Youth Groups 

~HARLES(CHUCK)JORDAN.FoUNDER 

1560-1 NEWBURY ROAD, SUITE#171 
NEWBURY PARK, CA 91319 

805/986-4153 

To be administered by the Starfire Foundation as a non-profit Enterprise 
Tax deductible donations can be made to "Starlire Foundation - Operation Cease Fire" 
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PHASE II 
OPERATION PERMANENT CEASE-FIRE 

A GRASS ROOTS CITIZENS' MOVEMENT To EUMINATE DRIVE-BY SHOOTING 

I. BACKGROUND 

OPERATION PERMANENT CEASE-FIRE began in April 1992 when Charles (Chuck) 
Jordan addressed a Christian anti-gang rally at a public park in Santa Paula, 
California Chuck Jordan (whose 20 year old daughter, Jennifer, was 
murdered in a drive-by shooting) decided to speak directly to gang members 
and ask them to help him. put a stop to the senseless killing. His message 
was common sense logic; it pointed out that drive-by shooting is not a time 
honored tradition, it is not brave to shoot at unarmed and unsuspecting 
victims, and it is, in fact, an act of insanity which kills innocent people. His 
message went further by pointing out that drive-by shooting is a cowardly 
deed which is out of control even by the participants, and it is a criminal act 
where no one wins_ He also notes that society itself has broken down and 
offered them no solutions through established organizations. 

Chuck's 'anti drive-by shooting efforts escalated the following month when 
he was invited by the Ventura County District Attorney's Victims Advocate 
Division to address California Youth Authority (C.Y.A.) inmates during 
VICTIMS AWARENESS WEEK. Since that first visit, Chuck Jordan has returned 
several times as a guest speaker to C.Y.A.'s VICTIMS AWARENESS course taught 
by Linda lloyd, and he has interacted with hundreds of young gang 
members. His presentations have been honest, positive, and forceful; these 
presentations have'encouraged several inmates to volunteer to help stop 
the killing. 

One of these inmates was an influential Pacoima area gang member who 
offered to assemble his gang to hear Chuck Jordan's message. This inmate 
was released January 7, 1993 and the proposed OPERATION PERMANENT CEASE
FIRE gang interaction meeting took place February 12, 1993 at Mary Immaculate 
Church in Pacoima. A thank you letter to Father Thomas Rush is attached as a 
status of events that night 

II. THE MESSAGE 

A. DRIVE-By SHOOTING IS NOT A TIME HONORED TRADmoNI 

This despicable act escalated from rare and occasional drive-bys to full 
blown slaughter about 10 to 15 years ago. Prior to this time, drive-by 
yelling and gang fight "rumbles" were the practice, and they had been for 
decades. Most current gang member shooters were between five and 
twelve years old during the drive-by metamorphosis, and they grew up 
with totally false values from a society that looked the other way. Note 
that older gang members usually talk the most immature kids into the 
more dangerous criminal acts. 

/ 
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B. DRIVE-BV SHOOTING Is COWARDL vi 

What is so brave about shooting at unsuspecting people as they walk 
down the street, ride in their cars, or gather at social functions? 
Anybody could do this; all one has to be is immature, stupid, cowardly, 
and uncaring toward their victims. Only a mentally ill person could 
murder a child and feel no remorse. 

C. WHY Do KIDS KILL WITHOUT CONSCIENCE? 

All gang kids find attention and recognition in a gang that they do not 
find at home. Drive-by shooters imagine that they gain fame and respect 
by being daring. In their hearts, these are normal children who have 
been neglected by their families and by our society. They know that 
killing is wrong; but they justify murders and maimings by convincing 
themselves that..all targets are "enemies" and "rivals." If anyone gets in 
the way, it's just too bad. In short, these immature kids are willing to kill 
for attention. It is only later, when the majority of them mature, that 
they quit killing and maiming. If they live that long ... 

D. WHO ARE THE VICTIMS? 

Victims are not just the people who are hit with bullets. Victims are 
obviously everyone who loved or cared for the injured person; but 
victims are also everyone in the shooter'S family; and victims are the 
shooters themselves. A major victim is our society itself. There are now 
so many drive-by shooting incidents in America, that police agencies are 
ashamed or Ilnwilling to gather and publish drive-by related statistics. 
In a sense, police agencies are victims too, because they get blamed for 
the criminal consequences our society creates when it looks the other 
way. 

Who are the victims? Blacks are killing blacks, Latinos are killing Latinos, 
Asians are killing each other, and Whites are killing all races. Who are 
the victims? All Americans are the victims. Our ideals of law and order 
have horribly diminished; so much so that America is the most disgraced 
country in the world when it comes to accepting an escalation of 
murderous gang violence. 

III. WHAT CAN BE DONE To STOP THE KILUNG? 

No movement prior to OPERATION PERMANENT CEASE-FIRE hi;lS targeted drive-by 
shooting specifically as a practice to eliminate. If the police or federal law 
enforcement agencies could have stopped the slaughter, they would have 
done so years ago. The same goes for elected and/or bureaucratic officials, 
and sadly, it also applies to our media, which are the most probable cause 
for escalating violence. This includes printed, video, and motion pictures. 
Too many media executives want profits without regard to moral obligation. 
They continue to get, richer by gorging themselves on the blood of our 
adolescents and thousands of victims are created on a daily basis. So what 
can be done to stop the carnage? The media must become part of the 
solution. They must take responsibility for sensationalizing gang violence 
and stop it! 
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Shooting victims, families of the slain and maimed, i'aiiillies of the 
slayers, gang members, all private citizens who care, and the killers 
themselves must band together and reshape the thiIiking of the yO'UDger 
people who are being led into gang violence., ,Older people should open 
their minds to understand/iliat mostJddsare drawn into gang life primarily 
for recognition. and statUs, not to mention survival in a society that has 
allowed gang violence to dominate young minds thrqugh fear. Older gang 
members need' to be leaders, they could show r.eal courage and put 
thoughts of revenge aside. They must take a hard look at their past deeds 
and think about their younger brothers, sisters, their own children, and 
their "homies" (fellow gang members.) One gang leader (a convicted killer) 
kept saying to Chuck Jordan, "We are killing our own. but why? Why are we 
killing each other? Revenge just leads to more killing! We've got to stop 
this thing! I want to help! What can I do to help you!" 

Here's what we can do: 

Every gang member in America should understand that his or her family 
and our society has betrayed them. It is now up to them to cbange things. 
Second, shooters can pay back society for some of the bad things 
they've done by aiming at one gang activity which is even more senseless 
than graffiti vandalism. These are things that gang members can do that 
will take real courage: 

• REFUSE TO PARTICIPATE IN ANY DRIVE-BY ACTMTY 
• OPEN YOUR HEARTS AND MINDSI KILLING IS WRONG I 
~ ADMIT DRIVE-BYS ARE STUPID, COWARDLY, AND CRAZYI 
• STOP SHOOTING UNSUSPECTING PEOPLEI IT IS NOT BRAVEI 
• PUT REVENGE BEHIND YOUI 
• ONLY GANG MEMBERS CAN STOP DRIVE-BY SHOOTINGI 

All gang convicts interviewed said that if they had been tallght by their 
parents or exposed to Victims Awareness cOllrses in grammar school, their 
attitudes toward the victims of violence would have been dramatically 
changed. They simply did not comprehend the domino effect of how many 
lives, including their own, were affected by drive-by shooting. These kids 
now have the opportunity to make good things happen through OPERATION 

PERMANENT CEASE-FIRE. 

What can Our Leaders in Society Do? 

They should investigate, create, and implement VICTIMS AWARENESS course6 
throughout America. Why? Every convict interviewed by Chuck Jorda'a. 
stated that as young, naive, gang members, they had absolutely no remor,se 
or concern for their victims; indeed, one gang member shot at people 
merely for the momentary ''rush" it gave him to have the power over life 
and death. These immature kids instantly gained gang status and 
recognition, if only they could murder without remorse. 

It is time for our g~~ernmental agencies from local, state, and fedel'allevels 
to follow the lead mapped out by the California Youth Authority VICTIMS 

AWARENESS Self-Esteem course as developed by Linda Lloyd and Harry 
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Kaplan. The. "mother" of. th~ idea (E~ucational Code Section 44806) is 
Sharo~ J .. English .. Ms. English IS the AssIstant Director, Office of Prevention 
and VICtimS ServIces for the State of California Since our schools are 
already over burdened with their academic tasks, new ways and places must 
be found to reach our kids at risk. 

IV. OPERATION PERMANENT CEASE-FIRE PLAN OFACTlDN 

A. Video Tape Gang Members: 

A video tape interview with three convicts who want to help stop drive
by killing and other gang violence was produced February 8, 1993 . 
Edited to a powerful ten minute message on the insanity and cowardice 
of drive-by shooting, it will be used as an attention getter when Chuck 
Jordan addresses active gang members now on our city streets. 

B. Circulate Videos Across the Country 

The active street gang meetings will be video taped for distribution to 
schools, Youth Groups, Boys and Girls Clubs, and the California Prison 
System. These tapes will be provided free of charge to California 
institutions. 

C. Donate Videos to Prisons & Youth Groups 

The drive-by prevention videos will be marketed to other states. All 
income derived from these videos will be administered by the Starfire 
Foundation, willch is a 50l(c)(3) not-for-profit corporation. Its Board of 
Directors includes: Dr. A Gregory Stone, President and Founder, Dr. 
Elise Schneider, President of Oxnard College, the Honorab1e James C. 
McNally, Ventura County Superior Court Judge, Dr. James Esmay, 
Professor of Economics at California Lutheran University, Libby L 
Barrabee, Attorney at Law, and Donald Krebs, President of Access to 
Recreation, Inc. 

D. All net profits from OPERATION PERMANENT CEASE-FIRE will be disbursed as 
follows: 

25% to California Youth Authority Victims Services 
25% to Ventura County District Attorney Victims Services 
50% to California Youth Groups 

E. Gang Member Volunteer Speakers 

Ex-convict gang members and active gang leaders will be asked to 
present videos and answer questions on a volunteer basis. They will 
also be asked to assemble gang members for OPERATION PERMANENT 

CEASE-FIRE meetings. 

F. VOLUNTEER PARTICIPATION - Chuck Jordan would ~e to .p~sonally 
extend an invitation to all parents of drive-by shooting ~c~s and 
shooters to join in tills valiant effort. Other concerned CItizens are 
encouraged to join OPERATION PERMANENT CEASE-FIRE with whatever 
resources they are willing to contribute. 
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MAYOR 
SHIRl.EY YU.lEGAS 

COUNCIL MEMBERS: 
JOHNGARClA 

ALrONSA McKENNA 
CAROL NORIEGA 

lUIS ReOONOO 

FELIX ROBLES 
PETE lADED ... 

May 27,1993 

The Honorable Dennis DeConcini 
2730 East Broadway, Suite 106 
Tucson, Arizona 85716 

Dear Senator DeConcini: 
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P.o.Bc»c730T 

$ou111 TI,QOR,Arizona 85725 

(602)7a2-2424 

CITY MANAGER 
WILLlAM L. PONDER 

Thank you for inviting me to participate as a witness for the field hearing of the U.S. 
Senate Judiciary Subcommittee on Juvenile Justice Wednesday, June 2. 

I regret that I will be unable to attend the hearing. I have enclosed my written statement. 
While, as noted in my statement, the City of South Tucson has recorded no increase in 
youth violence in the past two years, 1 commend you and the Subcommittee for 
addressing a problem of concern to everyone. 

Please let me know if! can be of any assistance on this or other matters. 

Sincerely, 

~/~ U~fhc{td' 
Shirley Villegas, MayJ) 

'f-



Father Thomas Rush 
10390 Remick Street 
Pacoima, CA 

Dear Father Rush, 
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~uck Bordan 
1560-1 NewburyRd., Ste 171 

NewburyPark, CA 91319 
(805) 986-4153 

February 26, 1993 

Thank you for allowing "Operation Permanent Cease-Fire" to take place 
at Mary Immaculate Church on February 12. I am convinced that the six 
young men meant it when they stood up and swore the God that they 
would never participate in a drive-by shooting again. This means that we 
helped to save some lives. 

It is too bad that Oscar got himself put in jail just as we needed his 
influence to spread the word about the meeting. He was released the 
day before, but he was confined to his home through a leg monitor 
device (if he left home, he would be in parole violation.) The vast 
majority (200) of his gang did not come because they thought Oscar was 
still in jail By visual count (on video-tape) forty gang members attended 
the meeting and another ten or so loitered outside the door. 

I plan to keep "Ceas.e-Fire" going as long as possible; but I won't impose 
on you further. It is too dangerous. I may request use of a training 
room in support of "Arriba Con El Barrio." This job program for kids-at
risk does not permit gang attire, nor would it be considered a worthy 
target by other gangs. 

You are a courageous man father. I think it incredible that you retain 
such serenity in face of the despair that your parishioners bring to you 
each day. From the bottom of my heart, I thanlc you and the Archdiocese 
for allowing the first public/gang meeting of Operation Permanent 
Cease-Fire. 

Very Sincerely Yours, 

C!tw:J.J~ 
Chuck Jordan 
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NEED START-UP HELP ... A CORPORATE SJlONSOR 
• OUR FIRST DONATION BY VENTURA DISTRICT ATTORNEY 

,,",&.~~;:r""' ___ a 

MICHAEL D. BRADBURY 
DISTRICT ATTORNEY-SPECIAL FUND 

800 S. VICTORI,. AVE. 
VENTURA. CA 93003 

4-21.: 

Febrwu:y 5' 93 00'37211222 _______ 19 __ . 
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USED TO VmEO RECORD YOUTH AUTHORITY PRISONERS WHO 
WANT TO HELP STOP DRIVE-BY SHOOTING 

• NEED '5,000 CASH AND EQUIPMENT LOANS . 
• NIGH RATE COPIER • OVE~HEAD 'PROJECTOR & SCREEN 
• ONE 1111 MACIHE • FIVE-CASES OF COPIER PAPER 

Please caD Chuck Jordan (805) 986-4153 
foUnder 

OI'lnlA')'ION l'IUIMllNEN'J' CI~ASE FInE & NEIGHBORHOOD UPLIFT 
(ARRIBA CON EL BARRIO) 

y 
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STATEMENT OF CHERI ROSS-NOSTROS 

I would like to thank those responsible for putting this panel together and hope this hearing 
proves IIseful in the development of real solutions to Tucson's youth/violence. 

In Tucson we have an increasing problem regarding gangs and violence. While our problems 
have not yet re.lchcd the critical proportions of Los Angeles, we need to be vigilant and focus 
our Illost intense l,fforts on innovative and creative programs to preclude further increase in the 
probltm. 

Our city is under attack. Violence is stealing ollr frecdom and safety, but worse it robs us of 
hope for the future when it becomes the lifestyle with which our youth subscribe to. 

TII(~ cfllCk of a gun tired from a moving car in the still of the night becomes a routine sound in 
many or our Barrios. It may be a routine sound but it startles sleeping residents. I know because 
I have many nights becn awakened to the sound of guntire. You sit straight up and listen for 
cries or sirens, as you hold your breath. You try to determine the direction the shots come from. 
You hope no one has died. You want it to stop. At night shooting starts. 

Residcnts arc bccoming prisoners in their homes. They know that gang violence kills innocent 
victims. They have bnried a sixty eight year old woman who sat in a friends kitchen when a 
bullet ricochet off two cars, passed through a earport, went through a window and pierced h~r 
side taking her life. Violence is spreading throughout the city. 

I Sll<!.lk to you on behalf oi youth who are entangled in gangs and the violence surrounding them. 

I have worked in the area of youth gangs for a significant number of years. I watched Tllcson's 
gang problem emerge and see it's rapid increase. Within the population that I work with, I ean 

. say that more gang members than high school graduates are being produced. 

My statelllents 'Iddress Chicano youth gangs since it is with this population that my experience 
is extensive. Along with a clear understanding of the problem is a working knowledge about 
programs that do and do not work. 

RES 011 RCF..'> 

To date 1II0st of the money spent goes to ~b'£$:ncie3 as in cOllrt, probation/parole, the 
correction institutions and law enforcement. Yet it is the Qon:£rofit or/:~nization which has the 
greatest likelihood of success in programs directed at the'{al'ig'PfllM'elT;(, ,,/tfIf/ 

-rp ?'III-;" t'PA!I~_).';,::z: A~' ~ t-#'-~~ 
Thesc tax supported, public agencies, get by far the greater share of funds available while non-
profit agencies arc left with little or no funjfing._ 
~ ~ -Is e ,..~Jl.'tP ,.,,~ 
We thus far have ignored the non-profit agencies effectil'e style to achieve long term solutions. 
This more spontaneous style is a source of success and is more accessible to the affected • 
community since thc location of ~t agencies is in the Barrio~~ ~~-rL t.....,.,o 

{' P_a.IIJ[ r 7-;--....... 
PRF.VENTION VS INTERVENTIOM 

As the gang problem rises we see that the development of prc\'cntion programs has not 
minimized gang increases. The reason, non-mainstream youth are not attracted to the prevention 
cfforts currently underway. 

Prevention efforts focus on youth who are not gang involved and t.lke on the banner of anti
gang. Youth who are gang involved see these programs as critical and as enemies. Anti-crime 
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~~t~,:::lIi-l!:u,g tr.lllslaics In OPposilion,zr gang youlh who are 'isolaled out of Ihis main stream 

If jolt pl'(lgrams arc 10 he effective, they must aim higher than nllnlll1l1ll1 wage temporary 
empluyment. In Tucson, without industry to speak of penn anent jobs arc few. With a University 
in town we haw !I !lig~pulation of youth who come from out of state and take minimum wage 
jobs to sub.lidiz~ and loans. The college students are desirable emplo,yecs and leave our 
youth re~,i,i"llts with~ job opportunities. 

-t;4~P1 
DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS 

With talk of building more corrections facilities, the prison system is viewed by some as 
Tucson's fastest growing industry. Must we sacrifice part of our population to employ another 
part'! Ii' we build more prisons we willl~ fill them. 

As youth violence and crime are on the rise, we see Ihe development of programs, some are 
more likely 10 succeed than others. Let's take a look at programs that fail and the reasons they 
fail. . 

ZERO TOLERANCE 
:;I""..f> 

This conc~pt has been adopted by _public schools. Zero tolerance as applied utilizes expulsion 
to delll with Ihe problem. If two youth are engaged in a fight Ihey are kicked 0111 of school. This 
pr\)c~ss dlles nol minimize violence it just chases it to the street. ~an¥ shQ,Otings the connict -A: 
began in SChllol~t<Q-II ~ ~-c;t..:,~~~(.~ 

Zero tolerance for clothing considered gang allire sets up an opposition mind set ~md the youth 
rebellion intensifies. Zero tolerance for drug use or possession ignores the fact that drug use is 
an indic,llion of a troubled youth. Offering treatment would be more appropriate. Zero tolerance 
pushcs nOll-mainstream youth further into the gang sub-culture and solidifies the gangs existence 
and validity in the minds of youth. 

DROP OUT PREVENTION 

Drop outs are not stationed around computer terminal in our schools. Drop outs are the 
streets, in the gangs, into dnlgs and other self destru#ive behaviors. If this population is going 
to be reachcd drop out prevention specialists~ take their specialties into the streets. 

Programs must be developed with youth in mind. They must be community based. Effectiveness 
is increased when it speaks to the energies of youth. It must offer them a tremendous number 
of activities to choose from. Hc.wy emphasis on sports and games with rewards for success are 
important. Recognizing success is key in validating youth. In a similar way recognition for 
achievcment to members of the community for their services helps to create mobilization. 

In spcaking to youth energies there are numerous activities that can be sponsored like, dances, 
car shows, banquets, cultural events, rap sessions, sports tournaments and youth conferences 
ahout youth concerns. These activities are effective when the community is involved because 
gang youth are invited to bc involved in the mainstream. If we arc to impact change then we 
must find opportunities to include gang youth. If we I:ick them out of the mainstream we isolate 
them, solidify the gang and treat them as if they are invisible. 
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To be a success the program needs to understand that loud music will be played and noisy youth 
are th~ nO~Il1. If a 'prog~m doesn't -:vant youth. with high energy and high spirits it probably 
should not II1volve Itself 111 youth services. If pohte and quiet youth are required then look in the 
library, because the library will not attract non-mainstream youth with all their characteristic 
energies. The program that can put up with the high energy will keep the youth coming back 
and once they begin participating, there is a chance to be effective with them. 

SPORTING EVENTS 

Youth who are permitted to represent their Barrios as a team in sports activities do not need to 
represent it as a gang member. These team efforts excite tremendous youth interest and 
participation under adull supervision. The competitive spirit is shown in games, aet ~frrMf. 

CIJ!,TllRAL ACTIVITIES 
IM~.¢.Ot'r 

Focus on culturc is imperative since gangs teach faIse information about the Chieano culture. 
In gangs youth are taught to protect their Barrio through violence. They come to believe that 
behaving this way makes them men. It's a twisted rights of passage. The right interpretatior of 
culture must be taught. In sporting events and other activities youth meet others from enemy 
barrios and they can come to see '~ach other as equals, respect each other as opponents and 
evcntuallyacccptcachothc.:fas r-i~ A-"'tI)II;1-~f!~S ~~ 

Successful programs offer youth countless opportunities to co-operate and collaborate with each 
other. This allows barrios to come together. As individuals they were not able to achieve this. 
Success in teaching culture of Chicanos comes with the concept" Mi Barrio es tu Barrio". It's 
a culture which traditionally welcomes others as brothers and sisters through pride in it's own 
valucs. It is a culture which tinds something of value in the culture of others. 

DRUG USE/ABUSE/SALES 

Drugs use is high in the gang population. That should not surprise us. In the gang lifestyle there 
is high tension and apprehension. "Life on the ready' becomes a constant when one perceives 
enemies are everywhere. Whether enemies are real or imagined the tension produced becomes 
difficult to live with. Add to this the perception that life holds little for you, than the 
impoverished existence you live in and it is no wonder that dmgs are used. It takes the edge off 
an otherwise tense, drcary and hopeless existence. 

Drug usc begins the cycle of abuse which is addiction. Once addicted the drug becomes lord 
over ones life. In this cycle the addict is driven further from the mainstream. In upper and 
middle class Tucson, addiction is a recognized treatable disease. In the lower socio economic 
level where most gang members reside the addiction becomes a punishable crime that most often 
will result in the individuals incarceration. 

In Tucson there are no affordable youth treatment programs so the cycle of addiction is not 
broken. We can not cure a cancer patient by punishing him. We can not interrupt the diabetics 
disease process without proper treatment and so it is with addiction. 

What good is the knowledge that addiction is a treatable disease if we do not provide treatment 
to those afflicted. If we made treatment a priority we would need far less prison space since a 
high percentage of those incarcerated are in fact there for crimes that directly and indirectly 
~ate-iOdPigs ~~"G~~. 

Drug Sales, we know this problem is tremendous. The fact is it thrives because of supply and 
demand. As long as demand is great there are many who will risk all to insure the supply. Ifwe 
arrest the disease it can minimize the demand. To those whose lives are not entangled in poverty 
despair and hopelessness we do not understand the risks that are taken to sell drugs. We must 
remember, "People who have nothing, have nothing to lose". 
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'We arc a s~icty wh~ measures a Pf!.rsorls worth by where they live, what they drive, what they 
wcar. That IS the mamstream matenal value system. To the youth entrenched in the gang with 
no education, no job opportunities and no hope, the drug industry offers the chance to be 
someone who has the material trappings that measure success. The belief becomes, "it makes 
no difference how you get yours just so you get it". 

Today I have brought to this panel youth who have been viewed as the problem, but I present 
them to you as the solution. 

Do more have to die in gang fights, die and be destroyed by drugs. Do more have to give up 
hope and end up homeless on the streets? Do they have to continue to endure a life of isolation 
without hope and opportunity before we serve them. I assure you we do not need to punish our 
youth or defend ourselves against them---we necd to reach out to them and offer them the 
permanent chance to become part of our community. Remcmber---all of the leaders that we will 
cvcr havlDiilil- young now. These youth arc our hope. The future presidcnt of the U.S. 50 ye.1rs 
from I~IW is already born. He may only be 5 ycars old. What kind of school will he go to? What 
kind o( life wili he have'! Docs he live in a gang and drug infested Barrio? Is he living in a 
single parent home, in poveny? 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

I. A major shift in funding toward more community based programs and local grass-roots 
services to youth in agencies where youth feel welcome and comfortable. 

2. I2n!g and alcohol treatment for youth in programs designed to impact this youth problem, 
hcfore the drug problcm is punished through the courts. 

3. I'rognllJls that offer services in the evening, late at night, during wcekt~nds and holidays. 
Services offered on the spot, exactly where problems are occurring. This means a vast 
increase in outreach programs and outreach workers, who are comfortable working in 
the streets. 

4. Increased recre.1tional ODportu~ aimed at non-mainstream youth, Trophies, banquets 
and like rewards for success. Games played against police, church groups and established 
leagues go a long way in bringing non-mainstream youth into the mainstream. . 

5. Educational opportunities focused on non-mainstream youth. School for many lower 
social class youth is a daytime, temporary excursion into middle class culture. To the 
middle class, dropping out of school is a problem, to non-mainstream youth dropping out 
may he a solution. For example: The single mom of a 16, 9 and 5 year old has the 
pri(lfity of paying the rent. With a low paying job she can not afford day care, so when 
her 1.6 year old wants to quit school her day care problem is solved. Against that back 
drop forgive the irony---education seems quite academic. 

This is the somber background against which the non-mainstream youth lives. Low 
income people, with a 10\Ve~ social class outlook on life, lack the priorities and values 
of the middle class professionals and middle class programs which seek to reach them. 

We have all of the resources, both financial and human to impact change, what is wrong 
h~s been are application of those resources. 

Let me say in conclusion that there is a matter of attitude and approach that is so 
important that any program will fail unless that attitude is present. The middle class 
approach with middle class attitudes will not reach lower-social class youth. These youth 
will nol come to offices, fill out forms read technical materials, attend lectures and 
conferences. Not as a rule. The middle class approach fails because middle class 
professionals who want to reach them assume that these youth are essentially like them. 
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They ar..: not. These youth live in different parts of town, wear different clothing have 
little or no money, and no options at all. It is ~ to accept lower social class 
behavior and attitudes as equally worthy and of equal dignity if you are to communicate 
with these youth, to reach them and to have some influence upon them. For t~is reason 
it is the community based agency, located in the Barrio, opemting before 9:00 an'd after 
5:00 which offers the best chance of success with gang youth. 

Community based agencies should get strong support and serious funding. 

Again thank you on behalf of youth and programs for this opportunity to come together. 
I hope this is the beginning of co-joint efforts to serve our youth in life changing ways. 
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Statement ofSbjrley Yillegas, 'Mayor of South Tucson Arizona 
To U.S. Senate Judiciary Subcommittee on Juvenile Justice, May 27, 1993 

My thanks to Senator DeConcini for inviting me to participate in the judiciary Juvenile Justice 
Subcommittee hearing concerning the increase in youth violence. 

I will confine myself to some brief, general comments, my own personal overview. I do not pose as an 
expert. I am a working single mom who has served on the South Tucson City Council since 1978, 
currently and for the past two years as Mayor. 

We in the City of South Tucson have not recorded an increase in youth violence during the past year or 
two. My remarks, then, represent some of my thoughts about our society and some of the possible root 
causes of youth violence. 

In my work at Pima County Juvenile Court as well as in my community I see many children and young 
adults disconnected from their working parents. Often the parents have so little time and energy after the 
struggle of their jobs that the children either are neglected or feel neglected. While this syndrome is 
certainly not new, I believe that in today's economy the number offamilies involved is larger and 
growing. 

When I was growing up, much was made of the fear of nuclear war. Today, th,at fear and others may 
have diminished somewhat, but today's teenager faces bleak job market predictions and the possibility 
that their generation may be inheriting an environment that will damage their society. If adults feel a little 
let down and disillusioned about the way things have been going, we should understand that our children 
may feel a lot let down and disillusioned. 

What should we do? We need to reach into and work with our schools. A lot of what we need to do 
doesn't cost big money. The University of Arizona College of Education is working with TUSD and a 
variety of local agencies to make the school an integral part of a self-improving community, involving 
parents. The community group they have formed is asking for funding for after-school and evening 
programs for children and adults using the school. 

Perhaps working with and helping schools should be mandatory for any individual, business, government 
entity or organization receiving federal funds. 

We in South Tucson use our small CDBG monies to contract with our best agencies to provide outreach 
programs helping families and supplementing schools. We need more day care and early childhood 
development programs. 

In closing, I would invite Senator DeConcini and other Senators and staff to visit us in South Tucson to 
discuss these matters further. South Tucson has strengths as well as problems. Recently we had over 
300 people, 200 of them children, participate in a Saturday morning Spring Clean-up. Our 
Neighborhood Watch Program participation is increasing. We're looking forward to creating our first 
general plan since 1977 this year and next. Many people and groups are working together. At the same 
time a large percentage of our popUlation is economically disadvantaged and we need a great deal of 
constructive assistance to help build our economic base, to help our families stay together - and to help 
our children. 
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• Kids never take stuff home to parents. Kids won't take stuff home. Mailing it 
home would be better. 

• Kids want to be just as good as their friends, so singling us out for big stuff in 
junior high (middle school) can hurt us with our friends. Give us notes or say 
nice things to us more privately when we are in middle school. 

• Teacher's should ask permission before bragging about a kid's work. 

• Avoid comparing to good kids too much; it makes the other kids hate them. 

• Encourage more free sports leagues; a lot of us don't have any money. 

• More ways of getting to things, specially for one-parent families. 

• Stop expecting that their are two parents in a family; that makes it hard for us. 

• We have big problems with transportation. 

• Individual kids can make a difference collectively; plant little ideas, asking 
what othel' kids got out of doing something bad to make them think; give a 
another kid other opportunities; talk to others kids about what they are doing, 
asking them if it makes sense; 

• Need to get kids to think about both sides of the gun; we think every home 
room out to do the exercise out of Do or Die. 

• Most prevention programs are too nerdish. 

• Have people come in and talk who have been victims of violence. 

• Ask kids to think through things rather than telling them. 

• Ask them to think about what they could do and couldn't do if they got involved 
in gangs. 

), 
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o Show respect for presence of young people when they enter rooms. 

o Adults need to be a role model for kids, since many of us do show respect for 
others. Adults have to show the correct path for us to copy it. 

o Adults (teachers, police) need to see us as a human beings, instead a lower life 
form. 

o Teachers could show that respect by having fun with kids. Teachers needJo 
greet children and youth coming into the classroom; ) 

• Make sure that teachers can tolerate being with kids; see how they would 
handle bad kids. 

• Expect kids to be good rather than bad, and reward us for being good. 

• Encourage parents to get involved in early grades. 

o If parents get involved, then there can be more checks and balances. The 
teachers can see what parents are doing, and parents what teachers are doing. 

o Give good ideas to parents on how to do things well with their kids. Parents 
don't know how to be involved with their kids, don't know what to do. 

o It really helps when different parents volunteer each day at school. It makes 
kids feel better and comfortable to know that parents can come and help. 

o Parent volunteers and monitors need to be nice instead of like cops. 

o As much as kids deny it, they want their parents parent's attention. 

o If mom's help out at school, then other kids much less likely to say bad things 
about moms at school (which helps reduce fighting by boys). 
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PREPARED STATEMENT OF FRANK O. ROMeRO 

THANK YOU FOR THE OPPORTUNITY TO BE HERE AND SHARE MY THOUGHTS. 

I AM SURE YOU WILL HEAR MANY HORROR STORIES. I WILL TRY TO MAKE SOME 

SENSE OF THEMo 

THE GANG YOUTH HAVE BEEN REJECTED BY THE TRADITIONAL INSTITUTIONS 

USUALLY CONSIDERED SUPPORT SYSTEMS. ZERO TOLERANCE HAS DRIVEN THESE 

YOUTH FROM SCHOOL - EVEN THOUGH STATE LAW SAYS AND PAYS FOR THEM TO 

RECEIVE AN EDUCATION. 

HOME MAY OR MAY NOT BE SUPPORTIVE. MANY OF THE PARENTS ARE 

THEMSELVES PRODUCTS OF THE SOCIAL SYSTEM THAT HAS NOT WORKED AND ARE 

LACKING PARENT1NG SKILLS. THE RELIGIOUS INSTITUTIONS MAY NOT HAVE 

REACHED THESE YOUTH OR REACHED THEM IN THE EXPECTATION THAT THEY AND 

THEIR PARENTS WERE RESPONSIBLE TO SUPPORT THE CHURCH RATHER THAN THE 

OTHER WAY AROUND. 

JOBS - WELL MOM AND DAD (IF HE WAS AROUND) DIDN'T HAVE ONE THAT 

ALLOWED THE FAMILY TO THRIVE ECDNOMICALLY - MAYBE TATA HAD ONE BUT 

A VERY MENIAL ONE WITH A SUBSISTANCE PAY CHECK PROVIDING FEW IF ANY 

FRILLS. FEW POSITIVE ROLE MODELS 

YOUR YOUTH? WHERE ~4oULD YOU BE? 

WE WOULD BE DISCUSSING YOUR CHILDREN! 

- WHAT IF THAT WAS THE STORY OF 

PROBABLY NOT AT THIS HEARING; MAYBE 

HAVING BEEN DUMPED OUT OF THE EDUCATION PROCESS - FOR WHO THEY 

ARE - THEY KNOW THEY WILL NOT BE ON THE ROAD TO BECOME LAWYERS, DOCTORS, 

TEACHERS OR ANYONE WHO MATTERS IN SOCIETY'S BIG PICTURE. 
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- 2 -

SO THEY HAVE DEVELOPED/CREATED AN INSTITUTION WHERE THEY MAKE 

THE RULES! THEY DEFINE SUCCESS AND ACHIEVEMENT! THEIR GANG IS AN 

INSTITUTION THAT IS FRIENDLY AND SUPPORTIVE TO THEM. 

SOCIETY OBJECTS BECAUSE OF THE VIOLENCE AND CRIMINAL ACTIVITIES. 

BUT THE OBJECTIONS MATTER LITTLE - WHAT CAN STOP THE GANGS IS WHEN 

SOCIETY REACHES OUT AND WELCOMES THESE SAME YOUTH TO PARTICIPATE IN 

THE MAIN STREAM. WHEN THESE YOUTH FEEL HOPE AND A PART OF SOCIETY, 

THEY CAN LET GO OF THE GANG. THEY DON'T WISH THE GANG UPON THEIR 

CHILDREN BUT THAT WILL HAPPEN IF THEIR CHILDREN HAVE NO ALTERNATIVES. 

,5~y 
ft~~ I HOPE YOU CAN HELP US CREATE P.LTERNATIVES - QUICKLY 

VERY QUICKLY. 

~~ 
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
NOSOTROS, INC. 
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What has the Violence Reduction Coalition done to date? 

Distributed 100,000 story/workbooks in English and Spanish 
teaching elementary school children basic pro-social behaviors 
that applied behavioral research has established as essential in 
innoculating children against their own violent behavior and 
the violent behavior of others. 

Monthly teacher newsletters "Creating Peace" that give 
teachers specific tips on how they can reduce violencf) and 
distrubances in their classrooms. 

Full page newspaper features delivering specific peace 
building tips for home, school and community. 

A six week 30 second spot broadcast TV campaign presenting 
specific tactics for stopping the violence and increasing the 
peace. 

Dozens of workshops in the community with kids, parents and 
teachers. 

Dozens of presentations to community groups and service 
clubs. 

And as we speak, we plan a major campaign for the fall with a special 
Action Comic for middle school students and related materials in 
newsletters, newspapers, magazines, TV, radio and related events. 

What are we teaching? 

To give and get respect. To reduce insults. To praise others when they do 
good things for us. To speak up honestly of wrongs we have committed 
and to seek wise mentors. 

How are we teaching? 

By starting with the young children. ~y providing incentives and rewards 
for participation. 

By starting with children we must lead by example and demonstrate that 
acting in the public interest, even if it means self-sacrifice, is not only ok, it 
is good, it is the right thing to do. It is not idealistic to treat people the 
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way we want to be treated. It is not idealistic to take into account and 
reflect a concern for the interests and well being of all stakeholders. It 
is not idealistic to expect people to abide by laws, provide community 
service, be compassionate and consider others in the community. To not 
adopt a strategy incorporating these fundamental consensus ethical 
principles is a ticket for failure. 

In summary, we would like to make one more plea for coalition building. 
It is a plea that comes, sadly, from a not very optimistic view of our 
immediate future. 

It is highly probable that government resources for social good will be, 
once more, reduced, in the near and medium term. If that is so, We need 
to start planning now for additonal sources of funding to maintain the 
health of our communities. We cannot hope that someone or something 
2,000 miles or]OO miles away will help us unless we help ourselves. 

For if we are to 'all get along,' we must all work diligently together. 

) 




